
 

PLANNING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

Thursday, September 6, 2018 
SCRD Boardroom, 1975 Field Road, Sechelt, B.C. 

 AGENDA 
 

CALL TO ORDER 9:30 a.m. 
  

AGENDA  

1.  Adoption of Agenda  

PRESENTATIONS AND DELEGATIONS 

2.  Kris Sneddon, Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures Ltd. (INVITED) 
Regarding Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures Provincial Tenure Application. 
 

Verbal   

3.  Mark Hiltz, Resident 
Regarding Development Variance Permit DVP00029 Application (Persephone). 
 

Verbal 

REPORTS   

4.  Senior Planner – Provincial Referral 102649829-002 Sunshine Coast Mountain 
Adventures – Consultation Summary and Revised Recommendations 
(Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 

Annex A 
pp 1 - 10   

5.  Manager, Planning and Development – Development Variance Permit 
DVP00029 (Persephone) and Proposed Liquor Licence Endorsements for a 
Lounge and Picnic Area – Electoral Area F 
Electoral Area F (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 

Annex B 
pp 11 - 67   

6.  Senior Planner – Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 – Elphinstone 
Crossing Estate Phase Two – Public Hearing Report and Consideration for 
Third Reading 
Electoral Area F (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 

Annex C 
pp 68 - 94   

7.  Senior Planner – OCP Amendments - Densification Strategies to Support 
Affordable Housing - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third 
Reading and Adoption 
Electoral Areas B, D, E, F (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 

Annex D 
pp 95 - 134   

8.  Manager, Planning and Development – Approach to Cannabis Legalization 
(Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 

Annex E 
pp 135 - 145   

9.  Senior Planner – Potential for a Temporary Movable Small Home Pilot Project 
in Rural Areas 
(Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 

Annex F 
pp 146 - 155   

10.  Senior Planner – Provincial Referral CRN00061 for a Private Moorage (Solberg 
Hills) – Electoral Area A 
Electoral Area A (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 
 

Annex G 
pp 156 - 200   



Planning and Community Development Committee Agenda – September 6, 2018 Page 2 

 
 

11.  Senior Planner – Provincial Referral CRN00062 for a  Log Handling Facility 
(Black Mount Logging) – Electoral Area F 
Electoral Area F (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 

Annex H 
pp 201 - 274   

12.  Planning Technician – Provincial Referral CRN00063 2412049 for a Private 
Moorage Facility (Thomson) – Electoral Area A 
Electoral Area A (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 

Annex I 
pp 275 - 299   

13.  Planning Technician – Frontage Waiver for Subdivision SD000028 (Hammond) 
– Electoral Area F 
Electoral Area F (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 

Annex J 
pp 300 - 303   

14.  Sunshine Coast Regional District Policing Committee Minutes of July 19, 2018 
(Voting – All) 
 

Annex K 
pp 304 - 306   

15.  Natural Resource Advisory Committee Minutes of July 18, 2018 
(Regional Planning) (Voting – All) 
 

Annex L 
pp 307 - 310   

16.  Electoral Area A (Egmont/Pender Harbour) APC Minutes of July 25, 2018 
Electoral Area A (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 

Annex M 
pp 311 - 312   

17.  Electoral Area D (Roberts Creek) APC Minutes of July 16, 2018 
Electoral Area D (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 

Annex N 
pp 313 - 315   

18.  Electoral Area F (West Howe Sound) APC Minutes of July 24, 2018 
Electoral Area F (Rural Planning) (Voting – A, B, D, E, F) 
 

Annex O 
pp 316 - 317   

COMMUNICATIONS 

19.  Brian Smith, CEO/Co-Owner, Persephone Brewing Company dated August 25, 
2018. 
Regarding Persephone Brewing Company DVP Application. 
 

Annex P 
pp 318 - 323 

NEW BUSINESS 

IN CAMERA 

That the public be excluded from attendance at the meeting in accordance with 
Section 90 (1) (k) of the Community Charter – “negotiations and related 
discussions respecting the proposed provision of a municipal service that are at 
their preliminary stages…” 

ADJOURNMENT 

 



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 

AUTHOR: Yuli Siao, Senior Planner 
SUBJECT: Provincial Referral 102649829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures -

Consultation Summary and Revised Recommendations 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
1. THAT the report titled Provincial Referral 102649829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain

Adventures - Consultation Summary and Revised Recommendations be received;

2. AND THAT the following comments be forwarded to the Ministry of Forests, Lands,
Natural Resource Operations and Rural Development:

Subject to the following conditions, the Sunshine Coast Regional District has no
objection to Provincial Referral 102649829-002:

a) Conduct a public information meeting and respond to any development and
operation concerns and questions which may be raised by the community.

b) Comments received from the shíshálh and Sḵwx̱wú7mesh Nations be addressed.

c) Provide an emergency management plan to the SCRD for comment.

d) Incorporates fire protection measures in the tenure management plan.

e) A statement be added to the tenure management plan that explicitly prohibits
fishing and hunting in the tenure areas.

f) Access to the trails within the proposed tenure be separated from other existing
trails and forest service roads in lower elevations to prevent mechanized vehicles
from accessing tenure areas of this project.

g) Conduct an environmental impact assessment of mountain biking activities in the
alpine and sub-alpine areas after one year of operation and deploy remedial
measures if necessary.

h) Detailed information be provided in the tenure management plan on baseline data
and parameters for monitoring changes in the alpine and sub-alpine areas.

i) Detailed information be provided in the tenure management plan regarding
helicopter flight paths, operation timing and noise mitigation measures.

j) Consult local nature, conservation and environmental groups for their input on
the backcountry and project management practice.

3. AND THAT once all comments have been reviewed and addressed the proposed
operations be carried out in accordance with the amended tenure management plan,

ANNEX A

1



Staff Report to Planning & Community Development Committee – Sep 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral 102649829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures Page 2 of 10 
 

 
2018-SEP6 PCDC report-Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventure 

amended environmental management plan and amended emergency management 
plan as approved by the Province.  

4. AND FURTHER THAT the recommendation be forwarded to the Regular Board 
meeting of September 6, 2018. 

 

BACKGROUND 

On June 14, 2018, the SCRD Board adopted the following resolution: 

193/18    Recommendation No. 7       Provincial Referral 102649829-002 – Sunshine Coast  
                            Mountain Adventures 

THAT the report titled Provincial Referral 102649829-002 – Sunshine Coast 
Mountain Adventures be received; 

AND THAT staff request an extension to the comment deadline from the Province in 
order to provide more time for review of the application and referral to SCRD 
Advisory Committees; 

AND THAT the applicant:  

i. be invited to attend SCRD advisory committee meetings;  

ii. be invited to present as a delegation to a future Standing Committee meeting; 

iii. be requested to host a public information meeting regarding the proposal. 

Pursuant to this resolution, staff obtained a comment deadline extension from the Province for 
September 14, 2018, and advised the applicant of the Board’s directives. The applicant 
attended meetings of the Egmont/Pender Harbour, Halfmoon Bay, Roberts Creek and West 
Howe Sound Advisory Planning Commissions (APC) and the Natural Resource Advisory 
Committee. The applicant did not attend the Elphinstone Advisory Planning Commission 
meeting due to schedule conflict with another advisory committee meeting. The Elphinstone 
APC reviewed the proposal and provided similar comments on common topics as other 
committees.   

Comments from those meetings are summarized in the following section. The applicant did not 
hold a public information meeting. The applicant has registered as a delegation to appear at the 
September 6, 2018 Planning and Community Development Committee meeting.  

DISCUSSION 

Summary of Advisory Committee Comments 

Most advisory committees consulted indicate support for Provincial approval of the proposal 
subject to various conditions to be met or concerns to be addressed.  Key concerns are 
summarized as follows:   

 

2



Staff Report to Planning & Community Development Committee – Sep 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral 102649829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures Page 3 of 10 
 

 
2018-SEP6 PCDC report-Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventure 

Benefit for Tourism  

Most committees acknowledge the economic benefit this operation can bring to tourism on the 
Sunshine Coast. However, if trips do not originate or end on the Sunshine Coast, such benefit 
may not be fully captured. The applicant indicates that options for pick up and drop off in 
Vancouver may be considered. Some form of assurance is recommended by the committees to 
ensure that the operation remains on the Coast and future owners maintain the intent and 
principles of the business. Should owner or other aspects of the business change in the future, 
the tenure and its contractual obligations with the Province will remain with the business.  

Impact on Wildlife and Environment 

This is a common concern among the committees. The applicant plans to conduct a Species at 
Risk Assessment (SARA) and deploy best practice to protect wildlife. The applicant’s 
environmental consultants plan to conduct studies to lay out areas for the best flight paths to 
minimize disturbance to wildlife.  

To mitigate impacts on the environment, particularly impacts on the alpine and sub-alpine areas 
and by mountain bikes and mechanized vehicles, the committees recommend physical barriers 
to prevent mechanized vehicles from entering the trails, conducting an assessment after one 
year of operation, deploying remedial measures, and providing more information on baseline 
data to monitor the condition of the alpine and sub-alpine areas. Some committees also 
recommend the prohibition of fishing and hunting by Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventure’s 
clients in the tenure areas. 

Emergency and Fire 

According to the applicant, the tour operation will establish trails and provide guides on every 
trip. The operation will have a complete rescue program for any situations that require rescue, 
including fire. Many safety issues tourists may encounter in the backcountry can be resolved or 
prevented by having a tour guide who will accompany each group along the journey. All flight 
routes have satellite phone reception. Reporting landslide or fire will be quicker because more 
eyes will be on the back country. The applicant is to provide an Emergency Management Plan 
to address many of those issues in detail.  

Noise Impact on Residential Areas 

With an air base in the Sechelt Airport area, helicopters will inevitably have a noise impact on 
nearby residential areas. The applicant intends to use a type of helicopter (A-Star) that 
generates significantly less noise than medivac or helicopters used for fire fighters. The usual 
pick up and drop off time will be between 10 am and 2 pm.  Flight path planning will seek to 
avoid or distance from residential areas in addition to sensitive wildlife and cultural heritage 
sites. Detailed information regarding flight paths, operation timing and noise mitigation should 
be added to the tenure management plan. 

Consultation with Community and Local Groups 

In addition to conducting a public information meeting for the community, the committees 
recommend that the applicant consult local nature, environmental and conservation groups to 
gain specific knowledge of the backcountry environment and project management practice.  

3



Staff Report to Planning & Community Development Committee – Sep 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral 102649829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures Page 4 of 10 
 

 
2018-SEP6 PCDC report-Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventure 

Based on the above feedback, there appears to be general support from advisory committees 
for the project if critical issues raised are managed and monitored and further consultation with 
the community is conducted. Staff recommend that additional conditions be provided to the 
Province to address environmental management, trail access, noise mitigation and consultation 
with local groups.  
 
STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 
 
The following SCRD Strategic Plan objectives and success indicators relate to the subject of 
this report: 

• Incorporate land use planning and policies to support local economic development. 
 

• Create and use an “environmental lens” for planning, policy development, service 
delivery and monitoring. 

CONCLUSION 

Following the Board’s direction, the applicant consulted advisory committees to gauge 
community reception of the proposed mountain adventure tourism operation. Most committees 
support the proposal subject to a number of key conditions with respect to environmental 
management, trail access, noise mitigation and consultation with local groups, as discussed in 
this report.  
 
Staff recommend that additional conditions be added to the response to the Province. In order 
to meet the deadline of September 14, 2018 for a response to the Province, the 
recommendations should be forwarded to the September 6, 2018 Board meeting for 
consideration.  
 
 
Attachments 

Attachment A – Advisory Committee Comments 

 

Reviewed by: 
Manager X – A. Allen Finance  
GM X – I. Hall Legislative  
CAO X – J. Loveys       

 
  

4



Staff Report to Planning & Community Development Committee – Sep 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral 102649829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures Page 5 of 10 
 

 
2018-SEP6 PCDC report-Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventure 

Attachment A  Advisory Committee Comments 
 
 
Egmont / Pender Harbour Advisory Planning Commission 
 
Recommendation No. 1  Provincial Referral 102649829-002 (Sunshine Coast Mountain 

Adventure) 
  
APC recommends approval of Provincial Referral 102649829-002 with the following comments 
and concerns: 
 

• SCRD conditions are met 
• Addressing any comments from shíshálh and Skwxwu7mesh Nations 

 

Concerns: 
• Lack of consultation with local nature/environmental groups 
• Damage to environment through trail building/maintenance and human activities 
• Disturbance to wildlife from helicopters, bikers, hikers and humans in area 
• 5 people per helicopter means over 1,000 round trips once the business is operating at 

full capacity 
• Clients accessing the trails from Coal Harbour may well bring limited economic benefits. 

 
 
Halfmoon Bay Advisory Planning Commission 
 
The APC discussed the staff report regarding Provincial Referral 102649829-002 Sunshine 
Coast Mountain Adventures.  The following concerns/points/issues were noted: 

• Support developing relationship with various tourism operators. 
• The proposal is good and the application is low impact. 
• Concerned about the number of trips. 
• Concerned about the impact of noise on wildlife: goats, grizzly and wolves. 
• Would like to see boundaries set in place to ensure that the intent is maintained by 

possible future owners if the business is sold. 
• Support the local jobs it could generate; could we ensure jobs for locals? 
• Would like to see some way of ensuring local tourism benefits i.e. (trips have to start or 

end in Sechelt) 
• Regarding garbage, sewer and drinking water: would like to see more detail on that in 

the plan. 
• Guidelines and best practices: what mechanisms are in place to ensure any operators 

are following through with the plan? 
• Could have an operating charter or principles that the company is accountable to. 
• Community mentioned concerns about the bike paths in sensitive areas; have to be 

cognisant of these areas. 
• Thinking of flight paths and protecting wildlife, but also what about people in town, are 

there limited flight paths? Concerned about noise. 
• Make sure the shíshálh Nation has been involved. 
• Propose to support the application with the concerns already listed. 

 

5



Staff Report to Planning & Community Development Committee – Sep 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral 102649829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures Page 6 of 10 
 

 
2018-SEP6 PCDC report-Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventure 

Recommendation No. 1.  Provincial Referral 102649829-002 Sunshine Coast Mountain 
Adventures 

Regarding Provincial Referral 102649829-002 Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures, the APC 
recommends that the application be supported with note of the concerns listed above. 
 
 
Roberts Creek Advisory Planning Commission 
 
The following concerns/points/issues were noted: 
 

• Paul Tosczak introduced the project and he and Ken Sneddon provided the following 
information in response to members’ questions: 

• They have been to all APC’s except Area E and may not do a public meeting.   
 They require a tenure from the Province to operate the tourism business.  They can land 

on crown land but not in parks without permission.  
• Helicopter or plane operators are responsible for people they drop off.  From a safety 

and liability perspective they want to work on establishing trails and providing guides in 
every case. Properly sanctioned means having established trails and guides. 

• They would have a complete rescue program for any situations that require rescue 
situations, including fire. A lot of safety issues are covered by having a guide.  Airspan 
operates seven helicopters and can be at the Sechelt Hospital emergency room within 
an hour from any proposed site. All routes have satellite phone reception.   

• The business would be similar to heli-skiing. There are interesting sites such as an old 
mine. It will appeal to people who don’t want to plan a camping and hiking trip. Locations 
are reachable by hiking but are very long hikes 

• Groups would be comprised of four people plus one guide. Numbers in proposal are 
high because they based on established areas in BC with this business. They estimate 
that there will be five groups in the first year.  

• Applied for lease for 10 to 15 years and can apply to renew.  
• Trips will cost about $1500 per day per person. Would be about 2% of annual revenue of 

Airspan.  
• Vancouver clients are targeted by having Coal Harbour pick up. Would Vancouver 

pickup mean less business for the Coast? Economic development would still be in the 
form of employment of one guide and purchase of supplies. 

• What is projection of use? It is expected business would grow slowly as has been the 
case with Westcoast Wilderness Lodge business and Whistler services, which are not at 
capacity. 

• There is not a maximum use in tenure. They are not planning to actively market. They 
will have a presence at a bike shop in Sechelt and a Facebook page. Access to certified 
guides is the pinch point and will limit number of excursions. Guides are certified by 
Canadian Mountain Guides Association 

• Mountain biking is similar to heli-skiing in that a guide sets out trail and gives riders 
parameters. They are planning to do a SARA (species at risk assessment) proactively. 

• Will have provisions to assess fitness of prospective participants. 
• A number of sites already have helipads.  
• Wildlife protection – they will probably use the management plan of Yoho Park which 

identifies areas and times where there will be no interaction. 
• How does helicopter noise affect wildlife – the general rule of thumb is 1000 ft over 

population, 500 ft. in other areas. Environmental consultants will conduct studies and lay 

6



Staff Report to Planning & Community Development Committee – Sep 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral 102649829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures Page 7 of 10 
 

 
2018-SEP6 PCDC report-Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventure 

out areas for the best flight paths. Airspan currently does wildlife counts with government 
biologists.  

• Types of helicopters – With A-Star the noise print is significantly quieter than medivac or 
helicopters used for fire fighters.  They currently take off from Sechelt airport 8 to 10 
times a day. Usual time of drop off and pick up would be between 10:00 a.m. and 2:00 
p.m. 

• How many unsanctioned visitors can they capture by offering this service – this is 
unknown. 

• Advantages would be quicker reporting for landslide or fire because more eyes will be on 
the back country.   

• Monitoring – plan to do this on a biannual basis to evaluate.  
• What if someone wanted to buy the business – they would hope to maintain the original 

intentions.  
• Would use electric bikes.  They have an easier footprint.  
• There are pressures on the back country so it would be beneficial for the Province to 

develop a general land resource management plan. 
  
Recommendation #1  Provincial Referral 10249829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain 

Adventures 
 
The APC recommends that the application be supported subject to the recommendations in the 
staff report to the Planning and Community Development Committee dated June 14, 2018, and 
that there be another public meeting if the tenure is sold and changes owners. 
 
 
Elphinstone Advisory Planning Commission 
 
The following concerns were noted: 

• Human interference in wildlife habitats and pristine wilderness with no human 
development. 

• Scope and scale of the project. 
• Fire hazard. 
• Tours be guided. 
• Dealing with emergencies (forest fires, bad weather, helicopter crash, etc.). 
• Noise impacts on wildlife and human settlements. 
• Any hunting component? 
• That no dogs be permitted. 
• Lack of information: 

o How the operation would be monitored and regulated. 
o Expectations about possible capacity of the operation. 
o How local outfitters/guides would fit into the picture. 
o How this would benefit the community. 

Comments included: 

• This is low impact compared to impacts of logging and gravel extraction in the 
province. It is a fairly limited modification to the environment, the additional traffic in 
all forms. Otherwise it is pretty benign environmentally. It would mean the area would 
be protected for its recreational values. 

7



Staff Report to Planning & Community Development Committee – Sep 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral 102649829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures Page 8 of 10 
 

 
2018-SEP6 PCDC report-Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventure 

• It could be workable if there were yearly monitoring, particularly as the operation gets 
going. An independent body could look at it after a year or two, including looking at 
regulations controlling the use. 

• It sounds like it could be interesting.  
• It is another way for us to go after tourist dollars we aren’t currently getting. 
• Would like to hear opinions of local conservation experts who know the mountains in 

the area, who would know what kind of impact this would have.  

Recommendation No. 2 Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures 
 

The Elphinstone APC recommended that the APC needs further information from the 
applicant regarding Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures (Provincial Referral 102649829-
002) to more fully understand the proposal. 

 
West Howe Sound Advisory Planning Commission 
 
Two representatives of the project were present. Paul Tosczak gave a brief overview of this 
proposal for a seasonal tourism operation in the lower Sunshine Coast, with an operational base 
and head office at Sechelt Airport in Wilson Creek and a storefront at Off the Edge Adventure 
Sports in Sechelt, that would transport tourists by helicopter to remote mountain areas for 
mountaineering activities. Mr. Tosczak described the rationale and intentions for the proposal 
and background on work done to date, and outlined features of proposed operations. 

The following concerns and points were noted: 

• Applicant should emphasize that it is just the trails they would have tenure on, not the 
whole land area outlined on the map. 

• Concern that the applicant does minimal impact on the natural environment in the 
development of a trail network. 

• Support for having guides who can communicate with the clients, keep people from 
going off the trail, and educate about the ecosystem, flora and fauna, and fire safety. 

• There is concern In Whistler area about the volume of use by mountain bikes in the 
backcountry, due to poor planning. 

• Concern that mountain bikers stay on the trail. An alpine meadow is very fragile and 
cannot recover as in lower elevations. 

• Concern that the sound of a helicopter can be very disturbing for wildlife. 
• Concern about impacts on mountain goats. The applicant should gather data on 

mountain goat population numbers and kidding areas, and work to avoid conflict with 
mountain goats. 

• We should be doing whatever we can to promote healthy recreation, support local 
business, and promote people coming here. 

• It is an excellent idea; a lot of work was done in getting the information together. 

Recommendation No. 1 Provincial Referral 102649829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain 
Adventures 

 
The APC recommended that Provincial Referral 102649829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain 
Adventures go to the next stage, subject to meeting the conditions of scheduling a public 
meeting, and addressing shíshálh and Sḵwx̱wú7mesh Nation comments and the requirements 
of the permit. 

8



Staff Report to Planning & Community Development Committee – Sep 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral 102649829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures Page 9 of 10 
 

 
2018-SEP6 PCDC report-Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventure 

Natural Resource Advisory Committee 
 

Key points of discussion: 

• The applicants gave a detailed introduction on the project. 
• September 14, 2018 is the staff deadline to submit comments to the Province. 
• Applicant is against short term drop off and pickups. 
• Option for drop off and pick up in Vancouver, B.C, under review. 
• Chair wondered if the staff has any issues with the referral. 
• Environmental Management Plan, one thing that is not mentioned should be no fishing 

or hunting allowed.  
• Applicant indicates no hunters allowed in helicopters in B.C., fishing trips may be by 

helicopter, neither activity is included under this application. 
• Is there an intention for building huts, overnight structures? 
• Applicant confirmed that they have made application for temporary structures (helipads) 

which can also be used for tenting. 
• Removable helipads would be demobilized after the season. 
• Environmental damage for introducing mountain bikes into the alpine or sub alpine, no 

issue for hiking.  
• Designated trails only. 
• ATV’s entering into the proposed trails, a physical barrier to be in place for access into 

the higher alpine. 
• Structured program preferred instead of a hazarded approach for mountain biking. 
• Some control as the proposed referral is for guided trips. 
• Have the Tetrahedron Outdoor Club or any other clubs been approached for 

consultation? 
• The applicant noted a Species at Risk Act (SARA) inspection would be done, best 

practices around wildlife would evolve around Canadian National Park Rocky Mountain 
handbook. 

• There are planes and helicopter flying in and out of the area since the mid 1990’s. 
• There may be a fixed wing tenure on Phantom Lake. 
• Recreational users (ATV /motorized users) are concerned that the suggested trail 

system will impede their right for recreational access. 
• Trails in the area are already used now. 
• Would rather a controlled approach for the trails than uncontrolled. 
• Is the company going to be responsible for damages outside of their trail systems? 
• Monitoring needs to happen daily up in the trails. How will it be controlled? 
• The SARA report will identify species at risk and areas to avoid. 
• Applicant noted there are existing trails, little trail systems will be made. 
• Revenue base from this tenure, less than $100,000 per season. 
• Overall this application is a good thing, it is very light use and little disturbance involved.  
• 80 people a year, but being optimistic. Approximately 200 users a year in the future. 
• More concern over impact to the sub alpine and alpine areas expressed by NRAC 

members. 
• Regarding the Madrone’s report, NRAC member is concerned that the report uses the 

wording of others under their name with no citation noted. 
 

9



Staff Report to Planning & Community Development Committee – Sep 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral 102649829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures Page 10 of 10 
 

 
2018-SEP6 PCDC report-Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventure 

 Recommendation No. 2   Provincial Referral 102679829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain 
Adventures 

The Natural Resource Advisory Committee recommended that the proponent add a statement 
in their Tenure Management Plan that explicitly prohibits bringing in clients for fishing and 
hunting. 

Recommendation No. 3   Provincial Referral 102679829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain 
Adventures 

The Natural Resource Advisory Committee recommended that the Sunshine Coast Mountain 
Adventure conduct an assessment of the impact of mountain biking on the alpine and sub-
alpine areas after 1 year operation and carry out remedial measures if required. 

Recommendation No. 4   Provincial Referral 102679829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain 
Adventures 

The Natural Resource Advisory Committee recommended that access to the trails of this project 
be separated from other existing trails and forest service roads in lower elevations to prevent 
mechanized vehicles from accessing tenure areas of this project.  

Recommendation No. 5   Provincial Referral 102679829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain 
Adventures 

The Natural Resource Advisory Committee recommended that more information be provided in 
the tenure management plan on baseline data and parameters for monitoring changes in the 
alpine and sub-alpine areas.   

Recommendation No. 6   Provincial Referral 102679829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain 
Adventures 

Regarding Provincial Referral 102679829-002 Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures, the NRAC 
supports SCRD recommendations, subject to the noted conditions. 
 

10



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 

AUTHOR: Andrew Allen, Manager, Planning and Development 

SUBJECT: DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT DVP00029 (PERSEPHONE) AND PROPOSED 
LIQUOR LICENCE ENDORSEMENTS FOR A LOUNGE AND PICNIC AREA – AREA F 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. THAT the report titled Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and
proposed Liquor Licence Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F be
received;

2. AND THAT DVP00029 be issued to relax Section 1021.7 (3) (a) (ii) (indoor seating
capacity) of Zoning Bylaw No. 310 from 30 to 65 be issued subject to:

a) receipt of confirmation from Vancouver Coastal Health that a wastewater
treatment system for the alcohol production facility and ancillary uses has
been approved and installed;

b) registration of a covenant on title that:

i. requires a minimum of 12 secure bicycle parking spaces;

ii. requires a minimum of 80 on-site parking spaces;

iii. limits the food and beverage lounge business hours to the following:

• Summer Hours (Friday of Victoria Day long weekend through
Monday of Thanksgiving long weekend)
No earlier than 10:00 a.m. and no later than 9:00 p.m.

• Winter Hours (Tuesday after Thanksgiving long weekend to
Thursday before Victoria Day long weekend)
No earlier than 11:00 a.m. and no later than 7:00 p.m., with the
exception of the night of December 31st and until 1:00 a.m. on the
morning of January 1st;

iv. indoor amplified and outdoor non-amplified music is permitted from
12:00 p.m. to 6:00 p.m. on Saturday and Sunday, with the exception of
the night of December 31st and until 1:00 a.m. on the morning of
January 1st;

3. AND THAT the proposed Lounge Endorsement be supported subject to the
conditions established in DVP00029 (including that the indoor lounge seating not
exceed 65 and outdoor lounge area not exceed 50 square metres);

ANNEX B

11



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F  Page 2 of 14 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029_and_LCRB_endorsements 

4. AND THAT the proposed Picnic Endorsement be supported subject to a maximum of 
150 people; 

5. AND FURTHER THAT the Board resolution along with a copy of this staff report as 
well as previous dated February 8, 2018 and July 19, 2018 be sent to: 

a) Agricultural Land Commission; 

b) Vancouver Coastal Health; and 

c) British Columbia Liquor and Cannabis Regulation Branch. 

BACKGROUND 

Persephone Brewing Company (Persephone) has been operating a brewery at 1053 Stewart 
Road since 2013. Persephone has previously applied to the Agricultural Land Commission 
(ALC) for non-farm use to permit the brewery. The Board resolved to support the non-farm use 
application (Resolution 256/16 – Recommendation 3) on June 23, 2016. The ALC ruled not to 
approve the non-farm use on December 19, 2016. The ALC did not support the application and 
provided Persephone a two-year time frame to comply with Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) 
regulations or relocate from the site. 

On November 19, 2017, Agricultural Land Reserve regulations regarding breweries were 
amended. The regulation now enables alcohol production facilities on farms over two hectares 
to operate within the ALR provided they source at least 50% of the primary farm product used in 
their alcohol production from on site and other B.C. farms. On July 3, 2018 ALC confirmed that 
Persephone is now in compliance (Attachment A) 

Persephone is working to resolve outstanding issues relating to the use of the property as a 
brewery in order to be in compliance with ALR regulations and SCRD bylaws. 

On January 5, 2018 Persephone applied for a development variance permit to vary provisions in 
the AG Zone and proposes to apply to the recently re-named BC Liquor and Cannabis 
Regulation Branch (LCRB) for amended endorsements as follows: 

AG Zone Use Maximum Proposed 
Number of seats in the indoor food 
and beverage service lounge 

30 65 

Maximum outdoor food and 
beverage service lounge area 

50 square metres 122.5 square metres 

 
LCRB Endorsements  Current Proposed 
Liquor Manufacturer 

Tasting Room 
Lounge 

Picnic Area 30 people maximum 190 people 

Persephone has indicated the intent of this application is to reflect current operating practices 
rather than increase the intensity of use. The applications are intended to permit this. 

12



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F  Page 3 of 14 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029_and_LCRB_endorsements 

The differences between a tasting room endorsement and a lounge endorsement is set out in 
the section on BC LCRB Endorsements noted within this report. The process requires that the 
application is submitted for local government review prior to submission to the LCRB.  

This report outlines potential conditions of approval and response to LCRB endorsements 
based on the AG Zone within Zoning Bylaw No. 310, consultation as a result of the development 
variance permit and related referrals.  

Options include supporting the application as proposed, a modified proposal, with site specific 
conditions or not support a variance and relying upon criteria established within the AG Zone. 
The picnic area endorsement is not specifically related to the AG Zone but does relate to the 
ability to host special events within the ALR, pursuant to Agricultural Land Commission policies. 

It is recommended that the Board choose an option, which can be communicated to the LCRB 
to ensure that SCRD input can be contributed to the final decision pertaining to operation of 
agricultural and permitted alcohol production facilities on the property. 

At the July 26, 2018 Regular Board meeting the following resolution was adopted: 

237/18 Recommendation No. 4 DVP00029 (Persephone) and Proposed Liquor 
Licence Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area   

The Infrastructure Services Committee recommended that the report titled 
DVP00029 (Persephone) and Proposed Liquor Licence Endorsements for a 
Lounge and Picnic Area be received;  

AND THAT the staff report and recommendation as amended be deferred to the 
September 13, 2018 Planning and Community Development Committee meeting 
for consideration as follows:  

THAT DVP00029 be issued to relax Section 1021.7 (3) (a) (ii) (indoor seating 
capacity) of Zoning Bylaw No. 310 from 30 to 65 be issued subject to: 

a) receipt of confirmation from Vancouver Coastal Health that a wastewater 
treatment system for the alcohol production facility and ancillary uses has been 
approved and installed; 

b) registration of a covenant on title that: 

i. requires a minimum of 12 secure bicycle parking spaces; 

ii. minimum of 80 on-site parking spaces be provided; 

iii. limits the food and beverage lounge business hours to include not 
opening any  earlier or closing any later than the following: 

• Summer Hours (May Long Weekend through Thanksgiving) 
Monday - Wednesday 11:00 a.m. – 7:00 p.m. 

Thursday - Sunday 10:00 a.m. – 9:00 p.m. 

13



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F  Page 4 of 14 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029_and_LCRB_endorsements 

• Winter Hours (After Thanksgiving to May Long Weekend) 
All days of the week 11:00 a.m. – 7:00 p.m., with the exception of the 
night of December 31st and until 1:00 a.m. on the morning of January 
1st; 

iv. indoor amplified and outdoor non-amplified music is permitted from 2:00 
p.m. to 4:00 p.m. on weekends, with the exception of the night of 
December 31st and until 1:00 a.m. on the morning of January 1st; 

AND THAT the proposed Lounge Endorsement be supported subject to the 
conditions established in DVP00029 (including that the indoor lounge seating not 
exceed 65 and outdoor lounge area not exceed 50 square metres); 

AND THAT the proposed Picnic Endorsement be supported subject to a maximum 
of 150 people; 

AND FURTHER THAT the Board resolution along with a copy of the staff reports 
dated July 19, 2018 and February 8, 2018 be sent to: 

a) Agricultural Land Commission; 
b) Vancouver Coastal Health Authority; and 
c) British Columbia Liquor Control and Licensing Branch. 

At the February 22, 2018 Regular Board meeting the following resolution was adopted: 

075/18  Recommendation No. 4  Persephone Brewing Company DVP00029 and 
LCRB Endorsements 

THAT the report titled Persephone Brewing Company DVP00029 and LCRB 
Endorsements– Electoral Area F be received; 

AND THAT Development Variance Permit DVP00029 be referred to the following 
agencies: 

i.  Skwxwú7mesh Nation; 
ii.  All Rural Area Advisory Planning Commissions; 
iii.  Town of Gibsons; 
iv.  District of Sechelt; 
v.  SCRD Agricultural Advisory Committee; 
vi.  Agricultural Land Commission; and 
vii.  Owners/Occupiers within 100 metres of the subject property. 

Persephone has provided additional information after the February 8, 2018, Planning and 
Community Development Committee (Attachment B). 

The purpose of this report is to provide information on the application, report on referral 
comments and obtain direction from the Planning and Community Development Committee on 
moving forward with the development variance permit application and proposed LCRB 
endorsements. 

14



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F  Page 5 of 14 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029_and_LCRB_endorsements 

DISCUSSION 

Referrals and Public Consultation 

Advisory Committee Referrals 

The development variance permit application and LCRB endorsements were referred to all five 
Advisory Planning Commissions and the Agricultural Advisory Committee. Copies of the 
meeting minutes and a table setting out the comments provided in regard to specific questions 
are included in Attachment C. 

Each advisory committee, with the exception of the Egmont/Pender Harbour APC, either 
supported or did not object to the proposed development variance permit and LCRB 
endorsements. Conditions were suggested to limit the hours of operation, to address noise 
concerns, and that SCRD should re-evaluate or cancel the variance if complaints or infractions 
occur. It is possible to establish hours of operation through a condition in the variance and 
supplemented by a covenant. However, it is not possible to reconsider or cancel a development 
variance permit once it has been issued.  

Referral to property owners and occupiers within 100 metres  

The SCRD received 8 letters/e-mails from residents in proximity to Persephone. Each letter 
raises concerns about the proposals. Correspondence is included in Attachment D. In summary 
the concerns are: 

1. Drainage and Water Quality - Wastewater is causing algal growth in ditch and there may 
be impact on groundwater and wells. Water from vats is used for irrigation. 
Sediment/sludge from beer production is going into a pond and then into road ditch. 
Possible impact on wildlife (fish) and harm to trees. Increase in water into road ditches. 

2. Noise and Hours of Operation - Late night noise. 

3. Traffic and Parking - Traffic creates safety concerns and a traffic study should be done. 
Access to driveways is blocked from time-to-time despite no parking signs put up by 
Persephone. 

4. Brewery and Non-Farm Use - Frustration that Persephone has been able to operate in 
contravention of ALR and other rules for the past 5 years.  

Other comments include: 

5. Picnic Area – One letter indicated a lack support to increase picnic area capacity from 30 
to 190. 

6. Other Nuisances and Concerns - Comments regarding odour, litter, and behaviour and 
safety for children. Area for consuming alcohol not identified outdoors. Possible impact 
on wildlife. 

7. Commercial Use - Residents did not anticipate living next to an expanding brewery 
which may seem to be operating like a pub. 

15



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F  Page 6 of 14 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029_and_LCRB_endorsements 

8. Technical Issues - Violations of LCRB regulations regarding serving size limits alleged. 
The area identified for growing grain is less than two hectares and not suitable for 
agriculture. 

9. Consultation Process and Decision Timeline - Complicated consultation by combining 
variance with endorsements.  

Agency Referrals 

SCRD also consulted with external agencies as directed by Board Resolution. During the 
consultation process comments were raised regarding Persephone’s drainage such as impact 
on road side ditches, potential contamination of surface water and parking. Staff followed up 
these concerns with provincial staff at the Ministry of Forest, Lands, Natural Resource 
Operations and Rural Development, Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure and 
Vancouver Coastal Health. The following table summarizes referral comments: 

Government/Agency Comments 

Sḵwxwú7mesh 
Nation 

Referral sent on March 19, 2018 and re-referred on May 9, 2018. No 
response has been received to date. 

Town of Gibsons Referral sent on April 5, 2018. No response has been received to 
date. 

District of Sechelt Referral sent on April 5, 2018. No response has been received to 
date. 

Agricultural Land 
Commission 

The referral response is included in full in Attachment E. 
 
ALC has determined that Persephone is in compliance. 
 
In responding to the referral, prior to making that determination, ALC 
did not comment on specific aspects regarding the requested 
variance or the proposed endorsements. ALC requested that should 
the ALC determine Persephone is a farm use that the DVP be re-
referred for additional comment. 
 
Staff re-referred the variance and proposed endorsements to ALC on 
July 3rd after the letter of farm compliance was received. It was 
anticipated that the variance comments would accompany this letter 
of compliance, however this was not the case.  

Vancouver Coastal 
Health (VCH) 

VCH is aware of issues related to wastewater from the brewery 
entering the drainage ditch and is working with Persephone to 
address wastewater issues. VCH requires submission of a signed 
and sealed ‘letter of certification’ from an engineer that the waste 
water system (for spent brewery water) has been installed to the 
proper standard, as per the as-built drawings, and will not cause a 
health hazard The works could be completed in about a month once 
installation starts. 
 

16



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F  Page 7 of 14 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029_and_LCRB_endorsements 

Persephone confirmed that filing for the upgraded wastewater 
system is in the process of being updated. 

Ministry of 
Transportation and 
Infrastructure 
(MOTI) 

No concerns. 

Ministry of Forest, 
Lands, Natural 
Resource 
Operations and 
Rural Development 
(FLNRORD) 

FLNRORD is working with Persephone to address concerns raised 
regarding water quality under the Water Sustainability Act. No 
specific concerns are noted at this time.  

 

Liquor and Cannabis Regulation Branch Endorsements Consultation Requirements 

LCRB requests that local governments conduct public consultation when considering 
endorsement applications. LCRB confirms that the form of public consultation is to be 
determined by the local government. There is an option for local governments to not conduct 
consultation and to have LCRB conduct their own process. However, it is not clear what weight 
SCRD comments would have in this process. Furthermore, there is a development variance 
permit request associated within the Endorsement and building on earlier consultation it makes 
sense for SCRD to use the development variance permit to initiate the consultation on the 
endorsement requests.  

SCRD Bylaw No. 522 (Procedures and Fees) sets notification area distances for variance 
permits and rezoning/OCP amendment applications at 100 metres, with the exception of 50 
metres for properties in the R1 and R2 zones. As the issues related to the DVP and the 
proposed endorsements are directly related, the notification process for DVPs (100-metre 
radius) was applied for the endorsements. This ensures all issues associated with the DVP are 
presented to the owners/occupiers within the notification area 

Engagement was conducted in 2016 by SCRD in relation to a non-farm use application to the 
ALC. 

Analysis 

Staff’s analysis of feedback considers the scale and organization of commercial activities in 
view of both the AG Zone/ALR Regulations and the surrounding neighbourhood. 

Parking, Traffic and Public Transit 

Parking and traffic are concerns on the site and some suggestions were made during the 
referral process to reduce impacts. One suggestion regarding requiring provision of bicycle 
parking could be achieved by a covenant registered on title.  

Referral comments suggested that public transit should be promoted and that the bus stop be 
moved closer. The bus stops on North Road are relatively close to Persephone (westbound stop 

17



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F  Page 8 of 14 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029_and_LCRB_endorsements 

is 150 metres and eastbound stop is 60 metres from the intersection). Bus service along North 
Road is limited as there is no service after 8:30 p.m. on weekdays and no service on weekends 
or holidays. No additional service is currently planned. An alteration of service would need to be 
considered in the context of service provision as a whole. 

SCRD may request as a condition of a development variance permit that a traffic study be 
conducted by Persephone as there may be occasions, such as at the end of an event, when 
traffic volume is particularly heavy and may be above 100 vehicle trips per hour. Experience 
from previous studies indicates that focus is on safe and efficient traffic flow at intersections. 
Examples of improvements that have been identified in studies include adding traffic lights or a 
right turn lane at an intersection, improving sight lines or adding a left turn lane into a property. 
A study is unlikely to address concerns regarding parking and traffic safety caused by poor 
driving and parking on Stewart Road adjacent to Persephone. Staff do not recommend including 
a traffic study as a condition of a development variance permit.  

MOTI has indicated that parking issues have been addressed by Persephone. However, there 
are likely to be occasions when there is overflow parking on Stewart Road. Vehicles are 
permitted to park on the side of a road, within the right-of way, providing traffic is not impeded or 
access to property is not blocked. Persephone provides 80 on-site spaces and there is space 
for additional parking. Care needs to be taken with requiring additional parking to ensure it does 
not impact farming capability of the ALR site.  

Persephone noted that shuttle bus pick-up locations are used when customer volume is 
expected to increase during an event. Provision of shuttle buses is a helpful measure that could 
reduce parking and traffic impacts on Stewart Road and surrounding area. 

Drainage and Water Contamination 

Persephone is working with Provincial agencies to address concerns regarding possible water 
contamination and drainage issues. This may address concerns about potential well-water 
contamination. MOTI is satisfied that the roadside ditches and the road are not impacted by 
effluent runoff. 

Referral comments stated concerns about impact of increased water flow on trees on nearby 
properties. Staff have followed up with appropriate provincial agencies.  

Noise and Hours of Operation 

Regarding hours of operation, SCRD can limit hours as a condition of the variance permit or as 
the subject of a covenant registered on title. Ceasing operation at 9:00 p.m. has been 
suggested in referral comments.  

Based on discussion at the July Committee meeting, the following revised operating hours are 
recommended:  

1. Summer Hours (May Long Weekend through Thanksgiving): 
10:00 a.m. – 9:00 p.m. 
 

2. Winter Hours (After Thanksgiving to May Long Weekend) 

18



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F  Page 9 of 14 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029_and_LCRB_endorsements 

11:00 a.m. - 7:00 p.m., with the exception of the night of December 31st and until 1:00 
a.m. on the morning of January 1st. 

Outdoor music occurs most often on the weekend in the afternoon and is not amplified. Not 
using amplification is also a restriction to all picnic area endorsements per LCRB. Indoor music 
most often occurs in the afternoons on the weekends and may be amplified. In discussions with 
staff, Persephone noted that there is no intention to alter these hours. 

SCRD Noise Control Bylaw No.597 applies and there are restrictions regarding outdoor music 
that LCRB apply through the endorsements. The quiet hours are between 11:00 p.m. and 7:00 
a.m. except on the night of December 31st and until 1:00 a.m. on the morning of January 1st. 

Information provided by Persephone noted that the lounge endorsement will permit music from 
2:00 p.m. to 4:00 p.m. on weekends (Saturday and Sunday). 

Staff consider that the hours of operation at Persephone are consistent with SCRD and LCRB 
standard. It is recommended that indoor amplified and outdoor non-amplified music is permitted 
from 12:00 p.m. to 6:00 p.m. on Saturday and Sunday, with the exception of the night of 
December 31st and until 1:00 a.m. on the morning of January 1st.  This is recommended to be 
included in a covenant if the development variance permit application is approved.  

Impact of Farm Related Activity within ALR on the Neighbourhood 

Some residents noted concern regarding the introduction of commercial activity into a 
residential area. However, Persephone and the surrounding area is located within the ALR and 
the AG Zone. Agriculture is a primary and important use in the AG Zone and ALR.  

ALR regulations allow for a range of commercial activities associated with agriculture, including 
alcohol production facility and special events. This may result in activities that could impact 
neighbours. The Farm Practices Protection (Right to Farm) Act gives farm operations protection 
from nuisance complaints, such as odour arising due to fertilizing growing areas or drainage. 
Any nuisance concerns arising from a farm operation need to be referred to the British Columbia 
Farm Industry Review Board. 

The Province has designated alcohol production facilities as a farm use that cannot be 
prohibited within the ALR (Agricultural Land Reserve Use, Subdivision and Procedure 
Regulation). A food and beverage service lounge is an ancillary use to the production facility. As 
the ALC has determined the brewery meets the requirements to be a farm use SCRD cannot 
prohibit it but may regulate it and the ancillary lounge. The AG Zone in Zoning Bylaw No. 310 
sets regulations for a brewery’s food and service beverage lounge, which is less than the 
permitted size within the ALC regulation. Persephone has applied to SCRD to vary these 
regulations to meet the ALC regulations. 

While the area surrounding Persephone is primarily used as residential, it is within the ALR and 
AG Zone and therefore intended for agriculture which includes related commercial activities as 
shown in the following map: 

19



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F  Page 10 of 14 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029_and_LCRB_endorsements 

 

Consultation Process 

Consultation on the development variance permit conforms to the procedures set out in 
Procedures and Fees Bylaw No. 522 which requires that notifications are mailed and hand 
delivered, where possible, to owners and occupiers of parcels within 100 metres of the subject 
property. There are no SCRD procedures set out in Bylaw No. 522 or any other bylaw regarding 
public notification for consideration of LCRB endorsement applications. However, in this case 
the issues are inter-connected 

A copy of the report provided to the referral agencies, which included the report considered at 
the February 8, 2018 Planning and Community Development Committee, was placed on the 
SCRD website and the notification letters provide a link to the website. 

BC LCRB Endorsements 

Persephone proposes to amend the current liquor licence issued as a manufacturer. The 
proposed endorsements will expand the activities permitted under the current liquor licence. 
Persephone has stated that the use of the site will not alter as the level of activity has been at 
about the level the proposed endorsements will authorize.  

The LCRB process requires that the applicant provides the local government with the 
application form for review. The local government reviews the application to confirm 
requirements such as zoning are met. The local government signs that it has received the 
application and returns it to the applicant who then submits it to LCRB. Local government review 
and signature can be delegated to staff or be the subject of a resolution. The review needs to 
include: gathering public input; consideration of noise; impact on the community; and take 
account of the location, person capacity and hours of operation of liquor service. 

Alternatively the local government may choose to opt out of the review. LCRB will gather public 
input and will contact local government staff to ask for information to assist the review. If local 
government input is incomplete then LCRB may ask for additional comments or gather the 
required information. 

20



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F  Page 11 of 14 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029_and_LCRB_endorsements 

SCRD can choose to comment on either of the endorsements (picnic and lounge) or opt out of 
the review. The SCRD can also make decision on the variance permit pending the outcome of 
the LCRB review and incorporate LCRB’s conditions and recommendations. 

The following table extracted from Manufacturer Licence Terms and Conditions Handbook 
(Handbook), Dec 2017 (Province of BC) shows a comparison between the current 
manufacturer’s licence (which includes a tasting room), a lounge endorsement and a picnic 
endorsement. Details of the LCRB regulations can be found in the Handbook; extracts can be 
found in Attachment F along with links to the LCRB website and Handbook: 

 

A lounge endorsement does not require that a restaurant is operated on the premises, however 
food must be available to patrons. The AG Zone does not permit a restaurant as a stand-alone 
use, though it does permit a food and beverage service lounge as an ancillary use to a brewery. 
Therefore food can be prepared on site or brought in from off-site to serve in the lounge. Staff 
consider that this may include use of a food truck.  

Staff understand that while LCRB considers input from local governments it is not obliged to 
adopt a government’s recommendation into an endorsement. 

Options 

Staff propose three options pertaining to the business operations of Persephone, which include 
both the development variance request to Zoning Bylaw No. 310 and the related response to 
two endorsement applications to the LCRB. Combining the conditions and creating the inter-

21



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F  Page 12 of 14 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029_and_LCRB_endorsements 

relation between the two will reduce the potential for the SCRD and LCRB to issue permits with 
a different set of conditions.  

Selection of one option will then be used as the basis for the official SCRD comment on the two 
endorsement applications will give the best opportunity for SCRD conditions to be included in 
the final approval. Option 1 is the recommended option. 

Option 1: Issuance of DVP00029, which is scaled-back version of the original application 
request, subject to registration of a covenant outlining conditions and 
confirmation of installation of waste water treatment system  

The requested variance is intended to reflect the level of activity that has taken place for several 
years. The currently-permitted outside lounge area and indoor seating capacity, within the AG 
Zone are less than that permitted by ALC regulations and what has been occurring on site.  

The proposal to increase indoor seating capacity from 30 to 65 would support poor weather and 
winter operation and reflect present seating area.  

Based on neighbour notification and referral comments, AG Zone/ALC regulations and in 
consideration of scale of operation and neighbourhood issues, it is recommended that the 
outdoor lounge area not be varied and maintain the 50 square metre maximum as set out within 
Section 1021.7(3)(iii) of the AG Zone. The outdoor lounge area could be supplemented by the 
picnic area. 

The Picnic Endorsement provides flexibility to Persephone to continue to operate with outdoor 
use. A recommended maximum for the picnic area is 150 people rather than the proposed 190. 

The current hours of operation and times for indoor and outdoor music will be included in a 
covenant registered on title.  

Staff recommend that the covenant require a minimum of 12 secure bicycle parking spaces be 
provided  

Parking is a concern and no minimum number of spaces for a brewery with a lounge and picnic 
are set out in Zoning Bylaw No. 310. The covenant will establish a minimum on-site parking 
requirement of 80 spaces. 

VCH and FLNRORD are working with Persephone to address potential water contamination 
issues. Installation of an approved treatment system should be confirmed to the SCRD and is 
recommended to be a condition to be achieved prior to issuance of DVP00029.  

A specific development variance permit and associated covenant would ensure maximum 
seating, lounge area and picnic capacity and none of which could be increased without a future 
development variance permit and covenant amendment.  

Option 2: Issuance of DVP00029 as proposed by applicant  

This option could contain conditions as noted above but in addition to the increase of inside 
seating capacity would also include an increase in the outdoor lounge area from 50 square 
metres to 122.5 square metres and a picnic area capacity of 190 people. 

22



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F  Page 13 of 14 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029_and_LCRB_endorsements 

Option 3: Deny Development Variance Permit No. DVP00029 

There are neighbourhood concerns about Persephone with respect to noise, water 
contamination, parking and traffic. The AG Zone allows for a food and beverage service lounge 
at lower levels of use than requested by Persephone. The provisions within the AG Zone were 
adopted in September 2016 with an intention of establishing small scale food and beverage 
service lounges as part of alcohol production facilities. Persephone could continue to operate 
but at a smaller scale than proposed. Along with the denial of the DVP the Board could also 
choose to not support an increase in picnic area capacity. 

Organization and Intergovernmental Implications 

As the proposal and issues relate to several agencies the Board’s resolution along with copies 
of staff reports dated February 8, 2018 and July 19, 2018 should be sent to Agricultural Land 
Commission, Vancouver Coastal Health Authority and British Columbia Liqueur Control and 
Licensing Branch. 

The Building Division has issued a building permit to Persephone to address required building 
upgrades. The Gibsons and District Volunteer Fire Department provided input regarding the 
Persephone’s building permit application. 

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

Review of the application for the development variance permit and draft applications for Lounge 
and Picnic Area Endorsements supports the SCRD Value of transparency. 

 
CONCLUSION 

Persephone applied to vary regulations set out in the AG Zone regarding food and beverage 
service lounge to increase the number of seats permitted in the indoor area from 30 to 65; 
increase the outdoor lounge area from 50 square metres to 122.5 square metres. As well, local 
government review of a proposed LCRB lounge and picnic endorsement has been requested. 

Through a referral and notification process, concerns were raised by local residents regarding, 
noise, traffic, parking, water contamination and other issues.  

Staff propose conditions to be secured by a covenant registered on title that should mitigate 
many of the concerns. Vancouver Coastal Health and other provincial agencies are working with 
Persephone to address water issues. 

Staff recommend issuance of the development variance permit and support for LCRB 
endorsements subject to the following conditions: 

1. Prior to issuing DVP00029, confirmation from VCH that an approved wastewater 
treatment system is installed and operating; 

2. DVP00029 be issued to increase the number of seats from 30 to 65 in the indoor lounge 
area and not increase the outdoor lounge area; 

23



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F  Page 14 of 14 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029_and_LCRB_endorsements 

3. Covenant be registered on title to set hours of operation and hours that music is played, 
minimum of 80 parking spaces and at least 12 bicycle parking spaces are installed; 

4. Lounge Endorsement be issued by LCRB subject to conditions set out in DVP00029;  

5. Picnic Endorsement be issued by LCRB subject to limiting the maximum number of 
people to 150; and 

6. Board resolution along with a copy of staff reports dated February 8, 2018 and July 19, 
2018 be sent to: 

a) Agricultural Land Commission 

b) Vancouver Coastal Health; and 

c) British Columbia Liquor and Cannabis Regulation Branch. 

Attachments 

Attachment A - Agricultural Land Commission letter confirming compliance (July 3, 2018) 

Attachment B - Additional Information from Persephone in Response to PCDC Feb 8, 2018 

Attachment C - Advisory Group Referral Responses 

Attachment D - Referral Responses from Owners and Occupiers 

Attachment E -  Referral Response from Agricultural Land Commission (April 20, 2018) 

Attachment F -  Extracts from Liquor and Cannabis Regulation Branch website and 
manufacturer handbook 

 

Reviewed by: 
Manager X – A. Allen Finance  
GM X – I. Hall Legislative  

CAO X – J. Loveys Mgr Transit 
and Fleet X - G. Dykstra 

 

24



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

ATTACHMENT A 

  

25



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

ATTACHMENT B 
Additional Information from Persephone in Response to PCDC Feb 8, 2018 
 

Email dated Feb 22, 2018 

 

Dear Mr. Rafael,  

I would like to take the opportunity to respond to several comments made by Directors at 
today’s Planning and Development Committee meeting regarding Persephone Brewing 
Company and the information provided in your report entitled “Persephone Brewing Company 
DVP00029 and LCLB Endorsements - Electoral Area F”. Please note that I have attempted to 
summarize the gist of these comments as accurately as possible in my own words. It is my hope 
that these comments will be incorporated into future staff reports for clarification purposes. 

Occupancy Concerns 

Several comments made by Directors lead me to believe there is a perception that our lounge 
endorsement application and our application to amend the picnic area capacity of 30 persons 
(effective Jan 23, 2017) will lead to an increase in the amount of traffic and occupancy at 
Persephone Brewing Co. This is not the case. Since opening Persephone Brewing has limited 
occupancy in our Tasting Room to 65 persons consistent with ALC policy. Our Tasting Room 
occupancy was subsequently set at 72 persons (seated) or 190 persons (standing) by the Fire 
Department in July 2014 (see submitted, stamped floor plan), however we continued to limit 
indoor occupancy to 65 persons. No change to this occupancy level is being requested.  
With respect to occupancy within our picnic areas, neither the ALC nor the LCLB limited 
occupancy within licensed picnic areas prior to January 23, 2017, and Persephone Brewing 
operated accordingly since we opened. During peak usage (busy summer days when 
community events are taking place at the farm), our picnic areas have always accommodated 
as many as 200 persons, however average usage is substantially less than this during the 
summer. The occupancy limit of 30 persons imposed by the LCLB on Jan 23, 2017 represents a 
severe reduction in occupancy relative to historical usage of the picnic areas. Our application to 
amend this to 190 persons was intended to allow Persephone to continue to operate as it has 
since opening and accommodate peak usage during the summer (thereby facilitating continued 
access to these spaces for community groups, fundraisers and events in the summer). Staff’s 
recommendation contained in their report to the PDC to limit occupancy within our Picnic Areas 
to 150 persons so as to align with ALC policy regarding events on ALR lands is both appropriate 
and manageable for Persephone Brewing as this will accommodate typical high season usage 
in those areas. 

Parking 

A parking plan showing the layout of approximately 80 parking spaces was provided to the 
SCRD, and presented to Directors in past staff reports, as part of our non farm use application 
to the ALC. Please advise if you require us to re-submit this parking plan. Comments made at 
today’s meeting suggest that Directors may still believe that parking is a significant issue and 
only being actively monitored/controlled by Persephone Brewing staff during large on site 
events. Throughout this past summer, and as standard operating practice going forward, 

26



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

Persephone schedules at least one staff person to monitor and control parking every weekend 
from the beginning of July through end of August. We are not aware of any parking related 
complaints since this practice was put in place. 

Brewery Water Treatment & Reuse 

Director Winn’s comments that our brewery drainage water goes into a lagoon which generates 
problematic odours is no longer accurate. The previous brewery water treatment system (which 
has been filed with Vancouver Coastal Health) included a treatment lagoon. That system indeed 
proved problematic due to odours and as a result an improved treatment system was installed in 
July 2017. The new system consists of a custom engineered physical/biological treatment plant 
with full ozone/UV sterilization designed specifically for brewery water and represents an 
investment of over $100,000. Odours have ceased to be an issue since installation of this 
system (note that farm operations such as moving compost piles once a year do generate 
odours on occasion and this may be incorrectly associated with brewery water treatment. The 
new treatment system is designed to produce and store water capable of being pumped through 
our drip irrigation system so this resource can be reclaimed for more efficient crop irrigation. 

Permitted Activities in a Lounge 

Several comments at the meeting suggested an assumption that if Persephone’s Tasting Room 
becomes a Lounge it would essentially operate as a Pub. While it is true that the LCLB’s Terms 
and Conditions for a licensed brewery lounge permit a number of activities typically found in 
pubs and bars (e.g. games of skill such as pool tables & darts, games of change (e.g. 
lottery/keno etc.), sporting events etc.), Persephone Brewing does not wish or intend to operate 
its Lounge as a pub but rather wishes to continue operating as a family friendly destination. 
Pubs, for example, tend to be open late whereas Persephone’s hours of operation are not 
planned exceed 7pm (winter) or 9pm (summer). What is more, even under our current Tasting 
Room endorsement we can have later hours, and have historically not done so. Pubs are 
typically filled with big screen TV’s to allow the broadcasting of sporting events which whereas 
Persephone does not, and will not, have any TV screens on premise to broadcast such events. 
Pubs typically run a full service kitchen with table service whereas Persephone would continue 
to partner with Farm to Feast to provide local, sustainable food options for patrons and would 
continue to offer counter service to patrons only which is consistent a small scale tap rooms 
operation.  

Persephone’s reasons for pursuing the lounge endorsements are to (a) allow for the 
reinstatement of music inside the tap room between 2:00pm and 4:00pm on weekends (which 
we are no longer able to do under our current Tasting Room license), (b) to allow patrons a 
variety of serving sizes for our beers rather than limiting serving sizes to 12.5 oz, and (c) to 
allow Persephone to support other local manufacturers by providing “guest taps” featuring their 
cider or beer provided these do not amount to more than 20% of on site sales.  

On Site Food Truck vs. Full Service Kitchen 

As stated above, while food service (and associated kitchen facilities) is a permitted activity in 
brewery lounges, Persephone Brewing has no plans to develop a full service commercial 
kitchen at this time and plans to continue to partner with Farm to Feast to provide limited, local, 
and sustainably sourced food options for patrons.  

  

27



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

Relationship with the Sunshine Coast Association for Community Living 

Director Milne’s comments regarding Persephone Brewing’s community impact and associated 
relationship with the Sunshine Coast Association for Community Living (SCACL), loosely 
paraphrased as “If you scrape off the thin veneer of the relationship between Persephone 
Brewing and SCACL, the reality isn’t very pretty.” were both unprofessional, and unwarranted. 
SCACL’s partnership with Persephone has provided, and continues to provide:  

• meaningful employment and skills development opportunities for a number of SCACL’s 
members served (i.e. adults living with developmental disabilities) 

• opportunities for SCACL’s members served to engage in activities at the farm and 
brewery (e.g. hops harvest, hop planting, garlic planting and harvest, staff parties, etc.) 

• a source of funds to support that engagement as well as other SCACL programs and 
services (100% of net revenues from every one of our major events - approximately 
$20,000 in 2017), and  

• space to develop and operate other farm and non farm based social enterprises geared 
towards providing work and engagement opportunities for SCACL’s members served 
(e.g. Bottle Me and farm fresh egg enterprise which involves SCACL operating a flock of 
laying hens at the farm).  

Many of Persephone’s staff are contributing members of the Sunshine Coast Association for 
Community Living, and our Head Brewer currently sits on SCACL’s Board of Directors. SCACL 
has nominated Persephone Brewing Company for a Community Living Associations WOW 
Award and Social Enterprise of the Year Award (both of which were subsequently received by 
Persephone), further supporting the degree to which our partnership has had a positive and 
meaningful impact for both partners. SCACL’s Exectutive Director, Glen McClughan, can likely 
provide additional comment and his own perspective on the nature and value to SCACL of the 
current partnership between SCACL and Persephone Brewing. 

As always, please don’t hesitate to contact me at your convenience should you have any 
questions. 

Kind regards, 

 

Dion Whyte 
General Manager 
Persephone Brewing Co. 
 

  

28



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

ATTACHMENT C 
Advisory Group Referral Responses 

 

29



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

Agricultural Advisory Committee, March 27, 2018 
Recommendation No. 2   Development Variance Permit Application DVP00029 & LCBC 

Endorsement, Electoral Area F (Persephone Brewing Company). 
The Agricultural Advisory Committee recommended that the report titled Development Variance 
Permit Application DVP00029 & LCBC Endorsement, Electoral Area F (Persephone Brewing 
Company) be received;  

AND THAT Persephone Brewing Company be limited to the existing 80 parking spaces without 
hard-surfacing and expansion; 

AND FURTHER THAT the AAC supports the increased 190 seating capacity in the picnic area. 

Key points of discussion: 

• Senior Planner, David Rafael introduced Persephone Brewing Company, CEO, Brian 
Smith to the AAC.  

• The Senior Planner noted that the AAC is to consider site-planning requests that could 
enable Persephone to come into compliance with the SCRD zoning regulations to 
operate as a brewery with the ALR. 

• AAC to consider when making a decision towards this application regarding the 
proposed food and beverage lounge, impact on farming, seating capacity of 190 or the 
150 seating capacity proposed by the SCRD appropriate in the picnic area, 65 indoor 
seating capacity, 80 onsite existing parking spaces and any negative impacts. 

• Mr. Smith noted that the SCRD staff report was well prepared, the reason for attending 
this meeting was to answer any comments or questions the AAC have pertaining to this 
DVP application. 

• AAC members suggested that parking signage for additional parking required at all 
entrances to the farm. 

• The 80 parking spaces have been onsite since year one of the farms opening. 

• Question is 80 parking spaces sufficient, or should it be reduced? 

• Mr. Smith is not looking to increase the onsite parking in the future. 

• A shuttle is used for larger events to transport people to and from to minimize the 
parking constraints on the farm. 

• The onsite work yard is in the composting area and not in the parking areas. 

• On-street parking is minimal due to signage supplied by Persephone and desire to not 
negatively impact adjacent residents. 

• Persephone plans to plant barley this spring in the lower field to comply with ALC 
regulations 

The proposed food truck will support local farms for food sourcing 

  

30



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

Egmont / Pender Harbour (Area A) Advisory Planning Commission, March 28, 2018 
Development Variance Permit Application DVP00029 & LCBC Endorsement – Electoral Area F 
(Persephone Brewing Company 

Answers to the questions from the Area A APC as to the impact of Zoning Bylaw No. 310 are as 
followed: 

• The APC does not feel the food and beverage service lounge seating/occupancy is 
appropriate. 

• The proposed picnic area capacity of 190 (proposed) or 150 (suggested by SCRD staff) 
– The APC feels this number is too high and there will be a large impact for surrounding 
neighbours with noise and parking. 

• Reducing the number of people in the picnic area will reduce the possible impact on the 
neighbourhood. 

• If this variance is approved and complaints and infractions happen then the variance 
should be cancelled. 

Area B - Halfmoon Bay Advisory Planning Commission, March 27, 2018 
Development Variance Permit Application DVP00029 & LCBC Endorsement-Electoral Area F 
(Persephone Brewing Company) 

The APC discussed the staff report regarding Development Variance Permit Application 
DVP00029 & LCBC Endorsement-Electoral Area F (Persephone Brewing Company).  The 
following concerns/points/issues were noted: 

• We are asked to comment on this application because it is ALR land, any changes there 
will affect ALR here in Halfmoon Bay. 

• Have there been any parking issues? Think a lot of people bike there and walk. 

• The issue of parking seems to have been addressed with the accommodation of 80 on 
site spots. 

• Like what they’re doing, except for the picnic area against neighbouring property might 
need rethinking. 

• They are doing a thriving business, employing local people and are providing a family 
oriented facility. 

• As long as they keep to their claim that they want to be family oriented with early closing 
hours…is there a way of putting time restrictions on their operations? 

• Don’t have a problem with the variance request, and the owners seem to be agreeing 
with the SCRD proposed 150 outdoor picnic seating. 

• Think that 190 people is a lot on a property this size. 

• The 150 limit could have a huge impact on them financially without concrete reasoning 
for this reduction. 

• The 150 seems reasonable given the analysis and calculations that have been done to 
come to this number. 

31



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

• Suggest that we support the staff recommendations for 150. 

• In a facility in Powell River, seating for a gathering of 200 people seems like a good 
number. 

• The required food truck is a spinoff business that this business can support. 

Recommendation No. 1  Development Variance Permit Application DVP00029& LCBC 
Endorsement-Electoral Area F (Persephone Brewing Company) 

Regarding Development Variance Permit Application DVP00029 & LCBC Endorsement-
Electoral Area F (Persephone Brewing Company), the APC recommends the following in 
response to the “key questions to consider” on page 22. 

1. Is the proposed food and beverage service lounge seating/occupancy appropriate? 

Yes 

2. Is the proposed picnic area capacity of 190 (proposed) or 150 (suggested by SCRD 
staff) appropriate? 

The APC supports staff recommendations 

3. Is there sufficient on-site parking (80 spaces)? 

Yes 

4. Are there any conditions the SCRD should establish to reduce possible impacts on the 
neighbourhood? 

The APC suggests the following: 

a) noise control (limited hours)  

b) no on-street parking 

c) odor control from the brewing process 

Area D – Roberts Creek Advisory Planning Commission, March 19, 2018 
Development Variance Application DVP00029 & LCBC Endorsement – Electoral Area F 
(Persephone Brewing Company)  

The APC discussed the staff report regarding Development Variance Application DVP00029 & 
LCBC Endorsement – Electoral Area F (Persephone Brewing Company).  

Mr. Brian Smith, applicant, was present to respond to questions and comments of the APC.  

Points from discussion included: 

• Parking – It can be difficult to find a place to park at Persephone sometimes. Big trucks 
may take up a lot of space in the parking lot, so parking can seem tight. There is lots of 
space to park on the road. “Bad” parking on the street could be improved if the road 
were paved. Have street parking “built to work”; examine off-site parking. The road to the 
bypass could handle parking on either side. Promote transit use to clientele.  Include 
bicycle parking spots in the plan. Need adequate lighting for parking areas. 

o Applicant pointed out that during the summer, Saturdays, and special events, staff 
was assigned to manage parking and the flow of cars. Weekday parking usually is 

32



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

not an issue. A large percentage of visitors are families with children, so safety is 
important to Persephone. Signage to help with parking has been installed. Applicant 
was reluctant to push a street through for paved street parking in light of likely 
resistance of neighbours. When hosting events, the applicant organizes shuttle 
service to transport clientele to and from Persephone, lower Gibsons and the ferry. 
Streetlight bulbs have been changed at North road and Stewart road so it is now 
fairly well lit. 

• Proposed food and beverage service lounge seating/occupancy – Recommended 
standards for space requirements at events were discussed. It was thought the 
capacities proposed per area were appropriate for standing, sitting and eating.  

o Applicant explained music is played only until 4:00 or 5:00 pm; if outdoors it is not 
amplified. Persephone provides snacks, not food services, which are provided by a 
food truck. Picnic area is well used. 

• Proposed picnic area capacity – A capacity of 190 persons was acceptable to the APC, 
as long as the total seating capacity did not exceed the ALR Regulation. It was noted the 
65 seating capacity applies to both indoor and outdoor areas. 

• Conditions to reduce possible impacts on the neighbourhood – APC members thought 
Persephone had been doing well at addressing issues, and had nothing further to add. 

Area E – Elphinstone Advisory Planning Commission, March 28, 2018 
Development Variance Application DVP00029 & LCBC Endorsement – Electoral Area F 
(Persephone Brewing Company)  

The APC discussed the staff report regarding Development Variance Application DVP00029 
& LCBC Endorsement – Electoral Area F (Persephone Brewing Company) at 1053 Stewart 
Road, West Howe Sound.  

The applicant provided background and an overview of the brewing operation and its 
applications to change from a tasting room endorsement to an indoor food and beverage 
service lounge, and to expand the outdoor picnic area occupancy. Actions to address the 
two key complaints of neighbours in Persephone’s first year, parking and noise, were 
described. Persephone operates within noise bylaw hours; usually closed by 7:00 pm, and 
9:00 pm on weekends and in the summer.  

The APC discussed questions from the staff report as follows: 

1. Is the proposed food and beverage service lounge seating/occupancy appropriate?   

The applicant responded to APC members’ inquiries: 

• There would be no expansion of the space. Changes include the different activities 
permitted with the lounge license, like bringing in live music; there is a difference in 
terms of the size of the beer (tasting room, 12 oz. beer; lounge, 16-18 oz.). 

• Did not see this as an increase in traffic nor anticipate crowds of people. 

• There are no plans for a restaurant or kitchen. Food is currently served from a food 
truck, a local business committed to supporting Sunshine Coast farms. There is a 
wood-fired pizza oven on the property. 

33



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

• Also serve non-alcoholic beverages. 

• Some of the rules have changed. Capacity used to be assessed by area, and now it 
is by occupancy numbers.  

• The operation fits well within the occupancy threshold, and fits well with the number 
of parking spots. During the week the lot is not full. Staff manages parking at busy 
times. When busy, parking overflow goes onto the side roads. 

• Sometimes the brewery runs a shuttle to the ferry terminal and lower Gibsons. There 
is a transit stop at Stewart and North, and a planned increase in public transit 
services. Clientele also use taxis or carpool to avoid drinking and driving. 

• In addition to 80 parking spots, there is a location that could be used for staff parking, 
in the composting area. If this were a restaurant, 45 parking spots would be required 
for this number of people.  

In summary, the APC regards the proposed food and beverage service lounge 
occupancy to be appropriate. The proponent will be continuing to operate as they have 
been. It is not an increase in the number of people who will be occupying the space. 

2. Is the proposed picnic area capacity of 190 (proposed) or 150 (suggested by SCRD 
staff) appropriate?   

Comments from APC members included: 

• On weekends, there are a lot of children. It is one of the few places you can go on 
the coast that includes kids. 190 is appropriate. Sometimes people bring two to four 
kids. You can sit, relax and have a beverage; your kids can play. It is one of the few 
businesses that allow for the opportunity to go outside as a family and be together. 

• Originally there were issues. There has been turnover in the neighbourhood in the 
last few years. Would recommend this (variance request). There is better policing on 
Persephone’s part; it keeps public perception onboard. There is additional staff to 
deal with parking. 

The APC regards the capacity of 190 as an appropriate number, as it will include 
children as well as adults. There have been no complaints from neighbours in the last 
four years. 

3. Is there sufficient on-site parking (80 spaces)?   

The APC considers 80 spaces is sufficient on-site parking. The applicant has provided a 
math equation in the documents indicating how much parking a restaurant would be 
required to provide; the applicant is providing almost double that. 

4. Are there any conditions the SCRD should establish to reduce possible impacts on the 
neighbourhood?   

• The APC recommends that the applicant continue the practice of monitoring the 
parking. There are signs in place that will be maintained. The conditions in place are 
proving sufficient due to the lack of complaints in the last four years. 

• If the traffic and parking becomes a question of public inconvenience and a safety 
issue, the SCRD should come back and re-evaluate this. 

34



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

• The APC recommends that, in order to minimize traffic disruptions, a bus stop be 
maintained in this area. 

Area F – West Howe Sound Advisory Planning Commission, March 27, 2018 
Development Variance Application DVP00029 & LCBC Endorsement – Electoral Area F 
(Persephone Brewing Company) 

The APC discussed the staff report regarding Development Variance Application DVP00029 & 
LCBC Endorsement – Electoral Area F (Persephone Brewing Company). 

The applicant noted that: 

• Occupancy numbers requested for the picnic area variance and lounge license are 
below the numbers of the ALC. 

• Usually Persephone Brewery holds one big event a year in August, with other events 
in other locations. A lot of other organizations host events at the site, in the range of 
occupancy at 150 to 190 maximum. 

• Rationale around occupancy of 190 as maximum requested for picnic area: based on 
observations over the last 4.5 years; good balance with 80 parking spaces; no desire 
to increase parking spaces due to preference to farm the land. There appeared to be 
a good balance in terms of the neighbours, customers and agricultural use. 

• Explained that the 190 occupancy request was suitable for the rural area; the 30 
person rate from the LCLB was an arbitrary number recently set, mainly applicable to 
urban settings, and open to requests for variance. The picnic area previously was 
regulated relative to a square footage area, not by occupancy numbers. Applicant 
indicated that in the picnic area the 190-person occupancy would apply all the time; 
in practice, this would be mainly in sunny weather on Saturday and Sunday.  

• The tasting room has been at an occupancy of 65 since its beginning, based on fire 
inspection and safety. Some of the regulations are more recent. Persephone does 
not treat the outdoor area as a lounge area; only in the indoor tasting room is lounge 
service being considered. There are two areas: a picnic area outside and the indoor 
tasting area. People take their own drinks outside to the picnic area, where there is 
no table service. 

• Regarding its ALC non-farm use application, Persephone would start growing barley 
this spring to be incompliance with ALC regulations by December 2018. 

• Discussed current ALC policy on breweries. 

Members addressed questions from the staff report as follows: 

1.  Is the proposed food and beverage service lounge seating/ occupancy appropriate? 

• There appeared to be consensus of APC members that the proposed food and 
beverage service lounge seating/ occupancy was appropriate, as no objections were 
expressed. 

2. Is there sufficient on-site parking (80 spaces)?   

• Members thought there was sufficient parking on-site. 

35



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

• Question about spaces for staff parking. Applicant noted most staff walk or ride; staff 
could park in the compost area adjacent to farm vehicles. 

• Comment that one of the biggest issues of the neighbours was parking, and now that 
has been fixed. 

3. Is the proposed picnic area capacity of 190 (proposed) or 150 (suggested by SCRD 
staff) appropriate?   

• One member remarked that the 190-person occupancy request for the picnic area 
felt like a good number balancing the 80 parking spaces. 

• One member expressed concern about the request to jump from LCLB’s 30 persons 
for the picnic area to 190. 

• One member thought 190 was high, and proposed not allowing a large picnic area 
and that 30 people is reasonable on a farm. 

• Three members thought 190 was acceptable; it was noted that 190 was under the 
thresholds of the ALC. 

4. Are there any conditions the SCRD should establish to reduce possible impacts on the 
neighbourhood?   

• Comment that applicant appears to be doing everything they can do to address 
issues: ending events at 9:00 pm; working with neighbours; having staff control the 
parking. 

• Lobby to install a traffic light at Stewart Road and North Road. 

• Limit hours of operation as per current hours, i.e., no later than 9:00 pm.  

• Minimize light pollution to neighbours at night by requiring special (“dark skies”) 
lighting on site (lighting that is directed downwards). 

The following additional points were noted: 

• Discussion on the regulatory processes regarding the related applications to the 
SCRD, Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) and BC Liquor Control and Licencing 
Branch (LCLB).  

• Concern about limited consultation area; recommendation to expand consultation 
area beyond 100 m from property, to from North to Reed to Chamberlin. 

• Water treatment and reuse and reducing the odour – It was noted that if the effluent 
water were not re-used for irrigation, the odour of yeast would not be a problem.  

• Concern about possible future use of the facility upon sale of the property if the 
zoning changes enable a larger facility with different activities. Discussion about 
applying restrictions, being prescriptive, definitive. Live sporting events were an 
example of an activity for which it would be difficult to curtail noise.  

• Question regarding whether the variance could say “will not be operated as a ‘pub’”. 

The Chair thanked the applicant for attending the meeting.  

  

36



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

ATTACHMENT D 
Referral Responses from Owners and Occupiers 

Mark Hiltz (Stewart Road) 

37



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

 
  

38



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

Patricia Beale (Stewart Road) 

39



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

40



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

  

41



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

April Crooks (Eaglecrest Drive) and Judy Cook (Stewart Road) 

 

42



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

 

43



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

44



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

45



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

46



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

  

47



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

Chad Joe (Stewart Road) 

From: Chad Joe  
Sent: Wednesday, May 09, 2018 12:23 PM  
To: Planning Department <Planning.Department@scrd.ca>  
Subject: Persephone Development Variance Permit Application  
 
Good morning David  
 
I attempted to meet with Brian, however he wasn’t available until Friday. He did give me some 
helpful info regarding the changes at his farm. Here is what Brain texted me with regards to the 
application.  
 
“Sure. Friday afternoon? In short, nothing will be changing. Our occupancy load will not be 
increasing. There are still 80+ parking spots on site. Signage is staying the same. We always 
ask big groups to have voluneteers. We always have staff outside managing cars on Saturdays 
and Sundays. And for our one big event we hire a shuttle that circles the community picking up 
and dropping off. Local govt has suggested directing cars to park on the southern section of 
Stewart Road but we have resisted out of courtesy to yours and others access.  
Sent from my iPhone”  
 
I don’t share the same opinion that there will be no impact on parking. Adding more seating 
adds more traffic. Traffic on weekend have been an issue from day one and after being run off 
the road on several occasions and 18 months of pleading with Brain it took my 71yr old mother 
to be run off the road and enough was enough, the Yield sign was replaced with a stop sign. 
Here are some thing that I feel need to be addressed regarding safety and respect to the 
neighbors in the area.  
 
· Before anymore foolish decision are made in regards to Persephone Farm and Brewing, a 
traffic study needs to be implemented for the Safety of all.  
· Due to the heavy traffic where the vehicles exit the property the road is constantly was 
boarded and potholed. That portion of the road also services two other properties and shouldn’t 
have to be subjected to these extreme road condition when it the farms activity causing the road 
issues. This could be mitigated be having the farm change their access to the paved portion of 
the road or simply pave the road to the end of the exiting road. Again, a traffic study would most 
likely sort that out as well.  
· As Brian mentioned in his text. Local government has suggested the farm utilize the south side 
of Stewart Rd. If this is in fact a true statement local government hasn’t a clue what the 
neighbors have put up with, with little or NO support from the SCRD. Countless time the 
neighbors have been impacted by the farm. Accesses blocked or limited because on the lack of 
planning and respect from Brian and the farm. Its taken years to just get Brain to put up the no 
parking signs and it still happens from time to time. It would happen every weekend if the signs 
were removed.  
 
 

  

48



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

Brain would have a lot more support if he had more respect for the surrounding homes and the 
people that own them. Also keeping in mind, no one lives at Persephone. If Brian and all of you 
at the SCRD were dealing with rotten odors 24 -7, traffic congestion, parking, noise issues and 
getting run off the road by people clearly not paying attention or drunk, you’d hope that it would 
get sorted out ASAP. Right? At the end of the day its all about SAFTEY! There are children 
playing on the grounds coupled with drinking, parking and congestion. It sound like a recipe for 
disaster, without a professional eye looking and correcting poor planning. If the SCRD chooses 
to go forward with the application without a traffic study and there was an injury or a fatality, 
have this email serve you as notice. You may not be able to stop and incident , but it’s both the 
SCRD’s and Brain Smith’s obligation and responsibility to do your due diligents when it comes 
to safety moving forward with this application.  
 
 
Chad Joe  
 
1008 Stewart Rd.  
 
Gibsons  

  

49



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

Gord Dieroff (Stewart Road) 

50



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

51



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

 
  

52



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

Hamid Marati (Stewart Road) 

From: aria holdings ltd. merati  
Sent: Wednesday, May 09, 2018 7:56 AM  
To: Planning Department <Planning.Department@scrd.ca>  
Subject: PERSEPHONE BREWING COMPANY/PLAN LMP20836  
 
ATTN: SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT  
 
I am writing in regards to Persephone Brewing Company's application for a development 
variance permit in which to expand their company and in essence expand and branch out to 
more of an undercover pub.  
 
I and my family own and reside at 1026 Stewart Road and such expansion plans worry me 
immensely. Already the area has seen changes once Persephone has occupied the premises. It 
is no longer a quiet residential quarter as it once was. Furthermore, parking is often an issue as 
their is a lack of space to already accommodate their current customer base.  
 
Increasing their seating space indoors and outdoors would only add to the problem and I 
sincerely hope you take in mind the residents who have been residing on their properties long 
before Persephone and had no anticipation of residing next to an expanding brewery.  
 
Many Regards,  
Hamid Merati.  

  

53



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

Jennifer Drysdale (Stewart Road) 

 

54



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

 
  

55



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

Name Withheld by Request (Stewart Road) 

 

56



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

 

57



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

 

58



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

 
 

59



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

 

  

60



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

ATTACHMENT E 

 

61



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

 
  

62



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

ATTACHMENT F 
Extracts from Liquor Control and Licensing Branch Website and Manufacturer Handbook 
LCLB website: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/employment-business/business/liquor-
regulation-licensing  
With a winery, brewery, or distillery licence you may: 

• have a dedicated sampling area to provide samples to the public  

• provide guided tours to patrons and serve them samples on the tour, and  

• apply for one on-site retail store at your winery, brewery or distillery    

Lounge 

A lounge is an indoor or patio area where customers can purchase and consume product made 
on-site and a limited amount of products purchased from the Liquor Distribution Branch.  This 
endorsement is subject to local government/First Nation consultation and requires an additional 
7-12 months to process.  You may operate your manufacturing site (once the licence is issued) 
while this endorsement application is ongoing. 

Picnic Area 

In a picnic area, liquor is restricted to that served or sold from the on-site store or other 
endorsements (if applicable).  This endorsement will require local government/First Nation sign-
off and requires 1-4 months to process.  

 

Manufacturer Licence Terms and Conditions Handbook, Dec 2017 (Province of BC) 
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/employment-business-and-economic-
development/business-management/liquor-regulation-licensing/guides-and-
manuals/manufacturer-handbook.pdf 
Manufacturer Licence (page 10) 
Once you have your manufacturer licence, you must maintain your equipment and continue to 
manufacture onsite each year in order to maintain the licence. You are required as part of the 
licensing process to own or have at least a one-year lease on your production equipment. You 
must maintain this equipment and continue to produce onsite.  

Your basic licence permits you to:  

• Sell your products to licensees as permitted through your manufacturing agreement with the 
Liquor Distribution Branch.  

• Market and promote your products offsite to licensees and the public.  

• Set aside one or more interior areas where you may sell or serve samples of your products to 
your patrons between 9 a.m. and 11 p.m.  

• Take patrons on guided tours of your establishment between 9 a.m. and 11 p.m. While on a 
guided tour, your tour route is considered a service area which permits the service or sale of 
samples to persons on the tour. The tours are permitted in any area of your business but are 
only permitted outside if there are exterior features related to manufacturing, e.g. a vineyard.  

63

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/employment-business/business/liquor-regulation-licensing
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/employment-business/business/liquor-regulation-licensing
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/employment-business-and-economic-development/business-management/liquor-regulation-licensing/guides-and-manuals/manufacturer-handbook.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/employment-business-and-economic-development/business-management/liquor-regulation-licensing/guides-and-manuals/manufacturer-handbook.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/employment-business-and-economic-development/business-management/liquor-regulation-licensing/guides-and-manuals/manufacturer-handbook.pdf


Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

Samples (page 10-11) 
Samples are a small amount intended to demonstrate what the product tastes like. Without a 
lounge or special event area endorsement you can only sell a limited volume of liquor for 
sampling purposes.  

You must follow these limits when selling samples:  

• Winery: a maximum individual serving size of 50 ml of wine. Multiple servings (e.g. flights) 
are permitted to a total maximum of 150 ml per person per day.  

• Brewery/Cidery: a maximum individual serving size of 125 ml of beer or cider. Multiple 
servings (e.g. flights) are permitted to a total maximum of 375 ml per person per day.  

• Distillery: a maximum individual serving size of 15 ml of spirits. Multiple servings (e.g. 
flights) are permitted to a total maximum of 45 ml per person per day. The volume limits for 
spirits do not include any mix added to the samples, e.g. tonic water.  

Please note that “selling” includes any form of indirect sale, such as charging patrons for a tour 
that comes with a sample, offering liquor with the purchase of food, or charging for 
entertainment that includes liquor in the price. The maximum sample amounts per person per 
day apply regardless of where the liquor is provided, i.e. in a designated sampling area or on a 
guided tour or both.  

If you provide free samples to your customers, the maximum individual serving sizes listed 
above still apply. There are no specified limits on the total volume of free samples you may 
provide, however you must never serve or sell samples to the point of intoxication. 

Where Customers May Consume Liquor (page 13) 
Customers cannot bring their own bottles of wine or other liquor to consume at your facility, but 
customers may take away unfinished bottles of wine (only), as long as the bottles are re-sealed. 
You may only sell and serve in the licensed area(s) and sampling area of your facility, or on a 
guided tour, and self-service is not permitted.  

• If you have an additional licence on your manufacturer site, a patron may purchase a drink 
in one licensed establishment (for example, a restaurant) and then take it into an adjoining 
establishment (for example, a lounge) if you own both establishments  

• Customers may take their drinks to the picnic area, but you cannot serve in the picnic area  

• Patrons may take liquor into the washroom, as long as they are not walking through an 
unlicensed area (such as a lobby) and you are properly supervising the washrooms  

• Professional entertainers may consume liquor while on stage, as long as they do not 
become intoxicated 

Endorsements (page 17) 
You can apply for four additional endorsements – a store, lounge, special event area and picnic 
area. If you do not have any endorsements on your manufacturing licence, you may only 
manufacture and permit guided tours and sampling at your site.  

  

64



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

Picnic Area Endorsement (page 19 to 20) 
You may apply to the Branch for a picnic area endorsement. The endorsement permits patrons 
to bring samples or drinks purchased from your other endorsement areas outside to consume 
(there is no sale or service in the picnic area). The picnic area:  

• May be open from 9 a.m. until half an hour after sunset. Liquor may not be consumed past 
this time and all patrons must be cleared within a further half an hour.  

• Must have sufficient line of sight from the interior to manage the area, or you must have 
other strategies in place to supervise patrons.  

• Must have signage to indicate the person capacity and to indicate that the area is for 
consumption only (not a service area).  

• Must be open to the elements (no roofs, walls or heaters) and have a clearly defined 
boundary.  

• Has a total person capacity of 30 persons, unless otherwise noted on your licence.  

• Is not permitted to have amplified sound in or adjacent to the picnic area.  

Although patrons may consume drinks purchased from your endorsement areas in the picnic 
area, the picnic area must not be used as an overflow area of a lounge. 

Lounge and Special Event Area Endorsements  
Lounge endorsement (page 20) 

You may apply to the Branch for a lounge endorsement. This endorsement is subject to local 
government/First Nation and public consultation. The lounge permits the sale and service of 
liquor for onsite consumption. The lounge may be located indoors or on a patio or both. Food 
must be available to patrons in the lounge. 

Hours of Sale (page 20) 

Hours for special event areas and lounges are 9 a.m. to 4 a.m. the following day, subject to 
limitation by the Branch. Patrons must leave within a half hour of liquor service ending in your 
service endorsement areas.  

If you have a special event area or lounge, you may serve liquor until 4 a.m. on January 1, 
regardless of your normal closing hour (as long as food is available to customers), unless local 
bylaws prohibit it.  

On the night of a time change (spring or fall), you must operate according to the hours in effect 
at the start of the Saturday business day, and wait to change your clocks (forward or back) until 
after your liquor service hours have ended for that business day. 

Selling Liquor  

You may sell any kind of liquor for onsite consumption in your approved lounge or special event 
rea, as long as the cost to purchase liquor from another manufacturer/s does not exceed 20% of 
the total value of liquor purchased for the lounge or special event area in any given quarter.  

  

65



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

Drink Sizes (page 20-21) 

You must encourage moderate consumption at all times and not serve a customer a single 
serving larger than the maximum serving sizes specified below.  

Distilled liquor: 

• Single servings of no more than 3 fl oz (85 ml) per person at a time 

• Drinks that two or more patrons intend to share may be served in pitchers or similar, 
but the maximum of 3 fl oz per person must be maintained 

• You cannot sell or serve whole bottles of distilled liquor (“bottle service”) 

Draught beer and cider: 

• Single servings of no more than 24 oz (682 ml) 

• Smaller servings of multiple brands, as long as the total served at one time is no more 
than 24 oz (682 ml) 

• Pitchers or other multiple serving containers, as long as it is shared by two or more 
patrons and contains more than 60 oz (1.7 litres) 

Bottled beer: 

• Maximum two standard-sized or one large-sized (up to 24 oz or 682 ml) bottle of beer 
per patron at a time. 

Wine: 

• Single servings of 10 oz (284 ml) or smaller servings of multiple brands, as long as 
the total served at one time is no more than 10 oz (284 ml) 

• The standard 750 ml bottle if it is to be consumed by at least two people and with food 

• Non-refillable containers of 0.75 litres to 1.5 litres, or in refillable containers of no 
more than 1.5 litres 

The maximum single serving size can be divided into two or more different types of drinks, as 
long as the total does not exceed two standard drinks. For example, you may serve a patron a 
12 oz sleeve of beer and a 5 oz glass of wine (or alternately 1.5 oz spirits) at the same time. 
You may not serve a patron more than this amount even if the patron claims to be ordering for 
the entire table (for example the order is taken at the service bar). 

Entertainment and Events (page 22-23)  

Live or recorded music, radio, television and dancing are permitted in your lounge and special 
event area, unless it is otherwise restricted by the Branch or unsuitable for minors. 
Entertainment is permitted in the picnic area as long as there is no amplified sound.  

You may also:  

• Host a live radio, television or web broadcast from your establishment  

• Provide games of skill (such as darts, pool and video games) and games of chance 
(including card games), but for amusement only – no payoffs or prizes of any kind are 
permitted  

  

66



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Development Variance Permit DVP00029 (Persephone) and proposed Liquor Licence 
Endorsements for a Lounge and Picnic Area – Area F   
 

 

2018-Sep-6 Attachments for PCDC report re Persephone DVP00029 and LCRB endorsements 

• Hold tournaments of skill and contests, and include information about these in any 
advertising, and offer prizes that may include money or the winner's name being entered 
into a draw, as long as:  

o Patrons may enter without making a purchase or ordering a drink  

o You do not offer or give liquor as a prize and your event does not involve the 
consumption of liquor  

o You do not require the winners to be present to collect their prize  

o Your event does not involve a contact sport  

o Neither you, your immediate family or your staff may enter  

o You do not charge an entry fee for contests (although you can for tournaments)  

• Show movies, as long as the primary focus of your lounge does not shift to that of a movie 
theatre, and all movies are shown in accordance with the Motion Picture Act and its 
regulations. You cannot show movies that are unrated, restricted or adult rated.  

• Apply to the Branch to host contact sport events on your premises. Such events must be 
approved in advance, must not involve patrons and you must take steps to protect both 
patrons and staff.  

• Allow a licensed social occasion casino or licensed bingo events for charitable purposes, 
as long as:  

o The events are held in an area covered by a special event area or lounge 
endorsement o They are hosted by a charitable organization licensed by the Gaming 
Policy and Enforcement Branch  

o The charitable organization's gaming licence is posted in a prominent location in the 
endorsement area  

o Prizes do not include liquor or tokens redeemable for liquor  

o The endorsement area where liquor service and consumption takes place is 
sufficiently enclosed to ensure the gaming area is clearly defined and to prevent patrons 
from taking liquor outside the area  

o Liquor is served to the patrons of the charitable event under the regular terms and 
conditions of the licensed area  

o Minors are not permitted in the area where the social occasion casino or bingo is held 

 

67



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018  

AUTHOR: Yuli Siao, Senior Planner 

SUBJECT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate 
Phase Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. THAT the report titled Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone
Crossing Estate Phase Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third
Reading be received;

2. AND THAT Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 310.177, 2018 be forwarded to the Board for
Third Reading;

3. AND FURTHER THAT prior to consideration of adoption of Bylaw No. 310.177, 2018 the 
following condition be met:

a. The applicant register a covenant with the SCRD on title of Plan BCP40761 District 
Lot 1354 Lot 3 that stipulates the location, purpose, use, furnishing, pavement
material, landscaping, signage and maintenance of the picnic area to be dedicated 
for community amenity as described in Attachment F to this report.

b. A letter of undertaking signed by the applicant’s solicitor be provided to the SCRD 
stating that prior to the final approval of the proposed subdivision of the subject
property:
i. The applicant enters into a restrictive covenant with the SCRD and register it on 

title of each parcel resulted from the subdivision stating that no covenants shall 
be entered into or registered on title of each parcel to prohibit, restrict or limit
uses permitted by applicable provisions of the zoning bylaw for the parcel.

ii. The applicant registers a covenant on title of each parcel resulted from the
subdivision indicating that the parcel is outside of areas serviced by SCRD fire
protection.

iii. The applicant, the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure and the SCRD
will sign a covenant regarding the provision and maintenance of a trail along
the north segment of a road right of way within the subdivision to be dedicated
for community amenity as described in Attachment G to this report.

ANNEX C

68



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 2 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

BACKGROUND 

On May 24, 2018, the SCRD Board adopted the following resolution: 

166/18 Recommendation No. 5   Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment 
Bylaw No. 310.177, 2018 

THAT the report titled Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone 
Crossing Estate Phase Two Consideration for Second Reading be received;  

AND THAT Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 310.177, 
2018 be forwarded to the Board for Second Reading;  

AND THAT a Public Hearing to consider Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning 
Amendment Bylaw No. 310.177, 2018 be scheduled for 7:00 pm, June 12, 2018, at 
Eric Cardinal Hall, located at 930 Chamberlin Road, West Howe Sound;  

AND FURTHER THAT Director Lewis be delegated as the Chair and Director Winn 
be delegated as the Alternate Chair for the public hearing. 

The Bylaw received Second Reading on May 24, 2018. A public hearing was held on June 12, 
2018. This report summarizes comments received from the public hearing, and recommends 
Third Reading of the Bylaw and conditions to be met prior to adoption. 

DISCUSSION 

Public Hearing Summary 

Eleven members of the public attended the public hearing. The Public Hearing Report can be 
found in Attachment A. One written submission was received prior to the closing of the public 
hearing (Attachment B). While there was no objection to the proposed bylaw, the main issue of 
discussion at this meeting focused on the building scheme for the development. The following is 
a summary of key issues and discussion on how they can be addressed.  

Building Scheme 

The building scheme for the first phase of the Elphinstone Crossing Estate development 
(Attachment C) appears to have expanded beyond the scope of a standard building scheme. In 
addition to building and landscape design, the scheme controls the number and size of 
dwellings, signage and uses. Particularly, the scheme prohibits certain farming practice, keeping 
of livestock and commercial business, whereas these uses are permitted in the RU2 (Rural 
Two) and AG (Agricultural) Zones of the zoning bylaw. This contradicts the zoning bylaw and 
the intent of the West Howe Sound Official Community Plan for this rural area to be an area for 
agricultural uses and mixed residential and commercial activities. As the east half of the 
property is within the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR), the restriction on farming and livestock 
also conflicts with regulations of the ALR for this area where agriculture is the priority use. At the 
public hearing concerns were raised with respect to the potential impact of the scheme, if 
extended to the second phase, on affordability and economic vitality of the development. 

To address these issues and concerns, the applicant provided a revised building scheme for the 
second phase (Attachment D). With the restriction on use, signage and the number of dwellings 
removed, the revised scheme does not conflict with the zoning bylaw. To ensure that no 

69



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 3 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

covenants or building schemes contrary to the zoning bylaw will be imposed on the new parcels 
of the second phase of the subdivision, staff recommend that prior to final approval of the 
subdivision, a covenant be entered into between the owner and the SCRD to prevent such 
covenants or building schemes in the future.   

ALR Parcels 

As discussed in previous reports and at the public hearing, the two large lots (Lot 12 and Lot 13, 
Attachment E) within the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) on the east half of the property are 
crucial to balancing the overall density and achieving density neutrality for the whole 
development. It was recommended through the previous consultation process that no further 
subdivision of these lots should be allowed. Staff recommend that prior to final approval of the 
subdivision a covenant be entered into between the owner and the SCRD to prevent further 
subdivision of these lots in the future.   

Fire Protection 

A concern with fire protection was raised at the public hearing. The development is outside of 
areas serviced by regional fire protection and thus fire protection is the responsibility of the 
property owners. This is not an uncommon situation in similar rural areas. The conditions that 
are required in order to expand fire protection service to this area were also discussed at the 
hearing. Prior to the final approval of the subdivision, it is recommended that the applicant enter 
into a covenant to alert future purchasers of the lack of SCRD fire protection for the area.   

Community Amenity 

The applicant provided the design and specification (Attachments F and G) for the proposed 
picnic area and trail to be dedicated as a community amenity. The picnic area will be located in 
an area of about 615 square feet on Lot 3 adjacent to the intersection of Cascadia Parkway and 
Storvold Road. It will include a picnic table with seats, a planting bed, crushed stone paving, as 
well as signage. Parking spaces will be accommodated by oversized roadway apron next to the 
picnic area.  The trail will be located within a 140-metre segment of the road right-of-way 
between Lots 13 and 14, at the north end of the new subdivision road. It will be a 1 metre wide 
walking path cleared of overgrown vegetation and marked with basic trail markers. Basic 
seasonal maintenance will be performed by the applicant. 

As a condition for the final adoption of the bylaw and final approval of the subdivision, it is 
recommended that the applicant enter into a covenant to secure the provision and maintenance 
of the picnic area and trail. 

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES

The following SCRD Strategic Plan objectives and success indicators relate to the subject of 
this report: 

• Incorporate land use planning and policies to support local economic development.

• Create and use an “environmental lens” for planning, policy development, service
delivery and monitoring.

70



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 4 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

CONCLUSION

Through the public hearing a number of key issues including the building scheme of the 
development, subdivision density, fire protection and community amenity contribution were 
further discussed and addressed. Overall there was no objection from the public to the 
proposed density-neutral subdivision. The applicant subsequently provided a revised building 
scheme to address concerns related to conflict with the zoning bylaw. A number of conditions 
are recommended to ensure that issues related to the building scheme, the large lots, 
community amenity contribution and fire protection are addressed prior to the final adoption of 
the bylaw. 

Staff recommend that the Bylaw be presented to the Board for Third Reading, and the 
recommended conditions be met before consideration of adoption of the bylaw. 

Attachments 

Attachment A – Public Hearing Report 

Attachment B – Public Submission 

Attachment C – Building Scheme for Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 1 

Attachment D – Proposed Building Scheme for Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 2 

Attachment E – Proposed Subdivision Plan 

Attachment F – Proposed Picnic Area Specification 

Attachment G – Proposed Trail Specification  

Attachment H – Zoning Amendment Bylaw for Third Reading  

Reviewed by: 
Manager X – A. Allen Finance 
GM X –  I. Hall Legislative 
CAO X –  J. Loveys 

71



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 5 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

Attachment A  Public Hearing Report 

REPORT OF A PUBLIC HEARING HELD AT 

Eric Cardinal Hall 

930 Chamberlin Road, West Howe Sound, BC 

June 12, 2018 

Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 310.177, 2018 

PRESENT: Chair, Area F Director Ian Winn 

ALSO PRESENT: Senior Planner Yuli Siao 

Recording Secretary  A. Ruinat

Members of the Public 11

REGRETS: Area E Director Lorne Lewis 

CALL TO ORDER 
The public hearing for Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 310.177, 
2018 was called to order at 7:10 p.m. 

The Chair introduced staff in attendance and read prepared remarks with respect to the 
procedures to be followed at the public hearing. The Chair then indicated that following the 
conclusion of the public hearing the SCRD Board may, without further notice or hearing, adopt or 
defeat the bylaws or alter and then adopt the bylaws providing the alteration does not alter the 
use or increase the density. The Chair asked Yuli Siao, Senior Planner, Planning & Development, 
to introduce Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 310.177, 2018. 

PURPOSE OF BYLAW 
The Senior Planner began by stating that the subject property is located at: District Lot 1354 
Group 1 New Westminster District Except: Firstly; Part in Highway Plan 14999 Secondly; Part 
Subdivided by Plan BCP4076. The proposal is known as Phase Two of Elphinstone Crossing 
Estate located in West Howe Sound. 
The Bylaw Amendment process timeline was summarized as follows: 

• Application received on November, 2017
• Proposed bylaw received First Reading on January 25, 2018
• Public Information Meeting held on February 26, 2018
• Agency Referrals took place in February and March, 2018. Referred agencies include

West Howe Sound Advisory Planning Commission, Vancouver Coastal Health,
Sḵwx̱wú7mesh Nation, Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure.

72



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 6 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

• Proposed bylaw received Second Reading on May 24, 2018
• Public Hearing held on June 12, 2018
• Public Hearing Report and Recommendation for Third Reading will be considered at a

future Planning and Community Development Committee.
• Consideration of Adoption at a future SCRD Board meeting.

Proposed Rezoning Amendment 
The main purpose of Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw 310.177, 2018 
is to change the Subdivision District for the west portion of the subject property from I (minimum 
4 hectare per parcel) to G (minimum 1.75 hectare per parcel) to facilitate an 18-lot subdivision 
known as Phase Two of Elphinstone Crossing Estate located in West Howe Sound. 
Zoning Bylaw No. 310 and West Howe Sound Official Community Plan (OCP) Policies 

The property is split into two parts – western and eastern portions. Sunshine Coast Regional 
District Zoning Bylaw No. 310 designates the western portion of the subject property as Rural 2 
zone (RU2) and the eastern portion as Agriculture zone (AG). The West Howe Sound OCP 
designates the western portion of the subject property as Rural Residential B and the eastern 
portion as Agricultural. The eastern portion of the subject property is within the Agricultural Land 
Reserve. 
Subdivision District Proposal 

Currently, the western portion of the subject property is designated I District, permits 4ha minimum 
lot size and could potentially yield up to 7 lots. The eastern portion is designated G District, permits 
1.75ha minimum lot size and could potentially yield up to 11 lots. The subject property permits a 
potential total of 18 lots. 
The application proposes to modify the subdivision density regulation: the western portion 
subdivision designation to be changed to G District with 1.75ha minimum lot size, and the eastern 
portion is to remain G District with 1.75ha minimum lot size. No further subdivision would be 
proposed on the two larger upper portion lots of the eastern portion.  
Previously Addressed Issues 

Density Exchange: 

• Overall density unchanged – 18 lots
• More suitable allocation of lot size and use
• Higher density on the western part, lower density on the eastern part.
• Rationale – the land is more suitable for smaller lot rural residential subdivision on the

western portion of the subject property

Fire Protection: 
• No regional district fire protection
• Private fire protection to be considered by the owners

The applicant proposes to provide the following community amenity: 
• Parking and picnic area near Lot 3 (Storvold Road and Cascadia Parkway junction)
• Trail connection on the north portion of the road to connect with a Forest Service Road

73



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 7 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

PUBLIC SUBMISSIONS PRIOR TO PUBLIC HEARING 
The Senior Planner noted that one public submission was received prior to public hearing. The 
letter was received from Chad Hershler and Sandy Buck, 1747 Storvold Road and will be attached 
to the public hearing report as Appendix A. 
The public submission included the following points: 

• Concern about future road extension southwards (the current right of way that exists)
• Concern about the impact of extension of current covenants for Phase 1 onto

Phase 2 that would be contrary to Smart Growth principles and zoning

The letter states: 

“Given our current affordable housing, food security and environmental crises, we would argue 
that a diversity of building styles, innovative live-work arrangements and farming practices in our 
rural areas are even more important than ever. Any development moving forward should 
promote and encourage creativity and diversity in approaches to these issues, allowing for our 
local government to dictate the restrictions alone. It is our belief that the Elphinstone Crossing 
private covenants do the opposite to this: discouraging potential ideas, innovations and 
solutions to affordable housing, food security and an energy-efficient lifestyle.” 

The Senior Planner, compared the Elphinstone Crossing Covenants from Phase 1 of the 
development to permitted uses of the RU2 zone of Zoning Bylaw 310, in terms of potential impact 
and discrepancies: 

Covenant Zoning Bylaw (RU2) Potential Impact 

Minimum dwelling 
size: 2000+ ft2 

No restriction Exclude smaller dwellings 

Enclosed garage 
for 2.5 bays 

Carport not allowed 

No restriction Preclude other building 
types or situations without 
garages 

Mobile home not 
allowed 

No restriction Preclude cheaper but not 
necessarily worse 
buildings 

No commercial 
business on the 
property 

Limit on livestock 

Permits garden nursery, agriculture, 
keeping of livestock, home occupation, b 
& b, forest management, 
vehicle/equipment repair & maintenance, 
tourist info centre, campground, kennel, 
manufacturing, sawmill 

Conflict with zoning 

The Senior Planner noted potential draft conditions for consideration prior to adoption of the 
proposed bylaw as follows: 

1. Covenant to prevent future subdivision of Lots 12 and 13
2. Covenant to secure community amenity contribution

74



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 8 of 27 
 

 
2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read 

3. Covenant to alert potential purchaser of no public fire protection 
4. Possible condition to prevent private covenant provisions that conflict with OCP policies 

and zoning 

The Senior Planner concluded his remarks, indicating that a report of the public hearing would be 
forwarded to a future Planning and Community Development Committee meeting for 
consideration. 

The Chair called a first time for submissions.   

 
PUBLIC SUBMISSIONS AT PUBLIC HEARING 
Questions from the public were addressed as follows: 

1. A member of the public inquired about the proposed trail.  

Tim Rockford, Applicant responded by stating that the trail is offered as a community amenity 
contribution and would extend from the end of the built roadway northward to meet with a road 
allowance and through to the neighbouring district lot to the north. The applicant noted that there 
currently is a roughed in trail and the MOTI road allowance is not intended to be formally built.  

2. A member of the public inquired about the difference between the private covenants versus 
public covenants. How are the private covenants enforced? 

The Senior Planner clarified that private covenants are between the developer and purchaser of 
the property. The private covenants control the building schemes, building materials, landscaping. 
It is registered on title and stays with the land. The developer is the enforcer of the covenant. 
Legal counsel would have to be sought regarding enforcement of the private covenants if the 
developer was no longer around. 

3. A member of the public asked that if the private covenant conflicts with the zoning bylaw, which 
one would take precedence. For example a farm commercial business is allowed on ALR land 
but not allowed per the private covenant. 

The Senior Planner stated that the private covenants should be consistent with the zoning bylaw, 
in terms of the permitted uses. This question can be clarified by seeking legal counsel for opinion. 
 
Chad Hershler, 1747 Storvold Road 
Concerns have been outlined in the public submission and summarized during the presentation. 
Noted concerns with the southern road allowance, as there is a creek that runs through the area. 
Believes that the private covenants will dictate a certain look and feel of the neighbourhood and 
prevents more diversity. Would like to see the private covenants removed for the remaining lots.  

Mark Storvold, 1737 Storvold Road 
Stated that he would not support having a trailer park in that area and supports the private 
covenant that prohibits trailers.  

Mark Hiltz, 925 Stewart Road 
Does the private covenant restrict mobile homes in terms of pre-fabricated homes? 

The Senior Planner stated that it is not clear, the covenant states “mobile homes” and does not 
specify pre-fabricated or modular homes. 

 

 

75



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 9 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

Tim and Lisa Rockford, Applicants, 484 Marine Drive 
The Applicant stated that the covenant regarding mobile homes refers to a building or structure 
built on wheels and can be moved on/off-site. A pre-fabricated home may be suitable upon review 
by the developer. The developer determines if the building plans are in conformance with the 
building scheme in place. 

The Chair suggested that a clear definition of “mobile home” and consideration for modular 
homes, tiny homes, and various types of construction be updated in the list of covenants for Phase 
2. 

The Applicant stated that the covenants will be updated and further optimized for Phase 2 of the 
development, but essentially the building scheme will be a carry forward from Phase 1. 

Lisa Rockford, Applicant, stated the rationale to extend the same private covenants from Phase 
1 to Phase 2 as to be in keeping with the current property owner’s expectation of the future 
community development. To remove the mobile home exclusion, will not sit well with the existing 
owners. 

The Senior Planner clarified that a trailer park would not be permitted in the RU2 zone due to limit 
of two dwellings and lot size. The zoning does not permit this type of development, however the 
building itself could be a manufactured, pre-fabricated type home. 

Tim Rockford, Applicant, 484 Marine Drive 
The Applicant stated the rationale for a building scheme that was not too onerous and creates 
consistency across the lots that comprise the Elphinstone Crossing development. A minimum 
building size of 2000 square feet or more is established. List of building materials that can be 
utilized to ensure homes have a minimum standard but allows for creativity, not cookie cutter. 
This allows protection and sense of security for the homeowners in terms of future property value 
and community feel. The homes in Phase 1 shows the range of diversity at Elphinstone Crossing. 

In terms of agricultural uses, the applicant supports small scale agricultural activities for the lots. 
Large scale livestock commercial operations are not supported for this development. Supports 
agricultural activities in a realistic scale and where it is not too onerous for surrounding 
neighbours. 

The two larger Lots 12 and 13 on the upper eastern portion of the subject property would have 
covenants to prevent further subdivision. These lots could be used for larger scale agricultural 
uses and have an updated building scheme to provide additional latitude for livestock and 
business opportunities. 

The private covenants are within of the framework of the zoning regulations – but is a subset 
thereof. The covenants are clearly communicated to a potential purchaser. The Elphinstone 
Crossing development is in line with other property developments on the coast.  

Chad Hershler, 1747 Storvold Road 
Questions the need for the private covenant and building scheme that restricts commercial use 
opportunities and the activities that can occur on the lots, as the RU2 zone and Official Community 
Plan already address this.  

Laura Houle, 925 Stewart Road 
Questions the legality of the private covenants regarding “no commercial business on the 
property” and “limit on livestock”. If the property is within the Agricultural Land Reserve, the Right 
to Farm Act prevents restrictions on farm activities (garden nursery or keeping of livestock) that 

76



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 10 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

are allowable through zoning regulations. Strongly supports that the zoning allowance be 
maintained and there be no prevention of agricultural business opportunities on the lots.  

Tim Rockford, Applicant, 484 Marine Drive 
The Applicant stated support for a “reasonable limit” on the keeping of livestock. Lot 12 and 13 
would be suitable for agricultural commercial business. 

Lisa Rockford, Applicant, 484 Marine Drive 
The Applicant noted that the covenants address the need for a balance between the keeping of 
large scale livestock and having hobby farm.  

The Chair summarized the public submissions as follows: 

• The covenants put in place for Phase 1 may or may not be put in place for Phase 2. The
developer noted that there may be some revisions.

• Which takes precedence? The private covenants or the zoning bylaw. A legal opinion will
be sought by SCRD staff on this matter.

The Chair noted the following considerations: 

• Would a short term rental be restricted by the private covenants, if short term rentals are
considered a commercial operation?

• If there is a garage, with a carriage house above it, could it be allowed as a B&B, or short
term rental? Could there be stipulations placed on it for long term rental only?

The Chair called a second time for submissions 

Mark Storvold, 1737 Storvold Road 
Expressed support for the restrictions on the number of livestock allowed on a 5 acre parcel. Lived 
near a farm with more than a dozen animals and found it to be problematic.  

Chad Hershler, 1747 Storvold Road 
What are the current restrictions on the number of livestock in the RU2 zone? If there are 
limitations set out in the zoning bylaw, then they need to be followed. There should be no need 
for private covenants to address the issue of livestock 

The Senior Planner read the following excerpt from the zoning bylaw 310 RU2 zoning regulations: 

1011.2 with a parcel size exceeding 3500 square meters the additional permitted uses are: 
(1) the keeping of livestock;

(2) the raising of fish for domestic consumption;

There is no specific mention of the number of livestock that is permitted. 

The Chair noted that the SCRD Zoning Bylaw 310 is currently undergoing an extensive review 
process. 

Tim Rockford, Applicant, 484 Marine Drive 
The applicant stated, that as a developer, there would never be an attempt to allow a use that is 
not already within the zoning bylaw. The purpose of the property development model is to give 
certainty to prospective buyers about the development of the neighbourhood. Support agriculture 
and plan to do this with the larger lots on the upper eastern portion of the subject property. 
Secondary suites has not been addressed in the covenants, look to the SCRD for guidance on 
this topic. 

77



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 11 of 27 
 

 
2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read 

Mark Hiltz, 925 Stewart Road 
How do the private covenants relate to the proposed zoning amendment? Do the private 
covenants form part of the zoning amendment? 

The Senior Planner stated that relationship between the private covenants and the zoning 
amendment will need to be clarified by legal counsel. The private covenants do not form part of 
the zoning amendment. The private covenants are between the property owner and the 
developer. The covenant between the SCRD and the developer regarding the restriction of further 
subdivision of upper lots of eastern portion will not form part of the bylaw, but is a condition prior 
to adoption. 

Valerie Storvold, 1737 Storvold Road 
Would the SCRD seek to expand the fire protection service boundary after a certain amount of 
development in one area? 

The Chair explained that the Gibsons & District fire protection boundary ends at YMCA Road. 
Due to the changes in Provincial regulations, there are many restrictions as to what constitutes a 
volunteer fire department. To get a provincially recognized SCRD service for fire protection the 
fire hall needs to be located within a certain distance to respond, volunteer fireman available to 
respond to a call, training and equipment. A new fire hall would be needed for Langdale. Taxation 
issue for the people who are living beyond YMCA Road.  

Laura Houle, 925 Steward Road 
Inquired if the Agricultural Land Commission has approved the subdivision of the eastern portion 
of the subject property that is in the Agriculture Land Reserve.  

The Senior Planner noted that staff have submitted the SCRD Board resolution supporting the 
subdivision referral to the ALC. The ALC is reviewing the file but no decision has been made. If 
the ALC does not approve the application, the subdivision cannot go ahead.  
 
CLOSURE  
The Chair called a third and final time for submissions. There being no further submissions, the 
Chair announced the public hearing for proposed Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning 
Amendment Bylaw No. 310.177, 2018 closed at 8:16 p.m.  

 

The Chair thanked everyone for attending the public hearing. 

 

 
 

 

78



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 12 of 27 
 

 
2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read 

Attachment B    Public Submission 

  

79



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 13 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

80



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 14 of 27 
 

 
2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read 

Attachment C  Building Scheme for Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 1 

  

81



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 15 of 27 
 

 
2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read 

 
  

82



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 16 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

83



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 17 of 27 
 

 
2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read 

  

84



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 18 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

Attachment D  Proposed Building Scheme for Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 2 
SCHEDULE OF RESTRICTIONS

Declared By T & L Rockford Enterprises Ltd. (Inc. No. BC0718597) 
For Elphinstone Crossing Estates, Langdale, British Columbia

DECLARATION OF BUILDING SCHEME (DRAFT for Phase 2)

Declaration of Covenants, Condition Restrictions, Reservations, Equitable Servitudes, Grants and 
Easements of Elphinstone Crossing, Langdale, British Columbia

Note:  The covenants of Elphinstone Crossing were created to protect the character, aesthetic value 
and views throughout this development.  By everyone adhering to these covenants, the long-term 
value of each owner’s property in Elphinstone Crossing will be maximized. 
WHEREAS: 

A. The Lands to which this Building Scheme applies are the following:

PID  DESCRIPTION 

027-903-176 Lot 1, District Lot 1354, Group 1, New Westminster District, Plan BCP 40761 

027-903-184 Lot 2, District Lot 1354, Group 1, New Westminster District, Plan BCP 40761 

027-903-192 Lot 3, District Lot 1354, Group 1, New Westminster District, Plan BCP 40761 

027-903-206 Lot 4, District Lot 1354, Group 1, New Westminster District, Plan BCP 40761 

027-903-214 Lot 5, District Lot 1354, Group 1, New Westminster District, Plan BCP 40761 

027-903-222 Lot 6, District Lot 1354, Group 1, New Westminster District, Plan BCP 40761 

027-903-231 Lot 7, District Lot 1354, Group 1, New Westminster District, Plan BCP 40761 

027-903-249 Lot 8, District Lot 1354, Group 1, New Westminster District, Plan BCP 40761 

Update to list the PIDs and Descriptions for the 18 Lots for Phase 2 at Elphinstone Crossing 

B. The Lands constitute an eight (8) eighteen (18) lot subdivision called “Elphinstone Crossing
Estates – Phase 2” at Langdale, British Columbia, which has been designed to take maximum
advantage of and respect for the natural elements of the Lands;

C. The “Developer” is T & L Rockford Enterprises Ltd (Inc. No. BC0718597), P.O. Box 40, Gibsons BC
V0N 1V0

D. “Owner” shall mean the registered owner at any given time of a Lot within this Building Scheme
and “Owners” shall mean more than one Owner.

85



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 19 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

1. Plan Approval
Before starting any site preparation or construction of any house or outbuilding on a Lot, an Owner
must submit the following plans to T & L Rockford Enterprises Ltd. (the “Developer”) or its
designated agent(s) for Approval(s):  building plans, site plans and fencing plans.  Two copies of
working drawings and specifications showing elevations, layout, siting, exterior color scheme and
details of exterior materials must be submitted.  Plans for fencing should also be appropriately
detailed to show material types and locations.  The submission of documentation for Plan Approval
consideration should also contain the complete contact information for the Owner.  The Owner is
also known as the “applicant” in this Plan Approval process.  Such building approval and any other
approval which is required to be obtained hereunder by the Owner is called the “Approval” for such
plans, siting and specifications.

No site preparation or construction of any house or outbuilding on a Lot shall commence before 
Approval of the plans defining such work is given.  All site preparation and construction of 
improvements on the Lots must be in accordance with such Approval and if not, the Developer can 
require that any unapproved preparation or construction be remedied or removed.   

Any Approval issued by the Developer is valid for thirty six (36) months from the date of issue and if 
construction has not begun within this 36 month time period, another submission for re-approval 
must be made to the Developer. 

Nothing in this section derogates or abrogates an Owner’s obligation to obtain all requisite municipal 
and other necessary approvals before starting site preparation or construction.

2. Size of Dwelling
No primary single-family dwelling on any of the Lots shall contain less than the following square feet
of living area (exclusive of garage, breezeway, basement and porches):
· Single Story Above Grade Dwelling:  minimum of two thousand (2000) square feet
· Multi-Story Above Grade Dwelling:  minimum of two thousand five hundred (2500) square feet

If additional dwellings are allowed on a Lot based on SCRD Land Use Zoning, then the primary 
single-family dwelling must be identified as such and constructed prior to any additional allowed 
dwellings. 

3. Enclosed Garage Required
Enclosed garage parking shall be required on every lot, either attached to the residence/dwelling or
as an outbuilding, and be of sufficient size to house not less than two and a half (2.5) standard size
automobiles, with a minimum size of 24ft x 24ft.  No carports are permitted.  The enclosed garage
shall be completed by time the primary dwelling is occupied.

4. Outbuildings
A Lot owner may build up to a maximum of two (2) outbuildings on their Lot, which can be used for
one or more of the following uses:  garage, guest quarters, storage space, workshop space, animal
shelter or barn.  No other type of outbuilding will be allowed.  The total combined footprint of all
outbuildings shall not exceed two thousand six hundred (2600) square feet.  The front wall of the
outbuilding that is closest to the dwelling shall be set back from the rear or back wall of the dwelling
further onto the lot by at least 5 meters. Lot owners shall comply with the following requirements
set out in this Statutory Building Scheme (‘Materials for Exterior Facing of Outbuildings’, ‘Building
Setback’); as well as also obtain all development, building and other required approvals.

Note:  Greenhouse Outbuildings, as a specialized structure type, are allowed but are not subject to 
these exterior material requirements (walls, roof). 

86



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 20 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

5. Materials for Exterior Facings of Buildings
The approved exterior materials for the facing of exterior walls and roofs of all buildings are the
following:

Exterior Walls of Dwelling:  fiber cement board siding (Hardie Plank, Hardie Shingle, etc), solid wood 
siding, cedar shakes/shingles (real or synthetic/engineered versions), log, brick, stucco, or stone 
(real or synthetic/engineered versions).   
Notes:  Use of a combination of these approved exterior materials is recommended.  In cases where 
site grading created a lookout or walkout basement, the exposed exterior walls of the lookout or 
walkout basement shall also be faced with these approved materials.  No plywood, aluminum siding 
or vinyl siding shall be used for the facing of exterior walls.

Exterior Walls of Outbuildings:  same as those listed for the dwelling (see above), with the addition 
of powder coat painted metal panel systems.

Exterior Roof of Dwelling & Outbuildings:  30-year (minimum) architectural asphalt shingle, cedar 
shakes/shingles (real or synthetic/engineered versions), powder coat painted standing seam metal 
panels, copper, tile, or slate (real or synthetic/engineered versions).   
Note:  Roof slopes must be a minimum of 4:12, unless specifically approved otherwise.

6. Dwelling and Outbuilding Setback Requirements
The dwelling and any outbuilding shall have a minimum setback from the Lot Lines, as follows:
Minimum Building Setback from Lot Line (meters)

Lot # Adjacent to Roadway Side/Shared Lot Lines Rear Lot Line 

1 30 10 10 

2 30 10 10 

4 15 10 10 

5 15 10 10 

6 15 10 10 

7 15 10 10 

8 15A / 10B 10 10 
· Notes: (A = along Cascadia Parkway; B = along Arboretum Drive)

Update for Phase 2 Lots (generally 15 / 10 / 10 meters)

7. Time for Completing Construction
The work of constructing any approved residence or outbuilding on any Lot shall be done diligently
and within eighteen (18) months from start to finish. For clarity, it is not necessary that construction
of the dwelling and any outbuilding commence simultaneously, but it is a requirement that
construction of each such individual structure be completed within 18 months once it has been
started. The work of altering or remodeling any approved residence or outbuilding shall be done
diligently and completed within nine (9) months from start to finish.

87



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 21 of 27 
 

 
2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read 

8. Temporary Abode During Initial Construction 
A temporary abode, such as a camper, travel trailer or motor home, may be utilized on the Lot to 
provide residence only to the owners of the Lot during the course of construction of the primary 
dwelling for a period of up to eighteen (18) months. If the said dwelling is completed in less than 
eighteen (18) months, the temporary abode must cease being used as a residence. The use of a 
temporary abode is only available during construction of the primary dwelling and not during 
construction of any outbuildings. Mobile homes are not allowed on any Lots at any time. 
  
9. Use  
There shall be only one (1) single family dwelling constructed on any Lot and its primary purpose 
must be for residential use.  No commercial business operations shall be conducted on the property. 
No Lot shall be divided or re-subdivided into additional parcels. 
Mobile homes are not allowed on any Lots at any time. 
No vacant Lot may be used for commercial purposes, storage purposes or for temporary residences 
except as permitted by this Building Scheme.  
No activity shall be allowed on any of the Lots or in any building thereon which may be a significant 
annoyance or nuisance to the occupiers of any of the other Lots in this property development. 
  
10. Junk, Machinery and Materials 
No implements, machinery, lumber, or building materials, garbage, abandoned or unregistered 
vehicles, derelict boats, junk or unsightly materials of any kind shall be permitted to remain exposed 
upon any Lot so they are visible from the streets or any neighboring Lot, except as is necessary 
during a period of construction.   
  
11. Fencing Materials 
Chain link is not allowed for perimeter fencing.  Barb wire or any form of above ground electrified 
fencing is not allowed.     
  
12. Lighting 
Any outdoor floodlights must be directed downward and the lighting outline must not extend beyond 
the perimeter of the Lot. 
  
13. Driveway Materials 
Driveways shall be constructed of asphalt, concrete, crushed granite, or pavers (brick or stone) and 
shall extend for the entire length of the driveway from the street to the garage.  All driveway 
construction and finishing must be completed within twelve (12) months of the dwelling being 
occupied. 
 
14. Signage 
No signs, billboards, notices or advertising of any kind shall be placed outside any improvements on 
any of the Lots or upon or on any building, fence or other structure on any Lot, within the exception 
of a conventional sized sign indicating that a Lot is for sale or a sign not greater than cumulative 
size of one (1.0) square meter giving the name of an Owner or the name of his or her Lot. 

88



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 22 of 27 
 

 
2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read 

  
15. Farming & Livestock  
Small scale hobby farming is allowed. A maximum of six (6) large livestock animals may reside on a 
Lot at any period of time.  No commercial livestock farming operations shall be allowed on any 
Lot.  Roosters and donkeys are not allowed. Manure shall not be stored within 30 meters of a lot 
line. 

Agricultural and Farming activities are allowed, but they must be conducted in a responsible and 
respectful manner that does not adversely impact adjacent properties.  Roosters and donkeys are 
not allowed If operating a Kennel, noise adversely impacting neighboring properties shall not be 
permitted. Manure shall not be stored within 20 meters of a lot line.    
  
16. Landscaping 
Owners of individual Lots within Elphinstone Crossing Estates, whether vacant or occupied, shall 
control weed, brush and other vegetation on their property. Landscaping shall be done within 18 
months of the completion of construction of the dwelling on a Lot.    
Tree/Vegetation Height Restriction:  To protect the long-term panoramic views throughout the 
development, the following tree/vegetation height restrictions are being put in place.  For those 
areas of the Lots outlined in heavy black outline on the Reference Plan certified completed and 
checked on (update to include Schedule “B” for Phase 2) February 18, 2009 by L.W. Penonzek, 
B.C.L.S. and registered as BCP 41684, a reduced copy of which is attached hereto as Schedule “A”, 
the following height restrictions must be maintained:  
· All individual trees, bushes or other vegetation must be kept to a height not exceeding six (6) 
meters; 
· All groups of trees or bushes construed to be a hedge must be kept to a height not exceeding two-
and-one-half (2.5) meters. 
The property owner will be responsible for all costs required to enforce and maintain this 
tree/vegetation height limit for their particular Lot.  As such, Lot owners are encouraged to plan 
accordingly and select appropriate varieties of trees and bushes for landscaping in these height 
restriction areas that will reduce their maintenance activities and costs required to comply with these 
requirements. 
For those areas of the Lots outside of this tree/vegetation height control region, tree heights are not 
restricted and lot owners may plant trees of their choice that naturally mature to heights well in 
excess of 6 meters (some examples:  Western Red Cedar, Douglas Fir, Western Hemlock, etc.). 
  
17. Approving Authority 
Wherever and whenever the Approval or consent of the Developer is required to be obtained, such 
written Approval or consent may be given by a director, officer, engineer or architect of the 
Developer or a director, officer, engineer or architect of any of the Developer’s successors, assigns 
or transferees. 
  

89

http://www.elphinstonecrossing.com/files/Schedule_A_Tree_Height_Restriction.pdf


Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 23 of 27 
 

 
2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read 

Attachment E    Proposed Subdivision Plan 

 
  

90



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 24 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

Attachment F  Proposed Picnic Area Specification 

91



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 25 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

Attachment G Proposed Trail Specification 

92



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 26 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

Attachment H  Zoning Amendment Bylaw for Third Reading 

SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 

BYLAW NO. 310.177 

A bylaw to amend the Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Bylaw No. 310, 1987 

The Board of Directors of the Sunshine Coast Regional District, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 

PART A – CITATION 

1. This bylaw may be cited as Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw
No. 310.177, 2018.

PART B – AMENDMENT 

2. Schedule B of Zoning Bylaw No. 310, 1987 is hereby amended by amending the
subdivision district from Subdivision District I to Subdivision District G for the west portion
of District Lot 1354 Group 1 New Westminster District Except: Firstly; Part in Highway
Plan 14999 Secondly; Part Subdivided by Plan BCP40761, as depicted on Appendix A,
attached to and forming part of this bylaw.

PART C – ADOPTION 

READ A FIRST TIME this 25th DAY OF JANUARY 2018 

READ A SECOND TIME this 24th DAY OF MAY 2018 

PUBLIC HEARING HELD PURSUANT TO 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT this 12th DAY OF JUNE 2018 

READ A THIRD TIME this DAY OF MONTH YEAR 

ADOPTED this DAY OF MONTH YEAR 

Corporate Officer 

Chair 

93



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 310.177, 2018 - Elphinstone Crossing Estate Phase 
Two - Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading 

Page 27 of 27 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report-BYL310.177-Rockford-3rd Read

Amend the subdivision district from Subdivision District I to Subdivision District G for the west 
portion (subject area) of District Lot 1354 Group 1 New Westminster District Except: Firstly; 
Part in Highway Plan 14999 Secondly; Part Subdivided by Plan BCP40761 

94



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 

AUTHOR: Yuli Siao, Senior Planner 

SUBJECT: OCP Amendments – Densification Strategies to Support Affordable 
Housing – Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and 
Adoption 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
1. THAT the report titled OCP Amendments - Densification Strategies to Support
Affordable Housing – Public Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and
Adoption be received;

2. AND THAT Halfmoon Bay Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 675.4, 2017,
Roberts Creek Offical Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 641.8, 2017, Elphinstone
Offical Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 600.8, 2017 and West Howe Sound Offical
Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 640.2, 2017 be forwarded to the Board for Third
Reading and Adoption.

BACKGROUND 

On June 28, 2018, the Planning and Community Development Committee adopted 
Recommendation 201/18 as follows: 

Recommendation No. 6   Halfmoon Bay OCP Amendment Bylaw 675.4, 2017, Roberts 
Creek OCP Amendment Bylaw 641.8, 2017, Elphinstone OCP Amendment Bylaw 600.8, 
2017 and West Howe Sound OCP Amendment Bylaw 640.2, 2017 

THAT Halfmoon Bay Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No.675.4, 2017, Roberts 
Creek Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 641.8, 2017, Elphinstone Official 
Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 600.8, 2017 and West Howe Sound Official 
Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 640.2, 2017 be forwarded to the Board for Second 
Reading; 

AND THAT the bylaws as of the date of the report be considered consistent with the SCRD’s 
2018-2022 Financial Plan and 2011 Solid Waste Management Plan; 

AND THAT staff monitor and report the implementation and densification impacts of the 
bylaws with respect to the SCRD’s 2018-2022 Financial Plan and 2011 Solid Waste 
Management Plan and the future versions of these Plans; 

AND THAT a Public Hearing to consider Halfmoon Bay Official Community Plan Amendment 
Bylaw No. 675.4, 2017, Roberts Creek Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 
641.8, 2017, Elphinstone Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 600.8, 2017 and 
West Howe Sound Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 640.2, 2017 be 
scheduled for July 23, 2018 at 7:00 p.m. in the SCRD Board Room, located at 1975 Field 
Road, Sechelt, BC; 

ANNEX D

95



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 2 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

AND THAT Director Winn be delegated as the Chair and Director Lebbell be delegated as 
the Alternate Chair for the Public Hearing; 

AND FURTHER THAT the revised Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing, if 
adopted by the Board, be incorporated into the Egmont/Pender Harbour Official Community 
Plan Bylaw No. 708, 2017 for consideration at Second Reading. 

Following the Second Reading of the revised bylaws, they were referred to all Advisory Planning 
Commissions (APC), and a public hearing was held on July 23, 2018. This report analyzes 
comments received from the APCs and the public hearing, and recommends that the further 
revised Bylaws be forwarded to the Board for consideration of Third Reading and Adoption. 

DISCUSSION 

APC Comments (June 2018) 

The revised bylaws considered at Second Reading were referred to all APCs in June, 2018. 
Previously the APCs also reviewed the draft bylaws considered at First Reading (October, 
2017). Areas D, E and F APCs indicate support for the revised bylaws considered at Second 
Reading. Areas A and B APCs discussed the bylaws but did not provide recommendations on 
the bylaws.    

• Egmont / Pender Harbour APC: 

 The APC did not provide a recommendation on the bylaws. No further comments have 
been received to date. 

• Halfmoon Bay APC: 

 Regarding Revised OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable 
Housing-Considerations for Second Reading, the APC requests a copy of the document 
that may be used for review and returned to the SCRD. No further comments except minor 
grammatical suggestions have been received to date. 

• Roberts Creek APC: 

APC recommended that the Revised OCP Amendments be supported, and the SCRD 
develop a communication strategy and material regarding density bonusing so that 
applicants are aware of this option early in the process of consideration; 

 And that the SCRD seek funding from the federal and provincial governments for affordable 
housing projects. 

• Elphinstone APC: 

The APC recommended that Revised OCP Amendments – Densification Strategies to 
Support Affordable Housing be supported for the following reasons: 

o This reads well and seems to cover everyone’s concerns; 

o Area E OCP bylaw looks like it has dealt with everything the APC has talked about. 

96



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 3 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

 

• West Howe Sound APC: 

 The APC recommended that the revised bylaws considered at second reading be 
supported as the policies strike a balance between competing interests and provide a 
practical strategy to support affordable housing development while maintaining a 
sustainable environment and the character of the rural areas. 

Public Hearing Summary 

Twelve members of the public attended the public hearing. The Public Hearing Report can be 
found in Attachment A. Four written submissions were received prior to the closing of the public 
hearing (Attachment B). A number of issues were raised. They are discussed below.  

Densification and Affordability 

In one of the submissions, densification is regarded as a way to fuel short term rental instead of 
support affordable housing.  

Housing affordability is an issue which requires many solutions. Densification is a strategy 
adopted by many communities worldwide to reduce housing cost per unit by sharing space, 
infrastructure and amenities. It is a responsible and sustainable way to manage growth and 
optimize the use of resources and reduce environmental footprint. 

Short term rental is a phenomenon of the shared economy enabled by better communication 
between supply and demand, especially through internet technology. It is adopted by home 
owners as a means to tap into the unused or underused real estate potential of their properties. 
It supports the livelihood and makes housing more affordable for some, while reduces the 
supply of long term and affordable rental for others. Short term rental is not known to be a result 
of increased density, as it can easily occur in densely or sparsely populated neighbourhoods. In 
a separate project, the SCRD will consider policies to address regulations for short term 
vacation rental.  

Densification and Infrastructure 

Another submission equates densification with growth, and raises concerns about impacts on 
the environment and existing infrastructure such as water supply, transportation, public transit, 
waste disposal, etc.  

Densification is distinct from growth (i.e. growth in population, business, development, etc.). 
While growth represents the overall increase in population in a region, densification is the 
concentration of population in certain parts of the region. A densification strategy optimizes the 
distribution of growth. While growth inevitably imposes pressure on the environment, 
infrastructure and available space, the proposed policies for densification are a strategy to 
manage growth wisely and distribute growth to the right places so that existing infrastructure 
and resources can be more efficiently utilized, costly expansion to other areas can be avoided 
and impact on the environment can be reduced.   

 

97



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 4 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

Consistency with Halfmoon Bay OCP and LGA 

One submission opposes the proposed policies, specifically for the Halfmoon Bay Official 
Community Plan (OCP), based on the belief that these policies are inconsistent with the OCP, 
and Sections 478 and 428 of the Local Government Act (LGA) regarding the effect of official 
community plan and the purpose of regional growth strategy respectively. 

The submission believes that the essence of the Halfmoon Bay OCP is “low density”.  However, 
there are diverse land uses in different areas of Halfmoon Bay in addition to low density 
residential uses, including mixed multi-family, commercial, institutional, tourist commercial, 
resource, recreation, and so forth. Although Halfmoon Bay is generally characterized by a low 
density residential settlement pattern, the OCP designates three Community Hubs where 
multiple land uses converge, including a mix of residential, commercial, tourism and recreation 
uses.  

The current OCP sets density standards for various residential designations, focuses multi-
family residential development in identified Community Hubs, and allows consideration of 
smaller parcels in residential designations. Developed upon the principles of these existing OCP 
policies, the proposed new policies provide stronger and clearer guidance for densification 
developments. They call for the continual application of existing standards for infill residential 
developments, direct higher density and multi-unit residential developments to Community 
Hubs, and set criteria for consideration of subdivisions of higher density in residential 
designations. These policies are consistent with the existing OCP and therefore consistent with 
Section 478 of the Local Government Act. 

The proposed policies do not set specific density levels or call for a blanket density increase to 
alter the “low density” landscape of Halfmoon Bay, but rather provide criteria to evaluate 
densification developments based on location, technical feasibility and character of each area, 
and provide tools such as development permit area for form and character to ensure 
appropriate design and integration of higher-density developments, and density bonusing and 
housing agreement to support affordable housing. To clarify the intent of the policies, further 
revisions to the policies are recommended in the following section. 

Densification in Halfmoon Bay 

Several submissions oppose the proposed amendments to the Halfmoon Bay OCP based on 
concerns with inadequate infrastructure, service and amenity to support densification in 
Halfmoon Bay and the Community Hubs. 

Similar to other areas of the Sunshine Coast, densification and infrastructure in Halfmoon Bay 
must go hand in hand. While the lack of infrastructure limits densification, improvement of 
infrastructure relies on densification. For example, without sufficient density to support ridership, 
new public transit facilities will not be viable; without sufficient density to generate revenue, new 
community sewage treatment plants will not be practical. 

The proposed policies recognize such balance between densification and infrastructure. The 
availability of infrastructure such as sewage treatment, water supply, waste disposal, 
transportation and access to public transit and amenity is an important criterion in evaluating 
densification proposals in community hubs and other areas.   

98



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 5 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

Need for Consistent Policies 

There are submissions which question the need for consistent policies across the four OCPs.  

While each community across the Sunshine Coast has a unique character, there are many 
similarities amongst them. They share the common challenge of affordable housing shortage.  

The OCPs within SCRD rural communities share similar land use planning principles and have 
similar land use designations and policies. The four communities are under one single zoning 
bylaw. However, as these OCPs were developed over different times, terminology, structure 
and detail are different in each Plan. Although some policies related to density and affordable 
housing already exist in these Plans, there is a need to strengthen them. The purpose of a set 
of consistent policies is not to alter existing Plans, but to put the diffused policies of these Plans 
into clear focus through the lens of a densification approach. These policies provide common 
standards and tools that are applicable to similar situations across different areas. The 
application of common policies will not harm the individual character of each area, because 
each development proposal will be evaluated through consultation with each community and 
should reflect the needs of each community.    

Additional Dwellings without Subdivision 

A submission suggests that consideration should be given to allowing more dwellings on a 
larger lot (more than 1 acre) without subdivision to create separate parcels of land. For 
example, on a 1-acre lot, two dwellings are allowed by the zoning bylaw. In order to create four 
dwellings on this lot, it must be subdivided into two 0.5 acre lots, each containing two dwellings.   
The potential benefit of this scheme could be opportunities for shared utility, common elements 
(such as driveway) and open space and savings in not having to go through the subdivision 
process while achieving the same number of dwellings. This scheme will involve a different 
standard for lot size and density, and will require different criteria for lot layout, setback, as well 
as other technical requirements. It is best suited for a potential zoning regulation. Along with 
other suggestions on lot configuration received from previous consultations, this option should 
be further examined through the Zoning Bylaw 310 update process currently underway.  

Further Revised Policies 

Based on the above discussion, it is recommended the proposed polices be further revised to 
clarify the intent of the densification strategies in the preamble of the policies, and incorporate a 
minor grammatical enhancement. The further revised policies are as follows: 

Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing 

Densification is vital to increasing housing supply and providing diverse housing choices. 
Densification can create land use opportunities and favourable conditions for developing 
affordable housing through a number of strategies including residential infill, cluster and 
mixed-use development and density bonus in appropriate areas. The intent of these 
strategies is to provide a set of criteria for evaluating densification proposals and tools to 
support and secure contribution to affordable housing.  
 
 

 

99



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 6 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

Objectives  

a. Increase the supply of housing units through infill development on existing eligible 
parcels. 

b. Direct cluster housing, multi-unit and mixed-use development to village hubs and similar 
settlement cluster areas. 

c. Integrate housing development with the rural context. 

d. Use density bonus in appropriate areas to encourage density increase and affordable 
housing contribution. 

e. Use housing agreements to secure affordable housing. 

Policies 

a. Infill development of auxiliary dwellings, duplexes and second dwellings shall be 
encouraged on existing eligible parcels in accordance with zoning bylaw parcel size 
requirements. To fully utilize the infill potential of such parcels, the existing minimum 
parcel size requirements to qualify for multiple dwellings on a parcel, as defined in the 
zoning bylaw, shall be reflective of the residential or rural residential designation. 

b. Subdivision creating lots smaller than 1000 m2, cluster residential development such as 
townhouse and multi-unit building and mixed-use development that combines residential 
use with commercial, retail, service and office uses are encouraged to be located in 
village hubs or similar settlement cluster areas. 

Developments exceeding density limits of the Official Plan and or the zoning bylaw are 
encouraged in these areas, subject to amendments to the Official Community Plan and 
or the zoning bylaw and all of the following criteria: 

i. Water supply, solid waste collection, storm water management, sewage treatment 
facility, traffic circulation and provision of or access to community amenities can all 
be appropriately provided and the development design is compatible with the 
surrounding neighbourhoods; and 

ii. With the exception of any other applicable density increase policies of this Plan, a 
contribution to affordable or special needs housing must be made in the form of 
housing unit, land, money or other types of provision and registered with a housing 
agreement in accordance with the Local Government Act and approved by the 
Regional District Board.  

c. Developments exceeding established density limits of the Official Community Plan and 
or the zoning bylaw and creating a total of 3 lots or less, may be considered through an 
amendment to the Official Community Plan and / or the zoning bylaw for areas 
designated Residential outside of village hubs or similar settlement cluster areas where 
water supply, solid waste collection, storm water management, sewage treatment 
facility, regional fire protection, traffic circulation and convenient access to major roads 
and community amenities can all be appropriately provided and the development design 
is compatible with the surrounding rural environment.  

d. Developments exceeding established density limits of the Official Community Plan and 
or the zoning bylaw and creating a total of more than 3 lots, may be considered through 

100



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 7 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

an amendment to the Official Community Plan and / or the zoning bylaw for areas 
designated Residential outside of village hubs or similar settlement cluster areas, subject 
to all of the following criteria: 

i. Water supply, solid waste collection, storm water management, sewage treatment 
facility, regional fire protection, traffic circulation and convenient access to major 
roads and community amenities can all be appropriately provided and the 
development design is compatible with the surrounding rural environment; and 

ii. A contribution to affordable or special needs housing must be made in the form of 
housing unit, land, money or other types of provision and registered with a housing 
agreement in accordance with the Local Government Act and approved by the 
Regional District Board. 

e. Affordable or higher-density housing shall be developed in a way that integrates with the 
rural communities and strengthens community identity and character. This can be 
achieved by creating developments that are complementary to the scale, layout, 
architectural design, landscaping and view of neighbouring properties and the 
surrounding natural environment. Specific design criteria may be imposed by 
establishing a development permit area for form and character for a development site.  

f. Housing agreements pursuant to the Local Government Act shall be used wherever 
applicable to secure the provision of affordable housing in appropriate areas and the 
long term affordability of housing. 

A housing agreement shall determine the terms, conditions and forms of provision or 
contribution of designated affordable or special needs housing and shall use concurrent 
criteria of the Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) and data of 
Statistics Canada to define housing affordability.   

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

The following SCRD Strategic Plan objectives and success indicators relate to the subject of 
this report: 

• Incorporate land use planning and policies to support local economic development. 
• Collaborate with community groups and organizations to support their objectives and 

capacity. 
• Land use policies and regulations are supporting affordable housing. 

The subject of this report is aligned with the sustainable land use principles that were developed 
in 2016. 

The subject of this report is also aligned with the following land use principles of the Regional 
Sustainability Plan: ‘We Envision’ for the Sunshine Coast: 

We envision complete, compact, low environmental-impact communities based on energy-
efficient transportation and settlement patterns. 

101



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 8 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

CONCLUSION 

The public hearing regarding the proposed bylaws revealed concerns from members of the 
community as well as suggestions for enhancing housing affordability. In response to these 
comments, this report clarifies the relationships between density and affordability, infrastructure 
and short term rental, the intent of the proposed policies and the need for a consistent 
approach. Further revisions to the bylaws have been recommended to address these 
comments.  

Staff recommend that the revised bylaws be presented to the Board for Third Reading and 
Adoption. 

 

Attachments 

Attachment A – Public Hearing Report 

Attachment B – Written Submissions 

Attachment C – Revised Halfmoon Bay Offical Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 675.4 for 
Third Reading 

Attachment D – Revised Roberts Creek Offical Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 641.8 for 
Third Reading 

Attachment E – Revised Elphinstone Offical Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 600.7 for Third 
Reading 

Attachment F – Revised West Howe Sound Offical Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 640.2 
for Third Reading 

 

 
Reviewed by: 
Manager X –  A. Allen     
GM X –  I. Hall    
CAO X -   J. Loveys      

 
  

102



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 9 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

Attachment A Public Hearing Report 
 

SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 

 

REPORT OF A PUBLIC HEARING HELD AT 

SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT OFFICE – BOARD ROOM 

1975 Field Road, Sechelt, B.C. 

July 23, 2018 

Halfmoon Bay Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 675.4, 2017 

Roberts Creek Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 641.8, 2017 

Elphinstone Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 600.8, 2017 

West Howe Sound Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 640.2, 2017 

 

PRESENT:   Chair, Area F Director     I. Winn 

    Alternate Chair, Area D Director    M. Lebbell 

 

ALSO PRESENT:  Senior Planner     Y. Siao 

    Chief Administrative Officer    J. Loveys 

    Area E Director     L. Lewis 

    Recording Secretary     A. Ruinat 

    Members of the Public    12 

    Media       2   

     

CALL TO ORDER 
The public hearing for Halfmoon Bay Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 675.4, 
2017, Roberts Creek Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 641.8, 2017, Elphinstone 
Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 600.8, 2017, and West Howe Sound Official 
Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 640.2, 2017 was called to order at 7:02 p.m.  

 
I. Winn, Chair 
The Chair introduced staff in attendance and read prepared remarks with respect to the 
procedures to be followed at the public hearing. The Chair then indicated that following the 
conclusion of the public hearing the SCRD Board may, without further notice or hearing, adopt 
or defeat the bylaws or alter and then adopt the bylaws providing the alteration does not alter 
the use or increase the density. The Chair asked Yuli Siao, Senior Planner, Planning & 
Development, to introduce Halfmoon Bay Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 
675.4, 2017, Roberts Creek Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 641.8, 2017, 

103



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 10 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

Elphinstone Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 600.8, 2017, and West Howe 
Sound Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 640.2, 2017. 

 
PURPOSE OF BYLAW 
Yuli Siao, Senior Planner  
The main purpose of the proposed Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaws are to strengthen 
and improve existing densification strategies to support affordable housing. 

The bylaw amendment process timeline was summarized as follows: 

• Preliminary Research for the proposed OCP Amendments started in February 2017 

• OCP Amendments initiated in September 2017 

• OCP Amendments received First Reading in September 2017 

• Three Public Information Meetings were held in November 2017 

• Referrals to All Electoral Area Advisory Planning Commissions and Agencies took place 
in November 2017 

• OCP Amendments received Second Reading on June 28, 2018 
• Second Referral to all Electoral Area Advisory Planning Commissions took place in July 

2018 

• Public Hearing held on July 23, 2018 

• Next Steps in the Process will be, Staff Public Hearing Report and recommendations to 
the SCRD Board. Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption will follow. 

What is an Official Community Plan (OCP)? 
The OCP is an official document of a local government on high level policies and broad vision to 
guide development and land use of the community. 
What is affordable housing referred to in the proposed policies? 
Affordable housing can include: rental or ownership housing, suite, second dwelling, etc. The goal 
is to help to make housing more affordable. 

Are these policies meant to provide affordable housing? 
The policies will support development of affordable housing and create opportunities and 
favourable conditions. 

What is the SCRD’s role in supporting affordable housing? 
The SCRD may develop land use planning policies to direct housing development to the right 
places, facilitate community engagement through development approval process, and improve 
infrastructure and service to support affordable housing. 

The SCRD does not provide direct funding and programs or manage housing projects. 

What can land use planning policies do? 
The OCP Amendments focus on land use planning policies. Planning policies can direct housing 
development to the right place, optimize the use of land resources and infrastructure and provide 
strategies for densification. 

104



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 11 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

Why increase density? 
Increasing density is a common strategy in response to growth, but not the only solution. The 
benefits of increasing density are: more sustainable approach to development, smaller 
environmental footprint, more fully utilize existing infrastructure and resources, may help increase 
supply, sharing space, structure, utility and amenity, and reduce cost per residential unit for land, 
construction, infrastructure, servicing and maintenance. 

Where should densification go? 
Primary focus: 

• Infill in existing eligible lots where an auxiliary or second dwelling is permitted. 

• Village hubs or similar settlement clusters as defined in the OCPs, where amenities are 
more readily available to support higher density.  

Secondary consideration: 

• Other residential areas with moderate growth potential subject to conditions. 

The New Policies 
The policies are a balanced approach to address public consultation input and strengthen and 
improve existing policies. The context of each OCP is maintained.  

The focus on densification as a land use tool to support affordable housing is as follows: 

• Utilize infill potential in existing residential lots  

• Encourage higher density in village hubs 

• Accommodate modest growth in other residential areas 

• Set location and technical criteria for density increase 

• Density bonus incentive in exchange for affordable housing contribution 

• Integration through Development Permit Area for form / character 

• Housing agreement to secure affordable housing contribution, as part of the development 
approval process. 

 

PUBLIC SUBMISSIONS PRIOR TO PUBLIC HEARING 
The Senior Planner noted that three letters were received prior to public hearing. The submissions 
will form part of the public record and attached to the public hearing report as Appendix 1 – 3. 
The submissions were summarized as follows: 

Brenda Sopel, Roberts Creek, B.C. (Appendix 1) 

• Question the correlation between densification and affordability 

• Concern about impact of density increase (growth) on water supply 

• Concern about other impacts such as road, parking, landfill, environment, etc. 

Stephen McLaren, 5389 Ole’s Cove Road, Halfmoon Bay (Appendix 2) 

• Concern about impact on low density and property value 

105



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 12 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

• Proposed policies inconsistent with Halfmoon Bay OCP 

• Proposed policies inconsistent with Local Government Act regarding growth strategy 

Joan Wagner, 5619 Mintie Road, Halfmoon Bay (Appendix 3) 

• Concern with lack of infrastructure in Halfmoon Bay to support densification 

The Senior Planner addressed questions from the public regarding density bonus and 
Development Permit Area for Form and Character.  

Density Bonus: If the proposed density is more than what is permitted in the Zoning Bylaw or 
OCP, the developer could provide a contribution towards affordable housing in exchange for the 
higher density.  

Development Permit Area for Form and Character ensures that the design is compatible with the 
surrounding neighbourhood with respects to architectural design, landscaping, etc.  

 

PUBLIC SUBMISSIONS AT PUBLIC HEARING 
The Senior Planner concluded his presentation and the Chair called a first time for submissions.   

Donna Shugar 
1076 Crowe Road, Roberts Creek 
A written submission was provided at public hearing to accompany the verbal submission at 
public hearing. (Appendix 4) 

Asked a general question as to how the infill development will be encouraged as per the 
Policies Section (a) in each of the proposed Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaws. 

The Senior Planner stated Policy (a) is not a new policy, it reinforces the infill development of 
auxiliary dwellings, duplexes and second dwellings where it is already permitted in the zoning 
bylaw. The proposed policy provides a more consistent approach to infill development 
throughout each OCP document. The Senior Planner summarized Policies b – f. 

Suggestion to consider ways to create new housing without subdivision and creating new lots 
while keeping existing density requirements and community character. The subdivision process 
is an extra layer of complexity, cost and time. Suggestion to introduce language in the zoning 
bylaw and OCP that would permit the same density allowed by zoning to be achievable with or 
without subdivision.  

If the same number of dwellings that would be permitted on 2 half acre lots could be built on the 
one acre lot without going through the subdivision process – it could provide opportunities for 
cluster housing, saved green space, shared infrastructure, out-building and gardens. This would 
enable adult children to build on family property and encourage young families to remain on the 
Coast.  

The two dwelling maximum is arbitrary. There could be language that would permit properties 
that are larger than the permitted minimum lot size, but too small for subdivision to add an extra 
dwelling or 2 while retaining the character of the neighbourhood. For example, a 7.5 acre lot in 
the 5 acre zone being permitted 3 houses instead of just 2. 

Further suggestion to consider how this could be done without the rezoning process.  

 

106



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 13 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

Stephen McLaren 
5389 Ole’s Cove Road, Halfmoon Bay 
A written submission was provided prior to the public hearing to accompany the verbal 
submission at public hearing. (Appendix 2). 

Asked a question regarding the Halfmoon Bay OCP. What percentage of properties in Halfmoon 
Bay that could have a second dwelling at the moment? Are changes to the OCP necessary or are 
there already enough properties that could potentially have a second dwelling. 

The Senior Planner noted that staff estimate that 90% of the eligible parcels with the SCRD that 
could have a second dwelling have not built a second dwelling. 

The Halfmoon Bay OCP emphasizes low density and this proposal would change the essence 
of the OCP to higher density. 

Noted Local Government Act Section 478 (2) All bylaws enacted or works undertaken by a 
council, board or great board, or by the trustees of an improvement district, after the adoption of  
(a) an official community plan, must be consistent with the relevant plan.  

Questions if there is other language in the Local Government Act that allows the SCRD to ignore 
Section 478 (2) and change the OCP from low density to high density? 

Noted Division 2 - Application and Content of the Regional Growth Strategy 428 (2) without limiting 
subsection (1), to the extent that a regional growth strategy deals with these matters, it should 
work towards but not be limited to the following: 

(a) avoiding urban sprawl and ensuring that development takes place where adequate facilities 
exist or can be provided in a timely, economic and efficient manner; 

(b) settlement patterns that minimize the use of automobile and encourage walking, bicycling and 
the efficient use of public transit; 

Commented that Halfmoon Bay does not have the public facilities to support densification or the 
means to encourage walking, bicycling or public transit. Believes that Halfmoon Bay is not an 
appropriate place to densify. Density should be limited to other areas where it is already 
developed: Gibsons, Sechelt, and Madeira Park.  

Celyse McLaren 
5389 Ole’s Cove Road, Halfmoon Bay 
Concerned with proposed development at Rockwater Resort and the designation of this area as 
a “community hub”. Has concerns with high density developments in Halfmoon Bay. Feels there 
is a layer of protection in the OCP around the type of developments allowed and that the 
proposed policies would allow for larger developments in rural areas where there are no 
amenities or public facilities to support it. Supportive of infill development or increasing density 
near centres such as Gibsons, Sechelt, Davis Bay/Wilson Creek.  

Linda Weight 
5623 Mintie Road, Halfmoon Bay 
Concerned with the designation of village hubs in Halfmoon Bay – Mintie Road area with 
general store and Wildwood area with general store and nursery. Noted that during the OCP 
review process there was consensus that future development in Halfmoon Bay be kept compact 
and that each proposal be evaluated with careful consideration. Does not support the Halfmoon 
Bay OCP being changed with a blanket policy for increasing density in all rural areas. There is a 

107



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 14 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

need for local amenities first before larger development. Supportive of secondary dwellings on 
smaller sized lots and considering each proposal on a case by case basis. 

Stephen McLaren 
5389 Ole’s Cove Road, Halfmoon Bay 
Asked when the current Halfmoon Bay OCP came into effect.  

It was noted that the Halfmoon Bay OCP was adopted 2 years ago (2014). 

Concerned that after only two years of being in effect, the OCP will be going in a total different 
direction from low density to high density. Asked how long the current Halfmoon Bay OCP will 
be in effect for. 

Donna Shugar 
1076 Crowe Road, Roberts Creek 
Asked for clarification regarding the clause “Subject to amendments to the Official Community 
Plans and/or zoning bylaws” which appears multiple times throughout the proposed bylaws. For 
example, if an applicant wanted to exceed the established density limits in the OCP, then the 
applicant would have to go through the public engagement process – public information 
meetings and public hearings. Is it correct that this is not a blanket permission, it is subject to 
certain conditions.  

The Senior Planner noted that yes this is correct. Each development proposal would be looked 
at on a case by case basis and have to undergo the public engagement process. 

Celyse McLaren 
5389 Ole’s Cove Road, Halfmoon Bay 
Asked what exactly the change to the OCP is if the proposed amendment goes ahead. 

The Senior Planner stated that the change would include a new section in each OCP titled 
“Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing”. The policies are not entirely new. The 
purpose is to strengthen what is already there and improve consistency. The high level policies 
will provide direction and tools available to evaluate each development proposal. Each proposal 
will have to meet the development criteria and be subject to the public process.  

Charles Hardy 
5635 Mintie Road, Halfmoon Bay 
Asked that if there is no change then why change the OCP. If all the provisions are still there 
and each proposal needs to go through public process, then why the change. Asked for 
clarification. 

The Senior Planner clarified that while the policies are meant to strengthen and use more 
consistent language for all Electoral Area OCPs, they introduce tools and technical criteria 
which are not currently specified in some OCPs, such Development Permit Areas for Form and 
Character for higher density developments, Density Bonusing and Housing Agreement.  

Celyse McLaren, 
5389 Ole’s Cove Road, Halfmoon Bay 
Concern with the SCRD removing low density policies from the OCP and allowing larger 
developments. Feels that there needs to be more specific rules outlined about what the changes 
to the OCP will be before the amendments are made.  

108



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 15 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

Linda Weight 
5623 Mintie Road, Halfmoon Bay 
Does not support the change to the OCP, as the current OCP represents the desires of the 
community. Would prefer to have developments reviewed on a case by case basis. 

Donna Shugar 
1076 Crowe Road, Roberts Creek 
Noted the challenges to addressing four OCP amendments in one public hearing. 

With respect to the deletion of Section 17.9(i) from Roberts Creek OCP, asked if the 
comprehensive set of lists of criteria to be met in order to consider an increase in density and a 
list of amenities that would have to be provided by the developer based on the size and scope 
of the development, still included in the OCP or have they been eliminated. Believes the set of 
criteria are very valuable to evaluate a project and hopes that they are still included. 

The Senior Planned noted that staff would look into this. 

Stephen McLaren 
5389 Ole’s Cove Road, Halfmoon Bay 
Recognizes that densification on the Sunshine Coast is going to happen, however feels that 
density should be confined to the places that already have the facilities to support it (Sechelt 
and Gibsons). Does not feel that Halfmoon Bay is a proper fit for densification as there are not 
proper facilities to accommodate it.  

The Chair called a second time for submissions.  

 
CLOSURE  
The Chair called a third and final time for submissions. There being no further submissions, the 
Chair announced the public hearing for proposed Halfmoon Bay Official Community Plan 
Amendment Bylaw No. 675.4, 2017, Roberts Creek Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 
No. 641.8, 2017, Elphinstone Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 600.8, 2017, and 
West Howe Sound Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 640.2, 2017 closed at 8:10 
p.m. 

 

  

109



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 16 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

Attachment B Written Submissions 

 

110



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 17 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

 

111



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 18 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

  

112



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 19 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

 

  

113



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 20 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

 

  

114



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 21 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

 

  

115



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 22 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

 

  

116



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 23 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

 

  

117



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 24 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

 

118



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 25 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

Attachment C Revised Halfmoon Bay Offical Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 
675.4 for Third Reading 

 

SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 
 

 BYLAW NO. 675.4 
 

A bylaw to amend the Halfmoon Bay Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 675, 2013 
 

 

The Board of Directors of the Sunshine Coast Regional District, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 

 
PART A – CITATION 

 
1. This bylaw may be cited as Halfmoon Bay Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 

675.4, 2017. 

 

PART B – AMENDMENT 

 
2. Halfmoon Bay Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 675, 2013 is hereby amended as follows: 

i. Insert the following section immediately following Section 10: 
 

11. Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing 

Densification is vital to increasing housing supply and providing diverse housing choices. 
Densification can create land use opportunities and favourable conditions for developing 
affordable housing through a number of strategies including residential infill, cluster and 
mixed-use development and density bonus in appropriate areas. The intent of these 
strategies is to provide a set of criteria for evaluating densification proposals and tools to 
support and secure contribution to affordable housing. 

11.1 Objectives  

a. Increase the supply of housing units through infill development on existing eligible 
parcels. 

b. Direct cluster housing, multi-unit and mixed-use development to the Community Hubs 
and similar settlement cluster areas. 

c. Integrate housing development with the rural context. 

119



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 26 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

d. Use density bonus in appropriate areas to encourage density increase and affordable 
housing contribution. 

e. Use housing agreements to secure affordable housing. 

11.2  Policies 

a. Infill development of auxiliary dwellings, duplexes and second dwellings shall be 
encouraged on existing eligible parcels in accordance with zoning bylaw parcel size 
requirements. To fully utilize the infill potential of such parcels, the existing minimum 
parcel size requirements to qualify for multiple dwellings on a parcel, as defined in the 
zoning bylaw, shall be reflective of the residential or rural residential designation. 

b. Subdivision creating lots smaller than 1000 m2, cluster residential development such as 
townhouse and multi-unit building and mixed-use development that combines residential 
use with commercial, retail, service and office uses are encouraged to be located in the 
Community Hubs or similar settlement cluster areas. 

Developments exceeding density limits of the Official Plan and or the zoning bylaw are 
encouraged in these areas, subject to amendments to the Official Community Plan and 
or the zoning bylaw and all of the following criteria: 

i. Water supply, solid waste collection, storm water management, sewage treatment 
facility, traffic circulation and provision of or access to community amenities can all 
be appropriately provided and the development design is compatible with the 
surrounding neighbourhoods; and 

ii. With the exception of any other applicable density increase policies of this Plan, a 
contribution to affordable or special needs housing must be made in the form of 
housing unit, land, money or other types of provision and registered with a housing 
agreement in accordance with the Local Government Act and approved by the 
Regional District Board.   

c. Developments exceeding established density limits of the Official Community Plan and 
or the zoning bylaw and creating a total of 3 lots or less, may be considered through an 
amendment to the Official Community Plan and / or the zoning bylaw for areas 
designated Residential outside of village hubs or similar settlement cluster areas where 
water supply, solid waste collection, storm water management, sewage treatment 
facility, regional fire protection, traffic circulation and convenient access to major roads 
and community amenities can all be appropriately provided and the development design 
is compatible with the surrounding rural environment.  

d. Developments exceeding established density limits of the Official Community Plan and 
or the zoning bylaw and creating a total of more than 3 lots, may be considered through 
an amendment to the Official Community Plan and / or the zoning bylaw for areas 
designated Residential outside of village hubs or similar settlement cluster areas, subject 
to all of the following criteria: 

i. Water supply, solid waste collection, storm water management, sewage treatment 
facility, regional fire protection, traffic circulation and convenient access to major 
roads and community amenities can all be appropriately provided and the 
development design is compatible with the surrounding rural environment; and 

120



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 27 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

ii. A contribution to affordable or special needs housing must be made in the form of 
housing unit, land, money or other types of provision and registered with a housing 
agreement in accordance with the Local Government Act and approved by the 
Regional District Board. 

e. Affordable or higher-density housing shall be developed in a way that integrates with the 
rural communities and strengthens community identity and character. This can be 
achieved by creating developments that are complementary to the scale, layout, 
architectural design, landscaping and view of neighbouring properties and the 
surrounding natural environment. Specific design criteria may be imposed by 
establishing a development permit area for form and character for a development site.  

f. Housing agreements pursuant to the Local Government Act shall be used wherever 
applicable to secure the provision of affordable housing in appropriate areas and the 
long term affordability of housing. 

A housing agreement shall determine the terms, conditions and forms of provision or 
contribution of designated affordable or special needs housing and shall use concurrent 
criteria of the Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) and data of 
Statistics Canada to define housing affordability.   

    ii    Renumber all subsequent sections and subsections accordingly.  

 

PART C – ADOPTION 

 

READ A FIRST TIME this 12th DAY OF OCTOBER 2017 

PURSUANT TO SECTION 475 OF THE LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT ACT CONSULTATION  
REQUIREMENTS CONSIDERED this 12th DAY OF OCTOBER 2017 

 

READ A SECOND TIME this 28th DAY OF JUNE 2018 

 

CONSIDERED IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE 
SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 
FINANCIAL PLAN AND ANY APPLICABLE WASTE  
MANAGEMENT PLANS PURSUANT TO  
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT this   28th DAY OF JUNE  2018 

 

PUBLIC HEARING HELD PURSUANT TO  
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT this 23th DAY OF  JULY 2018 

121



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 28 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

 

READ A THIRD TIME this DAY OF  MONTH YEAR 

 

ADOPTED this DAY OF MONTH YEAR 

 

 

 

Corporate Officer 

 

 

 

Chair 

  

122



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 29 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

Attachment D Revised Roberts Creek Offical Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 
641.8 for Third Reading 

SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 
 

 BYLAW NO. 641.8 
 

A bylaw to amend the Roberts Creek Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 641, 2011 
 

 

The Board of Directors of the Sunshine Coast Regional District, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 

 
PART A – CITATION 

 
1. This bylaw may be cited as Roberts Creek Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 

No. 641.8, 2017. 

 

PART B – AMENDMENT 

 
2. Roberts Creek Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 641, 2011 is hereby amended as follows: 

i. Delete the following portion of Section 17.9.i: 

“ Proposals to increase residential development density beyond that established in the OCP 
may be supported where the additional development capacity is to provide:  

a) Affordable housing; and/or  

b) Special needs housing  
subject to consultation with local residents through an OCP and rezoning amendment 
application process with public information meeting(s). Specific design criteria may be 
established and if so the site should be included within a development permit area for Form 
and Character, such as DPA 6. Cluster housing will be encouraged to minimize land use. ” 

ii. Insert the following section immediately following Section 17: 

18. Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing 

Densification is vital to increasing housing supply and providing diverse housing choices. 
Densification can create land use opportunities and favourable conditions for developing 
affordable housing through a number of strategies including residential infill, cluster and 
mixed-use development and density bonus in appropriate areas. The intent of these 

123



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 30 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

strategies is to provide a set of criteria for evaluating densification proposals and tools to 
support and secure contribution to affordable housing. 
 

18.1  Objectives  

a. Increase the supply of housing units through infill development on existing eligible 
parcels. 

b. Direct cluster housing, multi-unit and mixed-use development to the Village Amenity / 
Density Bonus Area and similar settlement cluster areas. 

c. Integrate housing development with the rural context. 

d. Use density bonus in appropriate areas to encourage density increase and affordable 
housing contribution. 

e. Use housing agreements to secure affordable housing. 

18.2   Policies 

a. Infill development of auxiliary dwellings, duplexes and second dwellings shall be 
encouraged on existing eligible parcels in accordance with zoning bylaw parcel size 
requirements. To fully utilize the infill potential of such parcels, the existing minimum 
parcel size requirements to qualify for multiple dwellings on a parcel, as defined in the 
zoning bylaw, shall be reflective of the residential or rural residential designation. 

b. Subdivision creating lots smaller than 1000 m2, cluster residential development such as 
townhouse and multi-unit building and mixed-use development that combines residential 
use with commercial, retail, service and office uses are encouraged to be located in the 
Village Amenity / Density Bonus Area or similar settlement cluster areas. 

Developments exceeding density limits of the Official Plan and or the zoning bylaw are 
encouraged in these areas, subject to amendments to the Official Community Plan and 
or the zoning bylaw and all of the following criteria: 

i. Water supply, solid waste collection, storm water management, sewage treatment 
facility, traffic circulation and provision of or access to community amenities can all 
be appropriately provided and the development design is compatible with the 
surrounding neighbourhoods; and 

ii. With the exception of any other applicable density increase policies of this Plan, a 
contribution to affordable or special needs housing must be made in the form of 
housing unit, land, money or other types of provision and registered with a housing 
agreement in accordance with the Local Government Act and approved by the 
Regional District Board.  

c. Developments exceeding established density limits of the Official Community Plan and 
or the zoning bylaw and creating a total of 3 lots or less, may be considered through an 
amendment to the Official Community Plan and / or the zoning bylaw for areas 
designated Residential outside of village hubs or similar settlement cluster areas where 
water supply, solid waste collection, storm water management, sewage treatment 
facility, regional fire protection, traffic circulation and convenient access to major roads 

124



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 31 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

and community amenities can all be appropriately provided and the development design 
is compatible with the surrounding rural environment.  

d. Developments exceeding established density limits of the Official Community Plan and 
or the zoning bylaw and creating a total of more than 3 lots, may be considered through 
an amendment to the Official Community Plan and / or the zoning bylaw for areas 
designated Residential outside of village hubs or similar settlement cluster areas, subject 
to all of the following criteria: 

i. Water supply, solid waste collection, storm water management, sewage treatment 
facility, regional fire protection, traffic circulation and convenient access to major 
roads and community amenities can all be appropriately provided and the 
development design is compatible with the surrounding rural environment; and 

ii. A contribution to affordable or special needs housing must be made in the form of 
housing unit, land, money or other types of provision and registered with a housing 
agreement in accordance with the Local Government Act and approved by the 
Regional District Board. 

e. Affordable or higher-density housing shall be developed in a way that integrates with the 
rural communities and strengthens community identity and character. This can be 
achieved by creating developments that are complementary to the scale, layout, 
architectural design, landscaping and view of neighbouring properties and the 
surrounding natural environment. Specific design criteria may be imposed by 
establishing a development permit area for form and character for a development site.  

f. Housing agreements pursuant to the Local Government Act shall be used wherever 
applicable to secure the provision of affordable housing in appropriate areas and the 
long term affordability of housing. 

A housing agreement shall determine the terms, conditions and forms of provision or 
contribution of designated affordable or special needs housing and shall use concurrent 
criteria of the Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) and data of 
Statistics Canada to define housing affordability.   

 
ii    Renumber all subsequent sections and subsections accordingly.  

 

 

PART C – ADOPTION 

 

READ A FIRST TIME this 12th DAY OF OCTOBER 2017 

PURSUANT TO SECTION 475 OF THE LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT ACT CONSULTATION  
REQUIREMENTS CONSIDERED this 12th DAY OF OCTOBER 2017 

125



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 32 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

 

READ A SECOND TIME this 28th DAY OF JUNE 2018 

 

CONSIDERED IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE 
SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 
FINANCIAL PLAN AND ANY APPLICABLE WASTE  
MANAGEMENT PLANS PURSUANT TO  
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT this   28th DAY OF JUNE  2018 

 

PUBLIC HEARING HELD PURSUANT TO  
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT this 23th DAY OF  JULY 2018 

 

READ A THIRD TIME this DAY OF  MONTH YEAR 

 

ADOPTED this DAY OF MONTH YEAR 

 

 

 

Corporate Officer 

 

 

 

Chair 

  

126



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 33 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

Attachment E Revised Elphinstone Offical Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 600.7 
for Third Reading 

SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 
 

 BYLAW NO. 600.8 
 

A bylaw to amend the Elphinstone Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 600, 2007 
 

 

The Board of Directors of the Sunshine Coast Regional District, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 

 
PART A – CITATION 

 
1. This bylaw may be cited as Elphinstone Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 

600.8, 2017. 

 

PART B – AMENDMENT 

 
2. Elphinstone Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 600, 2007 is hereby amended as follows: 

Insert the following section immediately following Section B-9: 

B-10  Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing 

Densification is vital to increasing housing supply and providing diverse housing choices. 
Densification can create land use opportunities and favourable conditions for developing 
affordable housing through a number of strategies including residential infill, cluster and 
mixed-use development and density bonus in appropriate areas. The intent of these 
strategies is to provide a set of criteria for evaluating densification proposals and tools to 
support and secure contribution to affordable housing. 
 

B-10.1  Objectives  

a. Increase the supply of housing units through infill development on existing eligible 
parcels. 

b. Direct cluster housing, multi-unit and mixed-use development to the Comprehensive 
Development Cluster Housing Areas and similar settlement cluster areas. 

c. Integrate housing development with the rural context. 

127



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 34 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

d. Use density bonus in appropriate areas to encourage density increase and affordable 
housing contribution. 

e. Use housing agreements to secure affordable housing. 

B-10.2   Policies 

a. Infill development of auxiliary dwellings, duplexes and second dwellings shall be 
encouraged on existing eligible parcels in accordance with zoning bylaw parcel size 
requirements. To fully utilize the infill potential of such parcels, the existing minimum 
parcel size requirements to qualify for multiple dwellings on a parcel, as defined in the 
zoning bylaw, shall be reflective of the residential or rural residential designation. 

b. Subdivision creating lots smaller than 1000 m2, cluster residential development such as 
townhouse and multi-unit building and mixed-use development that combines residential 
use with commercial, retail, service and office uses are encouraged to be located in the 
Comprehensive Development Cluster Housing Areas or similar settlement cluster areas. 

Developments exceeding density limits of the Official Plan and or the zoning bylaw are 
encouraged in these areas, subject to amendments to the Official Community Plan and 
or the zoning bylaw and all of the following criteria: 

i. Water supply, solid waste collection, storm water management, sewage treatment 
facility, traffic circulation and provision of or access to community amenities can all 
be appropriately provided and the development design is compatible with the 
surrounding neighbourhoods; and 

ii. With the exception of any other applicable density increase policies of this Plan, a 
contribution to affordable or special needs housing must be made in the form of 
housing unit, land, money or other types of provision and registered with a housing 
agreement in accordance with the Local Government Act and approved by the 
Regional District Board.  

c. Developments exceeding established density limits of the Official Community Plan and 
or the zoning bylaw and creating a total of 3 lots or less, may be considered through an 
amendment to the Official Community Plan and / or the zoning bylaw for areas 
designated Residential outside of village hubs or similar settlement cluster areas where 
water supply, solid waste collection, storm water management, sewage treatment 
facility, regional fire protection, traffic circulation and convenient access to major roads 
and community amenities can all be appropriately provided and the development design 
is compatible with the surrounding rural environment.  

d. Developments exceeding established density limits of the Official Community Plan and 
or the zoning bylaw and creating a total of more than 3 lots, may be considered through 
an amendment to the Official Community Plan and / or the zoning bylaw for areas 
designated Residential outside of village hubs or similar settlement cluster areas, subject 
to all of the following criteria: 

i. Water supply, solid waste collection, storm water management, sewage treatment 
facility, regional fire protection, traffic circulation and convenient access to major 
roads and community amenities can all be appropriately provided and the 
development design is compatible with the surrounding rural environment; and 

128



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 35 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

ii. A contribution to affordable or special needs housing must be made in the form of 
housing unit, land, money or other types of provision and registered with a housing 
agreement in accordance with the Local Government Act and approved by the 
Regional District Board. 

e. Affordable or higher-density housing shall be developed in a way that integrates with the 
rural communities and strengthens community identity and character. This can be 
achieved by creating developments that are complementary to the scale, layout, 
architectural design, landscaping and view of neighbouring properties and the 
surrounding natural environment. Specific design criteria may be imposed by 
establishing a development permit area for form and character for a development site.  

f. Housing agreements pursuant to the Local Government Act shall be used wherever 
applicable to secure the provision of affordable housing in appropriate areas and the 
long term affordability of housing. 

A housing agreement shall determine the terms, conditions and forms of provision or 
contribution of designated affordable or special needs housing and shall use concurrent 
criteria of the Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) and data of 
Statistics Canada to define housing affordability.   

ii    Renumber all subsequent sections and subsections accordingly.  

 

PART C – ADOPTION 

READ A FIRST TIME this 12th DAY OF OCTOBER 2017 

PURSUANT TO SECTION 475 OF THE LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT ACT CONSULTATION  
REQUIREMENTS CONSIDERED this 12th DAY OF OCTOBER 2017 

 

READ A SECOND TIME this 28th DAY OF JUNE 2018 

 

CONSIDERED IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE 
SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 
FINANCIAL PLAN AND ANY APPLICABLE WASTE  
MANAGEMENT PLANS PURSUANT TO  
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT this   28th DAY OF JUNE  2018 

 

PUBLIC HEARING HELD PURSUANT TO  
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT this 23th DAY OF  JULY 2018 

 

129



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 36 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

READ A THIRD TIME this DAY OF  MONTH YEAR 

 

 

ADOPTED this DAY OF MONTH YEAR 

 

 

 

Corporate Officer 

 

 

 

Chair 

  

130



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 37 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

Attachment F Revised West Howe Sound Offical Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 
640.2 for Third Reading 

SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 
 

 BYLAW NO. 640.2 
 

A bylaw to amend the West Howe Sound Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 640, 2011 
 

 

The Board of Directors of the Sunshine Coast Regional District, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 

 
PART A – CITATION 

 
1. This bylaw may be cited as West Howe Sound Official Community Plan Amendment 

Bylaw No. 640.2, 2017. 

 

PART B – AMENDMENT 

 
2. West Howe Sound Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 640, 2011 is hereby amended as 

follows: 

i.  Insert the following section immediately following Section 6: 

7. Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing 

Densification is vital to increasing housing supply and providing diverse housing choices. 
Densification can create land use opportunities and favourable conditions for developing 
affordable housing through a number of strategies including residential infill, cluster and 
mixed-use development and density bonus in appropriate areas. The intent of these 
strategies is to provide a set of criteria for evaluating densification proposals and tools to 
support and secure contribution to affordable housing. 
 

7.1  Objectives  

a. Increase the supply of housing units through infill development on existing eligible 
parcels. 

b. Direct cluster housing, multi-unit and mixed-use development to the Langdale 
Neighbourhood Village Centre and similar settlement cluster areas. 

c. Integrate housing development with the rural context. 

131



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 38 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

d. Use density bonus in appropriate areas to encourage density increase and affordable 
housing contribution. 

e. Use housing agreements to secure affordable housing. 

7.2   Policies 

a. Infill development of auxiliary dwellings, duplexes and second dwellings shall be 
encouraged on existing eligible parcels in accordance with zoning bylaw parcel size 
requirements. To fully utilize the infill potential of such parcels, the existing minimum 
parcel size requirements to qualify for multiple dwellings on a parcel, as defined in the 
zoning bylaw, shall be reflective of the residential or rural residential designation. 

b. Subdivision creating lots smaller than 1000 m2, cluster residential development such as 
townhouse and multi-unit building and mixed-use development that combines residential 
use with commercial, retail, service and office uses are encouraged to be located in the 
Langdale Neighbourhood Village Centre or similar settlement cluster areas. 

Developments exceeding density limits of the Official Plan and or the zoning bylaw are 
encouraged in these areas, subject to amendments to the Official Community Plan and 
or the zoning bylaw and all of the following criteria: 

i. Water supply, solid waste collection, storm water management, sewage treatment 
facility, traffic circulation and provision of or access to community amenities can all 
be appropriately provided and the development design is compatible with the 
surrounding neighbourhoods; and 

ii. With the exception of any other applicable density increase policies of this Plan, a 
contribution to affordable or special needs housing must be made in the form of 
housing unit, land, money or other types of provision and registered with a housing 
agreement in accordance with the Local Government Act and approved by the 
Regional District Board.   

c. Developments exceeding established density limits of the Official Community Plan and 
or the zoning bylaw and creating a total of 3 lots or less, may be considered through an 
amendment to the Official Community Plan and / or the zoning bylaw for areas 
designated Residential outside of village hubs or similar settlement cluster areas where 
water supply, solid waste collection, storm water management, sewage treatment 
facility, regional fire protection, traffic circulation and convenient access to major roads 
and community amenities can all be appropriately provided and the development design 
is compatible with the surrounding rural environment.  

d. Developments exceeding established density limits of the Official Community Plan and 
or the zoning bylaw and creating a total of more than 3 lots, may be considered through 
an amendment to the Official Community Plan and / or the zoning bylaw for areas 
designated Residential outside of village hubs or similar settlement cluster areas, subject 
to all of the following criteria: 

i. Water supply, solid waste collection, storm water management, sewage treatment 
facility, regional fire protection, traffic circulation and convenient access to major 
roads and community amenities can all be appropriately provided and the 
development design is compatible with the surrounding rural environment; and 

132



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 39 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

ii. A contribution to affordable or special needs housing must be made in the form of 
housing unit, land, money or other types of provision and registered with a housing 
agreement in accordance with the Local Government Act and approved by the 
Regional District Board. 

e. Affordable or higher-density housing shall be developed in a way that integrates with the 
rural communities and strengthens community identity and character. This can be 
achieved by creating developments that are complementary to the scale, layout, 
architectural design, landscaping and view of neighbouring properties and the 
surrounding natural environment. Specific design criteria may be imposed by 
establishing a development permit area for form and character for a development site.  

f. Housing agreements pursuant to the Local Government Act shall be used wherever 
applicable to secure the provision of affordable housing in appropriate areas and the 
long term affordability of housing. 

A housing agreement shall determine the terms, conditions and forms of provision or 
contribution of designated affordable or special needs housing and shall use concurrent 
criteria of the Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) and data of 
Statistics Canada to define housing affordability.   

ii    Renumber all subsequent sections and subsections accordingly.  

 

 

PART C – ADOPTION 

 

READ A FIRST TIME this 12th DAY OF OCTOBER 2017 

PURSUANT TO SECTION 475 OF THE LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT ACT CONSULTATION  
REQUIREMENTS CONSIDERED this 12th DAY OF OCTOBER 2017 

 

READ A SECOND TIME this 28th DAY OF JUNE 2018 

 

CONSIDERED IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE 
SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 
FINANCIAL PLAN AND ANY APPLICABLE WASTE  
MANAGEMENT PLANS PURSUANT TO  
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT this   28th DAY OF JUNE  2018 

 

133



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
OCP Amendments-Densification Strategies to Support Affordable Housing Public 
Hearing Report and Consideration for Third Reading and Adoption Page 40 of 40 
 

2018-SEP-6 PCDC Report OCP Amendments-Housing Densification-3rd Reading 

PUBLIC HEARING HELD PURSUANT TO  
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT this 23th DAY OF  JULY 2018 

 

READ A THIRD TIME this DAY OF  MONTH YEAR 

 

ADOPTED this DAY OF MONTH YEAR 

 

 

 

Corporate Officer 

 

 

 

Chair 

 

134



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018  

AUTHOR: Andrew Allen, Manager, Planning and Development 

SUBJECT:  APPROACH TO CANNABIS LEGALIZATION 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

THAT the report titled Approach to Cannabis Legalization be received; 

AND THAT Zoning Amendment Bylaw Nos. 310.183 and 337.117 be forwarded to the 
Regular Board meeting of September 6, 2018 for First Reading and Second Reading; 

AND THAT public hearings be waived pursuant to Section 464 of the Local Government 
Act; 

AND THAT Zoning Amendment Bylaw Nos. 310.183 and 337.117 be forwarded to the 
Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure for approval, pursuant to Section 52 of the 
Transportation Act; 

AND THAT upon completion of notice of waiving public hearing and Transportation Act 
approval, Zoning Amendment Bylaw Nos. 310.183 and 337.117 be forwarded to the Board 
for Third Reading and Adoption; 

AND FURTHER THAT Procedures and Fees Bylaw No. 522 be amended to establish fees 
for: 

a) $4,275, where an application is made to rezone property where cannabis
production or retail is proposed to occur, and;

b) $3,275, for review and response to a retail cannabis license application in a
permitted zone.

BACKGROUND 

The SCRD Board adopted the following recommendation on July 26, 2018: 

237/18 Recommendation No. 10 Cannabis Legalization – Bylaw Amendments 

The Infrastructure Services Committee recommended that the report titled 
Cannabis Legalization – Bylaw Amendments be received;  

AND THAT; WHEREAS once the Cannabis Act is in effect, existing cannabis 
production and retail facilities may attempt to claim legal non-conforming status; 

ANNEX E

135



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
SCRD Approach to Cannabis Legalization Page 2 of 7 
 

 
2018-SEP-06 PCD Report SCRD Approach Cannabis Legalization-final 

RESOLVED THAT staff prepare bylaw amendments to prohibit the production and 
retail of commercial (non-medicinal) cannabis being established as a lawful use in 
Residential and Rural zones;         
 
AND THAT the work be completed on a schedule that would allow for adoption 
prior to the Cannabis Act implementation; 
 
AND THAT staff amend Bylaw 310 and Bylaw 337 language around the terms 
Marijuana and Medical Marijuana to reflect the upcoming regulatory regime;  
 
AND THAT definitions of Horticulture and Home Occupation be amended as 
necessary to reflect the main motion;   
 
AND FURTHER THAT staff report to a future Committee meeting on public 
engagement processes in consideration of providing production and retail 
opportunities in locations and to the degree acceptable to the community, including 
opportunities presented by the Bylaw 310 Review Process. 

 
DISCUSSION 

Process for Adoption of Zoning Bylaw Amendments Prior to Cannabis Act Implementation  

The Cannabis Act, and in particular legalization of non-medical cannabis is set to come into 
force on October 17, 2018. Pursuant to the Board resolution to adopt amendments to zoning 
bylaws prior to this date options are provided in this report. An expedited approach could 
include opting out of referrals to advisory committees, First Nations, and a public information 
meeting. Approval from Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure (MOTI) is required 
pursuant to Section 52(3)(a) of the Transportation Act as the zoning bylaws affect areas within a 
radius of 800m from the intersection of a controlled access highway with any other highway. 
One part of expediting the bylaw amendment process involves the consideration of the public 
hearing. There are two options to consider; one is to waive the public hearing and the other is to 
hold a public hearing immediately before or after a Regular Board meeting.  

Waiving of Public Hearing 

Section 464 (2) of the Local Government Act permits waiving of a public hearing on a 
proposed zoning bylaw if an official community plan is in effect for the area that is 
subject to the zoning bylaw and the bylaw is consistent with the official community plan. 
Official community plans for the five electoral areas are currently in effect for the areas 
subject to the two zoning bylaws. The current zoning bylaws have a number of 
regulations pertaining to cannabis production. The proposed zoning amendment bylaws 
are intended to further regulate the production and retail of cannabis in residential and 
rural areas. The bylaws are not attempting to limit the general land use patterns as 
identified within land use designations of the OCP’s, nor do OCP’s provide specific 
direction on production and retailing of cannabis. The previous bylaw amendments 
which established the production facilities within select zones in each bylaw were also 
previously considered to be consistent with the respective OCP’s. Therefore, the 
proposed bylaws are consistent with the general intent of the OCPs, and Section 464 (2) 
is applicable.   

  

136



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
SCRD Approach to Cannabis Legalization Page 3 of 7 
 

 
2018-SEP-06 PCD Report SCRD Approach Cannabis Legalization-final 

Public Hearing in Association with Board Meeting 

The other option is to hold a public hearing in conjunction with a board meeting. The 
Board can hold a public hearing prior to its regular meeting and without further notice 
adopt or defeat or recommend changes which do not alter the use or density. If the 
public hearing is a delegated hearing then either staff or one of the delegated Board 
members can provide a report to the remainder of the Board. This is not routine SCRD 
practice, however the procedure is outlined within Section 470 of the Local Government 
Act. There are certain conditions to consider, including the specific start time of the 
public hearing and its relation to other previously scheduled board and committee 
meetings and whether the public hearing will be delegated or convened by the Board as 
whole. 

There are factors to consider in the decision to either hold or waive the public hearing. Holding a 
public hearing can be seen as increasing the accountability of the decision making process. 
However, if the intent is to “close the door” on cannabis production and retail on an interim 
basis, and open it again later, it is then during the process of “re-opening of the door” where 
public participation will occur and be most effective.  

Section 467 of Local Government Act requires an advertisement in two consecutive newspapers 
to indicate that a public hearing will be held or waived, and the last publication must not be less 
than 3 days and not more than 10 days before the bylaw is given third reading.  

Proposed Zoning Bylaw Amendments 

Current Provisions Pertaining to Cannabis Production or Retail  

In both zoning bylaws, “marihuana production facility” is defined as a facility used for the 
cultivation, processing, testing, destruction, packaging and shipping of marihuana as permitted 
under federal legislation. The definition does not distinguish between medical and non-medical 
purposes, or define the scale of production. At the time of the bylaw amendments the Board 
chose not to distinguish a difference between medical and non-medical as the regulatory regime 
was continually evolving. Initial bylaw amendments were focused on medical production, 
however it was recognized that non-medical production was also a potential future issue. 

Currently within Zoning Bylaw No. 310, cannabis production is permitted within I7 zone, specific 
parcels within I1 and I5B zones and AG and RU2 zones only for parcels exceeding 8 hectares 
in size. In Zoning Bylaw No. 337, cannabis production is permitted in RU2 and RU3 zones for 
parcels exceeding 8 hectares only. However, in terms of production, cannabis may potentially 
be considered by a property owner as part of a horticulture operation, which is permitted in all 
zones in both bylaws. It may also be considered to be part of a home based business or home 
occupation which is permitted in all zones in Bylaw 337 and most zones in Bylaw 310.  It can 
also potentially be argued to be a part of an agriculture or garden nursery operation which is 
permitted in several rural zones.  

 “Retail” is not defined in either bylaw, therefore according to zoning language a retail facility can 
include the sale of cannabis. Retail is permitted in various zones in both bylaws. The retailing of 
cannabis can also potentially be part of horticultural, agricultural or garden nursery product 
sales. 

  

137



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
SCRD Approach to Cannabis Legalization Page 4 of 7 
 

 
2018-SEP-06 PCD Report SCRD Approach Cannabis Legalization-final 

Terminology in the bylaws that may relate in some way to cannabis production or retail include 
the definitions for “horticulture”, “greenhouse”, “garden nursery”, “agriculture”, “agricultural 
building”, “agricultural product sales”, “horticultural product sales”,  “home occupation” and 
“home based business”. 

Recommended Amendments 

Based on the above overview of current provisions in the zoning bylaws, to implement the 
Board’s motion to prohibit non-medical cannabis production and retail in residential and rural 
zones, a number of zoning amendments are recommended. The proposed amendment bylaws 
can be found in Attachments A and B to this report. 

To reflect the terminology for “cannabis” which is used in federal and provincial legislation, the 
words “marihuana” and “marijuana” in both bylaws should be replaced by “cannabis”. There is 
one reference in the I5B zone in Bylaw 310, which refers to “medical marihuana” in respect to 
building siting. It is also recommended this be amended to refer to cannabis. 

To distinguish between medical and non-medical (commercial or recreational) cannabis, 
definitions should be added for both terms: 

• Cannabis, medical means cannabis used for medical purposes and that has the 
authorization of healthcare practitioners under the Access to Cannabis for Medical 
Purposes Regulations or Cannabis Act. 

• Cannabis, non-medical means cannabis that is not used for medical purposes and does 
not have the authorization of healthcare practitioners under the Access to Cannabis for 
Medical Purposes Regulations or Cannabis Act. 

In the respective general use provisions sections of each bylaw, a new provision could be 
added to prohibit cannabis production and retail for non-medical purposes in all residential and 
rural zones. This is a broad provision to set the overall regulation for non-medical cannabis 
production and retail in terms of where it is not permitted.  

To prevent cannabis production or retail being interpreted as part of other permitted uses in 
these zones, such as horticulture, home occupation, garden nursery, parcels over 8 hectares in 
a RU2 zone, etc., an additional provision should also be added that states that non-medical 
cannabis production or retail being part of other permitted uses in these zones should also be 
prohibited. This additional provision will override any existing provisions and definitions that may 
be interpreted as permitting cannabis production or retail. With this additional provision in place, 
it is unnecessary to amend other definitions such as “home occupation” and “horticulture”. 

  

138



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
SCRD Approach to Cannabis Legalization Page 5 of 7 
 

 
2018-SEP-06 PCD Report SCRD Approach Cannabis Legalization-final 

Public Participation: Short-Term Management of Cannabis Production and Retail Opportunities 

Following adoption of the proposed bylaw amendments, SCRD may receive an application to 
amend the provisions of a residential or rural zone to add cannabis production or retail as a 
permitted use through a rezoning process.  

In such cases, if an application is received, the legislated processes for zoning bylaw 
amendment (and, if required, an official community plan bylaw amendment) would be enacted. 
This would entail a report to the SCRD Board, referral to advisory committees, external 
agencies, a public information meeting and a public hearing. This process would fulfill the 
requirements set by Liquor and Cannabis Regulation Branch (LCRB) for gathering residents’ 
views. Based on the anticipated level of attention attracted by such an application and the 
additional time required for correspondence with LCRB, staff recommend that a fee of $4,275 
be established for rezoning and/or official community plan amendment applications involving 
cannabis. The current rezoning application fee is $2,400 (or $2,900 if joint with an OCP 
amendment). Bylaw amendment fees have not increased in several years and staffing, 
advertising and venue booking fees have steadily increased. Consideration will be given to all 
fees identified within Procedures and Fees Bylaw No. 522, however it is anticipated that 
cannabis-related bylaw amendments will involve more staff time than an average application. 
This fee increase assumes an additional 15 hours of professional planning time and an 
additional 5 hours of administrative time beyond an average rezoning application. This is 
consistent with similar jurisdictions. 

SCRD could also receive a notice of application as a referral from LCRB related to a provincial 
retail license to sell cannabis in a commercial zone, where it would be a permitted use. Upon 
receiving a notice of application, staff recommend that a report be made to the Board for 
direction on whether to respond. Non-response would “end a license application in progress 
because the LCRB cannot issue a license unless the local government gives the LCRB a 
positive recommendation that the license be issued” (Source: Local Governments’ Role in 
Licensing Non-Medical Cannabis Retail Stores, Province of BC website).  

Should the Board direct staff to proceed with responding to the notice of application, a public 
participation process to gather residents’ views will be required. This can be accomplished 
through a zoning bylaw amendment, if applicable. However, if the zoning does not need to be 
changed there should still be a process to gather community input. Staff recommend that a 
public information meeting be conducted, which includes elements similar to a public hearing, 
such as notification and the opportunity to receive written comments. Acknowledging that the 
time and resources required for such a process would be similar to a rezoning process involving 
cannabis with the exception of the formal public hearing, staff recommend that a fee of $3,275 
be levied for review of an application for a provincial cannabis retail license. This fee reflects the 
cost of a similar work flow, minus public hearing advertising costs. 

Public Participation: Planning for Future Cannabis Production and Retail Opportunities 

An opportunity exists to integrate a public feedback opportunity for cannabis production and 
retail zones within the review of Zoning Bylaw 310. As the second, broad-reaching public 
participation phase for this project will be initiated in Q4 2018, this integration can be 
accomplished seamlessly. A need to plan for legalized cannabis has already been identified 
during Phase 1.  

 

139

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/employment-business-and-economic-development/business-management/liquor-regulation-licensing/documents/local_government_role_in_licensing_cannabis_retail_stores.pdf)
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/employment-business-and-economic-development/business-management/liquor-regulation-licensing/documents/local_government_role_in_licensing_cannabis_retail_stores.pdf)


Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
SCRD Approach to Cannabis Legalization Page 6 of 7 
 

 
2018-SEP-06 PCD Report SCRD Approach Cannabis Legalization-final 

Example opportunities include:   

• Within the home-based business focus area, specific questions related to zoning for 
home-based businesses involving cannabis production and sales can be posed. 

• Questions relating to retail in commercial areas (e.g. how many stores? Distances from 
other uses?) can be posed. 

Results from this work can be considered in the context of further provincial regulations such as 
the rural retail licensing framework, once released. Feedback received will be analyzed and can 
guide recommendations for possible further topic-based and/or area-based public participation. 
Consideration will be made of the differences between Bylaw 310 and Bylaw 337 and that 
Bylaw 310 is presently under review whereas Bylaw 337 is not. 

Staff will report as directed to a future Committee with analysis and recommendations. 

Organizational and Intergovernmental Implications 

The bylaws must be referred to the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure. Ministry 
approval is required prior to adoption of the bylaws. 

The proposed approach for the bylaw amendments has been reviewed by SCRD legal counsel. 

Financial Implications 

Fees for rezoning applications involving cannabis uses and for review of a retail cannabis 
license application are proposed. Demand on staff resources and other further financial 
implications will be monitored. 

Timeline for next steps or estimated completion date  

In order the meet the tight timeline for enacting the bylaws, it is recommended the bylaws be 
forwarded to the September 6, 2018 regular Board meeting for first and second readings, 
followed by referral to MOTI and advertising for waiving of a public hearing. Upon completion of 
advertising and MOTI approval the bylaws will be forwarded to the Board for third reading and 
adoption. Subject to receiving a timely response from MOTI, the bylaws may be adopted at the 
October 11, 2018 Regular Board meeting. 

Further analysis on planning for future cannabis and production retail opportunities is 
anticipated to be brought forward in early part of 2019 as the review of Zoning Bylaw 310 
continues and as the provincial government continues to establish the rural area regulatory 
framework.  

Communications Strategy 

The advertising for waiving of the public hearing will be published in a local newspaper, and 
information related to the bylaws and the waiving of public hearing will be posted on the SCRD 
website.  
 

  

140



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
SCRD Approach to Cannabis Legalization Page 7 of 7 

2018-SEP-06 PCD Report SCRD Approach Cannabis Legalization-final 

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

The following SCRD Strategic Plan objectives and success indicators relate to the subject of 
this report: 

• Incorporate land use planning and policies to support local economic development.

CONCLUSION 

In preparation for cannabis legalization in October 2018, this report provides an approach on 
how SCRD regulations and processes can respond to the new legislation.  

This report recommends zoning bylaw amendments to further regulate cannabis production and 
retail in residential and rural areas, and provide public participation strategies for short-term 
management and future planning for cannabis production and retail. Necessary procedures to 
enact the bylaws within timeline prior to the cannabis legalization are also recommended. 

Fees for planning services related to cannabis-related land use applications/referrals are 
proposed. 

Attachments 

Attachment A – Proposed Zoning Amendment Bylaw 310.183, 2018 

Attachment B – Proposed Zoning Amendment Bylaw 337.117, 2018 

Reviewed by: 
Manager X – A. Allen Finance 
GM X - I. Hall Legislative X - A. Legault 
CAO X - J. Loveys Other X - Counsel 

141



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 
BYLAW NO. 310.183 

A bylaw to amend Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Bylaw No. 310, 1987. 
 
 

The Board of Directors of the Sunshine Coast Regional District, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 

PART A – CITATION 

1. This bylaw may be cited as Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Bylaw No. 310.183, 
2018 

PART B – AMENDMENT 

2. Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Bylaw No. 310, 1987 is hereby amended as 
follows: 

i. Replace the words “marijuana”, “marihuana” and “medical marihuana” with 
“cannabis” throughout this bylaw. 

ii. Add the following new definitions in Section 201: 

a. "cannabis, medical” means cannabis used for medical purposes and has 
the authorization of healthcare practitioners under the Access to 
Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations or Cannabis Act; 

b. “cannabis, non-medical” means cannabis that is not used for medical 
purposes and does not have the authorization of healthcare practitioners 
under the Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations or 
Cannabis Act; 

iii. Insert the following new section immediately following Section 510: 

Non-medical Cannabis Production and Retail 

511 Notwithstanding any other provisions of this bylaw: 

(1) Non-medical cannabis production facilities and retail are prohibited in: 

(a) Residential Zones including R1, R1A, R2, R2A, RM1, RM2, RM3, 
CD1 and CD3 Zones; and  

(b) Rural Zones including CR1, CR2, RU1, RU1A, RU1B, RU1C, 
RU1D, RU2, RU2A, AG, RU4, RU4A, RU4B, RU5 and RU5A 
Zones. 

Attachment A

142



Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Bylaw No. 310.183, 2018 Page 2 of 2  
 

(2) For certainty, non-medical cannabis production facilities and retail are not 
permitted within any use permitted within the following zones: 

(a) Residential Zones including R1, R1A, R2, R2A, RM1, RM2, RM3, 
CD1 and CD3 Zones; and 

(b) Rural Zones including CR1, CR2, RU1, RU1A, RU1B, RU1C, 
RU1D, RU2, RU2A, AG, RU4, RU4A, RU4B, RU5 and RU5A 
Zones. 

PART C – ADOPTION 

READ A FIRST TIME this #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

READ A SECOND TIME this #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

PUBLIC HEARING HELD PURSUANT TO THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT this  #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

READ A THIRD TIME this  #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 
 
APPROVED PURSUANT TO SECTION 52 OF 
THE TRANSPORTATION ACT this #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

ADOPTED this  #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

 
 
 
 

 
Corporate Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair 

 

143



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 
BYLAW NO. 337.117 

A bylaw to amend Sunshine Coast Regional District Area A Zoning Bylaw No. 337, 1990. 

The Board of Directors of the Sunshine Coast Regional District, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 

PART A – CITATION 

1. This bylaw may be cited as Sunshine Coast Regional District Area A Zoning Bylaw No.
337.117, 2018.

PART B – AMENDMENT 

2. Sunshine Coast Regional District Area A Zoning Bylaw No. 337, 1990 is hereby
amended as follows:

i. Replace the words “marijuana” and “marihuana” with “cannabis” throughout this
bylaw.

ii. Add the following new definitions in Section 201:

a. "cannabis, medical” means cannabis used for medical purposes and that
has the authorization of healthcare practitioners under the Access to
Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations or Cannabis Act;

b. “cannabis, non-medical” means cannabis that is not used for medical
purposes and does not have the authorization of healthcare practitioners
under the Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations or
Cannabis Act;

iii. Insert the following new section immediately following Section 519:

Non-medical Cannabis Production and Retail

520 Notwithstanding any other provisions of this bylaw:

(1) Non-medical cannabis production and retail are prohibited in:

(a) Residential Zones including RS1, R1, R1A, R1B, R2, R2A,
R3, R3A, R3B, R3C, RM1, RM2, RM3, CD1, CD2, CD3 and
CD5 Zones;  and

(b) Rural Zones including CR1, RU1, RU1A, RU1B, RU1C,
RU1D, RU2, RU2A, RU3, RU4 and RU5 Zones.

Attachment B

144



Sunshine Coast Regional District Area A Zoning Bylaw No. 337.117, 2018 Page 2 of 2  
 

(2) For certainty, non-medical cannabis production facilities and retail 
are not permitted within any use permitted within the following 
zones:  

(a) Residential Zones including RS1, R1, R1A, R1B, R2, R2A, R3, 
R3A, R3B, R3C, RM1, RM2, RM3, CD1, CD2, CD3 and CD5 
Zones; and 

(b) Rural Zones including CR1, RU1, RU1A, RU1B, RU1C, RU1D, 
RU2, RU2A, RU3, RU4 and RU5 Zones. 

PART C – ADOPTION 

READ A FIRST TIME this #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

READ A SECOND TIME this #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

PUBLIC HEARING HELD PURSUANT TO THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT this  #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

READ A THIRD TIME this  #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

 
APPROVED PURSUANT TO SECTION 52 OF 
THE TRANSPORTATION ACT this #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

ADOPTED this  #### DAY OF MONTH , YEAR 

 
 
 
 

 
Corporate Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair 

 

145



 
 

SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 
   

TO:  Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018    

AUTHOR:  Yuli Siao, Senior Planner 

SUBJECT: POTENTIAL FOR A TEMPORARY MOVABLE SMALL HOME PILOT PROJECT IN RURAL 
AREAS 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 

THAT the report titled Potential for a Temporary Movable Small Home Pilot Project in 
Rural Areas be received; 
 
AND THAT a report be provided to the Committee in Q1 2019 with regard to: 
 

a) a pilot project plan to implement temporary use permits for temporary small 
movable homes, proposed to have a duration of three years, focus on auxiliary 
dwellings, and  include a cap of 20 permits per electoral area per year reviewed 
annually; 

 
b) amendments to Zoning Bylaw Nos. 310 and 337 and Procedure and Fees Bylaw 

No. 522; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT this report be referred to SCRD Advisory Planning Commissions 
and Vancouver Coastal Health for comment. 

BACKGROUND 

The SCRD Board adopted the following recommendation on February 22, 2018: 

075/18  Recommendation No. 2  Temporary Housing Pilot Project Delegation  

 THAT staff report to a Planning and Community Development Committee 
meeting in Q3 2018 with regards to the potential for a Temporary Movable Small 
Home Pilot Project in Rural Areas. 

This report analyzes different aspects of this proposal and potential impacts on the SCRD’s land 
use planning, service and operation, and recommends an approach to implement the proposed 
pilot project to be further developed for implementation. 

DISCUSSION 

A proposal for a temporary housing pilot project was presented to the Board through a 
delegation on February 8, 2018 (Attachment A). The proponent requested the SCRD to 
consider a pilot project for issuing temporary use permits for small movable homes as 
secondary dwellings on residential parcels. This type of home could include recreational 
vehicles (RV), mobile homes, small, movable and habitable structures known as tiny homes, or 
other similar structures.  

ANNEX F

146



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Potential for a Temporary Movable Small Home Pilot Project in Rural Areas Page 2 of 6 
 

 
2018-SEP-6 PCD Report Temporary Movable Small Home Pilot Project 

The intent of the pilot project as proposed is to: 

• provide an option to help address the affordable housing challenge on the Sunshine 
Coast; 

• test the feasibility and impact of this type of housing on rural areas; 

• obtain feedback from the community; and  

• help to shape possible permanent policies and regulations.   

In response to this proposal, the following sections provide an overview of potential implications 
of such a project on SCRD’s policies, regulations, services and operations and a potential 
strategy to implement the project.  

Potential to Provide Affordable Housing  

This proposal arose from the urgent need for affordable housing on the Sunshine Coast. It is 
one of many possible solutions to the housing challenges discussed in recent community 
consultations on housing, particularly within a series of public information meetings conducted 
by the SCRD regarding Official Community Plan (OCP) policies to support the development of 
affordable housing. A past staff report indicates that there are a substantial number of 
residential parcels eligible for building an additional dwelling. Secondary dwellings offer the 
potential to improve housing affordability for both home owners and renters. However, the cost 
to build a conventional dwelling can be high. A prefabricated tiny home, mobile home or 
recreational vehicle may be a more affordable solution. The cost of these small structures is 
substantially lower than a permanent dwelling, and they are movable and relatively easy to set 
up. They can provide a quick, inexpensive and temporary housing solution. The small, movable 
and low-cost nature of these structures also make them suitable for a pilot project to test 
whether or not this type of housing can be a viable solution for providing affordable housing, as 
well as its feasibility, acceptance in the community and impact on infrastructure and the rural 
environment.   

Testing Potential Zoning Regulations 

During the community consultation on policies to support affordable housing, the minimum 
dwelling building width (6m) required in some zones, such as the R1 zone was identified as one 
of the technical barriers for constructing smaller, more affordable houses, especially as auxiliary 
dwellings. Most tiny homes have a width less than 6m and therefore not permitted as a dwelling 
unless a development variance permit is granted. A pilot project for temporary infill tiny homes 
could allow this type of housing without a development variance permit, and can gather 
information on how it can integrate with the neighbourhood. 

The focus of the pilot project is for the infill of an individual tiny home as an auxiliary dwelling on 
individual parcels, rather than cluster development of multiple tiny homes on a single parcel. 
Cluster housing development will require different zoning regulations and different criteria on 
layout, design, utility and infrastructure, and therefore is beyond the recommended scope of the 
project. Lessons from the pilot project may be applied to future cluster-style applications or 
research projects. 

  

147



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Potential for a Temporary Movable Small Home Pilot Project in Rural Areas Page 3 of 6 
 

 
2018-SEP-6 PCD Report Temporary Movable Small Home Pilot Project 

Building Bylaw Implications 

SCRD Building Bylaw 687 allows the issuance of a building permit for a prefabricated small 
structure like a tiny home, as long as it is set on a permanent foundation, meets Building Code 
requirements, and complies with the zoning bylaw.  

Bylaw 687 also allows issuing temporary building permits for temporary buildings or travel 
trailers (such as RVs) without a permanent foundation for a period of up to 12 months. Such 
permits may be renewed up to four times for a maximum of five years in total. The buildings and 
structures proposed by the pilot project are considered temporary buildings and therefore these 
provisions of Bylaw 687 can accommodate these structures if they also comply with any other 
applicable regulations of the Bylaw, the BC Building Code and the zoning bylaw. 

Potential Implications for Infrastructure and Servicing 

Where an auxiliary or secondary dwelling is permitted within the zoning bylaw, the type of 
building (either conventional built or prefabricated) for such a dwelling makes no significant 
difference in the dwelling’s demand for water supply, drainage, sewage treatment, waste 
disposal, fire protection, electricity, transportation, and other utilities and services. Instead, the 
size and number of infill dwellings and the number of occupants will drive the demand for these 
services. If a tiny home pilot project generates a great number of temporary infill dwellings within 
a short period of time, then it may have an impact on servicing and infrastructure.  

Potential Implications for Sewage Disposal and Drinking Water 

Vancouver Coastal Health (VCH) provided a letter of support for the pilot project subject to a 
number of considerations. VCH recommends that a tie-in to an existing sewerage system with 
appropriate modifications for increase in capacity is the best solution in dealing with sewage 
disposal of the infill home. Where an on-site sewerage disposal system is inappropriate due to 
site conditions, VCH accepts installation of a holding tank on a case by case basis and subject 
to filing of a maintenance contract. Drinking water must be provided from either a permitted 
water system (e.g. SCRD water system) or a private well or surface water source with granted 
license for the use for the removable home or the entire property. 

Potential Implications for SCRD Staff Resources 

The small home pilot project will result in an increase in the issuance of temporary use permits 
and potentially bylaw compliance requests related to this type of housing in the community, and 
thus increase demand for SCRD staffing resource in processing permits, investigating 
complaints, enforcing conditions of the permits and monitoring the progress of the project.  

Potential Implementation Strategy 

Temporary Use Permit 

A temporary use permit is a regulatory tool authorized by the Local Government Act to allow a 
use that is not permitted by a zoning bylaw on a temporary basis. A temporary use permit may 
specify the conditions under which the temporary use may be carried on. An official community 
plan or a zoning bylaw may designate areas where temporary uses may be allowed.  

148



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Potential for a Temporary Movable Small Home Pilot Project in Rural Areas Page 4 of 6 
 

 
2018-SEP-6 PCD Report Temporary Movable Small Home Pilot Project 

Based on the above analysis, there is a potential to apply temporary use permits as a tool to 
facilitate a pilot project.  

In order for the project to proceed, Bylaws 310 and 337 must be amended to designate 
temporary use permit areas specifically for temporary small infill homes, and include specific 
terms and conditions for the use.    

To ensure that the temporary dwellings meet the goals of the project and technical 
requirements, the following specific provisions for the temporary use permit may be considered: 

• Create and define a brief and easily understood term specifically for temporary movable 
small homes that are proposed in the pilot project. The term “tiny home” is 
recommended, as it captures the essence of this type of structure and has been widely 
used and understood.   

• Only one tiny home is permitted on a parcel where more than one dwelling is permitted 
and the tiny home counts towards the maximum total number of permitted dwellings. 

• A width less than 6m for a tiny home is permitted. 

• A building permit or a temporary building permit must have been granted for the tiny 
home. 

• If the tiny home is to be placed within a development permit area, a development permit 
must have been granted for the tiny home.  

• Approval from VCH must have been granted on sewerage system or holding tank and 
drinking water system. 

• The tiny home must not be used for short-term vacation rental or tourist accommodation 
purposes. 

• The tiny home should be intended to provide an affordable housing choice for property 
owners and renters. 

• The tiny home must comply with all other applicable provisions of the zoning bylaw. 

• A fee must be paid for processing the permit application regardless whether or not it will 
be approved.  

• A deposit must be paid to incentivize the removal of the tiny home at the end of the 
permit term. 

Procedures and Fees Bylaw  

To implement temporary use permits, the Planning and Development Procedures and Fees 
Bylaw 522 is also recommended for amendment to include provisions for fees, deposits, 
application procedures and approval conditions. Staff would prepare recommended application 
fees as part of proposing bylaw amendments. 

149



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Potential for a Temporary Movable Small Home Pilot Project in Rural Areas Page 5 of 6 
 

 
2018-SEP-6 PCD Report Temporary Movable Small Home Pilot Project 

Monitoring 

As discussed in above sections, monitoring is critical to this pilot project. Monitoring will be 
carried out, especially by the building, planning, bylaw enforcement and infrastructure divisions. 
Information will be gathered with respect to the allocation pattern of permits, demographics of 
participants, complaints, change in water usage, community feedback, and so forth. SCRD can 
also invite housing experts and stakeholders to participate in community consultation and 
monitoring efforts.    

Managing the Scale 

Staff recommend an incremental approach in implementing the project while carefully 
monitoring the impacts and public reception. The SCRD should establish a cap for the number 
of permits that can be issued. The project should begin with a small cap, such as 20 permits per 
electoral area per year. Based on the initial result of project monitoring and assessment of 
impact on SCRD infrastructure and servicing, the cap can be gradually adjusted. It is 
recommended that any pilot project be limited to a 3-year term. An annual report on the project 
should be provided to the Board for review and direction. At the end of the project term, based 
on monitoring result and feedback, the Board can terminate the project, or make further 
decisions on specific provisions and potential regulations for small movable homes.     

Public Participation 

The pilot project plan should be refined through a public participation process. This is 
recommended to include referrals Advisory Planning Commissions, the Sunshine Coast 
Housing Committee and Vancouver Coastal Health to refine project parameters. As part of the 
bylaw amendment process, referral of specific amendments to agencies and Advisory Planning 
Commissions would occur, and public information meeting(s) and public hearing(s) would take 
place related to amending the zoning bylaws. 

Organizational and Intergovernmental Implications  

If the pilot project is implemented, it may have implications for SCRD infrastructure and 
servicing, and on external agencies as discussed in this report. Staff will monitor the 
implications and include the results in project reporting.  

Financial Implications 

If the pilot project is implemented, it may have financial implications on SCRD infrastructure and 
servicing. These will be reviewed and reported annually. 

Timeline for next steps or estimated completion date  

If the Board decides to proceed with the recommendation of this report, the processes for bylaw 
amendments related to the project will proceed for first reading in Q1 2019.   

Communications Strategy 

If the Board decides to proceed with the recommendation of this report, a communication 
strategy will be prepared. 

150



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 
Potential for a Temporary Movable Small Home Pilot Project in Rural Areas Page 6 of 6 
 

 
2018-SEP-6 PCD Report Temporary Movable Small Home Pilot Project 

 
STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

The following SCRD Strategic Plan objectives and success indicators relate to the subject of 
this report: 

• Collaborate with community groups and organizations to support their objectives and 
capacity. 

• Land use policies and regulations are supporting affordable housing. 
 
The subject of this report is also aligned with the following land use principles of the Regional 
Sustainability Plan: ‘We Envision’ for the Sunshine Coast: 

We envision complete, compact, low environmental-impact communities based on energy-
efficient transportation and settlement patterns. 

CONCLUSION 

In response to the proposal for a temporary small movable home pilot project, this report 
analyzes various aspects of the proposal and their implications for the SCRD. It is feasible to 
implement this project and the basic parameters for project design and an implementation 
strategy are provided for consideration.  
 
On Board direction, staff will report to a Committee in Q1 2019 with a pilot project plan to 
implement temporary use permits for temporary small movable homes and amendments to 
Zoning Bylaw Nos. 310 and 337 and Procedure and Fees Bylaw No. 522. 
 
The pilot project is recommended to be 3 years, focus on temporary small movable homes as 
auxiliary dwellings and include a cap of 20 permits per electoral area per year. These 
recommendations will be refined through the public participation process.  
 
Attachments 
 
Attachment A – Temporary Housing Solution – Pilot Project Proposal 
 
 

Reviewed by: 
Manager X – A. Allen Finance  
GM X – I. Hall Legislative  
CAO X – J. Loveys Other  

 

151



Temporary Housing Solution - Pilot Project Proposal 

Submitted by Pam Robertson 

This proposal was created through the process of the LEAP program sponsored by 
Community Futures. I entered the program with the intention to source out a viable way to 
build a tiny house community specifically to aid in the housing crisis. There were many twist 
and turns but in the process this idea was born. The end of the program required us to deliver 
our ideas to the community. I believe that there is an appetite for this kind of a pilot project, as 
evidenced by the selection of my work as the “People’s Choice” award that I received at the 
LEAP Launch 2018 event. 

This proposal is presented as a possible temporary solution for the housing crisis on the 
Sunshine Coast. This is a pilot project requesting that the SCRD consider issuing a
specific Temporary Use Permit allowing property owners the ability to have a temporary 
secondary home, subject to existing Land Use policies. The temporary secondary home 
will include recreational vehicles or small temporary mobile/relocatable and Micro housing 
structures built to applicable regulatory standards and building codes. For example, RV tiny 
houses (built to CSA Z240 RV specifications), Park Models (built to CSA Z241 specifications), 
shipping containers or buildings on skids.  

This is a request for a pilot project created with consideration to the SCRD’s staff’s recent 
review showing the 90% underutilized properties that are zoned for a secondary dwelling. This 
represents approximately 2200 properties in the regional district rural areas, and there are 
many more eligible properties outside of these areas, which have the capacity to 
accommodate a temporary secondary dwelling. In community discussions the question of how 
to incentivize Smart Growth-oriented infill building has come up repeatedly, given current 
building costs. I believe this pilot would encourage that. We are asking that the Temporary Use 
Permit be in effect for a period of three to four years. This will give a substantial time frame for 
assessments to be created, monitored and reviewed, to determine the successes or any 
setbacks of the project.  

This project will provide property owners, the ability to have a properly licensed and certified 
Recreational Vehicle or an equivalent mobile building set up on their property. This will give 
opportunity to have a trial period of a secondary dwelling, to determine the decision to move 
forward in the future to a permanent structure, or with the opportunity for neighbor input, renew 
the Temporary Use Permit. This is an immediate temporary solution for displaced members of 
the community, which can accommodate them during the wait period for the municipalities to 
decide on and to construct more permanent housing solutions. It also is a safety net for 
displaced people, preventing homelessness.  

Potential considerations could include insulating the unit from the Short-Term Rental market 
through the TUP stipulations or other means, as well as ensuring the units meet existing 
density, setback and other Official Community Plan or Bylaw regulations. 

Attachment A

152



This pilot project will hopefully remove the “underground” building and RV residences that are 
rampant across the Sunshine Coast and will protect the property owners and the occupants 
and neighbors of these illegal dwellings. This will also ease some of the stress associated with 
having an illegal RV or other type of unauthorized dwelling that exists right now, potentially 
alleviating some of the metal health risks of unstable housing situations, putting the community 
at peace. 

This would also require a permit issued by VCH allowing a septic solution for the temporary 
housing. Attached to this information page is the letter from the Vancouver Coastal Health 
Authority giving its support for this pilot project 

The primary implementation of a temporary housing septic installation, will be to create a RV 
hook up to the existing septic field. These will be assessed and signed off by a qualified 
engineer, thus eliminating the need for a separate septic field. This will all be assessed prior to 
the permit application, to determine the needs of the property and placement of the temporary 
housing. Should the temporary housing need to be placed in a location that is not conducive to 
connecting to the existing septic, it will need a temporary holding tank. 

The manufactured fiberglass holding tank will be installed by a knowledgeable septic 
installation company. There will be a contract drafted and signed between the holding tank 
installation company and the property owner and the holding tank will be included in a 
scheduled waste removal system. 

On completion of the pilot project, if the outcome is favorable and there is a permanent 
allowance of these temporary secondary dwellings, the holding tanks will be converted into 
approved (engineered) septic field systems. If the outcome is unfavorable, and will not proceed 
into a permanent situation, the holding tanks will be removed by the responsible installation 
company. This will be included in the original contract.  

It will be only a matter of time before the government embraces the tiny house movement. 
There have been other municipalities who are close to recognizing tiny or micro homes, and 
are infilling their urban areas with them. It would be great to have this in place, thus having a 
proactive approach to what has become a North American wide issue. I have included below, 
some information about provinces and states who are close to accepting RV tiny homes and 
Micro homes as full-time residences.  

http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/newfoundland-labrador/tiny-home-subdivision-stephenville-
1.4480928  

http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/newfoundland-labrador/tiny-home-subdivision-stephenville-
1.4480928  

http://www.oregon.gov/bcd/committees/Pages/hb2737.aspx 

It is requested that the staff report back at the next planning and development committee 
meeting, and that this be viewed as an urgent matter, moving towards the next piece of the 
affordable housing spectrum. Thank you for your consideration and I look forward to the 
opportunity to discuss this with you at your committee meeting. 

153

http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/newfoundland-labrador/tiny-home-subdivision-stephenville-1.4480928
http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/newfoundland-labrador/tiny-home-subdivision-stephenville-1.4480928
http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/newfoundland-labrador/tiny-home-subdivision-stephenville-1.4480928
http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/newfoundland-labrador/tiny-home-subdivision-stephenville-1.4480928
http://www.oregon.gov/bcd/committees/Pages/hb2737.aspx


Sechelt Public Health 
PO Box 1040 5571 Inlet 
Sechelt, BC V0N3A0 
PH: (604) 885-5164 
Fax: (604) 885-9725 

Pamela Robertson 
PR Housing Solutions & Robertson Safety Solutions 
748 Creekside Crescent 
Gibsons, BC V0N1V9 

RE: Letter of Support for Housing Infill Proposal and Sewage Considerations 

Ms. Robertson: 

Our office has received your request for a letter of support for your pilot project to allow housing infill in 
areas of the SCRD zoned for a second dwelling.  I can offer the following comments: 

Housing as a Social Determinant of Health 

VCH has already provided comment on the importance of diverse housing options for communities. Using 
existing zoning bylaw structures and lowering barriers for homeowners to access this opportunity is an 
effective way to promote an increase in density.  This has been identified by the recent SCRD OCP bylaw 
amendment. 

Providing diverse housing options and tenure types is known to have a positive impact on general physical 
and mental health in a variety of ways.  Specifically, by increasing the availability of small, affordable housing 
units, the Regional District can help serve vulnerable populations in the region. 

During the development of criteria for these housing units, VCH recommends that the proposed housing 
units: 

- Are used for long term tenants only.
- Are constructed from quality, high-efficiency materials and fixtures.
- Are available at the low-mid range of market value.
- Are subject to SCRD Building Inspection.

Sewage Disposal 

VCH recommends that on-site sewerage disposal systems be installed with these units wherever possible.  A 
tie-in to an existing sewerage system with appropriate modifications for increase in capacity is the best 
solution for this proposal.  This work must be completed in accordance with the Sewerage System 
Regulation (SSR) by an Authorized Person as defined by Section 7 of the Regulation. 

In the event that an on-site sewerage disposal system is deemed inappropriate, VCH will accept applications 
for the installation of a holding tank on a case by case basis.  The criteria in the VCH Holding Tank 
guideline apply.  The application must also include: 

- A maintenance plan, including frequency of pumping and maintenance provider.
- A signed and sealed letter from a qualified sewerage professional or engineer stating that the

circumstances do not support installation of a Type 1, 2, or 3 sewerage system or connection to
an existing system.

- A proposed date when the holding tank will be removed from service.  If the housing
arrangement is to continue, the dwelling will be converted to an on-site sewerage system in
accordance with the process outlined in the SSR.

154



Sechelt Public Health 
PO Box 1040 5571 Inlet 
Sechelt, BC V0N3A0 
PH: (604) 885-5164 
Fax: (604) 885-9725 

Drinking Water 

Drinking water must be provided from an approved source.  This includes a permitted water system (ie. 
SCRD water system) or a dedicated source serving only the housing unit (ie. a private well or surface water 
supply).  Disinfection is recommended for all surface sources.  Suggestions and recommendations for 
private water supplies can be given upon request. 

VCH supports this pilot project given the above noted considerations.  We look forward to working with 
you in the future. 

If you have any questions regarding this letter, please contact the undersigned. 

Sincerely, 

Chris Morse, C.P.H.I.(C) 
Environmental Health Officer 
Vancouver Coastal Health 
604-885-8701

155



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 

AUTHOR: Yuli Siao, Senior Planner 

SUBJECT: PROVINCIAL REFERRAL CRN00061 FOR A PRIVATE MOORAGE (SOLBERG HILLS) – 
ELECTORAL AREA A 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. THAT the report titled Provincial Referral CRN00061 for a Private Moorage (Solberg
Hills) – Electoral Area A  be received;

2. AND THAT the following comments be forwarded to the Ministry of Forests, Lands,
Natural Resource Operations, and Rural Development:

Subject to the following conditions, the Sunshine Coast Regional District has no
objection to the proposed private moorage fronting District Lot 3049 Group 1 New
Westminster District, Provincial Referral Number 2401681:

a. SCRD will require a building permit and/or a development variance permit if any
structures are to be constructed to access the moorage facility.

b. Any eelgrass beds in or near the tenure area should be identified and protected.

c. Water quality should not be impacted by maintenance or construction activities,
materials, or fuel storage.

d. Public access to the tenure area should be maintained for shellfish harvesting, as 
well as for recreational boating and emergency refuge. Docks and associated
tenure area should be designed to maintain public access along the foreshore
and emergency refuge.

e. The proponent should implement both Provincial and shíshálh Nation’s Best
Management Practices for building and maintaining moorage facilities and in
particular the most stringent of any overlapping policy to protect the foreshore
ecosystems.

f. The proponent should ensure that shíshálh Nation is consulted regarding
archaeological potential in the application area and that all work undertaken
comply with the Heritage Conservation Act.

g. The applicant is encouraged to not use polystyrene in any components of the
moorage facility in future upgrade or maintenance.

3. AND THAT comments of the SCRD Natural Resource Advisory Committee and the
Egmont / Pender Harbour Advisory Planning Commission be provided to the
Ministry;

4. AND FURTHER THAT the recommendation be forwarded to the Regular Board
meeting of September 6, 2018.

ANNEX G

156



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral CRN00061 for a Private Moorage (Solberg Hills) – 
Electoral Area A  Page 2 of 5 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report CRN00061 Private moorage (Solberg Hills) 

BACKGROUND  

The SCRD received a Provincial referral from the Ministry of Forests, Lands, Natural Resource 
Operations and Rural Development (FLNRORD) to renew the tenure of occupation for an 
existing private moorage. The moorage fronts District Lot 3049 Group 1 New Westminster 
District (referred to as the upland parcel), located on the northeast side of Skookumchuck 
Narrows, approximately 4 km southeast of Egmont (Figures 1 & 2). The referral package can be 
found in Attachment A. A location map and a plan of the moorage and an application summary 
are provided below.  

The purpose of this report is to provide an analysis of the proposal and recommend a response 
to FLNRORD.  

Figure 1 – Location Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

upland 
parcel 

moorage 
location 

N 

157



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral CRN00061 for a Private Moorage (Solberg Hills) – 
Electoral Area A  Page 3 of 5 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report CRN00061 Private moorage (Solberg Hills) 

Figure 2 – Moorage Facility Plan 

 

Table 1 - Application Summary 

Owner / Applicant:  Solberg Hills Estates Ltd 

Purpose: Private moorage 

Tenure Type: License of occupation renewal 

Size: 0.39 ha 

Location: Southeast of Egmont, on the Northeast side of Skookumchuck Narrows 

Legal Description: fronting District Lot 3049 Group 1 New Westminster District (upland parcel) 

Electoral Area: A – Egmont  / Pender Harbour 

OCP Land Use: Rural Resource for upland parcel 

Land Use Zone: RU2 (Rural Two) for upland parcel 

Comment deadline: September 15, 2018 

 
DISCUSSION 

Analysis 

The upland parcel of the moorage is designated as Rural Resource land use in the Egmont / 
Pender Harbour Official Community Plan (OCP). The foreshore on which the proposed moorage 
is located is not zoned. The upland parcel fronting the moorage is zoned RU2 within Zoning 

158



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral CRN00061 for a Private Moorage (Solberg Hills) – 
Electoral Area A  Page 4 of 5 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report CRN00061 Private moorage (Solberg Hills) 

Bylaw 337 which is a rural resource zone that permits residential, agricultural, campground, 
storage, manufacturing and other rural uses.   

The upland parcel has long served as a logging camp. The existing dock is for boat and float 
plane access only. It provides access to the upland parcel. Except for regular maintenance of 
the dock and upgrade of the fuel facility, the owner plans no expansion or alteration of the 
existing facility.  

SCRD mapping does not indicate any eelgrass beds in the vicinity. Any eelgrass beds in or near 
the tenure area should be identified and protected. A baseline marine biological assessment of 
the dock facilities was completed. The assessment indicates that the existing dock has no 
adverse impacts on the marine habitat. 

According to the applicant’s project management plan, as the dock is also used as a fueling 
station, float planes and boats will follow standard fueling procedures and minimize idling. Fuel 
containment and storage will mitigate fuel leakage and spills. Spill kits are located on the dock.  

The surrounding areas of the site are identified as the Skookumchuck Narrows Cultural 
Emphasis Area in the Strategic Land Use Plan for the shíshálh Nation. Consultation with 
shíshálh Nation is underway through the moorage application process with the province. 
Comments or concerns received from the shíshálh Nation should be addressed prior to 
Provincial approval of the application.  

A preliminary archaeological field survey was completed on the application area. As no 
upgrades to the existing structures are planned, further investigations are not recommended by 
the archaeologist. However, any modifications, excavations to the foreshore and marine 
environment will require an archeological assessment and on-site monitoring during any 
excavation work within the application area. The proponent should also consult the shíshálh 
Nation with respect to archaeological potential in the area and ensure all activities undertaken 
comply with the Heritage Conservation Act. 

The shíshálh Nation Best Management Practices for moorage facilities are applicable to this 
area and should be implemented for this moorage facility.  

The Regional District will also require a building permit and/or a development variance permit if 
any structures are to be constructed to access the moorage facility.   

Options 

The Province requests SCRD to decide on one of the following options in response to the 
referral:  

1. Interests unaffected 
2. No objection to approval of project 
3. No objection to approval of project subject to conditions 
4. Recommend refusal of project due to reasons 

Staff recommend Option 3, subject to comments outlined in the Recommendations. 

Consultation 

159



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral CRN00061 for a Private Moorage (Solberg Hills) – 
Electoral Area A  Page 5 of 5 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report CRN00061 Private moorage (Solberg Hills) 

The Province referred this application to First Nations, SCRD and other agencies it identifies as 
appropriate. The applicant is responsible for advertising the application in a local paper to 
enable comments from the public. 

The proposal will be referred to the Natural Resource Advisory Committee (NRAC) and the 
Egmont / Pender Harbour Advisory Planning Commission for review. Comments from these 
agencies will be forwarded to the Province. 

Timeline for Next Steps 

The Province extended the deadline to comment on this application to September 15, 2018 in 
order to obtain an SCRD Board Resolution. The Resolution will be forwarded to FLNRORD and 
final decision will be made by the Province.  

Recommendations from this report must be forwarded to the Regular Board meeting on 
September 6, 2018 in order to meet the extended deadline.  

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

The following SCRD Strategic Plan objectives and success indicators relate to the subject of 
this report: 

• Create and use an “environmental lens” for planning, policy development, service 
delivery and monitoring. 

CONCLUSION 

The SCRD was provided an opportunity to comment on a Provincial referral to renew an 
exsiting private moorage permit in the Skookumchuck Narrows area. The proposal was 
analyzed against applicable SCRD policies, bylaws and regulations. The proposal is found to 
have no perceivable negative impact on SCRD land use and services.  

Staff recommend that SCRD respond to the Province with the option that the SCRD has no 
objection to the project subject to conditions identified in this report and that this 
recommendation be forwarded to the Regular Board meeting on Septebmer 6, 2018.  

Attachments 

Attachment A – Referral Package  

 Reviewed by: 
Manager X- A. Allen Finance  
GM X- I. Hall Legislative  
CAO X- J. Loveys Other  

160



Tracking Number: 100211361  |  Version 1.1  |  Submitted Date: Jun 26, 2017 Page 1 of 5

Crown Land Tenure Application
Tracking Number: 100211361

Application Information
If approved, will the authorization be issued to
 an Individual or Company/Organization?

Company/Organization

What is your relationship to the
company/organization?

Consultant

APPLICANT COMPANY/ORGANIZATION CONTACT INFORMATION
Applicant is an Individual or an Organization to whom this authorization Permit/Tenure/Licence will be issued, if approved.

Name: Solberg Hills Estates Ltd
Doing Business As: Solberg Hills Estates Ltd
Phone: 480-831-2000
Fax: 480-893-1604
Email: judy@wholdings.com
BC Incorporation Number: 0649950 BC Ltd
Extra Provincial Inc. No:
Society Number:
GST Registration Number: 861164861
Contact Name: Judy Windisch or Richard Maes
Mailing Address: 109-1121 Warner  Road W

Tempe AZ  85284
USA

CONSULTANT INFORMATION
Please enter the contact information of the Individual/Organization who is acting on behalf of the applicant.

Name: CHARTWELL CONSULTANTS LTD.
Doing Business As:
Phone: 604-973-1117
Fax:
Email: whansen@chartwell-consultants.com
BC Incorporation Number:
Extra Provincial Inc. No: North Vancouver
Society Number:
GST Registration Number:
Contact Name: Warren Hansen
Mailing Address: 210-275 Fell Avenue

North Vancouver BC  V7P 3R5
Letter(s) Attached: Yes (Warren Hansen Letter of Agency Solberg.pdf)

CORRESPONDENCE E-MAIL ADDRESS
If you would like to receive correspondence at a different email address than shown above, please provide the correspondence email
address here.  If left blank, all correspondence will be sent to the above given email address.

Email: whansen@chartwell-consultants.com
Contact Name: Warren Hansen

ELIGIBILITY

Question Answer Warning
Do all applicants and co-applicants meet the eligibility criteria

for the appropriate category as listed below?

Applicants and/or co-applicants who are Individuals must:
1. be 19 years of age or older and
2. must be Canadian citizens or permanent residents of

Yes

Attachment A

161

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight



Tracking Number: 100211361  |  Version 1.1  |  Submitted Date: Jun 26, 2017 Page 2 of 5

Canada. (Except if you are applying for a Private Moorage)

Applicants and/or co-applicants who are Organizations must
either:

1. be incorporated or registered in British Columbia
(Corporations also include registered partnerships,
cooperatives, and non-profit societies which are formed
under the relevant Provincial statutes) or

2. First Nations who can apply through Band corporations or
Indian Band and Tribal Councils (Band or Tribal Councils
require a Band Council Resolution).

TECHNICAL INFORMATION
Please provide us with the following general information about you and your application:

EXISTING TENURE DETAILS

Do you hold another Crown Land Tenure? No

ALL SEASONS RESORTS
The All Seasons Resorts Program serves to support the development of Alpine Ski and non-ski resorts on Crown land. For more detailed
information on this program please see the operational policy and if you have further questions please contact FrontCounter BC.

Are you applying within an alpine ski resort? No

WHAT IS YOUR INTENDED USE OF CROWN LAND?
Use the "Add Purpose" button to select a proposed land use from the drop down menu.
If you wish to use Crown land for a short term, low impact activity you may not need to apply for tenure, you may be authorized under
the Permissions policy or Private Moorage policy.
To determine if your use is permissible under the Land Act please refer to either the Land Use Policy - Permissions or Land Use Policy -
Private Moorage located here.

Purpose Tenure Period
Private Moorage
Private moorage tenure renewal for
Solberg Estates - dock is existing and
was under Tenure number #240602
but has since lapsed

Lease More than thirty years

ACCESS TO CROWN LAND

Please describe how you plan to access your
proposed crown land from the closest public
road:

Dock is existing on the ocean and is boat and float plane access only

PRIVATE MOORAGE
Private Moorage is the allocation of aquatic Crown land (inland and coastal) for private moorage facilities such as a dock or float.
Moorage facilities for group or strata title/ condominium developments of  over three berths are administered under the provisions of
the Residential program where they have no related commercial facilities (e.g. gas bars) and are intended for private use of tenants.
Group moorage with commercial activities are administered under the Marina program.

Specific Purpose: Private moorage tenure renewal for Solberg Estates - dock is existing and was
under Tenure number #240602 but has since lapsed

Period: More than thirty years
Tenure: Lease

MOORING BUOY
Is this only for a mooring buoy for private
moorage?

No

TOTAL APPLICATION AREA

162



Tracking Number: 100211361  |  Version 1.1  |  Submitted Date: Jun 26, 2017 Page 3 of 5

Please give us some information on the size of the area you are applying for.
Please specify the area: .39 hectares

PROJECT DETAILS
Please provide us with further details on your dock.

Is the water freshwater or marine? Marine
Are you proposing 4 or more slips? No
Are you applying on behalf of a Strata
corporation?

No

Are you the waterfront upland owner? Yes
Are you planning to sell gas at the proposed
marina?

No

SECTION 11 WATER AUTHORIZATION
You may also require a Section 11 Water Sustainability Act authorization.

Is this application for an existing structure? Yes

Are you working in the water (replacing
pylons, moving structures, etc.)?

No

IMPORTANT CONSIDERATIONS
Selecting yes to any of the following questions may indicate that you will require further or additional authorizations under the Land Act
or other legislation.

Is your proposed activity within the Kootenay Region? No

Is your proposed activity within the Okanagan, Kalamalka and
Wood Lakes, Skaha Lake, Vaseux Lake, or Christina Lake areas?

No

Is your proposed activity within the Shuswap, Mara, Mable, or Little
Shuswap Lake areas?

No

ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS
In many cases you might require other authorizations or permits in order to complete your project. In order to make that determination
and point you in the right direction please answer the questions below. In addition, your application may be referred to other agencies
for comments.

Is the Applicant or any Co-Applicant or their Spouse(s) an employee
of the Provincial Government of British Columbia?

No

Are you planning to cut timber on the Crown Land you are applying
for?

No

Are you planning to use an open fire to burn timber or other
materials?

No

Do you want to transport heavy equipment or materials on an
existing forest road?

No

Are you planning to work in or around water? Unknown
1. If you will be working in or around fresh water, you will require a Water Sustainability Act Change Approval or
Notification from the Province.2. The federal Department of Fisheries and Oceans might need to review your
project.3. Review the Transport Canada website if the Navigation Protection Act applies.

Does your operation fall within a park area? No

163



Tracking Number: 100211361  |  Version 1.1  |  Submitted Date: Jun 26, 2017 Page 4 of 5

LOCATION INFORMATION

LAND DETAILS

Please provide information on the location and shape of your Crown land application area. You can use one or more of the tools
provided.

 I will upload a PDF, JPG or other digital file(s)
MAP FILES

Your PDF, JPG or other digital file must show your application area in relation to nearby communities, highways, railways or other land
marks.

Description Filename Purpose
General Location Map - 1:100000 Dock_100000_Location.pdf Private Moorage

 I will upload files created from a Geographic Information System (GIS)
SPATIAL FILES

Do you have a spatial file from your GIS system? You can upload it here.

NOTE:  If uploading a .shp, please ensure that it is a polygon that has been projected in BC Albers in NAD83 format.

Description Filename Purpose
Shapefile of dock application area Application Shape_Dock_V2_J... Private Moorage

Shapefile of dock application area Application Shape_Dock_V2_J... Private Moorage

Shapefile of dock application area Application Shape_Dock_V2_J... Private Moorage

Shapefile of dock application area Application Shape_Dock_V2_J... Private Moorage

ATTACHED DOCUMENTS

Document Type Description Filename
General Location Map General Overview Map Dock_100000_Location.pdf

Management Plan Management Plan Rev B June 20, 2017 Solberg Estates Ltd Dock Ap...

Other Habitat baseline assessment (FSCI Biological) Earle Creek Letter (2017062...

Side Profile Site Survey Ortho Overlay (no side profile needed as
existing dock)

Dock Ortho with Site Plan.pdf

Site Photographs Photo1 IMG_0488.JPG

Site Photographs Photo2 IMG_0470.JPG

Site Plan Site Location Map Dock_1000_Site Location Map...

Site Plan Site Survey Dock DL3049 Site Survey Map...

164



Tracking Number: 100211361  |  Version 1.1  |  Submitted Date: Jun 26, 2017 Page 5 of 5

PRIVACY DECLARATION

 Check here to indicate that you have read and agree to the privacy declaration stated above.
REFERRAL INFORMATION

Some applications may also be passed on to other agencies, ministries or other affected parties for referral or consultation purposes. A
referral or notification is necessary when the approval of your application might affect someone else's rights or resources or those of
the citizens of BC. An example of someone who could receive your application for referral purposes is a habitat officer who looks after
the fish and wildlife in the area of your application. This does not apply to all applications and is done only when required.

Please enter contact information below for the person who would best answer questions about your application that may arise from
anyone who received a referral or notification.

Company / Organization: Chartwell Consultants Ltd
Contact Name: Warren Hansen, RPF
Contact Address: 210-275 Fell Ave

North Vancouver, BC
V7P 3R5

Contact Phone: 604-973-1117
Contact Email: whansen@chartwell-consultants.com

 I hereby consent to the disclosure of the information contained in this application to other agencies, government ministries or
other affected parties for referral or First Nation consultation purposes.

IMPORTANT NOTICES

 Once you click 'Next' the application will be locked down and you will NOT be able to edit it any more.
DECLARATION
 By submitting this application form, I, declare that the information contained on this  form is complete and accurate.

APPLICATION AND ASSOCIATED FEES

Item Amount Taxes Total Outstanding Balance
Crown Land Tenure Application Fee $250.00 GST @ 5%: $12.50 $262.50 $0.00
OFFICE

Office to submit application to: Surrey

PROJECT INFORMATION

Is this application for an activity or project which
requires more than one natural resource
authorization from the Province of BC?

No

APPLICANT SIGNATURE
Applicant Signature Date

OFFICE USE ONLY
Office

Surrey
File Number Project Number

Disposition ID Client Number

165

jmweymer
Typewritten Text

jmweymer
Typewritten Text
2401681

jmweymer
Typewritten Text
258973

jmweymer
Typewritten Text
930903

jmweymer
Typewritten Text
140768

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight



 
 
 
 

 
SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 

 

DL3049 PRIVATE MOORAGE/ 
DOCK APPLICATION 

 

MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR PRIVATE DOCK APPLICATION for  PERMIT 
NO.: _______   FILE NO.: ______ 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

  

June 20, 2017 

166



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 1 of 20 
June  2017  
 

 

Table of Contents 
1.0 Background ............................................................................................................................................. 3 

1.1 Project Overview ................................................................................................................................. 3 

1.2 Investigative Work .............................................................................................................................. 4 

1.3 Confirmation of Safety Plan ................................................................................................................ 4 

2.0 Location ................................................................................................................................................... 5 

2.1 Description .......................................................................................................................................... 5 

2.2 Location Justification .......................................................................................................................... 5 

2.3 Seasonal Expectations of Use ............................................................................................................. 6 

3.0 Infrastructure and Improvements .......................................................................................................... 6 

3.1 New Facilities and Infrastructure ........................................................................................................ 6 

3.2 Access .................................................................................................................................................. 7 

3.3 Utility Requirements and Sources....................................................................................................... 7 

3.4 Water Supply ....................................................................................................................................... 7 

3.5 Waste Collection Treatment and Disposal .......................................................................................... 7 

4.0 Environmental ......................................................................................................................................... 8 

4.1 Land Impacts ....................................................................................................................................... 8 

4.1.1 Vegetation Removal ..................................................................................................................... 8 

4.1.2 Soil Disturbance ........................................................................................................................... 8 

4.1.3 Riparian Encroachment ................................................................................................................ 8 

4.1.4 Pesticides and Herbicides ............................................................................................................ 9 

4.1.5 Visual Impacts .............................................................................................................................. 9 

4.1.6 Archaeological Sites ..................................................................................................................... 9 

4.1.7 Construction Methods and Materials ........................................................................................ 10 

4.2 Atmospheric Impacts ........................................................................................................................ 10 

4.2.1 Sound, Odor, Gas or Fuel Emissions .......................................................................................... 10 

4.3 Water or Land Covered by Water Impacts ....................................................................................... 12 

167



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 2 of 20 
June  2017  
 

4.3.1 Drainage Effects ......................................................................................................................... 12 

4.3.2 Public Access .............................................................................................................................. 12 

4.3.3 Flood Potential ........................................................................................................................... 12 

4.4 Fish and Wildlife Habitat Impacts ..................................................................................................... 12 

4.4.1 Disturbance to Wildlife and Wildlife Habitat ............................................................................. 12 

5.0 Socio-Community .................................................................................................................................. 15 

5.1 Land Use ............................................................................................................................................ 15 

5.1.1 Land Management Plans and Regional Growth Strategies ........................................................ 18 

5.2 Socio-Community Conditions ............................................................................................................ 18 

5.2.1 Adjacent Users or Communities ................................................................................................ 18 

5.2.2 Existing Services ......................................................................................................................... 18 

5.2.3 First Nations Consultation .......................................................................................................... 19 

6.0  Appendices ...................................................................................................................................... 20 

6.1 Works Cited ................................................................................................................................. 20 

  

  

168



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 3 of 20 
June  2017  
 

 

Management Plan for Private Moorage and Float Plane 
Dock 

1.0 Background 

1.1 Project Overview 
Describe project for which authorization is requested, including construction and/or phased 
development details: 
 

Solberg Hills Estates Ltd is applying for Licence of Occupation for their existing dock and 
facility located on shores of locally named area of Gordondale on the northeast side of 
Skookumchuck Narrows.  The closest community, Egmont, is located approximately 4km 
to the NW of the dock.   
 
This area has long served as a logging camp or boat moorage for good part of the last 
century.  Most recently, the existing dock was held under a Licence of Occupation 
#239824 where the dock facilities received significant upgrading to the fueling facilities, 
steel pilings and gazebos.   The tenure lapsed requiring a new application to be submitted.  
 
Solberg Hills Estates uses the dock for access to their upland interests and continues to 
maintain the dock to prevent a state of disrepair.  Except for regular maintenance, and 
fuel facility upgrades, no major infrastructure that could increase the current footprint is 
planned.   
 

169



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 4 of 20 
June  2017  
 

 
 

1.2 Investigative Work 
If any preliminary investigative work has been carried out, with or without an investigative 
authorization, provide details on work completed, incomplete or on-going from previous 
term. 
 

Activity Brief Description of Activity Status (e.g. Complete; 
Incomplete; Ongoing) 

Comments / 
Milestones 

No activity completed N/A N/A N/A 

 

1.3 Confirmation of Safety Plan 
Your Project must meet the Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) criteria set out by 
WorkSafe BC. Does your Project meet these criteria?   

170



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 5 of 20 
June  2017  
 

Yes: ☒ No: ☐ 

2.0 Location 

2.1 Description 
Provide a general description of the location of the project: 
 

The dock covered under this application is located approximately 4km southeast from the 
community of Egmont and more specifically south of the Sechelt Rapids (Skookumchuck 
Narrows) on the eastern shore of Sechelt Inlet.  The dock facility is boat and float plane 
access only.  
 

 
 

2.2 Location Justification 
Provide your reasons/justification of the need for this type of project at this location: 
 

The dock and facilities are existing providing access to the upland owners of DL 3049 – 
Solberg Hills Estates.  The dock further provides access to BluEarth Utilities to maintain a 
25KV powerline that delivers power from their facilities in Tzoonie River (Tyson Creek 

Dock Application Area 

DL 3049 

171



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 6 of 20 
June  2017  
 

Hydro) to a site near the Lafarge mining operations.  BluEarth relies on the dock for 
contractor access during the construction of a new 134KV power line from the Tyson 
Creek Hydro projects to Ruby Lake.  A portion of this line will be constructed through 
properties owned by Solberg Hills Estates.  Currently there are 10 to 20 workers living at 
the camp and in process of clearing ROW for the 134 KV Transmission line.   
 
The BC Marine Logistic provides first aid and emergency response mooring a boat at the 
dock during the term of the project.   There is a two man crew with an emergency high 
speed boat staged at the camp providing emergency evacuation for any injured worker.  
They are on site 7 days a week, 24 hours a day.   
 
There is no other access to the properties other than boat or float plane.   

2.3 Seasonal Expectations of Use 
When will the Project require use of the land? Include information on key works during 
construction phases as well as operations phase. Please reference reduced risk fish windows 
as required by DFO: 
 

Project Phase (Construction / 
Operations) 

Brief Description of Activity / Works Season 

Operations  
Maintenance works to include fixing the dock 
infrastructure, as needed.  

Ongoing 

3.0 Infrastructure and Improvements 

3.1 New Facilities and Infrastructure 
Detail any new facilities, infrastructure or processes proposed and any ancillary uses. Provide 
details of planned construction methods and materials, and construction scheduling. 
 

Facility/Infrastructure/Process  Construction Methods/Materials  Construction Schedule 
No facility or infrastructure 
planned 
 

  

 

172



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 7 of 20 
June  2017  
 

3.2 Access 
Identify existing and proposed roads used for access and their use by season. Include any 
proposed connections to public or Forest Service Roads; traffic information including volume of 
traffic during construction/operation and phase or season that the traffic is expected: 

Roadway / 
Proposed 

Connection 

Existing / 
Proposed 

Existing Road 
Classification 

Road 
Permittee 

Information 
and Road 

Use 
Agreements 

Traffic Volume 
Mitigation of Traffic 

Effects 
Construction Phase Operations 

Phase 

No Access 
Planned 

      

3.3 Utility Requirements and Sources  
Describe utility requirements and sources, include agreements in place or underway allowing 
access to utilities:  
 
The owners provide walkway lighting on the dock and gangway.  

3.4 Water Supply 
Identify water requirements for construction and operation phases (e.g. surface water and/or 
groundwater), including sources, location, volume and a general description of infrastructure 
planned to meet water supply requirements, include any agreements outside of Water Act 
Authorizations identified above (Section I, Authorizations, Permits or Approvals), such as 
Municipal water supply. 
 

Project Phase 
(Construction / 

Operations) 

Water Requirement (e.g. 
surface water or ground water 

etc.) 

Source / 
Location 

Volume Infrastructure 
Description 

Agreements 

Not Applicable      
 

3.5 Waste Collection Treatment and Disposal 
Identify water requirements for construction and operation phases (e.g. surface water and/or 
groundwater), including: 
 

Project Phase 
(Construction / 

Operations) 

Water Requirement (e.g. 
surface water or ground water 

etc.) 

Source / 
Location 

Volume Infrastructure 
Description 

Agreements 

173



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 8 of 20 
June  2017  
 

Not Applicable      

4.0 Environmental 
Describe any significant impacts and proposed mitigation for the following environmental 
classes: 

4.1 Land Impacts 

4.1.1 Vegetation Removal 
Is any timber removal required?  

Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 
 

Are any areas of vegetation to be cleared, outside of timber removal?  
Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 

  
Removal Type Potential Effects Proposed Mitigation 

Not Applicable   

4.1.2 Soil Disturbance 
Will there be any areas of soil disturbance, including clearing, grubbing, excavation and 
levelling? 

Yes: ☐   No: ☒  
 

Removal Type Potential Effects Proposed Mitigation 
No Soil Disturbance planned    

 
Is the area to be excavated a Brownfield site or has the potential to be contaminated? 

Yes: ☐   No: ☒  
 
Is there potential for disturbance of archaeological, paleontological fossils or historical 
artifacts? 

Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 

4.1.3 Riparian Encroachment 
Will any works be completed within or adjacent to the riparian zone of any water body? 

Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 

174



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 9 of 20 
June  2017  
 

  

Identify all works that may affect the Riparian zone, the impacts, and proposed 
mitigations: 

Work Type Potential Effects Proposed Mitigation 

No planned works  Facilities existing and installed under a previous 
tenure 

   

4.1.4 Pesticides and Herbicides 
Will there be any use of pesticides or herbicides during construction, operations and/or 
maintenance? 

Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 

4.1.5 Visual Impacts 
Will there be any adverse effects of the projects and any potential adverse effects on sight 
lines to the project area from surrounding areas likely to be used for scenic viewing by 
residents or other users? 

Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 

4.1.6 Archaeological Sites 
Are there any known or high potential (Arch Procedure) archaeological sites within the 
project area? 

Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 
 
Have you conducted an AIA or engaged an archaeologist to assist with your 
investigations? 

Yes: ☒   No: ☐ 
 
Please include information or reports generated: 
 
Insitu Consultants completed a preliminary foreshore survey on the application area.  As 
no current upgrades to the existing structures are being planned, further investigations 
are not recommended.  However, any modifications, excavations to the foreshore and 
marine environment will require an Archeological Assessment and on-site monitoring 
during any excavation work within the application area.  

175



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 10 of 20 
June  2017  
 

4.1.7 Construction Methods and Materials 
Identify the types of construction materials, the methods used, their impacts, and any 
mitigations: 
 

Construction Material / 
Method 

Potential effects Mitigations 

Any material used will be 
certified for use in a marine 
environment (i.e. non-
corrosive or galvanising 
material)  

  

Note: other materials and methods and their potential effects are covered under the applicable 
sections above and not repeated here. 

4.2 Atmospheric Impacts 

4.2.1 Sound, Odor, Gas or Fuel Emissions 
Will the project construction or operation cause any of the following to disturb wildlife or 
nearby residents:  

Yes: ☒   No: ☐ 
 

Explain the current conditions, source, type and range of emission. Provide a description 
of atmospheric effects from proposed construction, operation, and decommissioning 
phases. Also include proposed mitigation measures to manage or mitigate adverse 
effects. 

  
Emission Source Current Conditions Potential Effects Proposed Mitigations / 

Management 

Float Planes 

Dock is in isolated location and 
float planes use the dock for 
drop off of people and 
supplies.  Float planes visits 
are frequent up to 3 times 
daily during the summer 
months to twice weekly in the 
winter months and shoulder 
seasons 

Sudden noise may scare 
off nearby wildlife. 

Exposure to source 
limited to landing and 
takeoff – cumulative 
exposure of 10 
minutes/day during the 
peak season.  

Boats 

Dock is in isolated location 
and boats use the dock for 
drop off of people and 
supplies.  Boat visits are 

Sudden noise may 
scare off nearby 
wildlife. 

Exposure to source 
limited arriving and 
leaving the dock – 1 
hours/day. Ensure 

176



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 11 of 20 
June  2017  
 

frequent up to 4 times daily 
during the summer months to 
twice weekly in the winter 
months and shoulder seasons. 
Dock allows for the moorage 
of 3 boats at anytime.  

watercraft are well 
maintained and running 
efficiently. No engine 
Idling. Follow standard 
fueling procedures  for 
fueling the boat 
 

 

Odor?  
Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 

 
 Gas?  

Yes: ☒   No: ☐ 
 

Fuel Emissions?  
Yes: ☒   No: ☐ 

 
Explain the current conditions, source, type and range of emission. Provide a description 
of atmospheric effects from proposed construction, operation, and decommissioning 
phases. Also include proposed mitigation measures to manage or mitigate adverse 
effects. 
 

Emission 
Source 

Current Conditions Potential Effects Proposed Mitigations / 
Management 

Fueling of 
Float 
Planes 

Fueling of planes and 
boats are conducted 
from the dock. Once 
daily for the plane and 
once daily for boats.  
Fuel is high octane 
gasoline.  

Introduction of fuel 
emissions to the local 
environment.  
 

Exposure to source limited to twice 
daily refueling periods – Follow 
standard fueling procedures for 
fueling the plane.  Proposed fuel 
storage and containment will 
mitigate concerns of fuel leakage 
and spills. Spill Kits are located on 
the dock.  

Fueling of 
Boats 

Project is in isolated 
location and not 
generally exposed to 
moderate to high fuel 
emission levels. Fuel is 
high octane gasoline. 

Introduction of fuel 
emissions to the local 
environment. 

Exposure to source limited arriving 
and leaving the dock – 1 hours/day. 
Ensure watercraft are well 
maintained and running efficiently. 
No engine Idling. Follow standard 
fueling procedures for fueling the 
boat. New fuel lines and fuel hose 
storage and containment will 
mitigate concerns of fuel leakage 

177



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 12 of 20 
June  2017  
 

and spills. Spill Kits are located on 
the dock. 
 

4.3 Water or Land Covered by Water Impacts 

4.3.1 Drainage Effects 
Will the project result in changes to land drainage? 

Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 

 4.3.2 Public Access 
Will the project result in changes to public access? 

Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 
 
Describe the potential effect or impact and include plans for mitigation/management: 
 

Effect Potential Effects Proposed Mitigations / 
Management 

Dock is on privateland.  Landowner 
permission required for upland access 

Neutral effect of on public access.  Permission required to 
land and access the dock 
or property.  

4.3.3 Flood Potential 
Will the project result in a potential for flooding? 

Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 

 4.4 Fish and Wildlife Habitat Impacts 

4.4.1 Disturbance to Wildlife and Wildlife Habitat 
Will the project result in adverse effects to wildlife or wildlife habitat? 

Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 
 
Provide a description of any potential adverse effects to wildlife and wildlife habitat from 
proposed construction and operation (including seasonal considerations, potential 
adverse effects from changes to access by hunters and fishers, along with proposed 
measures to mitigate adverse effects). 

  

178



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 13 of 20 
June  2017  
 

 
Project 
Phase 

 Potential Effects Proposed Mitigations / 
Management 

  No wildlife disturbance or habitat 
effected by the dock 

None 

 
Will the project (construction or operations phase) occur in and around streams, lakes, 
estuarine or marine environments? 

Yes: ☒   No: ☐ 
 
Describe the fish habitat on or near the project site, include potential impacts of the 
Project (e.g. stream crossings, water diversions, etc.), including seasonal considerations, 
and plans to manage/mitigate effects. 
 
A baseline marine assessment of the dock facilities was done and attached to this 
application.  No adverse effects were noted in the assessment.  

Project Phase and 
Environmental Setting Potential Effects Proposed Mitigations / Management 

Operation Phase – minor 
repair and maintenance of 
dock and facilities 

Hydro carbon spill into 
marine environment 
during refueling 

Fuel dispensing will be consistent with the 
A Field Guide to Fuel Handling, 
Transportation & Storage, 3rd Edition, 
February 2002,BC Gov’t 

 
Is the project (construction or operations phase) likely to increase erosion or 
sedimentation? 

Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 
 
Will the project (construction or operations phase) require water diversion? 

Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 
 
Will the project threaten or endanger species at risk in the area? 

Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 
 
How and what mitigation is planned? 
 

Project Phase Potential Effects Proposed Mitigations / Management 
Not required   
   

179



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 14 of 20 
June  2017  
 

  

180



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 15 of 20 
June  2017  
 

5.0 Socio-Community 

5.1 Land Use 
Describe the current community setting on or near the project area, including the location of 
non-aboriginal and aboriginal communities or known use areas: 
 

Sechelt Inlet is the main inlet in the Sechelt Inlet group. Active industrial and recreational 
activities occur within the inlet corridor. The visual landscape includes extensive private 
land forest harvesting on the east side of Sechelt Inlet. Historic harvesting occurred in this 
inlet in the 50s to 70s, resulting in a spatially diverse visual landscape (see Figure 1). 
 

 
Figure 1: Backdrop of private land forest harvesting from the Skookumchuck Rapids 

Sechelt Inlet, including near Skookumchuck Narrows, is a typical inlet system with primary 
access by marine vessels. Trail access from Egmont allows year round access to view the 
rapids near Skookumchuck Narrows Provincial Park. This park is the most significant 
recreational feature in the project area with over 25,000 user days/year (Zukiwsky, 2011). 
Activities in the area are diverse, including tourism operations (e.g., fishing and guiding 
charters), kayaking, and logging.  
 

181



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 16 of 20 
June  2017  
 

Sechelt Inlet experiences seasonal use from tourism operations in the summer months 
and guiding and outfitting during the hunting and fishing seasons. As well, visits to 
Skookumchuck Narrows Provincial Park occur year round due to low elevation and well 
maintained trail systems. 
There are small groups of cottages along the western and eastern shores of Sechelt Inlet 
near the proposed infrastructure. Residences are inhabited primarily during the summer 
months with occasional use during other months, but some residents permanently 
occupy their properties.  
 
The nearest non-aboriginal community is Egmont which is approximately 4km away.   
 
Special Visual Values – shíshálh Nation 
 
Referring to shíshálh First Nation Strategic Land Use Plan (Dovetail Consulting-Sechelt 
Indian Band, June 2007), the Skookumchuk Narrows area holds special value for tourism 
development and spiritual kinship of the Nation. 
shishalh Nation lands are located around Sechelt Inlet and the Nation’s past use of the 
lands is undisputed. shíshálh Nation identifies Skookumchuck Narrows and the 
surrounding area as a cultural emphasis area. 
“… shíshálh kw’emit sim (cultural emphasis) areas contain especially important or 
sensitive cultural and natural values requiring special management to prevent further loss 
or degradation. The primary goal of shíshálh kw’enit sim alap areas is to protect cultural 
values and maintain cultural use opportunities and sensitive ecological values, while 
allowing for appropriate resource development. 
 
There is no blanket prohibition on industrial activity in shíshálh kw’enit sim alap areas, 
however, specific kw’enit sim alap areas may prohibit some developments in specific 
areas, and there may be terms and conditions placed on appropriate land use to protect 
cultural values or sites, cultural use activities, wildlife fisheries and their habitats, tourism 
or other values.”. 
Specific to the Skookumchuck Narrows area, the plan identifies key values and 
management issues: 
 
“stl’íkwu kw’enit sim alap (Skookumchuck Narrows Cultural Emphasis Area) 
 

182



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 17 of 20 
June  2017  
 

Area Description 
 
The stl’íkwu kw’enit sim alap (Skookumchuck Narrows Cultural Emphasis Area) comprises 
approximately 5,762 hectares and is located in the heart of shíshálh territory, straddling 
the narrows of ?álhtulich (Sechelt Inlet). The zone contains a portion on the west side of 
the inlet, and encompasses the watershed boundary that drains into the inlet. On the east 
side of the inlet the boundary line encompasses the area of foreshore and upland that 
directly affects the narrows. An extremely productive marine environment contributes to 
abundant inter-tidal and marine resources and a concentration of shíshálh occupation 
and use sites, diverse harvest activities, and high cultural significance. Marine and 
foreshore resources, wild foods, and medicinal plants at stl’íkwu (Skookumchuk Narrows) 
continue to be important supplements to shíshálh economy, diet and health, cultural and 
spiritual use perhaps more valuable as a result of their relative scarcity. 
Key Values, Including: 

• Extremely high cultural and spiritual values, including: 
- Location of several towns and sites strategically located either side of the 

narrows to take advantage of diverse resources; 
- cháchelílhtenam (SBL #10) a village site sought of stlíkwu. A prime location 

with excellent s-?úlh-kwu (Clam) beds, s’tl’élum (Cockles), fishing, 
extensive gardens and fruit trees,productive traplins and waterfowl blind 
sites; 76 

- skweláwtzw (present day Egmont and Secret Bay) 
- kwátámus (SBL #26) on opposite shore from skweláwtxw 
- xwixw?us intermet ground (Boulder Island or Skookum Island, SBL #25) 
- numerous registered archaeological sites and CMTs 

• High wildlife/biodiversity values, including: 
- inter-tidal and marine harvest resources 
- Enhanced by high volume exchange of nutrients at stl’íkwu 

(Skookumchuck rapids); 
- Referred to as the ‘soupbowl’ of the Nation with extremely abundant 

marine life year round 
- Harvest resources include s-ts’éxwu (Lingcod), s-t’élxwets’ (Octopus), 

s’tl’élum (Cockles), s-?úlh-kwu (Clams), ?elás (Sea Cucumber), Devil Fish, 
tsíyákwup-s te s-chálilhten (Jellyfish), Shrimp, and yúm-ach (Chinook 
Salmon) and many other species. (See also Table 1); 

183



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 18 of 20 
June  2017  
 

- High value plant gathering and freshwater fishing area (lake trout fishing 
at Waugh and Brown Lakes; medicinal plants in general area). 

- Key Management Issues, Including: 
- Loss of cultural harvest sites and resources due to land clearing for rural 

residential land development. 
- Loss of cultural harvest sites and resources logging, road building and 

associated impacts. 
- Water quality impacts from rural residential development, septic systems, 

and logging. 
- Habitat and water quality impacts from gravel pit development (east side 

of narrows). 
- Management of increased tourism and recreation use and associated 

impacts. 
- Forest management on Crown and SIB lands. 
- Protection of shíshálh cultural resources and sites.” 

 

5.1.1 Land Management Plans and Regional Growth Strategies 
Are there any land and resource management plans, coastal plans, provincial, regional 
growth strategies or local government plans with zoning, or management policies or use 
restrictions in place that could limit or preclude your proposed use of the land?  

Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 
 

5.2 Socio-Community Conditions 

5.2.1 Adjacent Users or Communities 
Is the project likely to restrict public access, or the ability, or the ability of adjacent land 
owners or tenure holder to access their property or tenures? 

Yes: ☐   No: ☒ 

5.2.2 Existing Services 
Provide a description any increased demand on fire protection and other health facilities 
and emergency services arising from your Project, including proposed management or 
mitigation measures: 
 

184



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 19 of 20 
June  2017  
 

The planned works are not anticipated to cause an increase in demand on fire 
protection and other health facilities and emergency services.  

5.2.3 First Nations Consultation 
Describe any contact you may have had, including the name of the First Nation(s) and 
representatives contacted: 
 

Consultation specifically related to the proposed application will be undertaken with 
the Sechelt Nation during the permit process.  
 

  

185



   DL 3049 SOLBERG HILL ESTATES 
MANAGEMENT PLAN  

 
 
 
 

 
Project No.: Private Moorage -Solberg Hills Estates  Page 20 of 20 
June  2017  
 

6.0  Appendices 

6.1 Works Cited 
 

Dovetail Consulting-Sechelt Indian Band. (June 2007). A Strategic Land Use Plan for the 
shíshálh Nation. Sechelt, BC: Sechelt Indian Band. 

 

Zukiwsky, J. (2011). Stl'ixwim Renewable Energy Initiative: Tourism, Recreation, and 
Wilderness Baseline Report. Zumundo Consultants. Fernie, BC. 

 

End of Document 
 

186



From: Dave
To: Warren Hansen
Subject: Earle Creek dock
Date: June-22-17 3:52:47 PM
Attachments: Earle Creek Letter (20170622).pdf

Warren
 
Attached is a letter with the results summarized from the dock dive.
 
The area is remarkably clean and has an abundance of fauna.  No critical habitats near the tenure. So
given the fact the dock is not changing there is nothing of concern from my perspective. I included
the BMP for the area in the event the dock is to be changed or rebuilt in the near future.
 
Dave
 
PS:  The guys inspected the pilings and they are in good shape.
 
 
D. Bates PhD, PBio, RPBio
Sr. Biologist

FSCI Biological Consultants
(604) 740-2637

187

mailto:dbates@fsci-biological.ca
mailto:WHansen@chartwell-consultants.com



 


8-5520 McCourt Road, Sechelt, BC, Canada, V0N 3A7 
604-740-2637 (tel)  


dbates@fsci-biological.ca 
 


 
June 22, 2015              Our File No.: FSCI-15-0017 
 
Warren Hanson 
Chartwell Conbsultants 
#205-938 Gibsons Way 
Gibsons, BC, V0N 1V7 
 
Re: Commercial/Recreational Dock – Earle Creek Camp – Skookumchuk 
Narrows  
 
Dear Warren: 
 
As requested we conducted a site assessment of the existing dock and pilings at 
the Earle Creek camp in Skookumchuk Narrows. It is our understanding that the 
existing dock tenure has expired and that the owner is seeking to renew the 
tenure.  It is also our understanding that:  
 


1. The current structure will remain and that no structural changes are 
proposed; 


2. The existing footprint will not be expanded; and  
3. Use of the dock is required for access to the camp. 


 
The dock is a combination of a ramp/walkway, wooden decked floating held in 
place with steel piles (Photo 1).  The location parallels the shoreline and the area 
or foreshore adjacent to the dock is armoured with large shot-rock (Photo 1).  
 
The purpose of the site assessment was to document any critical habitats within 
the tenure footprint. In order to provide an opinion on potential impacts of the 
structure the tenure area was inspected by a dive team. This team video 
documented the area beneath the dock and noted, if present, any potential 
critical habitat.  
 
The area the dock is located experiences high tidal action from the narrows and 
at low tide the depth beneath the dock exceeds 2-m.    
 
As a result of the site assessment, the area included the following features:  
 


• Deep water beneath the dock and a depth of greater that 2-m at low  
 


• No observed presence of Eelgrass (Zostera spp.) meadows in the vicinity 
of the dock or the tenure footprint. 







 


 2 


• No observed Bull kelp (Nereocystis luetkeana) was found in the vicinity of 
the dock or tenure footprint.  
 


• Shot-rock armouring the shoreline that fronts the dock provides significant 
habitat for fish (noted small Greenling, Hexagrammos decagrammus and 
Pile Perch, Rhacochilus vacca), as well as a variety of invertebrates 
(Purple and Green Urchins, Strongylcentrotus spp.; Bat Stars, Asterina 
miniata; Purple and Pink star, Pisaster spp.) (Photo 2). 
 


• The bottom under the existing dock is comprised of rock, including; 
boulders from the original shoreline armouring, and large gravels. There is 
indication of shellfish in the area.  


 
• The bottom also had abundance seastars of various species, urchins and 


Sea Cucumbers. There was no significant flora noted (Photo 3).  
 


• Debris was minimal.  Presumably any wood debris would be moved into 
deeper waters by the tides. There was some older camp debris including 
tethered tires that may have been bumpers on an earlier dock.    


 
Given the information collected during the site assessment, we concluded that 
the existing dock has had minimal measurable/observed adverse impact on the 
marine benthic habitat(s).  The survey of the tenure reveals a vibrant community 
of marine fauna. While complexity of the habitat is low, this is likely a result of the 
high tidal action of the area and not the operation and maintenance of the 
existing dock.  
 
In the future, maintenance and repairs to the dock may be required. Therefore, I 
have included a copy of the current Best Management Practices for area docks, 
currently provided to our clients.  
 
In conclusion, it is my opinion that the renewal of the existing structure would not 
significantly impact area habitats, assuming there are no significant changes to 
the structure.    
 
I trust this information is helpful. If you have any questions please feel free to 
contact me at your convenience.  
 
Sincerely 
 


 
D. Bates, PhD, RPBio 
Habitat Biologist 
 







 


 3 


A. 
 


 
B. 
 


 
 
Photo 1:  The Earle Creek camp dock that is pending re-tenure.  The dock is accessed via a 
ramp to shore.  Note the steel piling (B) used to secure the structure against heavy tidal currents. 
The shoreline adjacent to the dock is armoured with large angular rock (B).  
  







 


 4 


 
Photo 2:  Rock habitat at toe of shoreline shot-rock.  The area, adjacent to the dock and within 
the tenure supported a variety of marine fauna.  
 
 


 
Photo 3:  The bottom under the existing dock was characterized by gravels and cobble. Larger 
boulders were interspersed around the area.  The area supported a variety of echinoderms and 
there was evidence of shellfish throughout the area., No significant amount of debris was found 
and there was no indication that the existing dock has adversely impacted the area.   







1	
shíshálh Nation Best Management Practices for Docks and Moorages ver. 20150514 


shíshálh Nation Best Management Practices 


Our territory has been significantly impacted by dock moorages.  The shíshálh Nation 
Best Management Practices (BMPs) for marine docks within the shíshálh Nation 
territory is a compilation of requirements from Fisheries and Oceans Canada and the 
Resource Management Department of the shíshálh Nation. The BMP’s are intended to 
help minimize and mitigate impacts to marine foreshore features and resources by 
promoting responsible and appropriate development. The BMP is intended to ensure 
proponents follow measures and designs that conform to Sections 34 through 37 of the 
Federal Fisheries Act and protect cultural and heritage resources within the shíshalh 
Nations territory.   


1. Wherever possible proponents are encouraged to develop dock facilities that can 
facilitate numerous upland owners.  In pursuing multi-owner/use facilities the 
footprint on the sub/inter tidal habitats is minimized.  These types of facilities also 
help to alleviate potential cumulative impacts from high density, individual dock 
infrastructures. 


2. Access to sub/intertidal resources cannot be impeded or restricted from any 
dock/float structure.  This ensures access for the harvest of marine resources for 
food, social and ceremonial purposes.  


3. No critical habitats can be impacted within the immediate vicinity of the proposed 
dock. Critical habitats are defined as: 


“habitat that is important for: (a) sustaining a subsistence, commercial, or 
recreational fishery, or (b) any species at risk (e.g., terrestrial or aquatic red- and 
blue-listed species, those designated by the Committee on the Status of 
Endangered Wildlife in Canada, or those SARA-listed species), or (c) because of 
its relative rareness, productivity, or sensitivity (e.g. eelgrass meadows, kelp 
forests, foreshore salt marsh vegetation, herring spawning habitat, and potential 
forage fish spawning beach habitat)”. 


A Professional Biologist may be required to provide an assessment and opinion 
on the risks of any dock/float structures on critical habitat(s) 


4. When designing dock/float structures, the bottom of all floats must be a minimum 
of 1.0-m above the seabed during the lowest water level or tide.  Dock/float 
height above lowest water level will need to be increased if deep draft vessels 
are to be moored at the dock/float.  The dock/float structure and the vessel to be 
moored at the structure are not to come to rest on the intertidal seabed during 
the lowest tide or lowest water period of the year. 







2	
shíshálh Nation Best Management Practices for Docks and Moorages ver. 20150514 


The minimum depth is required to ensure bottom flora and fauna are not 
adversely impacted by shading and/or propeller wash from moored vessels.  


5. Access ramps or walkways should be a minimum of 1.0-m above the highest 
high water mark of the tide and a maximum width of 1.5-m. 


6. Docks/floats are to be constructed to allow light penetration under the structure. 
North/South dock alignments are encouraged whenever possible to allow light 
penetration. 


Spacing the decking can facilitate light penetration on the surface of the dock and 
minimizing the width of the structure. 


7. Grating incorporated into ramps, walkways, or floats also helps to increase light 
and reduce shading of the bottom.  When grating is impractical, deck planking 
measuring 15-cm (6 in) and spaced at least 2.5-cm (1 in) should be used to allow 
light penetration. 


8. Concrete, steel, treated, or recycled timber piles are acceptable although the 
preference is steel.  Detailed information on treated wood options can be 
obtained on-line from the Fisheries and Oceans Canada website (Guidelines to 
Protect Fish and Fish Habitat from Treated Wood Used in the Aquatic 
Environment in the Pacific Region). 


9. Construction must never include the use of native beach materials (boulders, 
cobble, gravel, sand, logs).  


10. Access to the beach for construction purposes is to be from the adjacent upland 
property wherever possible.  Where upland access is not possible and the use of 
heavy equipment is required to access the dock location, advice of a 
Professional Biologist is required. The professional Biologist will help mitigate 
and protect fish habitat, including riparian, intertidal salt marsh, or in-water 
vegetation. The Professional Biologist is also expected to notify Fisheries and 
Oceans Canada.  


11. Access or construction along beachfront also requires notification sent to the 
shíshálh Nation and its Rights and Title Department in order to ensure cultural 
sites are not impacted or disturbed.   


12. Filling, dredging, or blasting below the High Water Mark is not supported by the 
shíshálh Nation.  Un-authorized filling, dredging and blasting noted by the 
shíshálh Nation will be reported to Fisheries Enforcement Officers immediately.  







3	
shíshálh Nation Best Management Practices for Docks and Moorages ver. 20150514 


13. Works along the upland/water interface must be conducted when the site is not 
wetted by the tide.  All work is to be conducted in a manner that does not result in 
the deposit of toxic or deleterious substances (sediment, un-cured concrete, fuel, 
lubricants, paints, stains) into waters frequented by fish.  This includes refueling 
of machinery and washing of buckets and hand tools.  


14. The upland design of the dock including anchor points should not disturb the 
riparian area except at the immediate footprint.   An effort should be made to 
maximize riparian cover adjacent to the dock helping reduce erosion and 
exposure to the foreshore.  


15. Marine foreshore construction activities should take place between June 1 and 
February 15 of any calendar year.  


 


 





		Earle Creek Letter

		BMPs docks (20150514)





 

8-5520 McCourt Road, Sechelt, BC, Canada, V0N 3A7 
604-740-2637 (tel)  

dbates@fsci-biological.ca 
 

 
June 22, 2015              Our File No.: FSCI-15-0017 
 
Warren Hanson 
Chartwell Conbsultants 
#205-938 Gibsons Way 
Gibsons, BC, V0N 1V7 
 
Re: Commercial/Recreational Dock – Earle Creek Camp – Skookumchuk 
Narrows  
 
Dear Warren: 
 
As requested we conducted a site assessment of the existing dock and pilings at 
the Earle Creek camp in Skookumchuk Narrows. It is our understanding that the 
existing dock tenure has expired and that the owner is seeking to renew the 
tenure.  It is also our understanding that:  
 

1. The current structure will remain and that no structural changes are 
proposed; 

2. The existing footprint will not be expanded; and  
3. Use of the dock is required for access to the camp. 

 
The dock is a combination of a ramp/walkway, wooden decked floating held in 
place with steel piles (Photo 1).  The location parallels the shoreline and the area 
or foreshore adjacent to the dock is armoured with large shot-rock (Photo 1).  
 
The purpose of the site assessment was to document any critical habitats within 
the tenure footprint. In order to provide an opinion on potential impacts of the 
structure the tenure area was inspected by a dive team. This team video 
documented the area beneath the dock and noted, if present, any potential 
critical habitat.  
 
The area the dock is located experiences high tidal action from the narrows and 
at low tide the depth beneath the dock exceeds 2-m.    
 
As a result of the site assessment, the area included the following features:  
 

• Deep water beneath the dock and a depth of greater that 2-m at low  
 

• No observed presence of Eelgrass (Zostera spp.) meadows in the vicinity 
of the dock or the tenure footprint. 

188



 

 2 

• No observed Bull kelp (Nereocystis luetkeana) was found in the vicinity of 
the dock or tenure footprint.  
 

• Shot-rock armouring the shoreline that fronts the dock provides significant 
habitat for fish (noted small Greenling, Hexagrammos decagrammus and 
Pile Perch, Rhacochilus vacca), as well as a variety of invertebrates 
(Purple and Green Urchins, Strongylcentrotus spp.; Bat Stars, Asterina 
miniata; Purple and Pink star, Pisaster spp.) (Photo 2). 
 

• The bottom under the existing dock is comprised of rock, including; 
boulders from the original shoreline armouring, and large gravels. There is 
indication of shellfish in the area.  

 
• The bottom also had abundance seastars of various species, urchins and 

Sea Cucumbers. There was no significant flora noted (Photo 3).  
 

• Debris was minimal.  Presumably any wood debris would be moved into 
deeper waters by the tides. There was some older camp debris including 
tethered tires that may have been bumpers on an earlier dock.    

 
Given the information collected during the site assessment, we concluded that 
the existing dock has had minimal measurable/observed adverse impact on the 
marine benthic habitat(s).  The survey of the tenure reveals a vibrant community 
of marine fauna. While complexity of the habitat is low, this is likely a result of the 
high tidal action of the area and not the operation and maintenance of the 
existing dock.  
 
In the future, maintenance and repairs to the dock may be required. Therefore, I 
have included a copy of the current Best Management Practices for area docks, 
currently provided to our clients.  
 
In conclusion, it is my opinion that the renewal of the existing structure would not 
significantly impact area habitats, assuming there are no significant changes to 
the structure.    
 
I trust this information is helpful. If you have any questions please feel free to 
contact me at your convenience.  
 
Sincerely 
 

 
D. Bates, PhD, RPBio 
Habitat Biologist 
 

189



 

 3 

A. 
 

 
B. 
 

 
 
Photo 1:  The Earle Creek camp dock that is pending re-tenure.  The dock is accessed via a 
ramp to shore.  Note the steel piling (B) used to secure the structure against heavy tidal currents. 
The shoreline adjacent to the dock is armoured with large angular rock (B).  
  

190



 

 4 

 
Photo 2:  Rock habitat at toe of shoreline shot-rock.  The area, adjacent to the dock and within 
the tenure supported a variety of marine fauna.  
 
 

 
Photo 3:  The bottom under the existing dock was characterized by gravels and cobble. Larger 
boulders were interspersed around the area.  The area supported a variety of echinoderms and 
there was evidence of shellfish throughout the area., No significant amount of debris was found 
and there was no indication that the existing dock has adversely impacted the area.   

191



1	
shíshálh Nation Best Management Practices for Docks and Moorages ver. 20150514 

shíshálh Nation Best Management Practices 

Our territory has been significantly impacted by dock moorages.  The shíshálh Nation 
Best Management Practices (BMPs) for marine docks within the shíshálh Nation 
territory is a compilation of requirements from Fisheries and Oceans Canada and the 
Resource Management Department of the shíshálh Nation. The BMP’s are intended to 
help minimize and mitigate impacts to marine foreshore features and resources by 
promoting responsible and appropriate development. The BMP is intended to ensure 
proponents follow measures and designs that conform to Sections 34 through 37 of the 
Federal Fisheries Act and protect cultural and heritage resources within the shíshalh 
Nations territory.   

1. Wherever possible proponents are encouraged to develop dock facilities that can 
facilitate numerous upland owners.  In pursuing multi-owner/use facilities the 
footprint on the sub/inter tidal habitats is minimized.  These types of facilities also 
help to alleviate potential cumulative impacts from high density, individual dock 
infrastructures. 

2. Access to sub/intertidal resources cannot be impeded or restricted from any 
dock/float structure.  This ensures access for the harvest of marine resources for 
food, social and ceremonial purposes.  

3. No critical habitats can be impacted within the immediate vicinity of the proposed 
dock. Critical habitats are defined as: 

“habitat that is important for: (a) sustaining a subsistence, commercial, or 
recreational fishery, or (b) any species at risk (e.g., terrestrial or aquatic red- and 
blue-listed species, those designated by the Committee on the Status of 
Endangered Wildlife in Canada, or those SARA-listed species), or (c) because of 
its relative rareness, productivity, or sensitivity (e.g. eelgrass meadows, kelp 
forests, foreshore salt marsh vegetation, herring spawning habitat, and potential 
forage fish spawning beach habitat)”. 

A Professional Biologist may be required to provide an assessment and opinion 
on the risks of any dock/float structures on critical habitat(s) 

4. When designing dock/float structures, the bottom of all floats must be a minimum 
of 1.0-m above the seabed during the lowest water level or tide.  Dock/float 
height above lowest water level will need to be increased if deep draft vessels 
are to be moored at the dock/float.  The dock/float structure and the vessel to be 
moored at the structure are not to come to rest on the intertidal seabed during 
the lowest tide or lowest water period of the year. 

192



2	
shíshálh Nation Best Management Practices for Docks and Moorages ver. 20150514 

The minimum depth is required to ensure bottom flora and fauna are not 
adversely impacted by shading and/or propeller wash from moored vessels.  

5. Access ramps or walkways should be a minimum of 1.0-m above the highest 
high water mark of the tide and a maximum width of 1.5-m. 

6. Docks/floats are to be constructed to allow light penetration under the structure. 
North/South dock alignments are encouraged whenever possible to allow light 
penetration. 

Spacing the decking can facilitate light penetration on the surface of the dock and 
minimizing the width of the structure. 

7. Grating incorporated into ramps, walkways, or floats also helps to increase light 
and reduce shading of the bottom.  When grating is impractical, deck planking 
measuring 15-cm (6 in) and spaced at least 2.5-cm (1 in) should be used to allow 
light penetration. 

8. Concrete, steel, treated, or recycled timber piles are acceptable although the 
preference is steel.  Detailed information on treated wood options can be 
obtained on-line from the Fisheries and Oceans Canada website (Guidelines to 
Protect Fish and Fish Habitat from Treated Wood Used in the Aquatic 
Environment in the Pacific Region). 

9. Construction must never include the use of native beach materials (boulders, 
cobble, gravel, sand, logs).  

10. Access to the beach for construction purposes is to be from the adjacent upland 
property wherever possible.  Where upland access is not possible and the use of 
heavy equipment is required to access the dock location, advice of a 
Professional Biologist is required. The professional Biologist will help mitigate 
and protect fish habitat, including riparian, intertidal salt marsh, or in-water 
vegetation. The Professional Biologist is also expected to notify Fisheries and 
Oceans Canada.  

11. Access or construction along beachfront also requires notification sent to the 
shíshálh Nation and its Rights and Title Department in order to ensure cultural 
sites are not impacted or disturbed.   

12. Filling, dredging, or blasting below the High Water Mark is not supported by the 
shíshálh Nation.  Un-authorized filling, dredging and blasting noted by the 
shíshálh Nation will be reported to Fisheries Enforcement Officers immediately.  

193



3	
shíshálh Nation Best Management Practices for Docks and Moorages ver. 20150514 

13. Works along the upland/water interface must be conducted when the site is not 
wetted by the tide.  All work is to be conducted in a manner that does not result in 
the deposit of toxic or deleterious substances (sediment, un-cured concrete, fuel, 
lubricants, paints, stains) into waters frequented by fish.  This includes refueling 
of machinery and washing of buckets and hand tools.  

14. The upland design of the dock including anchor points should not disturb the 
riparian area except at the immediate footprint.   An effort should be made to 
maximize riparian cover adjacent to the dock helping reduce erosion and 
exposure to the foreshore.  

15. Marine foreshore construction activities should take place between June 1 and 
February 15 of any calendar year.  

 

 

194



EARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLS
EARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLS
EARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLS
EARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLS
EARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLS
EARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLS
EARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLS
EARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLS
EARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLSEARLS

COVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVE
COVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVE
COVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVE
COVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVE
COVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVE
COVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVE
COVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVE
COVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVE
COVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVECOVE

CookCookCookCookCookCookCookCookCook
CookCookCookCookCookCookCookCookCook
CookCookCookCookCookCookCookCookCook
CookCookCookCookCookCookCookCookCook
CookCookCookCookCookCookCookCookCook
CookCookCookCookCookCookCookCookCook
CookCookCookCookCookCookCookCookCook
CookCookCookCookCookCookCookCookCook
CookCookCookCookCookCookCookCookCookCook

PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint

ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
gggggggggg
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhhh
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddddPPPPPPPPP

PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPPP
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
tttttttttt

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
cccccccccc
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyyy
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeeePPPPPPPPP

PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPPP
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
tttttttttt

sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
ssssssssss

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddddPPPPPPPPP

PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPPP
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
tttttttttt

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCC

HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHHH

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL

TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT

PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPPP

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS

UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUUU

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR

R
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa

a
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp

p
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii

i
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd

d

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGGG

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGGG

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMMM
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOO
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUUU
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
ssssssssss
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
ssssssssss
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
dddddddddd

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE

E
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa

a

sssssssss sssssssss sssssssss sssssssss sssssssss sssssssss sssssssss sssssssss sssssssss
s

CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCC
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPPP
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
tttttttttt

MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMMM
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT

DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDDD
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWWW

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCC

HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHHH

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL

TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT

PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPPP

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS

UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUUU

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

SECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELT
SECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELT
SECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELT
SECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELT
SECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELT
SECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELT
SECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELT
SECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELT
SECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELTSECHELT

PENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULA
PENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULA
PENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULA
PENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULA
PENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULA
PENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULA
PENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULA
PENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULA
PENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULAPENINSULA

CaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwell
CaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwell
CaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwell
CaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwell
CaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwell
CaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwell
CaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwell
CaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwell
CaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwellCaldwell
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland

LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL

AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

DDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDDD

JunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunction
JunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunction
JunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunction
JunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunction
JunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunction
JunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunction
JunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunction
JunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunction
JunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunctionJunction

IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland
IslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIslandIsland

ElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephant
ElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephant
ElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephant
ElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephant
ElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephant
ElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephant
ElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephant
ElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephant
ElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephantElephant
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint
PointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPointPoint

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPPP
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPPP
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYYY
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUUU
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSSPPPPPPPPP

PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPPP
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKKK

CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCC
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwwww
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyyyPPPPPPPPP

PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPPP
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
tttttttttt

HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHHH
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
pppppppppp
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
pppppppppp
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyyy
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuuu
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
ssssssssssPPPPPPPPP

PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPPP
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
tttttttttt

MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMMM
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT

HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHHH
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOO
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWWW
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL

CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCCC

AAAAAAAAA AAAAAAAAA AAAAAAAAA AAAAAAAAA AAAAAAAAA AAAAAAAAA AAAAAAAAA AAAAAAAAA AAAAAAAAAA

RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRRR

EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEEE

NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNNN

SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSSS
EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEEE

CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCCC
HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHHH

EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEEE

LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLLL

TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTTT

PPPPPPPPP PPPPPPPPP PPPPPPPPP PPPPPPPPP PPPPPPPPP PPPPPPPPP PPPPPPPPP PPPPPPPPP PPPPPPPPPP

EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEEE

MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM

M
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii

i
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll

l
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll

l
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee

e
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr

r
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII

I
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss

s
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll

l
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee

e
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt

t

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
cccccccccc
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhhh
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
tttttttttt

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
ssssssssss
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
tttttttttt

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII

I
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss

s
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll

l
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee

e
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt

t

CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCC

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR

sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss

s
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt

t
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP

P
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo

o
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii

i
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn

n
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt

t
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII

I
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss

s
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll

l
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee

e
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt

t

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeeePPPPPPPPP

PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPPP
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
tttttttttt

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuuu
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmmm

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
ssssssssss
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
dddddddddd

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS

S uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu

u ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt

t ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt

t ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo

o nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn

n IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII

I sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss

s lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
l eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
e ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt
t

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDDD

BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB

B
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo

o
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo

o
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm

m
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII

I
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss

s
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll

l
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee

e
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt

t

MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMMM
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUUU
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMMM
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR

DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDDD
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOO
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOO
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGGG
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMMM
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOO
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
gggggggggg
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmmm
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttttPPPPPPPPP

PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPPP
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
tttttttttt

TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT
zzzzzzzzz
zzzzzzzzz
zzzzzzzzz
zzzzzzzzz
zzzzzzzzz
zzzzzzzzz
zzzzzzzzz
zzzzzzzzz
zzzzzzzzzz
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeeePPPPPPPPP

PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPPP
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGGG

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyyy
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
dddddddddd
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyyy

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
ssssssssss
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
dddddddddd

FFFFFFFFF
FFFFFFFFF
FFFFFFFFF
FFFFFFFFF
FFFFFFFFF
FFFFFFFFF
FFFFFFFFF
FFFFFFFFF
FFFFFFFFFF
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyyyHHHHHHHHH

HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHHH
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
dddddddddd

DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDDD
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
cccccccccc
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrr
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
ssssssssssPPPPPPPPP

PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPPP
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
tttttttttt

MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMMM
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT

FFFFFFFFF
FFFFFFFFF
FFFFFFFFF
FFFFFFFFF
FFFFFFFFF
FFFFFFFFF
FFFFFFFFF
FFFFFFFFF
FFFFFFFFFF
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOO
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYYY

KatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherine
KatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherine
KatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherine
KatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherine
KatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherine
KatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherine
KatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherine
KatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherine
KatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherineKatherine

LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake

KokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomo
KokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomo
KokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomo
KokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomo
KokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomo
KokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomo
KokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomo
KokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomo
KokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomoKokomo

LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake

MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMMM
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii
xxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxx
xxxxxxxxxx
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKKK

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWWW

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKKK

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn

BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBBB
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyyy

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

AnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnis
AnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnis
AnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnis
AnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnis
AnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnis
AnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnis
AnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnis
AnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnis
AnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnisAnnis
BayBayBayBayBayBayBayBayBay
BayBayBayBayBayBayBayBayBay
BayBayBayBayBayBayBayBayBay
BayBayBayBayBayBayBayBayBay
BayBayBayBayBayBayBayBayBay
BayBayBayBayBayBayBayBayBay
BayBayBayBayBayBayBayBayBay
BayBayBayBayBayBayBayBayBay
BayBayBayBayBayBayBayBayBayBay

AmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbrose
AmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbrose
AmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbrose
AmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbrose
AmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbrose
AmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbrose
AmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbrose
AmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbrose
AmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbroseAmbrose

LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake
LakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLakeLake

RUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBY
RUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBY
RUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBY
RUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBY
RUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBY
RUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBY
RUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBY
RUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBY
RUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBYRUBY

LAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKE
LAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKE
LAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKE
LAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKE
LAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKE
LAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKE
LAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKE
LAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKE
LAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKELAKE

AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

GGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGGG

AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

MMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMM

EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE

MMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMMM

NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOO

NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN

CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCC

HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHHH

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL

LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL

EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ontEgm

ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ontEgm

ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ontEgm

ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ontEgm

ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ontEgm

ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ontEgm

ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ontEgm

ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ontEgm

ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont

Egm
ont CrCrCrCrCrCrCrCrCr

CrCrCrCrCrCrCrCrCr
CrCrCrCrCrCrCrCrCr
CrCrCrCrCrCrCrCrCr
CrCrCrCrCrCrCrCrCr
CrCrCrCrCrCrCrCrCr
CrCrCrCrCrCrCrCrCr
CrCrCrCrCrCrCrCrCr
CrCrCrCrCrCrCrCrCrCr

EarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarls
EarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarls
EarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarls
EarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarls
EarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarls
EarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarls
EarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarls
EarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarls
EarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarlsEarls

CoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCove
CoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCove
CoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCove
CoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCove
CoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCove
CoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCove
CoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCove
CoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCove
CoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCoveCove

GGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
r r r r r r r r rr r r r r r r r rr r r r r r r r rr r r r r r r r rr r r r r r r r rr r r r r r r r rr r r r r r r r rr r r r r r r r rr r r r r r r r rr

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT

JJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJJ

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR

VVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVVV

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR

OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOO

WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWWW

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT

SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS S
EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE E

CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC C
HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH H

EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE E
LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL L

TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT T

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
tttttttttt
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo

o rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr

r mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm

m
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCC
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrr
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee

e kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk

k

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyyy
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnnLLLLLLLLL

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKKK

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWWW

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA
KKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKK

EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE

KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKKK

lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn

ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
dddddddddd

aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa

lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCC

rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrr

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee kkkkkkkkk

kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk

MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMMM

yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyyy

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrr

sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
ssssssssss

CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCC

rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrr

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
S ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt

t ooooooooo ooooooooo ooooooooo ooooooooo ooooooooo ooooooooo ooooooooo ooooooooo ooooooooo
o rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr
r mmmmmmmmm mmmmmmmmm mmmmmmmmm mmmmmmmmm mmmmmmmmm mmmmmmmmm mmmmmmmmm mmmmmmmmm mmmmmmmmm
m

BBBBBBBBB BBBBBBBBB BBBBBBBBB BBBBBBBBB BBBBBBBBB BBBBBBBBB BBBBBBBBB BBBBBBBBB BBBBBBBBB
B
aaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaa
a
yyyyyyyyy yyyyyyyyy yyyyyyyyy yyyyyyyyy yyyyyyyyy yyyyyyyyy yyyyyyyyy yyyyyyyyy yyyyyyyyy y

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS

S ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt

t ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo

o rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr

r mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm

m
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC

C rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr

r eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee

e eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee

e kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk

k

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOO
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWWW

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT

OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO

NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuuubbbbbbbbb
bbbbbbbbb
bbbbbbbbb
bbbbbbbbb
bbbbbbbbb
bbbbbbbbb
bbbbbbbbb
bbbbbbbbb
bbbbbbbbbbyyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyyyCCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCC
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrreeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeeekkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk

JJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJJ

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR

VVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVVV

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
cccccccccc
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhhh
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttttRRRRRRRRR

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
ppppppppp
pppppppppp
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
ddddddddd
dddddddddd
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
ssssssssss

SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSSS

EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEEE

CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCCC

HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHHH

EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEEE

LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLLL

TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTTT

IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII I
NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN N

LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL LLLLLLLLL L
EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE E

TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT T

KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKKK
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn

n

CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrr

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk

BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBBB
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrr
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwwww
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

E E E E E E E E EE E E E E E E E EE E E E E E E E EE E E E E E E E EE E E E E E E E EE E E E E E E E EE E E E E E E E EE E E E E E E
E EE E E E E E E E EE

a a a a a a a a aa a a a a a a a aa a a a a a a a aa a a a a a a a aa a a a a a a a aa a a a a a a a aa a a a a a a a a
a a a a a a a a aa a a a a a a a aa

rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr

lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll
lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll

eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCC

rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrr

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGGG
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMMM
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMMM
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOO
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCC
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHHH
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
ccccccccc
cccccccccc
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrr
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
tttttttttt
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBBB
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy

y

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrr
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
tttttttttt
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhhh

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS

S KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK

K OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO

O OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO

O KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK

K UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU

U MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM
MMMMMMMMM

M CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC

C HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH

H UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU

U CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC

C KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK

K
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN

N AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA

A RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR

R RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR
R
OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO
O
WWWWWWWWW WWWWWWWWW WWWWWWWWW WWWWWWWWW WWWWWWWWW WWWWWWWWW WWWWWWWWW WWWWWWWWW WWWWWWWWW
W

SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS SSSSSSSSS S

KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKKK
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKKK
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
lllllllll
llllllllll

aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmmm

BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBBB
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyyy

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA

A ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg

g nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn

n eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee

e wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww

w

PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPP

P aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa

a sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss

s sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss

s aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa

a ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg

g eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee

e

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
gggggggggg
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmmm
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmmm
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn

BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBBB
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyy
yyyyyyyyyy

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR

UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUU
UUUUUUUUUU

BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBBB

YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYYY

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKK
KKKKKKKKKK

EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSS
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiii

nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwwww

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWW

W aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa

a uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu
uuuuuuuuu

u ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg
ggggggggg

g hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh
hhhhhhhhh

h

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL

L aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa

a kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
k eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
e

TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT TTTTTTTTT T ZZZZZZZZZ ZZZZZZZZZ ZZZZZZZZZ ZZZZZZZZZ ZZZZZZZZZ ZZZZZZZZZ ZZZZZZZZZ ZZZZZZZZZ ZZZZZZZZZ Z OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO O OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO OOOOOOOOO
O
NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN NNNNNNNNN
N
IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII
I EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE
E

RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR
R IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII IIIIIIIII

I VVVVVVVVV VVVVVVVVV VVVVVVVVV VVVVVVVVV VVVVVVVVV VVVVVVVVV VVVVVVVVV VVVVVVVVV VVVVVVVVV
V EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE EEEEEEEEE
E RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR RRRRRRRRR
R

TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT

zzzzzzzzz
zzzzzzzzz
zzzzzzzzz
zzzzzzzzz
zzzzzzzzz
zzzzzzzzz
zzzzzzzzz
zzzzzzzzz
zzzzzzzzzzooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnn
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiii
iiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrr
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwww
wwwwwwwwww
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
sssssssss
ssssssssss

NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR

RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRR

OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOO

WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW
WWWWWWWWWW

SSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSS

IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII

NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNN

LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL

EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEE

TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT

RRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

aaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaa

mmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmm
mmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmm

ooooooooooooooooooooooooooo
ooooooooooooooooooooooooooo
oooooooooooooooooooooooooooo

nnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn
nnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn

rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrrr

eeeeeeeee eeeeeeeee eeeeeeeee eeeeeeeee eeeeeeeee eeeeeeeee eeeeeeeee eeeeeeeee eeeeeeeeee

aaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaaa

ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt ttttttttt t

CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCC CCCCCCCCCC

rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrr rrrrrrrrrr
eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee eeeeeeeee

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee kkkkkkkkk

kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk

GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGGG

OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOO

LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLL
LLLLLLLLLL

IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIII

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT

HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHH
HHHHHHHHHH

BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBB
BBBBBBBBBB

AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAA

YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYY
YYYYYYYYYY

GGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
r r r r r r r r rr r r r r r r r rr r r r r r r r rr r r r r r r r rr r r r r r r r rr r r r r r r r rr r r r r r r r rr r r r r r r r rr r r r r r r r rr

[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[HHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHH
oooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooo

PPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPP
PPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPP

RRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII

NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN

CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC

JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ
JJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJJ

EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE
EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE

RRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

VVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVV
VVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVV

IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII
IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII

SSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSS
SSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSS

DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDD
DDDDDDDDDD
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrr
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkkCCCCCCCCC

CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCC
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
ooooooooo
oooooooooo
vvvvvvvvv
vvvvvvvvv
vvvvvvvvv
vvvvvvvvv
vvvvvvvvv
vvvvvvvvv
vvvvvvvvv
vvvvvvvvv
vvvvvvvvvv
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee

TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTT
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrr

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeee
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaa
aaaaaaaaaa
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
ttttttttt
tttttttttt
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCC
CCCCCCCCCC
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrr
rrrrrrrrrr

eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeeekkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkk
kkkkkkkkkk

TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT
TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT

ZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZ
ZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZ

OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO
OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO

Solberg Hills Estates 
Dock Applica�on

Loca�on Map

1:100,000

EGMONT

195



196



197



198



199



200



 

SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

  TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 

AUTHOR: Yuli Siao, Senior Planner 

SUBJECT: PROVINCIAL REFERRAL CRN00062 FOR A LOG HANDLING FACILITY (BLACK MOUNT 
LOGGING) – ELECTORAL AREA F 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. THAT the report titled Provincial Referral CRN00062 for a Log Handling Facility 
(Black Mount Logging) – Electoral Area F be received;  

2. AND THAT the following comments be forwarded to the Ministry of Forests, Lands, 
Natural Resource Operations and Rural Development: 

Subject to the following conditions, the Sunshine Coast Regional District has no 
objection to the proposed log handing facility located at Bailey Bay, Provincial 
Referral Number 2412032:  

a. SCRD will require a building permit and/or a development variance permit if any 
structures are to be constructed to access the facility. 

b. An environmental monitoring plan should be implemented during the 
construction and operation of the site. 

c. SCRD mapping does not indicate any eelgrass beds in the vicinity.  Eelgrass 
beds in or near the tenure area should be identified and protected. 

d. Include potential navigational concerns resulting from escaped logs or related 
wood debris and the collection of any lost wood debris in the project 
management plan. 
 

e. Include measures to protect recreational and visual values in the project 
management plan. 

f. Ensure that Sḵwx̱wú7mesh Nation’s comments are addressed and that any work 
undertaken complies with the Heritage Conservation Act. 

g. Any eelgrass beds in or near the tenure area should be identified and protected. 

h. Water quality should not be impacted by maintenance or construction activities, 
materials or fuel storage. 

i. Implement Provincial Best Management Practices for building and maintaining 
moorage facilities to protect the foreshore ecosystems. 

j. Complete restoration of the tenure area should be undertaken upon closure of 
the log booming sites, including the removal of all industrial equipment and 
potential contaminates to be disposed of in accordance with all provincial and 
SCRD regulations at the time. 

ANNEX H

201



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral CRN00062 for a Log Handling Facility (Black Mount 
Logging) – Electoral Area F Page 2 of 5 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report CRN00062 Log Handling (Black Mount Logging) 

 
3. AND THAT Comments of the SCRD Natural Resource Advisory Committee and the 

West Howe Sound Advisory Planning Commission be provided to the Ministry; 
 

4. AND FURTHER THAT the recommendations be forwarded to the Regular Board 
meeting of September 6, 2018.   

BACKGROUND  

The SCRD received a Provincial referral from the Ministry of Forests, Lands, Natural Resource 
Operations and Rural Development (FLNRORD) to permit a log handling and storage facilty. 
The facility is located in Bailey Bay, near McNab Creek in Howe Sound (Figures 1 & 2). The 
referral package can be found in Attachment A. A location map and a plan of the facility and an 
application summary are provided below.  

The purpose of this report is to provide an analysis of the proposal and recommend a response 
to FLNRORD.  

 

Figure 1 – Location Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

facility 
location 

N 

McNab Creek 

Port Mellon 

202



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral CRN00062 for a Log Handling Facility (Black Mount 
Logging) – Electoral Area F Page 3 of 5 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report CRN00062 Log Handling (Black Mount Logging) 

Figure 2 –Facility Plan 

 

Table 1 - Application Summary 

Owner / Applicant:  Black Mount Logging 

Purpose: Log handling and storage 

Tenure Type: License of occupation  

Size: 2.3 ha 

Location: Bailey Bay near McNab Creek 

Legal Description: N/A 

Electoral Area: F – West Howe Sound 

OCP Land Use: N/A 

Land Use Zone: RU2 (Rural Two) for adjacent upland parcels 

Comment deadline: September 15, 2018 
 
DISCUSSION 

Bailey Bay is located on the north shores of Howe Sound between the mouth of Potlatch Creek 
and McNab Creek. It is located at an old log handling facility that was used a number of years 
ago for harvesting the timber in the area. Due to the steep topography in the area, it is one of 
very few locations suitable for watering wood along the shores of Howe Sound. The applicant 
proposes to develop a new log handling facility in the area. 

The subject area does not have a land use designation as it is outside the boundaries of any 
Official Community Plan of the SCRD. OCP policies are not applicable in this area. 

203



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral CRN00062 for a Log Handling Facility (Black Mount 
Logging) – Electoral Area F Page 4 of 5 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report CRN00062 Log Handling (Black Mount Logging) 

The surface of water of the subject area is not zoned under Zoning Bylaw No. 310.The adjacent 
upland areas are zoned RU2 (Rural Two), which permits a wide range of rural uses including 
forest management, manufacturing, storage, construction camp and sawmill. Where the water is 
not zoned, the foreshore use should reflect the upland use. Log handling and storage is part of 
forest management operation that is a permitted use. This application appears to comply with 
the upland RU2 zoning. 

The applicant has been in contact with the Sḵwx̱wú7mesh Nation but has not yet received any 
comments. The applicant should address any comments and concerns of the Sḵwx̱wú7mesh 
Nation prior to provincial approval of the application. 

The applicant has not engaged an archaeologist to assist archaeological investigation. The 
applicant should ensure that the Sḵwx̱wú7mesh Nation is contacted regarding archaeological 
potential in the area and that any work undertaken complies with the Heritage Conservation Act. 

The applicant has completed a marine assessment for the proposed development. The 
assessment report indicates that if the mitigation measures detailed in the report are 
implemented and maintained properly throughout the duration of the project, serious harm to the 
marine environment may be avoided. Measures and standards to avoid and mitigate serious 
harm recommended in this report must be followed during the construction, operation, and 
decommissioning of the site. These measures and standards should be incorporated into an 
environmental monitoring plan. 

SCRD mapping does not indicate any eelgrass beds in the vicinity. Eelgrass beds in or near the 
tenure area should be identified and protected. 

The project management plan should also address potential navigational concerns resulting 
from escaped logs or related wood debris. Any lost wood debris should be collected. 

Howe Sound is frequented by recreational users. The recreational and visual resources within 
the area are important. The project management plan should include measures to protect 
recreational and visual values. 

Upon the closure of the log booming sites, complete restoration of the tenure area should be 
established, including the removal of all industrial equipment and potential contaminates. 

The Regional District will also require a building permit and/or a development variance permit if 
any structures are to be constructed to access the facility.   

Options 

The Province requests SCRD to decide on one of the following options in response to the 
referral:  

1. Interests unaffected 
2. No objection to approval of project 
3. No objection to approval of project subject to conditions 
4. Recommend refusal of project due to reasons 

 

Staff recommend Option 3, subject to comments outlined in the Recommendations. 

204



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral CRN00062 for a Log Handling Facility (Black Mount 
Logging) – Electoral Area F Page 5 of 5 
 

2018-Sep-6 PCDC report CRN00062 Log Handling (Black Mount Logging) 

Consultation 

The Province referred this application to First Nations, SCRD and other agencies it identifies as 
appropriate. The applicant is responsible for advertising the application in a local paper to 
enable comments from the public. 

The proposal will be referred to the Natural Resource Advisory Committee (NRAC) and the 
West Howe Sound Advisory Planning Commission for review. Comments from these agencies 
will be forwarded to the Province. 

Timeline for Next Steps 

The Province extended the deadline to comment on this application to September 15, 2018 in 
order to obtain an SCRD Board Resolution. The Resolution will be forwarded to FLNRORD and 
final decision will be made by the Province.  

Recommendations from this report must be forwarded to the Regular Board meeting on 
September 6, 2018 in order to meet the extended deadline.  

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

The following SCRD Strategic Plan objectives and success indicators relate to the subject of 
this report: 

• Create and use an “environmental lens” for planning, policy development, service 
delivery and monitoring. 

CONCLUSION 

The SCRD was provided an opportunity to comment on a Provincial referral to permit a log 
handling facility at Bailey Bay in Howe Sound. The proposal was analyzed against applicable 
SCRD policies, bylaws and regulations. The proposal is found to have no perceivable negative 
impact on SCRD land use and services.  

Staff recommend that SCRD respond to the Province with the option that the SCRD has no 
objection to the project subject to conditions identified in this report, and that this 
recommendation be forwared to the Regular Board meeting on Septebmer 6, 2018.  

Attachments 

Attachment A – Referral Package 

 

 Reviewed by: 
Manager X- A. Allen Finance  
GM X- I. Hall Legislative  
CAO X- J. Loveys Other  

205



Tracking Number: 100228547  |  Version 1.1  |  Submitted Date: Nov 23, 2017 Page 1 of 5

Crown Land Tenure Application
Tracking Number: 100228547

Applicant Information
If approved, will the authorization be issued to
 an Individual or Company/Organization?

Company/Organization

What is your relationship to the
company/organization?

Employee

APPLICANT COMPANY / ORGANIZATION CONTACT INFORMATION
Please enter the contact information of the Individual/Organization who is acting on behalf of the applicant.

Name: Black Mount Logging Inc.
Doing Business As:
Phone: 604-898-5415
Fax: 604-892-5423
Email: drollins@bmlogging.com
BC Incorporation Number: 445892
Extra Provincial Inc. No:
Society Number:
GST Registration Number: 139075360RT0001
Contact Name: Dave Rollins
Mailing Address: 2021 Paco Road

Squamish BC  V8B0J6

CORRESPONDENCE E-MAIL ADDRESS
If you would like to receive correspondence at a different email address than shown above, please provide the correspondence email
address here.  If left blank, all correspondence will be sent to the above given email address.

Email: drollins@bmlogging.com
Contact Name: Dave Rollins

ELIGIBILITY

Question Answer Warning
Do all applicants and co-applicants meet the eligibility criteria

for the appropriate category as listed below?

Applicants and/or co-applicants who are Individuals must:
1. be 19 years of age or older and
2. must be Canadian citizens or permanent residents of

Canada. (Except if you are applying for a Private Moorage)

Applicants and/or co-applicants who are Organizations must
either:

1. be incorporated or registered in British Columbia
(Corporations also include registered partnerships,
cooperatives, and non-profit societies which are formed
under the relevant Provincial statutes) or

2. First Nations who can apply through Band corporations or
Indian Band and Tribal Councils (Band or Tribal Councils
require a Band Council Resolution).

Yes

TECHNICAL INFORMATION
Please provide us with the following general information about you and your application:

EXISTING TENURE DETAILS

Attachment A

206

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight



Tracking Number: 100228547  |  Version 1.1  |  Submitted Date: Nov 23, 2017 Page 2 of 5

Do you hold another Crown Land Tenure? Yes
Please specify your file number: FL A19215

If you have several file numbers, please make a note of at least one of them
above. Example numbers: 1234567, 153245, others

ALL SEASONS RESORTS
The All Seasons Resorts Program serves to support the development of Alpine Ski and non-ski resorts on Crown land. For more detailed
information on this program please see the operational policy and if you have further questions please contact FrontCounter BC.

Are you applying within an alpine ski resort? No

WHAT IS YOUR INTENDED USE OF CROWN LAND?
Use the "Add Purpose" button to select a proposed land use from the drop down menu.
If you wish to use Crown land for a short term, low impact activity you may not need to apply for tenure, you may be authorized under
the Permissions policy or Private Moorage policy.
To determine if your use is permissible under the Land Act please refer to either the Land Use Policy - Permissions or Land Use Policy -
Private Moorage located here.

Purpose Tenure Period
Log Handling
General Log Handling to permit
dumping and booming and short
term storage of camp run bundles
from TSL A79515 in the vicinity of
Potlatch Creek

Licence of Occupation Two to five years

ACCESS TO CROWN LAND

Please describe how you plan to access your
proposed crown land from the closest public
road:

Crew boat from our Dry Land Sort facility at Watts Point on Howe Sound.

LOG HANDLING

Specific Purpose: General Log Handling to permit dumping and booming and short term storage
of camp run bundles from TSL A79515 in the vicinity of Potlatch Creek

Period: Two to five years
Tenure: Licence of Occupation

TOTAL APPLICATION AREA
Please give us some information on the size of area you are applying for.

Please specify the area: 2.1 hectares

ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS
In many cases you might require other authorizations or permits in order to complete your project. In order to make that determination
and point you in the right direction please answer the questions below. In addition, your application may be referred to other agencies
for comments.

Is the Applicant or any Co-Applicant or their Spouse(s) an employee
of the Provincial Government of British Columbia?

No

Are you planning to cut timber on the Crown Land you are applying
for?

No

Are you planning to use an open fire to burn timber or other
materials?

No

Do you want to transport heavy equipment or materials on an No

207



Tracking Number: 100228547  |  Version 1.1  |  Submitted Date: Nov 23, 2017 Page 3 of 5

existing forest road?

Are you planning to work in or around water? Yes
1. If you will be working in or around fresh water, you will require a Water Sustainability Act Change Approval or
Notification from the Province.2. The federal Department of Fisheries and Oceans might need to review your
project.3. Review the Transport Canada website if the Navigation Protection Act applies.

Does your operation fall within a park area? No

LOCATION INFORMATION

LAND DETAILS

Please provide information on the location and shape of your Crown land application area. You can use one or more of the tools
provided.

 I will upload a PDF, JPG or other digital file(s)
MAP FILES

Your PDF, JPG or other digital file must show your application area in relation to nearby communities, highways, railways or other land
marks.

Description Filename Purpose
Overview Location File 1:50,000 C39W_Log_Dump_Overview_Loca... Log Handling

 I will upload files created from a Geographic Information System (GIS)
SPATIAL FILES

Do you have a spatial file from your GIS system? You can upload it here.

NOTE:  If uploading a .shp, please ensure that it is a polygon that has been projected in BC Albers in NAD83 format.

Description Filename Purpose
DBF File C39W_Log_Dump_Shapefiles.dbf Log Handling

PRJ File C39W_Log_Dump_Shapefiles.prj Log Handling

SBN File C39W_Log_Dump_Shapefiles.sbn Log Handling

SBX File C39W_Log_Dump_Shapefiles.sbx Log Handling

SHP File C39W_Log_Dump_Shapefiles.shp Log Handling

SHX File C39W_Log_Dump_Shapefiles.shx Log Handling

ATTACHED DOCUMENTS

Document Type Description Filename
General Location Map Overview Location Map C39W_Log_Dump_Overview_Loca

...

Log Handling and Storage
Prospectus

Prospectus prospectus (2).pdf

Other Management Plan management_plan PDF.pdf

208



Tracking Number: 100228547  |  Version 1.1  |  Submitted Date: Nov 23, 2017 Page 4 of 5

Other Marine Assessment Black Mount Bailey Bay New ...

Other Squamish Nation Referral Letter BML SQN Referral Email 23NO...

Site Plan Site Plan Ortho C39W_Site_Specific_Log_Dump...

Site Plan Site Plan with Improvements C39W_Site_Specific_Log_Dump...

PRIVACY DECLARATION

 Check here to indicate that you have read and agree to the privacy declaration stated above.
REFERRAL INFORMATION

Some applications may also be passed on to other agencies, ministries or other affected parties for referral or consultation purposes. A
referral or notification is necessary when the approval of your application might affect someone else's rights or resources or those of
the citizens of BC. An example of someone who could receive your application for referral purposes is a habitat officer who looks after
the fish and wildlife in the area of your application. This does not apply to all applications and is done only when required.

Please enter contact information below for the person who would best answer questions about your application that may arise from
anyone who received a referral or notification.

Company / Organization: Black Mount Logging Inc.
Contact Name: Dave Rollins
Contact Address: 2021 Paco Road

Squamish BC  V8B0J6
Contact Phone: 250-202-7848
Contact Email: drollins@bmlogging.com

 I hereby consent to the disclosure of the information contained in this application to other agencies, government ministries or
other affected parties for referral or First Nation consultation purposes.

IMPORTANT NOTICES

 Once you click 'Next' the application will be locked down and you will NOT be able to edit it any more.
DECLARATION
 By submitting this application form, I, declare that the information contained on this  form is complete and accurate.

APPLICATION AND ASSOCIATED FEES

Item Amount Taxes Total Outstanding Balance
Crown Land Tenure Application Fee $1,000.00 GST @ 5%: $50.00 $1,050.00 $0.00
OFFICE

Office to submit application to: Surrey

PROJECT INFORMATION

Is this application for an activity or project which
requires more than one natural resource
authorization from the Province of BC?

No

OFFICE USE ONLY
Office

Surrey
File Number Project Number

209

admitrie
Typewritten Text
2412032

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight

AutumnR
Highlight



Page 1 of 11Management Plan

Management Plan
  

Please describe the details of your project to the extent known. Consult the guidance document for further information on 
regulatory requirements, rational for why the information is required, and how to find required information. 

The scope and the timing for response will be provided. If information is requested and not received, it may result in the 
disallowance of the application.  

Information on these topics may be required as part of the application processing and if further detail is necessary that is not part 
of the application and management plan received, you will be contacted and requested to provide additional information. In some 
circumstances, the use of a qualified professional to complete the plan may be required. 
  

 

1.0 Background
 1.1 Project Overview
  Describe project for which authorization is requested, including construction and/or phased development details:

Bailey Bay is a log handling and storage area for camp run bundled logs, booming and short term storage of wood from TSL A79515 
Block C39W. The approximate volume is 24,000 m3. It is located on the north shore of Howe Sound between the McNab Creek and 
Potlatch Creek.  TSL 79515 expires January 2, 2020 but but can be extended to August 2, 2021 upon request. All activities would be 
completed by this time.  
 
The location was selected due to its proximity to the block and that the site was used previously for log handling and storage. The road 
accessing the block from Bailey Bay utilizes the same original road grade with the exception where changes were required due to the 
construction and installation of the hydro lines.  
 

  
 
 
1.2 Investigative Work
If any preliminary investigative work has been carried out, with or without an investigative authorization, provide details on 
work completed, incomplete or on-going from previous term.  
 

Activity Brief Description of Activity Status (e.g. Complete, 
incomplete, ongoing) Comments / Milestones

Re-engineering Block C39W

Originally Block C39W was 
engineered to harvest by 
Helicopter with a significant 
adverse fly upslope to the 
Potlatch Main. Upon 
investigation the old road 
network was found and the 
majority of C39W can be 
harvested by conventional 
means.

Complete Harvest Map Attached to 
Applicatoin

210



Page 2 of 11Management Plan

Activity Brief Description of Activity Status (e.g. Complete, 
incomplete, ongoing) Comments / Milestones

Marine Assessment
Dive and subsequent Marine 
Assessment for the proposed 
Log Handling Facility

Complete
Measures and standards to avoid 
and mitigate "serious harm" are 
detailed in the report. 

Add Row

 
1.4 First Nations Consultation

Describe any contact you may have had, including the name of the First Nation(s) and representatives contacted.

According to the Sea-to-Sky Licensee Chart Area / First Nations Territories Map dated July 20, 2012, the proposed development 
is within the Traditional Territory of the Squamish Nation. Information regarding the roads under application including the log 
dump location has been shared with the Squamish Nation. At the time of this application no comments have been received. 
 
Black Mount Logging forwards all of its information sharing with the Squamish Nation (Jeff Fisher, RPF @ jeff.sqomish@shaw.ca) 
 

211



Page 3 of 11Management Plan

2.0 Location
 2.1 Description
  Provide a general description of the location of the project:

Bailey Bay is located on the northern shores of Howe Sound between the mouth of Potlatch Creek and McNab Creek, north west from 
the tip of Avil Island. It is located at an old log handling facility that was used a number of years ago  for harvesting the timber in the area. 
Due to the steep topography in the area, it was used historically and is under application now, as it is one of the very few location 
suitable for watering wood along the shores of Howe Sound. 
 
Black Mount Logging Inc. (BML) proposes to extend the existing road to a rock knob 60 m to the east of the original log dump. This 
provides an area more suitable for dumping camp run bundles due to water depth etc. Historically, it appears the timber was watered 
using a parbuckle system into the shallow waters at the terminus of the old road. This method would not meet current standards for 
working in or around water. 

   
2.2 Location Justification
   Provide your reasons/justification of the need for this type of project at this location:

BML was awarded TSL79515 August 3, 2017. Block C39W was originally planned to be harvested using a helicopter and the timber to be 
flow upslope to the Potlatch Mainline. This flight path was selected due to the proximity of the BC Hydro power line, and the hazards and 
risk associated with flying wood over the lines. After further review of the block a route utilizing an old road grade and log dump was 
found. This change in plan would conventionally develop approximately 5,000 m3 of wood and allow for short favourable flights for the 
remaining volume in block C39W. The changing of the flight path from adverse to favourable will significantly reduce the costs 
associated with harvesting the volume from Block C39W.   
 
Based on the results dive assessment and the subsequent Marine Assessment Report, through implication of the  site-specific mitigation 
measures "serious harm" will be avoided. Thus making the site suitable for log handling and storage. 
 
The development of the Bailey Bay log handling facility could potentially be used in the future by BCTS. The road network develops  
conventional timber, allowing less valuable wood to be harvested and thus better logging the profile in the area. The area once 
decommissioned or when inactive would provide an additional area along the shores of Howe Sound for recreational kayakers to camp.  
 
 

   
2.3 Seasonal Expectations of Use
 When will the Project require use of the land?  Include information  on key works during construction phases as well as 
operations phase. Please reference reduced risk fish windows as required by DFO: 
 

Project Phase (Construction / Operations) Brief Description of Activity / Works Season

Construction Construction of Log Dump facility and 
installation of floating skidways

August 16-January 31 

Operation Helicopter Harvesting is restricted due to 
UWR adjacent to Block C39W. June 1 - November 15

Add Row

212



Page 4 of 11Management Plan

3.0 Infrastructure and Improvements
 3.1  Facilities and Infrastructure

Detail any new and existing facilities, infrastructure or processes proposed and any ancillary uses. Provide details of planned 
construction methods and materials, and construction scheduling.

Facility/Infrastructure/Process Construction Methods/Materials Construction Schedule

Dock Floating dock At the commencement of construction

Floating Skidways 80' steel floating skidway Upon completion of dump site construction, removed 
upon completion

Booming grounds A - sticks,  two anchors, and boomsticks as shown on the 
site plan Prior to harvesting operations, removed upon completion

Add Field

 
 
3.2 Access
Identify existing and proposed roads used for access and their use by season. Include any proposed connections to public or Forest Service Roads; traffic 
information including volume of traffic during construction/operation and phase or season that the traffic is expected:

Roadway/Proposed 
Connection Existing/Proposed Existing Road 

Classification

Road Permittee 
Information and Road 

Use Agreements

Traffic Volume

Construction Phase Operations Phase

Mitigation of Traffic 
Effects

Boat Access Existing - Watts Point 
DLS N/A N/A 2 trips per day 4 trips per day N/A

C39W-A Proposed Reactivation Non-status/New BML RP R21584 - Under 
applicatoin 0 16 loads per day N/A

Add Field

  
 
3.3 Utility Requirements and Sources
Describe utility requirements and sources, include agreements in place or underway allowing access to utilities.

None required.
213



Page 5 of 11Management Plan

 
 
3.4 Water Supply
Identify water requirements for construction and operation phases (e.g.  surface water and/or groundwater), including sources, location, volume  and a general 
description of infrastructure planned to meet water supply requirements, include any agreements outside of Water Act Authorizations identified above (Section I, 
Authorizations, Permits or Approvals), such as Municipal water supply.

Project Phase (Construction/
Operation)

Water Requirement (e.g. 
Surface water or ground 

water, etc)
Source/location Volume Infrastructure Description Agreements

N/A

Add Field

 
 
3.5 Waste Collection Treatment and Disposal
Identify water requirements for construction and operation phases (e.g.  surface water and/or groundwater), including: 

Project Phase (Construction/
Operation)

Water Requirement (e.g. 
Surface water or ground 

water, etc)
Source/location Volume Infrastructure Description Agreements

N/A

Add Field

214



Page 6 of 11Management Plan

4.0 Environmental
Describe any significant impacts and proposed mitigation for the following environmental classes:

 4.1 Land Impacts

  4.1.1 Vegetation Removal
Is any timber removal required?

Yes No

Are any areas of vegetation to be cleared, outside of timber removal?

Yes No

   
 
4.1.2 Soil Disturbance

Will there be any areas of soil disturbance, including clearing, grubbing, excavation and levelling?

Yes No

 
Is the area to be excavated a Brownfield site or has the potential to be contaminated?

Yes No

 
Is there potential for disturbance of archaeological, paleontological fossils or historical artifacts?

Yes No

   
 
4.1.3 Riparian Encroachment

 
Will any works be completed within or adjacent to the riparian zone of any water body?

Yes No

   
 
4.1.4 Pesticides and Herbicides

 
Will there be any use of pesticides or herbicides during construction, operations and/or maintenance?

Yes No

   
 
4.1.5 Visual Impacts

 
Will there be any adverse effects of the projects, and any potential adverse effects on sight lines to the project 
area from surrounding areas likely to be used for scenic viewing by residents or other users?

Yes No

215



Page 7 of 11Management Plan

   
 
4.1.6 Archaeological Sites

Are there any known or high potential (Arch Procedure) archaeological sites within the project area?

Yes No

  
Have you conducted an AIA or engaged an archaeologist to assist with your investigations?

Yes No

   
 
4.1.7 Construction Methods and Materials

Identify the types of construction materials, the methods used, their impacts, and any mitigations:

Construction Material/Method Impacts Mitigations

Steel floating skidways None N/A

Boom sticks None N/A

Rock anchors and cables Potential Refuse Remove cables once complete

Add Field

  
 
4.2 Atmospheric Impacts
  
  4.2.1 Sound, Odor, Gas or Fuel Emissions

    
Will the project construction or operation cause any of the following to disturb wildlife or nearby residents: 
(Best management practices for sound) 

Sound? Yes No

Odor? Yes No

Gas? Yes No

Fuel Emissions? Yes No

  
 
4.3 Water or Land Covered by Water Impacts

216



Page 8 of 11Management Plan

  
  4.3.1 Drainage Effects

  
Will the project result in changes to land drainage?

Yes No

  
  4.3.2 Public Access

  
Will the project result in changes to public access?

Yes No

  
  4.3.3 Flood Potential

  
Will the project result in a potential for flooding?

Yes No

  
 
4.4 Fish and Wildlife Habitat Impacts
  
  4.4.1 Disturbance to Wildlife and Wildlife Habitat

  
Will the project result in adverse effects to wildlife or wildlife habitat? 
(BC Wildlife Act)

Yes No

  
Will the project (construction or operations phase) occur in and around streams, lakes, estuarine or marine environments?

Yes No

Describe the fish habitat on or near the project site, include potential impacts of the Project (e.g. stream 
crossings, water diversions, etc), including seasonal considerations, and plans to manage/mitigate effects.

Project Phase Impacts Proposed Mitigations / Management

Construction and Operation None As stipulated in Section 7 of the Marine 
Assessment

Add Field

  
Is the project (construction or operations phase) likely to increase erosion or sedimentation?

Yes No

  
Will the project (construction or operations phase) require water diversion?

Yes No

217



Page 10 of 
11

Management Plan

5.0 Socio-Community
  5.1 Land Use

Describe the current community setting on or near the project area, including the location of non-aboriginal and aboriginal 
communities or known use areas. 

Bailey Bay is located 2.8 km east of the existing log handling facility in McNab Creek and 2.1 km west of the mouth of Potlatch Creek. 
There are recreational property owners at the mouth of McNab Creek and Potlach Camp located at the mouth of Potlatch Creek. 
Based on the location and duration of the proposed project, no impacts are expected.

   
5.1.1 Land Management Plans and Regional Growth Strategies

Are there any land and resource management plans, coastal plans, provincial, regional growth strategies or local 
government plans with zoning, or management policies or use restrictions in place that could limit or preclude your proposed 
use of the land? (Please refer to the Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM), and check the websites of the municipality, regional 
district or other organization with jurisdiction including your project area.) 

Yes No

   
  5.2 Socio-Community Conditions

5.2.1 Adjacent Users or Communities
Is the project likely to restrict public access, or the ability, or the ability of adjacent land owners or tenure holder to access 
their property or tenures?

Yes No

 
5.2.2 Existing Services

Provide a description any increased demand on fire protection and other health facilities and emergency  
services arising from your Project, including proposed management or mitigation measures.

N/A

218



 

 

MARINE ASSESSMENT FOR THE PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE BAILEY BAY LOG HANDLING 

FACILITY IN HOWE SOUND, BC 

 

 November 2017 

219



 

MARINE ASSESSMENT FOR THE PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE BAILEY BAY LOG HANDLING 

FACILITY IN HOWE SOUND, BC 
 
 

Prepared for: 
Dave Rollins, RPF, P.Eng 

Operations Engineer 
BLACK MOUNT LOGGING INC. 

2021 Paco Road, Squamish, BC, V9B 0J6 
 
 

Written by: 
Curtis Curkan, BSc 

 
Reviewed by: 

Adam Harding, RPBio 

 
Date: 

November 16th, 2017 
 

PACIFICUS BIOLOGICAL SERVICES LTD. 
P.O. Box 2760 

Port Hardy, B.C. 
V0N 2P0 

 
 
 

  

220



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  3 

Disclaimer 

You have requested our assistance in conducting a marine assessment for the 
development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC.  Amendments to 
Fisheries and Oceans Canada’s (DFO) Fisheries Act came into force on November 25th, 2013.  
Pertinent to this project, the scope of Section 35(1) was refocused to prohibit serious harm to 
commercial, recreational, or Aboriginal fisheries (CRA fisheries), or fish that support such 
fisheries.  While it is our professional opinion that the project as described will not result in 
serious harm, we cannot guarantee DFO’s interpretation without a submission for review. 
  

221



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  4 

Table of Contents 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY............................................................................................................... 5 

2.0 INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................ 6 

3.0 DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT .............................................................. 9 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT PROTOCOL ..................................................................... 10 

5.0 DESCRIPTION OF FISH AND FISH HABITAT ......................................................................... 15 

5.1 SUMMARY OF PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT .................................................................................... 15 

5.2 HABITAT SUMMARY .................................................................................................................... 15 

5.3 CRA SPECIES OBSERVATIONS .................................................................................................... 16 

5.4 DATABASE RESEARCH RESULTS ................................................................................................. 17 

5.5 COMMERCIAL AND RECREATIONAL INTERESTS ......................................................................... 18 

6.0 DESCRIPTION OF EFFECTS ON FISH AND FISH HABITAT ................................................. 24 

6.1 EXPECTED DURATION OF IMPACTS ............................................................................................. 24 

6.2 GEOGRAPHIC SCALE OF IMPACTS ............................................................................................... 25 

6.3 AVAILABILITY AND CONDITION OF NEARBY FISH HABITAT ...................................................... 25 

6.4 IMPACT ON THE RELEVANT FISH ................................................................................................ 26 

7.0 MEASURES AND STANDARDS TO AVOID, MITIGATE, OR OFFSET SERIOUS HARM TO 
CRA FISH ................................................................................................................................................... 28 

7.1 AVOIDANCE ................................................................................................................................. 28 

7.2 MITIGATION ................................................................................................................................ 28 

7.3 RESIDUAL SERIOUS HARM AND OFFSETTING MEASURES ............................................................ 29 

7.4 POST-OPERATIVE MONITORING .................................................................................................. 29 

9.0 CONCLUSION ............................................................................................................................... 30 

10.0 CHECKLIST FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE BAILEY BAY LOG HANDLING 
FACILITY IN HOWE SOUND, BC. ......................................................................................................... 32 

11.0 REFERENCES ............................................................................................................................... 34 

12.0 APPENDICES ................................................................................................................................ 35 

 
 
 

222



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  5 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Black Mount Logging Inc. (Black Mount) is in the planning stages of developing a new 

log watering facility within locally known Bailey Bay near McNab Creek in Howe Sound on the 

south coast of British Columbia.  As such, Pacificus Biological Services Ltd. (Pacificus) was 

contracted to conduct a marine biological assessment of the proposed site to determine the level 

of regulatory review necessary for project development.  Habitat at the site was of low 

productivity with the exception of a moderately dense (2-10 individuals/m2), shallow, 5m-7m 

wide band of green sea urchins fronting the proposed landing.  Although the site was of low 

productivity, six fish1 species of commercial, recreational, or Aboriginal (CRA) importance, or 

fish that support such species were observed.  Little macroalgae cover was observed at the site; 

however a 16-20m2 area of high intertidal grass and sedge was identified within the location of 

proposed infill.  As such, we recommend the use of Black Mount’s floating skidway to span the 

band of green sea urchins and that the intertidal grass and sedge be relocated to the west of the 

proposed log watering facility prior to intertidal infilling.  Despite the presence of several CRA 

species, if standard and site-specific mitigation measures are implemented, we do not anticipate 

that the proposed operations at the site should result in deleterious impacts to CRA fish species 

to a level that constitutes serious harm.  As such, it is our opinion that should the mitigation 

measures detailed in this report be implemented and maintained properly throughout the duration 

of the project, serious harm may be avoided and Black Mount will not be required to undertake 

offsetting measures at this proposed site.  This will be confirmed during a post-operational 

survey of the site.  Because avoidance and mitigation at the Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility 

will preclude serious harm, a DFO Review is not required.  Measures and standards to avoid and 

mitigate serious harm are detailed in this report, and must be followed during the construction, 

operation, and decommissioning of the site. 

                                                           
1 For the purpose of this report, as defined in the Fisheries Act, fish are defined as parts of fish, shellfish, 
crustaceans, and marine animals, and any parts of shellfish, crustaceans, or marine animals, and the eggs, sperm, 
spawn, larvae, spat, and juvenile stages of fish, shellfish, crustaceans, and marine animals. 

223



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  6 

2.0 INTRODUCTION 
Black Mount has proposed to develop a log handling facility within Howe Sound, within 

the locally known Bailey Bay near McNab Creek on the south coast of British Columbia, 

approximately 20km southwest of Squamish, BC (49° 34.158’N 123° 20.595’W; Figure 1).  

Within the vicinity of the proposed facility, historic log watering operations were conducted, 

however the specific history of the site is not known at this time.  As Black Mount now intends 

to develop a new log dump at the site, a thorough marine biological environmental assessment 

was conducted at the site to determine the necessary level of regulatory review for the project.  

As such, Pacificus was contracted by Black Mount to conduct a survey of the foreshore, 

intertidal, and subtidal habitat at and within the immediate vicinity of the site. 

The objectives of this assessment were to: 

• Determine the suitability of the selected site for the proposed operations; 

• Document physical and biological characteristics of the local marine habitat; 

• Determine if the proposed development is likely to cause serious harm to fish that 

are part of a commercial, recreational or Aboriginal fishery, or to fish that 

support such a fishery; 

• Describe the procedures for monitoring potential log handling related impacts 

specific to the Bailey Bay facility (if any); 

• Provide recommendations to avoid and mitigate potential construction or 

operational impacts; 

• Identify and quantify residual serious harm as a result of development and 

operation (if any). 

The survey was conducted over the course of one field day and included observations of 

the proposed landing and skidway locations, and foreshore and intertidal zones, as well as an 

underwater SCUBA examination of the lower intertidal and subtidal habitats.   

  

224



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  7 

The following report provides and/or identifies: 

• Description of the proposed development; 

• Description of fish and fish habitat; 

• Description of effects on fish and fish habitat; 

• Measures and standards to avoid, mitigate, or offset serious harm to fish that are 

part of a commercial, recreational, or Aboriginal fishery, or that support such a 

fishery, and the public interest; 

• Underwater video & still photos. 

 

225



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  8 

 

Figure 1.  Location of the proposed Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility near McNab Creek in Howe Sound, BC.

226



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  9 

3.0 DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
The Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility is located on the western shore of Howe Sound, 

approximately 2.8km northeast of McNab Creek.  At the proposed Bailey Bay Log Watering 

Facility, the remnants of a historic landing and road are present approximately 60m west of the 

proposed new facility.  Historic operations in the vicinity of the proposed site ceased 

approximately 70 years ago with an unknown volume of wood watered during historic 

operations (pers. comm. Dave Rollins, RPF, PEng (Black Mount) to Derek LeBoeuf, RPBio 

(Pacificus)). 

Development of the Bailey Bay facility will require blasting and intertidal infill to create 

the landing for the skidway location and the road leading to the landing, respectively.  The 

intertidal area that will require infill is approximately 65-75m2 and is located between the 

proposed and historic landing locations (Figure 2).  The site will require the installation of a 

skidway (Black Mount intends to use a floating skidway at the facility), establishment of a 

bullpen and booming grounds (best option either to the east or west of the skidway), and 

installation of a dock. 

Approximately 24,000m3 of harvested timber is planned to be watered through the site, 

with the potential for an additional 26,000m3 to a total of 50,000m3 to be watered through the 

facility (pers. comm. Dave Rollins, RPF, PEng (Black Mount) to Derek LeBoeuf, RPBio 

(Pacificus)).  After operation, the facility will be decommissioned and infrastructure will be 

removed from the site. 

 

 

227



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  10 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT PROTOCOL 
In order to assess the condition of the foreshore, intertidal, and subtidal zones, as well as 

suitability for the proposed development, a thorough examination of the proposed site at the 

Bailey Bay facility was undertaken.  Qualified marine biological professionals and WCB-

certified occupational SCUBA divers from Pacificus (Derek LeBoeuf, RPBio, and Curtis 

Curkan, BSc), accompanied by Dave Rollins, RPF, PEng, of Black Mount, assessed the site on 

October 5th, 2017.  Conditions on the date of assessment were clear with outflow winds, and 

minimal underwater current. 

Squamish (#7811) is the closest tidal station to the proposed log dump, located 

approximately 20km northwest of the site on the at the head of Howe Sound, and was used as the 

tidal reference station during this assessment.  The highest tidal height at this station for the past 

12 months was 5.1m and the tidal height at the time of the survey at approximately 08:20am was 

3.2m2.  Chart Datum is used as the depth reference in this report.   

Procedures for the survey followed the Information Requirements for Proposed Works 

and Activities Related to New Log Handling Facilities in Coastal British Columbia (DFO, 2009) 

jointly developed by DFO and the Coast Forest Products Association (CFPA).  The marine 

assessment was composed of two parts: a reconnaissance survey of the foreshore and nearshore 

environment, and a transect-based SCUBA survey to examine marine habitat and substrate in the 

intertidal and subtidal zones.  The reconnaissance survey included a review of marine charts, 

topographic maps, and operational maps of the site.  Once on site, biologists conducted an initial 

foreshore overview, collected depth soundings to determine if the proposed development area 

was suitable, and determined the appropriate locations to focus survey efforts.   

Four 60m-long transects originating at the HHWM were established perpendicular to the 

shoreline in order to thoroughly survey the marine environment.  Transect 1 was set along the 

bedrock cliff approximately 65m northeast of the proposed skidway location.  Transect 2 was set 

at the proposed skidway location.  Transect 3 was set of the southeastern extent of the proposed 

landing location approximately 19m west of the proposed skidway location.  Transect 4 was set 

along the southern extent of the infill from the historic log watering facility within Bailey Bay.  

In addition to the four transects, an underwater parallel to shore swim survey from approximately 

50m northeast of Transect 2 to approximately 15m east of Transect 4 was conducted.  The 
                                                           
2 http://www.tides.gc.ca/eng/station?sid=7811 (accessed 2/11/2017) 

228

http://www.tides.gc.ca/eng/station?sid=7811


Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  11 

purpose of this swim survey was to identify sensitive habitat features (e.g. eelgrass, clam beds, 

abalone habitat) that may exist along the shoreline at the proposed log watering facility.  

Transects and parallel to shore swims were numbered and geo-referenced, and are outlined in the 

site diagrams contained within this document (Figure 2; Photo 1; Photo 2). 

Fish habitat observations were recorded every 10m along each transect line and more 

frequently when significant changes in habitat characteristics occurred.  Substrate type (Table 1) 

and relative abundance was recorded along the length of each transect.  Estimates of abundance 

for marine flora, sessile fauna, and motile fauna within the survey area were also recorded.  

Abundance estimates were recorded as counts, percent coverage, or relative estimates, depending 

on the particular organism being assessed.  When using a count estimate, if the density of the 

organism was greater than 1/m2, a square-meter estimate is provided instead of a count.   

 

Table 1:  List of substrate types and accompanying definitions for use in underwater 
assessments (DFO, 2009: Table 1). 

 
 

 

Substrate Definition Size (mm)
Silt, clay, mud Loose sedimentary deposit <0.06
Sand Loose granular material 0.06-2
Gravel Loose rounded fragments of rock 2-64
Cobbles Loose stone larger than gravel, smaller than a boulder 64-256
Boulders A detached mass of rock >256
Bedrock Solid rock underlying unconsolidated surface material n/a
Shell hash Shell fragments of various organisms n/a
Wood waste Fine, coarse, and large woody debris material n/a

229



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  12 

 

Figure 2:  Site map for the proposed Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility with the proposed approximate layout of facility 
features, transect locations, and important biologic features.  Depth contours as illustrated are approximate. 

230



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  13 

 

Photo 1:  Overview of facility features at the proposed Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility.  Photo taken October 5th, 2017.  

231



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  14 

 

Photo 2:  Overview of transect locations at the proposed Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility.  Photos taken October 5th, 2016. 

232



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  15 

5.0 DESCRIPTION OF FISH AND FISH HABITAT 

5.1 SUMMARY OF PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT 
The shoreline of the proposed Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility was generally composed 

of two different substrate types.  From Transect 1 to Transect 3, the shoreline consisted of 

steeply sloped bedrock (Photo 3); while the shoreline was composed of bedrock, boulder, and 

cobble from Transect 3 to Transect 4.  The shoreline substrate in the vicinity of Transect 4 was 

composed of the infill from the historic log watering facility.   Along Transect 1 bedrock was 

present with cobble, silt, and boulder before transitioning to sand and shell hash, with boulder 

and silt (Figure 3).  Bedrock was present all along Transect 2, with shell hash, and sand.  

Bedrock was present along the entire length of Transect 3, with boulder, silt, and shell hash.  

Boulder was present along the entire length of Transect 4 with cobble, sand, and silt.  From 

Transect 1 to Transect 3 the foreshore was steeply sloped, while the foreshore to the west of 

Transect 3 was more gently sloped.  Bathymetry at the Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility was 

generally steeply sloped with with deep water being accessible along the entire length of the 

proposed facility (Table 2; Figure 4). 

 

5.2 HABITAT SUMMARY 
Habitat at the Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility was observed to be of low productivity. 

The intertidal zone was characterized by a limited cover of rockweed (Fucus gardneri) and green 

filamentous algae, while marine invertebrates in the intertidal zone consisted of acorn barnacles 

(Balanus glandula) and Pacific blue mussels (Mytilus trossulus).  Between Transect 3 and 

Transect 4, a pocket of high intertidal grass and sedge was identified.  This pocket of grass and 

sedge was approximately 8m long and ranged between 2m and 6m wide (Photo 4). 

Subtidal macroalgae observations at this site were limited to low to moderate coverage of 

rockweed, fringed sea colander kelp (Agarum fimbriatum; 10%), green filamentous algae (up to 

80%), and brown filamentous algae (up to 70%).  Coverage of macroalgae was sporadic 

throughout the assessment area with rockweed (up to 20%) being present on Transects 3 and 4 

from 0+000m to 0+010m, fringed sea colander kelp (10%) present on Transect 4 from 0+020m 

to 0+030m, green filamentous algae (80%) present on Transect 2 from 0+000m to 0+010m, and 

brown filamentous algae (up to 70%)  present on Transect 4 from 0+000m to 0+020m. 

233



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  16 

A total of 19 subtidal marine invertebrate species were observed on the date of 

examination.  These included giant plumose anemones (Metridium farcimen) and leather stars 

(Dermasterias imbricata) which were observed along all transects.  A variety of anemones were 

observed throughout the assessment area including short plumose anemones (Metridium senile; 

Transects 1 and 2), swimming anemones (Stomphia didemon; Transects 1 to 3), and tube 

dwelling anemones (Pachycerianthus fimbriatus; Transects 2 and 4).  Other observed marine 

invertebrate species considered of CRA importance included green sea urchin 

(Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis) up to 8-10/m2 located between 0+000m and 0+020m on 

Transects 1 to 3, giant sea cucumber (Parastichopus californicus; 44 individuals) along 

Transects 1 to 3 and parallel to shore swim, cloud sponge (Aphrocallistes vastus; 2 individuals) 

along Transects 2 and 3, and spiny pink scallop (Chlamys hastata; 1 individual) along Transect 

1. 

A total of six marine vertebrate species were observed at the site, including five species 

of CRA-listed finfish.  Blackeye goby (Coryphopterus nicholsi) were observed along every 

transect and the parallel to shore swim.  CRA fish observations included a single copper rockfish 

(Sebastes caurinus) observed along Transect 4, and a single brown rockfish (Sebastes 

auriculatus) observed on the parallel to shore swim.  Striped perch (Embiotoca lateralis) were 

observed throughout the site, while pile perch (Damalichthys vacca) were observed along 

Transects 1 and 4 and the parallel to shore swim, and shiner perch (Cymatogaster aggregata) 

were observed along Transect 4 and the parallel to shore swim. 

A comprehensive list of all species observed at the site with density abundances and 

spatial distribution information for each is provided in Appendix 3. 

5.3 CRA SPECIES OBSERVATIONS 
Eleven species of CRA importance, or species that support such species, were observed 

at the proposed Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility: 

• Cloud sponge (Aphrocallistes vastus) 

• Spiny pink scallop (Chlamys hastata) 

• Pacific blue mussel (Mytilus trossulus) 

• Green sea urchin (Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis) 

• Giant sea cucumber (Parastichopus californicus) 

234



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  17 

• Striped perch (Embiotoca lateralis) 

• Pile perch (Damalichthys vacca) 

• Shiner perch (Cymatogaster aggregata) 

• Copper rockfish (Sebastes caurinus) 

• Brown rockfish (Sebastes auriculatus) 

 For more detailed information regarding each observation and corresponding abundances, 

see Appendix 3. 

 

5.4 DATABASE RESEARCH RESULTS 
No federally-listed Species at Risk or provincially red- or blue-listed marine species, 

significant kelp forests, eelgrass beds, or clam beds are registered as being in proximity to the 

site (<100m) according to online mapping resources (iMapBC)3. 

The Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility is located within DFO’s herring spawn records 

Section 280 (Howe Sound), and there are no records of herring spawn occurring within 

immediate proximity of the proposed log watering facility4 (Appendix 1).  Records do indicate 

that herring spawn has occurred historically within Howe Sound, with the nearest locations 

occurring at the head of Howe Sound (14km northeast), and within Port Graves Bay on the 

southern shore of Gambier Island (10.5km south).  Should herring spawn occur at the site in the 

future, measures to accommodate for herring spawn have been included in the Mitigation 

Management Plan for this site (Appendix 4) 

This portion of Howe Sound is listed within online mapping resources (iMapBC) as an 

area utilized by killer whales (Orcinus orca) and harbour seals (Phoca vitulina).  A known 

harbour seal haulout is located on the southern portion of Anvil Island approximately 7km 

southeast of the proposed facility5.  Appendix 4 provides best practices to follow should whales 

transit the area. 

Online mapping records indicate the presence of an unnamed watercourse approximately 

205m to the east of the proposed skidway location.  No existing fish distribution information 

exists for this unnamed stream.  Potlatch Creek (WSC: 900-104300) is the nearest stream with 

                                                           
3 http://maps.gov.bc.ca/ess/sv/imapbc/ (accessed 6/11/17) 
4 http://www.pac.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/science/species-especes/pelagic-pelagique/herring-hareng/herspawn/134fig-
eng.html (6/11/17) 
5 http://maps.gov.bc.ca/ess/sv/imapbc/ (accessed 6/11/2017 

235

http://maps.gov.bc.ca/ess/sv/imapbc/
http://www.pac.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/science/species-especes/pelagic-pelagique/herring-hareng/herspawn/134fig-eng.html
http://www.pac.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/science/species-especes/pelagic-pelagique/herring-hareng/herspawn/134fig-eng.html
http://maps.gov.bc.ca/ess/sv/imapbc/


Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  18 

existing fish distribution data.  Potlatch Creek enters Howe Sound approximately 2.4km 

northeast of the proposed skidway location.  Potlatch Creek is a fish bearing system with records 

of anadromous fish including coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch), chum salmon (O. keta), 

chinook salmon (O. tshawytscha), steelhead (O. mykiss), and cutthroat trout (O. clarkii), as well 

as resident Dolly Varden char (Salvelinus malma), rainbow trout, and cutthroat trout6.  It is 

expected that operation of this site will not result in any adverse impacts to these systems during 

the operation of this site.  

 

5.5 COMMERCIAL AND RECREATIONAL INTERESTS 
The Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility is located within DFO’s Fisheries Management 

Area 28-47.  Online mapping records indicate the presence of a commercial prawn, shrimp, and 

crab fishery within this portion of Howe Sound8.  Should the suggested mitigation measures as 

described in this report be adopted, it is not anticipated that the proposed development will cause 

any impacts to commercial fisheries within the area.  

Online mapping records indicate the presence of recreational finfish and crab fisheries 

within approximately 8.2km south of the proposed Bailey Bay facility.  Although records do not 

indicate it, there is potential for Howe Sound to be utilized for recreational prawn, crab, and 

finfish fisheries within the vicinity of the Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility.  However, it is not 

anticipated that construction or operation of this log dump will have any adverse effects on the 

productivity of recreational fisheries in the area.  There are several Rockfish Conservation Areas 

located within Howe Sound.  The nearest Rockfish Conservation Area is the Domett Point 

Rockfish Conservation Area, located approximately 1.2km southeast of the proposed Bailey Bay 

facility9. 

                                                           
6 http://a100.gov.bc.ca/pub/fidq/infoSingleWaterbody.do  (accessed 6/11/2017) 
7 http://www.pac.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/fm-gp/maps-cartes/areas-secteurs/28-eng.html (accessed 8/11/2017) 
8 http://maps.gov.bc.ca/ess/sv/imapbc/ (accessed 8/11/2017) 
9 http://www.pac.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/fm-gp/maps-cartes/rca-acs/rca-acs/south-sud/DomettPointChart3512-eng.html 
(accessed 8/11/2017) 

236

http://a100.gov.bc.ca/pub/fidq/infoSingleWaterbody.do
http://www.pac.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/fm-gp/maps-cartes/areas-secteurs/28-eng.html
http://maps.gov.bc.ca/ess/sv/imapbc/
http://www.pac.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/fm-gp/maps-cartes/rca-acs/rca-acs/south-sud/DomettPointChart3512-eng.html


Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  19 

 

Photo 3:  Characteristics of the foreshore at the proposed Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility.  Photos taken October 5th, 2017. 

237



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  20 

 

Figure 3:  Substrate characteristics observed during the marine assessment at the proposed Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility 
on October 5th, 2017. 

238



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  21 

Table 2.  Position of transects and corresponding depths (meters) at 10m intervals at the proposed Bailey Bay Log Watering 
Facility. 

 
 

 

Transect 
Number Origin Bearing (true) Reading 0m 10m 20m 30m 40m 50m 60m 70m

Sounding n/a -3.0 -7.3 -12.2 -19.8 -25.6 -29.6 -35.4
Chart Datum n/a 0.2 -4.1 -9.0 -16.6 -22.4 -26.4 -32.2

HHWM 0.00 -4.9 -9.2 -14.1 -21.7 -27.5 -31.5 -37.3
Sounding n/a -7.3 -11.6 -16.8 -29.3 -37.2 -45.7 -50.9

Chart Datum n/a -4.1 -8.4 -13.6 -26.1 -34.0 -42.5 -47.7
HHWM 0.00 -9.2 -13.5 -18.7 -31.2 -39.1 -47.6 -52.8
Sounding n/a -6.1 -10.4 -17.7 -24.4 -26.8 -30.8 -34.1

Chart Datum n/a -2.9 -7.2 -14.5 -21.2 -23.6 -27.6 -30.9
HHWM 0.00 -8.0 -12.3 -19.6 -26.3 -28.7 -32.7 -36.0
Sounding n/a -1.2 -4.3 -9.1 -16.5 -19.2 -26.8 -36.0

Chart Datum n/a 2.0 -1.1 -5.9 -13.3 -16.0 -23.6 -32.8
HHWM 0.00 -3.1 -6.2 -11.0 -18.4 -21.1 -28.7 -37.9

176°

191°

217°

178°Transect 4
49° 34.166'N, 
123° 20.655'W

Transect 1 49° 34.176'N, 
123° 20.548'W

Transect 2 49° 34.158'N, 
123° 20.595'W

Transect 3 49° 34.159'N, 
123° 20.611'W

239



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  22 

 

Figure 4:  Bathymetric profiles for Transects 1 to 4 at the proposed Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility starting at the HHWM.  
Depths have been adjusted to depth at Chart Datum (Table 2), and the red line indicates the HHWM.  See Figure 2 for 

transect locations. 

240



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  23 

 

Photo 4:  Condition of marine habitat as observed at the proposed Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility.  A)  High intertidal grass 
and sedge located between Transects 3 and 4.  B)  Bedrock habitat observed along Transect 2.  C)  Bedrock and silt habitat 
observed along Transect 3.  D)  Lower portion of the moderately dense green sea urchin band observed along the parallel to 

shore swim.  Photos taken October 5th, 2017. 

241



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  24 

6.0 DESCRIPTION OF EFFECTS ON FISH AND FISH 
HABITAT10 
In conjunction with the field assessment, the potential effects and associated risks to the 

marine environment at the proposed Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility have been examined to 

determine: a) the level of risk arising from the project and its likelihood to cause serious harm, 

and b) the level of regulatory input required as a result (i.e. DFO Review, DFO Authorization).  

The following sections provide detail on potential risk as a result of the project, and incorporate 

advice provided in DFO’s Fisheries Protection Policy Statement (DFO, 2013c), and An 

Applicant’s Guide to Submitting an Application for Authorization under Paragraph 35(2)(b) of 

the Fisheries Act (DFO, 2013a).  

 

6.1 EXPECTED DURATION OF IMPACTS 
Some infill within the intertidal zone will be required and will exist permanently.  

However, the placement of infill will mimic the boulder and cobble habitat present from the 

historic infill present on site, and it is expected that the placement of this infill should not result 

in any overall changes to the habitat quality of the intertidal zone at the site.  Sedge grasses will 

be transplanted and therefore it is not expected they will sustain any long-term impacts. 

Deposited wood waste will remain within a localized area fronting the skidway on a long-

term scale of years.  However, the deposition of organic wood matter will not be permanent as 

wood waste will eventually decompose within the marine environment, become colonized by 

marine invertebrates, and/or redistribute due to tidal flushing.  As historic operations watered 

wood within the immediate vicinity of the proposed site, and with no evidence of historical 

operations present on the date of examination, it is expected that the site will recover to pre-

impact levels over time. 

Other impacts including shading of marine organisms due to the placement of a camp (if 

used), dock, and wood booms will be minimal, as these structures should occur in sufficient 

water depth.  Any impacts from these structures, should they occur, will be limited only to the 

operational span of the facility.  

                                                           
10 The headings in this section have been adopted from DFO’s Fisheries Protection Policy Statement (DFO, 2013) 
as a means to identify the relevant impacts and risk of causing serious harm to CRA species, or fish that support 
such species. 

242



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  25 

6.2 GEOGRAPHIC SCALE OF IMPACTS 
Infill will be limited to the upper intertidal zone in the area near the proposed landing and 

it is expected that the geographic extent of the infill will be limited to 75m2.  Of this 

approximately 16-20m2 is high intertidal grasses and sedge (which will be transplanted prior to 

construction), and approximately 50m2 is bare rock or rafted woody debris. 

During the development of the proposed site blasting will be required to construct the 

landing.  Provided that blasting follows the mitigation measures as described within this report, 

impacts from blasting should be confined to the immediate blast area. 

With respect to wood waste, due to the consistent, steeply-sloping, bathymetric profile of 

the site, we anticipate that debris will rapidly distribute to deeper depths where observed marine 

productivity is low and expected to decrease further with depth.  Booming will potentially occur 

to the east and/or west of the facility in an area of water deeper than 20m Chart Datum, and 

where productivity is low.  The placement of a dock is not anticipated to cause any impacts 

provided dock grounding is avoided. 

 

6.3 AVAILABILITY AND CONDITION OF NEARBY FISH HABITAT 
Our assessment indicates that the Bailey Bay site is comprised of low productivity 

habitat, with the exception of a shallow, moderately dense, 5m-7m wide band of green sea 

urchins as described above in Section 5.0 Description of Fish and Fish Habitat.  The shoreline 

and intertidal zone along the proposed facility consists of steeply-sloped bedrock and a section of 

modified shoreline from historic infill, with few marine species observed utilizing this habitat.  

Nonetheless, hard attachment points and interstitial space provided by rip rap are not limited in 

this area of Howe Sound as seen during observations of the shoreline in proximity to the site.  As 

such, any further modifications or impacts to the shoreline at this site, should they occur, are 

unlikely to result in a significant loss in the availability of intertidal habitat for marine organisms 

within the area.   

Our assessment indicates that the Bailey Bay site is composed of two primary subtidal 

habitat types.  The first is steeply sloped bedrock, boulder, and cobble that serves as an 

attachment point for a variety of marine invertebrates, and the second is a steep silt, sand slope 

with boulder and shell hash.  A thorough examination of the marine environment at this site 

indicates that neither of these two habitat types are limiting, either within the immediate vicinity 

243



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  26 

of the proposed site, or adjacent to the proposed site.  Similarly, as steep bedrock, boulder, and 

cobble are the main topographic feature along the shoreline within Howe Sound, it is expected 

that hard-bottom habitat for marine invertebrates is ubiquitous throughout Howe Sound.  As 

such, it is anticipated that any impact to a localized area of these two habitat types will not result 

in a significant decrease in the availability or condition of dominant habitat for fish in Howe 

Sound. 

 

6.4 IMPACT ON THE RELEVANT FISH 
Our assessment indicates that several species of CRA importance were identified within 

the area of the proposed log watering facility.  Although vertebrate fish species including two 

species of rockfish and three species of perch were observed during the survey, these fish were 

limited in number and we anticipate that they will either: a) relocate to similar, adjacent habitats 

and not sustain enhanced mortality rates or reduced fecundity or fitness, or b) remain in the 

vicinity, as past surveys suggest these organisms can reside in proximity to log handling 

facilities.  However, the moderately dense band of green sea urchins located fronting the skidway 

may be within the area of impact from wood watering activities.  As such, Black Mount has 

indicated they will use their floating skidway in an attempt to span the band of greens sea urchins 

fronting the landing.  It is anticipated that due to the steep bathymetry and migratory nature of 

urchins, that the floating skidways will span the band of urchins, deposit wood waste in deep 

water where bathymetry slopes steeply and should preclude any major wood waste 

accumulation, and that urchins should not experience any deleterious impacts during facility 

operation.  Cloud sponges identified at the proposed facility were small in size and limited in 

number, with no sponge reefs identified as seen elsewhere in Howe Sound.  Although these 

species may be sessile and fragile, it is anticipated that the steep bathymetry will preclude the 

development of any significant wood waste footprint, and avoid any deleterious effects to these 

species. 

Howe Sound is also an area that is known to have herring spawn during the late winter 

and early spring. Marine log handling operations which take place either in the vicinity of where 

herring historically spawn, or during times when herring are spawning, have the potential to 

cause harm to herring and their eggs.  As such, mitigation measures must be implemented at this 

site to ensure that herring do not experience impacts, including having a designated monitor for 

244



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  27 

herring activity and avoiding log bundle grounding as much as practicably possible to avoid 

increased sedimentation of the site and disturbance to intertidal and subtidal areas.  

Overall, our assessment indicates that the proposed site is of low productivity, with the 

exception of a moderately dense urchin band fronting the landing, has steep bathymetry, and has 

habitat that is typically ubiquitous throughout Howe Sound.  Due to the proposed operations, a 

localized area of benthic habitat may experience degradation due to the deposition of wood waste 

in the area fronting the skidway, and it is possible that marine invertebrates found within this 

area may experience increased mortality rates or reduced fitness.  However, given that habitat is 

of low productivity, impacts should be minimal, and over the long-term wood waste should 

distribute to deep water and not lead to significant accumulation, it is our opinion that the 

proposed activities will not result in any significant population-level impacts affecting the 

ongoing productivity of CRA fisheries in the region. 

245



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  28 

7.0 MEASURES AND STANDARDS TO AVOID, MITIGATE, OR 
OFFSET SERIOUS HARM TO CRA FISH 

7.1 AVOIDANCE 
The proposed site for the Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility has been located in such a 

way as to avoid some impacts to fish and fish habitat in the area.  Siting measures that have been 

adopted at this site in order to avoid serious harm include: 

• Skidway will be placed 100m from the mouth of any anadromous fish-bearing 

streams; 

• No tidal flats, salt marshes, kelp forests, large clam beds, or dense eelgrass beds 

located at the site; 

• Log storage will be located in water depths greater than 20m below Chart Datum; 

• Dock placement will occur in water depths where grounding does not occur. 

7.2 MITIGATION 
In order to further reduce the risk of causing serious harm to CRA fish species, the 

following mitigation measures should be adopted at the site: 

• Site construction should take place within the appropriate DFO timing window to 

avoid potential impacts during herring spawning (August 16 – January 31); 

• During landing and road construction, the small pocket of high intertidal grasses 

and sedge should be transplanted to a similar elevation within the rip rap of the 

historic infill near Transect 4.  If necessary, boulders should be rearranged to 

ensure successful transplantation of grass and sedge; 

• Black Mount’s floating skidway should be installed to span the band of greens sea 

urchins fronting the landing.  After skidway installation but prior to the 

commencement of wood watering activities, photographs of the installed skidway 

should be sent to a Qualified Environmental Professional (Pacificus) in order to 

confirm correct configuration and determine if any additional mitigation measures 

are necessary;  

• During landing construction, blast mats should be utilized to prevent the 

distribution of blast material into the marine environment; 

246



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  29 

• Boomsticks, stifflegs, and anchors should be utilized to ensure that the booming 

grounds and bullpen remain offshore in water of sufficient depth (>20m below 

Chart Datum); 

• Maintain a monitor for herring spawning activity in proximity to the site.  Consult 

an RPBio if these activities occur, and implement appropriate mitigation 

measures. 

See the site-specific Mitigation Management Plan in Appendix 4 for further details on 

general operation best management practices, debris management, and fish and fish habitat 

protection measures.   

7.3 RESIDUAL SERIOUS HARM AND OFFSETTING MEASURES 
Residual serious harm to fish is any serious harm remaining after the application of 

measures or standards to avoid or mitigate serious harm to fish.  We anticipate that this project 

will not result in any residual serious harm to fish, as measures and standards to avoid or 

mitigate impacts should sufficiently address all potential effects from this project.  As a result, 

Black Mount will not be required to adopt any offsetting measures should the measures and 

standards to avoid or mitigate serious harm be successful.   

7.4 POST-OPERATIVE MONITORING 
Upon cessation of logging activities, site de-activation and remediation should follow the 

Information Requirements for Proposed Works and Activities Relating to New Log Handling 

Facilities in Coastal British Columbia (DFO 2009).  Should the avoidance and/or mitigation 

measures described above not be successful, any residual serious harm due to logging activities 

at the Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility should be determined during a post-operational 

assessment.  Results from the post-operational assessment may be compared to the baseline pre-

operational biological assessment so that environmental changes can be identified.  The post-

operational marine assessment must be conducted by a qualified marine biological professional 

and take place within 60 days of site decommissioning. 

  

247



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  30 

8.0 CONCLUSION 
On October 5th, 2017, biologists from Pacificus conducted a thorough assessment of the 

proposed Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility in Howe Sound.  The proposed facility is within the 

vicinity of a historic log dump location that has not been used for approximately 70 years, and 

exhibits no remaining impact from previous forestry activities.  Biological productivity at and 

within the vicinity of the site was generally low, although a moderately dense, shallow, 5m-7m 

wide band of green sea urchins was observed fronting the proposed landing. 

Despite historic forestry operations being conducted within the vicinity of the proposed 

site, no wood waste footprint remains at the site.  As such, operation of the site may result in the 

generation of a new wood waste footprint in the subtidal zone.  However, due to the steep 

bathymetry fronting the proposed facility, it is anticipated that wood waste generated from 

operations will distribute to deeper, less productive waters, and not accumulate to any significant 

extent.  In addition, minor infilling within the intertidal zone is required to complete road 

construction to the proposed landing location.  Collectively, and despite the steep bathymetry, 

these activities have the potential to cause impacts to marine organisms inhabiting the site, which 

could result in the death of some individuals within a localized area, as well as potentially 

reduced fecundity, fitness, and longevity. 

As such, we have developed a mitigation plan including general and site specific 

mitigation measures which should be implemented and maintained throughout the duration of 

this project.  Site specific measures include construction of the proposed site occurring within the 

appropriate DFO timing window, the relocation of high intertidal grasses and sedges from the 

proposed intertidal infill location, the use of blasting mats during landing construction, and 

onsite monitoring for herring and herring spawn.  In addition, it is recommended that Black 

Mount use their floating skidway which has been used for previous log watering facilities in 

Howe Sound.  Due to the steep bathymetry fronting the proposed landing, and the design of 

Black Mounts floating skidway, it is anticipated that the floating skidway will span the band of 

green sea urchins fronting the proposed landing to deposit wood waste in deep water.  However, 

it is recommended that following installation and prior to the commencement of wood watering 

activities, photographs detailing the orientation and configuration of the skidway should be sent 

to a Qualified Environmental Professional (Pacificus) in order to determine the effectiveness of 

skidway placement (i.e. spanning the green sea urchin band), and if additional mitigation 

248



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  31 

measures are necessary.  Should these measures be implemented, it is our professional opinion 

that impacts may be localized within a small area fronting the skidway, and limited to an extent 

that should not cause any significant, long-lasting population-level effects to any species of CRA 

importance at this site.  Also, due to the steep bathymetry located at the site, it is anticipated that 

wood waste will distribute to deeper, low productivity waters, where CRA species are few in 

number.  Generally, those CRA species utilizing the site are either a) low in number (therefore 

should mortality of individuals occur, it will not result in a population-level effect), b) motile 

(e.g. fish) and therefore capable of migrating from the site upon commencement of wood 

watering activities, or c) resilient to perturbations from wood watering activities (e.g. sea 

cucumbers are often observed inhabiting wood waste footprints post-operation). 

As such, despite the deposition of wood waste that may occur, it is our professional 

opinion that the construction and operation of this site should not have a deleterious effect on any 

local or regional fish populations.  Therefore, collectively the proposed activities should not 

affect the ongoing productivity of any species of CRA species at the site to a degree that may 

cause serious harm.  Should the measures as described within this report be followed, it is our 

professional opinion that this project will not require a DFO review, and Black Mount may 

proceed with constructing the facility following the guidance in this report. 

 

249



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  32 

9.0 CHECKLIST FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE BAILEY 
BAY LOG HANDLING FACILITY IN HOWE SOUND, BC. 
This checklist has been developed to ensure Black Mount personnel are aware of the 

recommendations and mitigation measures proposed to ensure no serious harm occurs during the 
development and operation of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility. 

 A copy of this assessment report has been provided to the manager of the log handling 
facility. 
 

 A review of the Mitigation Management Plan for this site has been completed prior to 
construction activities and mitigation measures as prescribed are in place. 

 
 The skidway should be constructed using Black Mount’s floating skidway to attempt to 

span the band of greens sea urchins fronting the landing.  After skidway installation and 
prior to the commencement of wood watering activities, photographs of the installed 
skidway should be sent to a Qualified Environmental Professional (Pacificus) in order to 
determine the effectiveness of the skidway design and installation, and if any additional 
mitigation measures are necessary; 
 

 During blasting for landing construction, the use of blasting mats to prevent the 
distribution of blast debris to the marine environment is mandatory. 
 

 High intertidal grass and sedge located in the area of proposed intertidal infill should be 
relocated to a similar elevation in the vicinity of the historic landing.  Refer to Figure 2 
for transplant location. 
 

 Log storage should be located in water at least 20m deep at Chart Datum and float camps 
(if used) in at least 12m. 
 

 Stiff legs and anchors have been used to ensure log booms and the camp (if used) do not 
come into contact with the shoreline. 
 

 Consideration has been given to navigational requirements in Howe Sound when 
determining placement of facility components (log storage, float camp if used).   
 

 No construction activities occur beneath the HHWM of the site with the exception of 
skidway placement and anchor placement for bullpen and booming ground construction. 
 

 Black Mount personnel have been made aware of the protocols to be followed if CRA 
finfish (e.g. herring) are observed and/or when marine mammals approach within the 
vicinity of the site. 
 

 A daily logbook is on site to record observations of wildlife, debris mitigation measures, 
and cleanup activities. 
 

250



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  33 

 The contractor is made aware of company Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs), 
fueling responsibilities, and spill response procedures. 
 

 All new workers on site have been briefed on the requirements at this site prior to 
initiating work.  

251



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  34 

10.0 REFERENCES 
DFO (2009).  “Information Requirements for Proposed Works and Activities Related to New 

Log Handling Facilities in Coastal British Columbia.” Fisheries and Oceans Canada. 
2010: 23p. 

 
DFO (2013a).  “An Applicant's Guide to Submitting an Application for Authorization under 

Paragraph 35(2)(b) of the Fisheries Act.” Fisheries and Oceans Canada. November 2013 
(Ecosystems Programs Canada) 23p. 

 
DFO (2013b).  “Fisheries Productivity Investment Policy:  A Proponents Guide to Offsetting.” 

Fisheries and Oceans Canada. November 2013 (Ecosystem Programs Canada): 22p. 
 
DFO (2013c).  “Fisheries Protection Policy Statement.” Fisheries and Oceans Canada. October 

2013 (Ecosystem Programs Canada): 22p. 
 
DFO (2013d). “Science Advice to Support Development of a Fisheries Protection Policy for 

Canada.” Fisheries and Oceans Canada. May 2013 (Canadian Science Advisory 
Secretariat): 2012/063, 22p. 

 
 

252



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  35 

11.0 APPENDICES 

253



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  36 

 

Appendix 1:  Proximity of historical herring spawn locations to the dump site in Howe 
Sound.11  

                                                           
11 http://www.pac.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/science/species-especes/pelagic-pelagique/herring-hareng/herspawn/280fig-
eng.html (accessed 6/11/2017) 

254

http://www.pac.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/science/species-especes/pelagic-pelagique/herring-hareng/herspawn/280fig-eng.html
http://www.pac.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/science/species-especes/pelagic-pelagique/herring-hareng/herspawn/280fig-eng.html


Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  37 

 

Appendix 2:  Site map provided by Black Mount to Pacificus for the Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility.

255



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.   Page 38 

Appendix 3:  Detailed biological description of the study site. 

Tables 3 to 6 list the marine biota observed during the transect surveys of the 

environmental assessment at the proposed development site, and provide abundance / density 

estimates for marine flora and fauna.  Table 7 provides estimates of species abundance for the 

parallel to shore swim conducted by biologists.   

 
  

256



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.   Page 39 

Table 3:  Summary of organisms and environmental features observed along Transect 1.  Potential CRA species are 
highlighted in light grey.   

 
  

Common Name Scientific Name Abundance
acorn barnacle Balanus glandula 20%
Pacific blue mussel Mytilus trossulus 30%
green sea urchin Strongylcentrotus droebachiensis 4/m²

leather star Dermasterias imbricata 1
striped perch Embiotoca lateralis 10
green sea urchin Strongylcentrotus droebachiensis 2/m²

leather star Dermasterias imbricata 2
blackeye goby Coryphopterus nicholsi 4
striped perch Embiotoca lateralis 15
pile perch Damalichthys vacca 5
giant plumose anemone Metridium farcimen 13
umbrella crab Cryptolithoides sitchensis 1
leather star Dermasterias imbricata 2
blackeye goby Coryphopterus nicholsi 3
shiner perch Cymatogaster aggregata ~200
giant plumose anemone Metridium farcimen 3
swimming anemone Stomphia didemon 1
spiny pink scallop Chlamys hastata 1
rainbow star Orthasterias koehleri 1
giant sea cucumber Parastichopus californicus 3
blackeye goby Coryphopterus nicholsi 4
short plumose anemone Metridium senile 2
giant plumose anemone Metridium farcimen 1

-16.6040m boulder, sand, silt, shell hash

-22.40 boulder, sand, silt, shell hash

TRANSECT #1

30m -9.00 bedrock, boulder, silt 

bedrock, boulder, silt-4.1020m

50m

Biota
Transect Location Chart Datum (m) Substrate

10m 0.20 bedrock, cobble

257



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.   Page 40 

Table 4:  Summary of organisms and environmental features observed along Transect 2.  Potential CRA species are 
highlighted in light grey.   

 
  

Common Name Scientific Name Abundance
green filamentous algae 80%
Pacific blue mussel Mytilus trossulus 60%
acorn barnacle Balanus glandula 20%
leather star Dermasterias imbricata 3
green sea urchin Strongylcentrotus droebachiensis 10/m²

striped perch Embiotoca lateralis 3
crustose corallines 60%
giant plumose anemone Metridium farcimen 2
tube dwelling anemone Pachycerianthus fimbriatus 1
leather star Dermasterias imbricata 1
giant sea cucumber Parastichopus californicus 4
blackeye goby Coryphopterus nicholsi 2
crustose corallines 20%
swimming anemone Stomphia didemon 2
orange cup coral Balanophyllia elegans 1
giant sea cucumber Parastichopus californicus 5
green sea urchin Strongylcentrotus droebachiensis 1
giant plumose anemone Metridium farcimen 1
swimming anemone Stomphia didemon 1
crimson anemone Cribrinopsis fernaldi 1
tube dwelling anemone Pachycerianthus fimbriatus 1
vermilion star Mediaster aequalis 1
grey brittle star Ophuira lütkeni 3/m²

giant sea cucumber Parastichopus californicus 4

TRANSECT #2
Biota

10m -4.10 bedrock

bedrock, sand, shell hash-13.6030m

Transect Location Chart Datum (m) Substrate

20m -8.40 bedrock, sand, shell hash

40m -26.10 bedrock, sand, shell hash

258



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.   Page 41 

Table 4: Continued 

 

Common Name Scientific Name Abundance
cloud sponge Aphrocallistes vastus 1
short plumose anemone Metridium senile 1
crimson anemone Cribrinopsis fernaldi 4
swimming anemone Stomphia didemon 3
tube dwelling anemone Pachycerianthus fimbriatus 2
orange cup coral Balanophyllia elegans 2/m²

California lamp shell Laqueus californicus 1/m²

squat lobster Munida quadrispina 5
giant sea cucumber Parastichopus californicus 8
grey brittle star Ophuira lütkeni 1/m²
blackeye goby Coryphopterus nicholsi 1

Transect Location Chart Datum (m) Substrate
Biota

50m -34.00 bedrock, sand, shell hash

259



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.   Page 42 

Table 5:  Summary of organisms and environmental features observed along Transect 4.  Potential CRA species are 
highlighted in light grey.   

 
 

 
  

Common Name Scientific Name Abundance
rockweed Fucus gardneri 20%
acorn barnacles Balanus glandula 50%
Pacific blue mussel Mytilus trossulus 20%
leather star Dermasterias imbricata 2
green sea urchin Strongylcentrotus droebachiensis 8/m²

striped perch Embiotoca lateralis 9
crustose corallines 20%
giant plumose anemone Metridium farcimen 3
orange cup coral Balanophyllia elegans 1/m²

leather star Dermasterias imbricata 1/m²
giant sea cucumber Parastichopus californicus 5
green sea urchin Strongylcentrotus droebachiensis 1/m²
cloud sponge Aphrocallistes vastus 1
giant plumose anemone Metridium farcimen 1/m²
swimming anemone Stomphia didemon 2
orange cup coral Balanophyllia elegans 1
giant sea cucumber Parastichopus californicus 2
red sea cucumber Cucumaria miniata 1
blackeye goby Coryphopterus nicholsi 1
giant plumose anemone Metridium farcimen 4
swimming anemone Stomphia didemon 2

TRANSECT #3

40m -21.20 bedrock, silt, shell hash

20m -7.20 bedrock, boulder, silt

30m -14.50 bedrock, silt, shell hash

Chart Datum (m) Substrate
Biota

10m -2.90 bedrock

Transect Location

260



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.   Page 43 

Table 6:  Summary of organisms and environmental features observed along Transect 5. Potential CRA species are 
highlighted in light grey.   

 
 

Common Name Scientific Name Abundance
rockweed Fucus gardneri 20%
brown filamentous algae 30%
Pacific blue mussel Mytilus trossulus 15%
acorn barnacle Balanus glandula 30%
shiner perch Cymatogaster aggregata ~100
striped perch Embiotoca lateralis 15
pile perch Damalichthys vacca 20
bown filamentous algae 70%
crustose corallines 20%
leather star Dermasterias imbricata 2/m²

copper rockfish Sebastes caurinus 3
blackeye goby Coryphopterus nicholsi 1
fringed sea colander kelp Agarum fimbriatum 10%
crustose corallines 10%
giant plumose anemone Metridium farcimen 1
blackeye goby Coryphopterus nicholsi 3
giant plumose anemone Metridium farcimen 5
tube dwelling anemone Pachycerianthus fimbriatus 3/m²

TRANSECT #4
Biota

30m -5.90 boulder, sand, silt

40m -13.30 boulder, sand, silt

Transect Location Chart Datum (m) Substrate

20m -1.10 boulder, cobble, sand, silt

10m 2.00 boulder, cobble

261



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.   Page 44 

Table 7:  Summary of organisms and environmental features observed along the Parallel to Shore Swim.  Potential CRA 
species are highlighted in light grey.   

 
 

Common Name Scientific Name Abundance
crustose corallines 80%
giant sea cucumber Parastichopus californicus 6
green sea urchin Strongylcentrotus droebachiensis 2-10/m²

Pacific sea peach Halocynthia aurantium 2
blackeye goby Coryphopterus nicholsi 2
crustose corallines 80%
giant plumose anemone Metridium farcimen 4
leather star Dermasterias imbricata 9
green sea urchin Strongylcentrotus droebachiensis 2-10/m²
giant sea cucumber Parastichopus californicus 7
striped perch Embiotoca lateralis 10
pile perch Damalichthys vacca 3
brown rockfish Sebastes auriculatus 1
brown filamentous algae 40%
crustose corallines 60%
leather star Dermasterias imbricata 1/m²

rainbow star Orthasterias koehleri 1
mottled sea star Evasterias troschelii 2
green sea urchin Strongylcentrotus droebachiensis 1/m²
red sea cucumber Cucumaria miniata 4
shiner perch Cymatogaster aggregata ~50
striped perch Embiotoca lateralis 30
pile perch Damalichthys vacca 20
blackeye goby Coryphopterus nicholsi 1/m²

T3 - POT bedrock, boulder, cobble

POC - T2 bedrock

T2 - T3 bedrock, boulder, cobble

Transect Location Chart Datum (m) Substrate
Biota

PARALLEL TO SHORE SWIM

262



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.   Page 45 

Appendix 4:  Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility Mitigation Management Plan. 

These mitigation measures apply to the Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility.  The objective 

of the plan is to avoid and mitigate causing serious harm to CRA fisheries, or fish that support 

such fisheries.  This plan has been adapted from DFO’s Information Requirements for Proposed 

Works and Activities Related to New Log Handling Facilities in Coastal British Columbia (DFO, 

2009), DFO’s Fisheries Protection Policy Statement (DFO, 2013c), and DFO’s website 

Measures to Avoid Causing Harm to Fish and Fish Habitat12. 

Site-Specific Mitigation Measures 

• Site construction should take place within the appropriate DFO timing window to avoid 

potential impacts during herring spawning (August 16 – January 31); 

• During landing and road construction, the small pocket of high intertidal grasses and 

sedge should be transplanted to a similar elevation within the rip rap of the historic infill 

near Transect 4.  If necessary, boulders should be rearranged to ensure successful 

transplantation of grass and sedge; 

• Black Mount’s floating skidway should be installed to span the band of greens sea 

urchins fronting the landing.  After skidway installation but prior to the commencement 

of wood watering activities, photographs of the installed skidway should be sent to a 

Qualified Environmental Professional (Pacificus) in order to confirm correct 

configuration and determine if any additional mitigation measures are necessary;  

• During landing construction, blast mats should be utilized to prevent the distribution of 

blast material into the marine environment; 

• Boomsticks, stifflegs, and anchors should be utilized to ensure that the booming grounds 

and bullpen remain offshore in water of sufficient depth (>20m below Chart Datum); 

• Maintain a monitor for herring spawning activity in proximity to the site.  Consult an 

RPBio if these activities occur, and implement appropriate mitigation measures. 

 

  

                                                           
12 http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/pnw-ppe/measures-mesures/index-eng.html (accessed 26/05/15) 

263

http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/pnw-ppe/measures-mesures/index-eng.html


Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.   Page 46 

General Operation Mitigation Measures 

• Enclose all log dump sites with a ring of boomsticks to prevent escape of log bundles and 

floating wood debris.   

• To prevent boomsticks (for log dump and booming areas) from collapsing onto the 

shoreline, keep boomsticks offshore with stiff legs and/or anchors.  If anchors are 

required, anchor lines, chains or cables should be used so that excess line does not collect 

on the bed of the waterbody or form loops that may ensnare marine mammals.  If 

concrete anchors are used, they are to be pre-cast and cured away from water before use 

to prevent toxic leachate. 

• Log storage will located in water at least 20m deep at Chart Datum and float camps (if 

used) in at least 12m. 

• Prevent log bundles from coming into contact with the ocean bottom as much as 

practicably possible. 

• Where practicable, grade and slope the dumping platform surface so that water drains to 

the rear of the site where it can be filtered to remove leachate and fine wood waste before 

entering freshwater streams, wetlands, or marine waters.  Employ sumps where possible 

and maintain regularly. 

• Float camps must be equipped with appropriate sewage containment and/or treatment 

facilities to prevent discharge of deleterious substances to fish-bearing waters.  Ensure 

that deleterious substances do not enter marine waters. 

• Ensure barges, float camps, boats, and docks do not ground and come into direct contact 

with the seafloor. 

• Keep emergency spill kits and spill response plans on-site at all times. 

• Consult DFO’s Measures to Avoid Causing Harm to Fish and Fish Habitat website to 

ensure most the most recent and relevant guidance has been sourced (http://www.dfo-

mpo.gc.ca/pnw-ppe/measures-mesures/index-eng.html). 

 

  

264

http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/pnw-ppe/measures-mesures/index-eng.html
http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/pnw-ppe/measures-mesures/index-eng.html


Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.   Page 47 

Debris Management Plan 

General 

• All staff working on the log dump site must be briefed on the Debris Management Plan 

prior to initiating work on the site. 

Minimize Debris Generation 

• If logs are sorted or handled on land prior to being bundled, limb them and collect loose 

bark, limbs, and wood debris as much as practicable before logs are transferred into the 

water. 

• Ensure log bundles are tightly secured to prevent escape, breakage or excessive shifting 

during handling on the skidway and during watering activities.  Loose debris, excess 

limbs and wood chunks should not be in the bundles. 

• Avoid violent dumping of log bundles by constructing the angle of the skidway so that 

log bundle velocity is minimized. 

• Minimize the duration of in-water log storage to reduce abrasion of bundles and 

deposition of bark and wood debris in the marine environment. 

Debris Containment and Collection 

• Wood waste generated as logs are moved from the dumping platform onto the skidway 

should be contained to facilitate removal and prevent deposition into the marine 

environment.  The dumping platform should be cleaned daily, or as required, to prevent 

wood debris accumulation and deposition on the marine foreshore. 

• A berm constructed of non-erodible materials (e.g. brow logs, blasted rock, or concrete 

lock blocks) must be established around the seaward edge of the dumping platform to 

facilitate wood debris clean-up and prevent loss of wood debris onto the marine 

foreshore. 

• Collect and remove bark and wood waste deposited at the skidway and on the adjacent 

upland, intertidal, and shallow foreshore areas regularly.  Remove wood waste to 

appropriate designated temporary or permanent upland disposal locations only, such that 

there will be no impact to riparian vegetation, fresh water streams, wetlands, or marine 

waters. 

• Solid waste (cables, metal bands, machinery parts, metal drums, lubricant containers, 

etc.) should be regularly collected and removed to an appropriate designated upland 

265



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.   Page 48 

disposal location where it is not permitted to enter riparian vegetation, fresh water 

streams, wetlands, or marine waters. 

• Maintain daily log book records of the debris management measures taken to reduce, 

remove, and monitor wood debris from the upland sort surface and the tidal marine 

foreshore areas. 

 

Fish and Fish Habitat Protection Plan 

Measures to Protect Key Species 

Marine Mammals 

• Ensure that operational activities do not disturb marine mammals.   

o To avoid disturbance, as much as practicably possible, follow DFO’s How to 

Watch Marine Wildlife guidelines for vessels operating near whales, dolphins and 

porpoises: be cautious, slow down (<7kts), keep clear of the animals’ path and do 

not approach or position vessels within 100m of a whale.  If a vessel is 

unexpectedly within 100m of a whale, stop or keep the boat stationary and let the 

animal pass. (see http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/fm-gp/mammals-mammiferes/viewing-

observation-eng.html  for more information). 

o This may also involve the temporary suspension of work should marine 

mammals approach the site. 

Fish and Fish Habitat 

• Operation of the Bailey Bay Log Watering Facility outside of the least risk work window 

(Area 28 – Vancouver:  No summer work window, August 16 – January 31 (winter))13 is 

possible, however, Black Mount should employ additional precautionary measures.  This 

may include maintaining a “Fish and Fish Habitat Monitoring Form” to monitor and 

assess presence of CRA fishery species and migrating salmon, and implement appropriate 

mitigation measures.  It is recommended that a Qualified Biological Professional be 

available for consultation. 

  

                                                           
13 http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/pnw-ppe/timing-periodes/bc-n-eng.html#area-28 (accessed 6/11/2017).  This area 
includes all of Howe Sound and Burrard Inlet, from Fraser River North Arm Jetty (Excluded) to Gibson’s Landing 
(included).  Howe Sound is defined as inland from Point Atkinson to Gibson’s Landing including islands. 

266

http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/fm-gp/mammals-mammiferes/viewing-observation-eng.html
http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/fm-gp/mammals-mammiferes/viewing-observation-eng.html
http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/pnw-ppe/timing-periodes/bc-n-eng.html#area-28


Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.   Page 49 

Measures to Protect Fish and Fish Habitat During the use of Explosives 

• Time in-water work (if necessary) requiring the use of explosives to prevent disruption of 

vulnerable fish life stages, including eggs and larvae, by adhering to appropriate fisheries 

timing windows (August 16 – January 31); 

• If necessary, isolate the work site to exclude fish from within the blast area by using, for 

example, bubble/air curtains, cofferdams or aquadams; 

• If necessary, remove any fish trapped within the isolated area and release unharmed 

beyond the blast area prior to initiating blasting; 

• Minimize blast charge weights used and subdivide each charge into a series of smaller 

charges in blast holes (i.e. decking) with a minimum 25 millisecond delay between 

charge detonations; 

• Back-fill blast holes (stemmed) with sand or gravel to grade or to water interface to 

confine the blast; 

• Place blasting mats over top of holes to minimize scattering of blast debris around the 

area; 

• Do not use ammonium nitrate based explosives in or near water due to the production of 

toxic by-products; 

• Remove all blasting debris and other associated equipment/products from the blast area. 

Measures to Protect Herring and Herring Spawning 

An on-site worker should be designated the Herring Spawn Monitor and daily 

observations should be kept by this person.  Refer to Appendix 5 for an example of the daily Fish 

and Fish Habitat Monitoring and Activity log.  The designated Herring Monitor(s) will require 

training by a qualified environmental professional (QEP).  Immediately contact the QEP 

(Pacificus) for advice if herring have been observed in the area, or if there is any question 

about the presence of herring within the vicinity of log handling operations.  Site visits will be 

conducted by a QEP on an as-needed basis as soon as herring have been observed within the 

area; daily monitoring by the on-site operator should continue during this period.   

Operations conducted outside of the historical spawn window should still be prepared for 

the possibility of a spawn occurrence, considering the poor historical record for much of the area.  

The following best management practices should be followed at any time of year: 

267



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.   Page 50 

• On-site operators should have a general awareness about Pacific herring and potential 

conflict with operations, 

• During the spawning season daily observations should be conducted and recorded, 

• If spawning Pacific herring are noted within 1 km of the site, works should stop 

immediately, resumption of operation may only occur upon consultation with the QEP. 

• If herring should happen to enter the operational area unnoticed and spawn successfully, 

the spawn sites must be left undisturbed until hatching has occurred.  Spawn usually 

occurs on marine vegetation, but log bundles, cables, dock structures, and other 

equipment can be affected.  These items must also be left undisturbed. 

• Marine mammals or birds associated with schools of fish or spawn must be protected 

against potential impacts.  

• If schooling fish (Pilchard or Herring), marine mammals or birds could potentially be 

harmed, then works must stop until the animals are out of harm’s way. 

• If schooling fish (Herring or Pilchard) are observed in the direct vicinity of the log 

handling facility, suspend operations and contact the designated QEP immediately for 

direction – possible site visit may be required before works resume. 

 

Sediment and Erosion Control Plan 

Develop and implement a sediment and erosion control plan for the site that minimizes 

the risk of sedimentation of the marine environment during all phases of the project including 

infill.  Sediment and erosion control measures should be maintained until all ground, if disturbed, 

has been permanently stabilized, suspended sediment, if produced, has resettled in the marine 

environment, and any runoff, should it occur, is clear.  The plan should, if necessary, include: 

• Installation of effective erosion and sediment control measures before starting work to 

prevent sediment from entering the marine environment. 

• If necessary (e.g. if the risk of significant sedimentation is high), site isolation measures 

(e.g. silt curtain) for containing suspended sediment where in-water work is required. 

• Measures for containing and stabilizing waste material (e.g. wood waste) above the 

HHWM to prevent re-entry. 

• Regular inspection and maintenance of sediment and erosion control measures and 

structures during the course of their use. 

268



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.   Page 51 

• Repairs to sediment and erosion control measures and structures if damage occurs. 

• Removal of non-biodegradable erosion and sediment control materials once the site is 

stabilized and sediment and erosion control measures are no longer needed. 

  

269



Marine Assessment for the Proposed Development of the Bailey Bay Log Handling Facility in Howe Sound, BC 

Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.   Page 52 

Contaminant and Spill Management 

This spill monitoring response plan and procedures will be used to mitigate the negative 

effects to fish and fish habitat should a petroleum, oil, or fuel spill occur.  Appropriate fuel 

handling and storage procedures should be implemented to prevent the discharge of deleterious 

substances to the marine environment.  The following mitigation measures should also be taken: 

• Emergency spill kits and spill response plans should be kept on-site.  All machinery 

should be equipped with an emergency spill kit and a spill response plan. 

• All petroleum products should be identified, handled and stored appropriately. 

• Machinery should be used and stored only within designated areas and not be allowed to 

operate within the intertidal zone. 

• Industrial debris (i.e. machinery parts, metal drums, lubricant containers) shall not be 

disposed of within or adjacent to the marine environment. 

• Ensure that machinery arrives on site in a clean condition and is maintained free of fluid 

leaks. 

• Wash, refuel, and service machinery and store fuel and other materials for the machinery 

in such a way as to prevent the discharge of deleterious substances to the marine 

environment. 

270



 

T: 250-949-9450  F: 250-949-7656  PO Box 2760 Port Hardy, BC V0N 2P0 
info@pacificus.ca  www.pacificus.ca 

Appendix 5: Fish and Fish Habitat Monitoring Form and Activity Log 
 for the Prevention of Serious Harm to Species of Commercial, Recreational, and Aboriginal Importance 

 

Observer: ________________________  Location/Site: ____________________  Biologist Contact: Pacificus Biological Services Ltd.  (250-949-9450) 
 

Date Time Species 
(common 

name) 

Life  
Stage 

(if known) 

Number 
(count OR 
estimated) 

Location Description 
(e.g. intertidal, offshore, 

beside skidway, etc.) 

Behaviour Observed 
(e.g. schooling, transiting area, 

spawning on rocks, etc.) 

Actions Taken Monitor 
Initials 

Example 1430 Orca Whales Adult 5 Approximately 100m from 
dock. 

Swam by site Paused works for 15min until 
animals had left the site, then 

resumed works. 

JD 

         

 
 

        

 
 

        

 
 

        

 
 

        

 
 

        

 
 

        

         

** This form may be used to describe the observations, location, and activity of any species of commercial, recreational, or aboriginal importance in proximity to a forestry 
operation, and as a log to describe the actions taken to mitigate and prevent serious harm. ** 

271



W e s t
B a y

E a s t

B a y

H a l k e t t

B a y

B r i g a d e

B a y

A l b e r t a
B a y

L i o n s
B a y

C
r

e
e

k

M a g n e s i a

A
l b e r t a

H a r v e y

R u n d l e C r e e k

N e w m a n

C
e

n
t

r
e

R
A

M
I

L
L

I
E

S

C
H

A
N

N
E

L

L
o

n
e

T r e e

S
O

U
N

D

C
e

n
t

r
e

B
a

y

P
o

r
t

G
r

a
v

e
s

M

C a r m e l o
P o i n t

G a m b i e r
P o i n t

P o t t s
P o i n t

H a l k e t t
P o i n t

A l e x a n d r a
I s l a n d

+

+++

+
C h r i s t i e I s l e t

R o c k s

P a m R o c k

V
I

L
L

A
G

E
O

F
L

I
O

N
S

B
A

Y

M O U N T
A R T A B A N

I S L A N D

B r u n s w i c k
S t a t i o n

L I O N S

B A Y

B
.

C
.

R
A

I
L

W
A

Y

H A L K E T T B A Y
P A R K

C
R

.G A M B I E R

D o u g l a s

B a y

G a m b i e r
L a k e

P o r t e a u C o v e

E l l e s m
e r e C r .

F u r r y

C
r e e k

S
O

U
N

D

H
O

W
EC r .

T H O R N B R O U G H

C H A N N E L

R
a

m

i
l

l
i

e
s

C

h

a

n

n

e

l

F a l l s

P h i A l p h a

F a l l s

T
U

N
N

E
L

E k i n s
P o i n t

E k i n s P o i n t
( L u m b e r C a m p )

D o m e t t P o i n t

I r b y P o i n t

D a y b r e a k P o i n t

L E A D I N G
P E A K

C h r i s t i e I t .

B r u n s w i c k
P o i n t

G l e n E d e n

P o r t e a u

D e f e n c e
I s l a n d s

M c N a b
C r e e k

M i n e r a l C l a i m s

H o w e S d .

F u r r y C r .
S t a .

A N V I L

I S L A N D

G A M B I E R

I S L A N D

E k i n s P o i n t
( L d g . )

M . C ' s .

( P p )

K a l l a h n e C r .

C
h

a
m

p
s

i
d

e
C

r
.

D
e

e
k

s

C r e e k

M
o

n
t

a
g

u

C
h

a
n

n
e

l

C r e e k

G
a

m
b

i e
r

C
r

.

B
e

r
t

r
a

m

M O U N T
W R O T T E S L E Y

M i n a t y
B a y

E
l

l
e

s
m

e
r

e

C
r

e
e

k

C
r

e
e

k

Proposed Log Dump

Hwy 99

Fu
rry

 C
re

ek
 D

r

Ba
yv

iew
 R

d

Mountain DrLions Bay Ave
unsigned

Sunset Dr

Stonegate Dr

Ke
lvi

n G
ro

ve
 W

ay

Glendale Ave

uturn route

Hwy 99
Hwy 99

Hw
y 9

9

Hw
y 9

9

Hw
y 9

9

Hw
y 9

9
Hw

y 9
9

Hw
y 9

9

DL 1780

DL 845

DL 3420

DL 2979

DL 2960

Bk BBk B
Bk B

DL 8095

DL 836

DL 3419

DL 877

DL 2936

DL 677
DL 677

DL 1748

DL 1653

DL 1588

DL 1259

DL 1654

DL 1258

DL 2807

Bk A
DL 2469

DL 1257

DL 2740

DL 2018

DL 1435

DL 2937

DL 7905

DL 2703

DL 3086

Bk C

Bk C

DL 1564DL 1256

DL 2845

DL 1632

DL 1639

DL 2076

DL 2452

DL 4073

DL 1814

DL 5993

DL 1663

DL 2496

DL 6094

DL 6748

DL 2614

DL 878

DL 1298

DL 2259

DL 3184

DL 2519

DL 5682

DL 1583

DL 1815

DL 3765

DL 1299

DL 2706

DL 2809

DL 1626

DL 3421

DL 2705

DL 3041

DL 1659

DL 2704

DL 1565

DL 3201

DL 1566

DL 2961

DL 3425

DL 3834

DL 1898

DL 3426

DL 2031

DL 5801

DL 2935

DL 3390

DL 2810

DL 2808

DL 1688

DL 3110

DL 1575

DL 677A

Bk C

DL 6658

Bk B

DL 5311

DL 3345
DL 5090

DL 1296

DL 6099

DL 3346

DL 2846

DL 6659

Bk B

Bk A

DL 6423

DL 6612

DL 6742

DL 6069

DL 6660

DL 2981

DL 3391

DL 1533

DL 1661

DL 1666

Bk A

DL 5545

Bk B

Bk D
Bk D

Bk A

DL 2985

DL 6028

DL 6928

DL 3107

Bk A

DL 2077

DL 6680

DL 2151, T U. MC

DL 1660

DL 6422

DL 2156, A N D MC

DL 4580, FAITH MC

DL 6679

DL 2150, P O.R. MC

Bk A

DL 2932, NO. 76 MC

DL 2934, NO. 78 MC
DL 3939, NO. 79 MC

DL 2925, NO. 71 MC

DL 2149, O P. MC

DL 4008, NO. 53 MC

DL 6098

DL 2155, L Y MC

DL 6239

DL 4578, DEFIANCE MC

DL 2154, C A L MC

DL 5546

DL 6396

DL 6097

DL 4577, PATRICIA FRAC. MC

DL 2158, L FRACTION MC

DL 1575

DL 6631

DL 2157, MIN MC

DL 4022, NO. 74 FRAC. MC

DL 2152, SAFETY FRACTION MC

Bk B

DL 2364 IR 28A KWUM KWUM

DL 2153, H. FRACTION MC

DL 1339

DL 6631

10209 04 0

R01708 58 0

79
55

 01
 0

R12979 ELLES-ML 0

10209 05 0

R01708 68 0

82
10

 01
 0R1
29

79
 E

13
00

 0

83
21

 01
 0

R1
29

79
 E1

70
0 0

R1
29

79
 E6

00
 0

R1
29

79
 E1

400
 0

2407357

0313678

2410614

0326775

0326776

0201517

2410194

2404352

2406690

2406496

2408548

0207803

2408871

0212035

0337554

0126352

2408933

2403242

0212251

2408558

0051909

2409588

2408548

2408796

2408019

2408640

0219679

0271881

0185615

0128278

2408558

2401802

0356168
2404303

2409280

0301749

2407165

0201106

0335516

2404529

0315054

2407763

2409679

2405784

2401038

0274486

2401523

0183287

2408614

2409396

2401238

24091790226692

0177914

2406183

2409302

2410390

2408995

2406252 2408163

2404207

2404163

2404867

2409008

2408615

2409215

2408994

2402414

2404435

2406182

2406479

2408996

2408323

2403234

2406157

0353803

2404333

2409305

2407889

2410336

2407309

2410658

2410335

2409500

2409062

50

PC105

PC018

Potlatch Creek FSR63

3620

PC047

PC073

PC100

PC047-010

Br3514

PC043

3621
67

PC
10

5-0
12

PC054

65

PC047-010

DL 2933, NO. 77 MC

DL 4012, NO. 56 MC

DL 2923, NO. 51 MC

DL 2919, NO. 35 FRACTION MC

DL 4147, MARS FRAC. MC

DL 8147

DL 2926, NO. 72 MC

DL 4579, BEACH FRACTION MC

DL 4149, URANUS FRACTIONAL MC

DL 4146, JUPITER MC

DL 2001

DL 2920, NO. 36 MC

DL 4581, BARAMBA MC

Bk BDL 6396

DL 4148, NEPTUNE MC

DL 4009, MAPLE FRAC. MC

1190000

1190000

1192000

1192000

1194000

1194000

1196000

1196000

1198000

1198000

1200000

1200000

49
60

00

49
60

00

49
80

00

49
80

00

50
00

00

50
00

00

50
20

00

50
20

00

50
40

00

50
40

00

50
60

00

50
60

00

50
80

00

50
80

00

51
00

00

51
00

00

51
20

00

51
20

00

51
40

00

51
40

00

Scale: 1:50,000Legend:

³Projection: BC Albers
BCGS Mapsheet:  92G.054
Date:  November 22, 2017

0 520 1,040 1,560 2,080260
Meters

Stream

Crown Land Tenure

Survey Parcel
I.R.

Overview Location Map - Proposed Log Dump (Unsurveyed)TSL A79515 Block G054C39W

Proposed Log Dump
Area (2.3 ha)

Water Body
Planned Road

Gravel Road
Paved Road

272



74
m

 @
 1

80
°

245m @ 90°

90
m

 @
 0

°

+/- 291.7m along shoreline

Dock

80' Floating Skidway

B a i l e y  B a y

POC = 21.1 m @ 242.9°
 from local corner of DL 6658

Crown Lands File
2411728

Crown Lands File
2411780

Crown Lands File
0207803DL 6658

20

40

60

80

C39W-A

1192200

1192200

1192400

1192400

50
94

00

50
94

00

50
96

00

50
96

00

Metes and Bounds Description:
The Point of Commencent (P of C) is 21.1 m
at 242.9° from the local corner of DL 6658
New Westminster District, then go:
74 meters at 180°,
245 meters at 90°,
90 meters at 0°,
+/-291.7m along the High Water Mark,
Containing 2.29 ha

Site Specific Map - Proposed Log Dump (Unsurveyed)
Scale: 1:1,000Legend:

³Projection: BC Albers
BCGS Mapsheet:  92G.054
Date:  November 22, 2017

0 10 20 30 405
Meters

TSL A79515 Block G054C39W

Stream

Crown Land Tenure

Survey Parcel
Planned Road
Existing Road

Water Body Proposed Log Dump
Area (2.3 ha)Planned Improvements

Anchor
Anchor

273



74
m

 @
 1

80
°

245m @ 90°

90
m

 @
 0

°

+/- 291.7m along shoreline

Dock

80' Floating Skidway

B a i l e y  B a y

POC = 21.1 m @ 242.9°
 from local corner of DL 6658

Crown Lands File
0207803DL 6658

20

40

60

80

C39W-A

 Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community

1192200

1192200

1192400

1192400

50
94

00

50
94

00

50
96

00

50
96

00

Metes and Bounds Description:
The Point of Commencent (P of C) is 21.1 m
at 242.9° from the local corner of DL 6658
New Westminster District, then go:
74 meters at 180°,
245 meters at 90°,
90 meters at 0°,
+/-291.7m along the High Water Mark,
Containing 2.29 ha

Site Specific Map - Proposed Log Dump (Unsurveyed)
Scale: 1:1,000Legend:

³Projection: BC Albers
BCGS Mapsheet:  92G.054
Date:  November 22, 2017

0 10 20 30 405
Meters

TSL A79515 Block G054C39W

Stream

Crown Land Tenure

Survey Parcel
Planned Road
Existing Road

Proposed Log Dump
Area (2.3 ha)Planned Improvements

Water Body

Crown Lands File
2411728

Crown Lands File
2411780

274



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 

AUTHOR: Sven Koberwitz, Planning Technician II 

SUBJECT: PROVINCIAL REFERRAL CRN00063 FOR A PRIVATE MOORAGE FACILITY (THOMSON) 
- ELECTORAL AREA A

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. THAT the report titled Provincial Referral CRN00063 for a Private Moorage Facility
(Thomson) - Electoral Area A  be received;

2. AND THAT the following comments be forwarded to the Ministry of Forests,
Lands, Natural Resources Operations, and Rural Development:

Subject to the following conditions, the Sunshine Coast Regional District has no
objections to the proposed residential private moorage fronting Block C District
Lot 5398, Provincial File Number 2412049:

a) SCRD will require a building permit and/or a development variance permit if
any structures are to be constructed to access the moorage facility.

b) Water quality should not be impacted by maintenance or construction
activities, materials, or fuel storage.

c) Implement both Provincial and shíshálh Nation Best Management Practices
for building and maintaining moorage facilities and in particular the most
stringent of any overlapping policy to protect the foreshore ecosystems;

d) Consult the shíshálh Nation and address any of their concerns.

e) To not use polystyrene in any components of the moorage facility.

f) Treated lumber used in existing structures should be replaced with inert
construction materials that do not leach contaminants (e.g. untreated
lumber, concrete, or steel).

g) Existing fill material placed within the foreshore area should be removed
and the area restored to a natural state under the supervision of a qualified
environmental professional. This work must be conducted in compliance
with the Heritage Conservation Act and with consideration of potential
archeological sites.

h) A development permit is required prior to any land alteration and
development within 30 metres of the natural boundary of Ruby Lake.

3. AND THAT recommendations be forwarded to the Regular Board meeting of
September 6, 2018;

ANNEX I

275



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral CRN00063 for a Private Moorage Facility (Thomson) - Electoral Area A  
 Page 2 of 5 
 

 

2018-sep-6-PCDC report-CRN00063-private moorage (Thomson)  

4. AND FURTHER THAT comments of the SCRD Natural Resources Advisory 
Committee and the Egmont/Pender Harbour Advisory Planning Commission be 
provided to the Province. 

BACKGROUND 

The SCRD received a Provincial referral from the Ministry of Forests, Lands Natural Resource 
Operations and Rural Development (FLNRORD) for permission for a private residential 
moorage facility fronting Block C District Lot 5398 (the upland parcel), located at the north end 
of Ruby Lake. The referral package can be found in Attachment A. 

The purpose of this report it to provide an analysis of the proposal and recommend a response 
to FLNRORD. 

Owner / Applicant:  Leah Marie Thomson 

Purpose: Private residential moorage 

Tenure Type: Specific Permission 

Size: 210 m²  

Location: Ruby Lake 

Legal Description: Block C, District Lot 5398, PID: 015-843-459 

Electoral Area: A – Egmont Pender Harbour 

OCP Land Use: Not designated 

Land Use Zone: RU2 (Rural Two) for upland parcel 

Comment Deadline: September 15, 2018 

Table 1 - Application Summary 

DISCUSSION 

The applicant wishes to replace an untenured dock that was destroyed during winter storms. 
The new dock will provide access and moorage to the upland parcel which has no legal road 
access. 

Egmont/Pender Harbour Official Community Plan (OCP) 

The application area is located at the north end of Ruby Lake within the Egmont/Pender 
Harbour Official Community Plan area. The upland property is designated as Lake Watershed 
Protection B which includes residential uses. 

The upland parcel is affected by Development Permit Area 1 (Riparian Assessment Areas) that 
applies to all areas within 30 metres of a fish-bearing stream. The applicant must apply for a 
development permit prior to the construction of any buildings and structures or any land 
alteration within 30 metres of the lake. 

276



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral CRN00063 for a Private Moorage Facility (Thomson) - Electoral Area A  
 Page 3 of 5 
 

 

2018-sep-6-PCDC report-CRN00063-private moorage (Thomson)  

 
Figure 1 - Location Map 

Zoning Bylaw No. 337 

Ruby Lake is not zoned, however it is the source of drinking water for the Cove Cay Water 
System that supplies the Earls Cove community. Therefore the upland parcel is zoned RU5 
(Rural Watershed Protection). A single family dwelling is permitted. An existing home is located 
on the upland parcel and the proposed private moorage facility conforms to this residential use. 

All structures must be located at least 5 metres from the front or real parcel line (natural 
boundary of the lake). The SCRD allows for basic structures (i.e. stairs, ramps) to be 
constructed to access moorage facilities however, any additional structures may require a 
development variance permit if they are located within the setback area. 

Existing Structures 

The referral package indicates that a fixed pier intended to access the floating portion of the 
new dock is still in place - a remnant from the original dock that was damaged. This pier extends 
from the upland area into the foreshore and rests on rock fill that appears to have been 
deposited within the foreshore area. Additionally the sub-structure of the pier appears to have 
been repaired using pressure treated lumber. 

Depositing fill and utilizing treated lumber does not conform to best management practices for 
moorage facilities. The fill should be removed and the pier reconstructed using approved 
construction methods that maintain ecosystem function within the riparian areas and protect the 
quality of water of the lake as a drinking water source. This work must be completed with the 
guidance and supervision of a qualified environmental professional and must be conducted in 

Upland Parcel 

Private Moorage 
Location 

277



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral CRN00063 for a Private Moorage Facility (Thomson) - Electoral Area A  
 Page 4 of 5 
 

 

2018-sep-6-PCDC report-CRN00063-private moorage (Thomson)  

compliance with the Heritage Conservation Act with consideration of potential archeological 
sites. 

Options 

The Province requests SCRD to decide on one of the following options in response to the 
referral:  

1. Interests unaffected 
2. No objection to approval of project 
3. No objection to approval of project subject to conditions 
4. Recommend refusal of project due to reasons 

Staff recommend Option 3, subject to comments outlined in the Recommendations. 

Consultation 

The Province referred this application to First Nations, SCRD and other agencies it identifies as 
appropriate. The applicant is responsible for advertising the application in a local paper to 
enable comments from the public. 

The proposal will be referred to the Natural Resources Advisory Committee (NRAC) and the 
Egmont/Pender Harbour Advisory Planning Commission for review in September. Comments 
from these agencies will be forwarded to the Province. 

Timeline for next steps or estimated completion date 

The Province extended the deadline to comment on this application to September 15, 2018 in 
order to obtain a Board Resolution.  

Recommendations from this report must be forwarded to the Regular Board meeting of 
September 6, 2018 in order to meet the extended deadline.  

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

Strategic Plan Values: Embed Environmental Leadership 

CONCLUSION 

The SCRD has been provided an opportunity to comment on a Provincial referral to permit a 
private residential moorage facility at the north end of Ruby Lake. The proposal was analyzed 
against applicable SCRD policies, bylaws and regulations. The proposal is found to have no 
perceivable negative impact on land use and SCRD services.  

Staff recommend responding to the Province with the option that the SCRD has no objection to 
the project subject to comments outlined in the Recommendations and that recommendations 
be forwarded to the Regular Board meeting of September 6, 2018. 

  

278



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Provincial Referral CRN00063 for a Private Moorage Facility (Thomson) - Electoral Area A  
 Page 5 of 5 
 

 

2018-sep-6-PCDC report-CRN00063-private moorage (Thomson)  

Attachments 

Attachment A - Referral Package for Provincial Referral File Number 2412049 
Attachment B - Additional Photos Provided by Applicant 

 

Reviewed by: 
Manager X - A. Allen Finance  
GM X - I. Hall Legislative  
CAO X - J. Loveys Water X - S.Walkey 

 

279



Tracking Number: 100243329  |  Version 1.1  |  Submitted Date: Mar 20, 2018 Page 1 of 5

Crown Land Tenure Application
Tracking Number: 100243329

Applicant Information
If approved, will the authorization be issued to
 an Individual or Company/Organization?

Individual

Are you the Individual this application
will be issued to?

Yes

APPLICANT CONTACT INFORMATION
Please enter the contact information of the Individual/Organization who is acting on behalf of the applicant.

Name: Leah Marie Thomson
Phone: 604-525-7479
Daytime Phone: 604-838-7479
Fax:
Email: taschnerfamily@hotmail.com
Mailing Address: 7630 17th Avenue

Burnaby BC  V3N 1L7

ELIGIBILITY

Question Answer Warning
Do all applicants and co-applicants meet the eligibility criteria

for the appropriate category as listed below?

Applicants and/or co-applicants who are Individuals must:
1. be 19 years of age or older and
2. must be Canadian citizens or permanent residents of

Canada. (Except if you are applying for a Private Moorage)

Applicants and/or co-applicants who are Organizations must
either:

1. be incorporated or registered in British Columbia
(Corporations also include registered partnerships,
cooperatives, and non-profit societies which are formed
under the relevant Provincial statutes) or

2. First Nations who can apply through Band corporations or
Indian Band and Tribal Councils (Band or Tribal Councils
require a Band Council Resolution).

Yes

TECHNICAL INFORMATION
Please provide us with the following general information about you and your application:

EXISTING TENURE DETAILS

Do you hold another Crown Land Tenure? No

ALL SEASONS RESORTS
The All Seasons Resorts Program serves to support the development of Alpine Ski and non-ski resorts on Crown land. For more detailed
information on this program please see the operational policy and if you have further questions please contact FrontCounter BC.

Are you applying within an alpine ski resort? No

WHAT IS YOUR INTENDED USE OF CROWN LAND?
Use the "Add Purpose" button to select a proposed land use from the drop down menu.

280

SUNSINGH
Typewritten Text
ATS# 296417vSUS666

sven.koberwitz
Text Box
Attachment A



Tracking Number: 100243329  |  Version 1.1  |  Submitted Date: Mar 20, 2018 Page 2 of 5

If you wish to use Crown land for a short term, low impact activity you may not need to apply for tenure, you may be authorized under
the Permissions policy or Private Moorage policy.
To determine if your use is permissible under the Land Act please refer to either the Land Use Policy - Permissions or Land Use Policy -
Private Moorage located here.

Purpose Tenure Period
Private Moorage
Floating dock to be built for lake
access only property.   To replace
previous dock that was destroyed in
winter storms.   To provide a place
to tie boat up and ability to
load/unload supplies and provide
access to property.

Specific Permission Ten to thirty years

ACCESS TO CROWN LAND

Please describe how you plan to access your
proposed crown land from the closest public
road:

Public boat launch, off of Ramp Road.  Travel by boat across the lake to our
private property.

PRIVATE MOORAGE
Private Moorage is the allocation of aquatic Crown land (inland and coastal) for private moorage facilities such as a dock or float.
Moorage facilities for group or strata title/ condominium developments of  over three berths are administered under the provisions of
the Residential program where they have no related commercial facilities (e.g. gas bars) and are intended for private use of tenants.
Group moorage with commercial activities are administered under the Marina program.

Specific Purpose: Floating dock to be built for lake access only property.   To replace previous
dock that was destroyed in winter storms.   To provide a place to tie boat up
and ability to load/unload supplies and provide access to property.

Period: Ten to thirty years
Tenure: Specific Permission

MOORING BUOY
Is this only for a mooring buoy for private
moorage?

No

TOTAL APPLICATION AREA
Please give us some information on the size of the area you are applying for.

Specify Length: 12 meters
Specify Width: 2 meters

PROJECT DETAILS
Please provide us with further details on your dock.

Is the water freshwater or marine? Freshwater
Are you proposing 4 or more slips? No
Are you applying on behalf of a Strata
corporation?

No

Are you the waterfront upland owner? Yes
Are you planning to sell gas at the proposed
marina?

No

SECTION 11 WATER AUTHORIZATION
You may also require a Section 11 Water Sustainability Act authorization.

Is this application for an existing structure? No

IMPORTANT CONSIDERATIONS
Selecting yes to any of the following questions may indicate that you will require further or additional authorizations under the Land Act
or other legislation.

281



Tracking Number: 100243329  |  Version 1.1  |  Submitted Date: Mar 20, 2018 Page 3 of 5

Is your proposed activity within the Kootenay Region? No

Is your proposed activity within the Okanagan, Kalamalka and
Wood Lakes, Skaha Lake, Vaseux Lake, or Christina Lake areas?

No

Is your proposed activity within the Shuswap, Mara, Mable, or Little
Shuswap Lake areas?

No

ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS
In many cases you might require other authorizations or permits in order to complete your project. In order to make that determination
and point you in the right direction please answer the questions below. In addition, your application may be referred to other agencies
for comments.

Is the Applicant or any Co-Applicant or their Spouse(s) an employee
of the Provincial Government of British Columbia?

No

Are you planning to cut timber on the Crown Land you are applying
for?

No

Are you planning to use an open fire to burn timber or other
materials?

No

Do you want to transport heavy equipment or materials on an
existing forest road?

No

Are you planning to work in or around water? No

Does your operation fall within a park area? No

LOCATION INFORMATION

LAND DETAILS

Please provide information on the location and shape of your Crown land application area. You can use one or more of the tools
provided.

 I will upload a PDF, JPG or other digital file(s)
MAP FILES

Your PDF, JPG or other digital file must show your application area in relation to nearby communities, highways, railways or other land
marks.

Description Filename Purpose
Cabin Location with previous dock and
coordinates

Cabin and dock location.JPG Private Moorage

ruby Lake with co-ordinates RubyLake General lake with ... Private Moorage

ATTACHED DOCUMENTS

Document Type Description Filename
General Location Map General Site map Ruby Lake Dock - GENERAL SI...

Management Plan Management Plan MANAGEMENT PLAN.pdf

282



Tracking Number: 100243329  |  Version 1.1  |  Submitted Date: Mar 20, 2018 Page 4 of 5

Other Diagram of proposed new dock plans Diagram of proposed dock pl...

Other Land Survey Ruby Land Survey.pdf

Other Land Title Certificate Land Title Certificate.pdf

Other Ministry of Forests ,Lands and Natural Resources
Operations and Rural Development letter

Ministry Letter.pdf

Side Profile side view of proposed dock Ruby Lake Dock - SIDE VIEW.pdf

Site Photographs Access from cabin to stairs leading to existing dry dock
that will lead to proposed dock

Cabin and stair access to d...

Site Photographs side view of existing dry dock Existing dry dock complete.jpg

Site Photographs view of constructed existing dry dock Existing dry dock top view ...

Site Plan specific site map Ruby Lake Dock - SPECIFIC S...

PRIVACY DECLARATION

 Check here to indicate that you have read and agree to the privacy declaration stated above.
REFERRAL INFORMATION

Some applications may also be passed on to other agencies, ministries or other affected parties for referral or consultation purposes. A
referral or notification is necessary when the approval of your application might affect someone else's rights or resources or those of
the citizens of BC. An example of someone who could receive your application for referral purposes is a habitat officer who looks after
the fish and wildlife in the area of your application. This does not apply to all applications and is done only when required.

Please enter contact information below for the person who would best answer questions about your application that may arise from
anyone who received a referral or notification.

Company / Organization:
Contact Name: Leah Thomson
Contact Address: 7630 17th avenue

Burnaby, B.C
V3N 1L7

Contact Phone: 604-525-7479
Contact Email: taschnerfamily@hotmail.com

 I hereby consent to the disclosure of the information contained in this application to other agencies, government ministries or
other affected parties for referral or First Nation consultation purposes.

IMPORTANT NOTICES

 Once you click 'Next' the application will be locked down and you will NOT be able to edit it any more.
DECLARATION
 By submitting this application form, I, declare that the information contained on this  form is complete and accurate.

283



Tracking Number: 100243329  |  Version 1.1  |  Submitted Date: Mar 20, 2018 Page 5 of 5

APPLICATION AND ASSOCIATED FEES

Item Amount Taxes Total Outstanding Balance
Crown Land Tenure Application Fee $250.00 GST @ 5%: $12.50 $262.50 $0.00
OFFICE

Office to submit application to: Surrey

PROJECT INFORMATION

Is this application for an activity or project which
requires more than one natural resource
authorization from the Province of BC?

No

OFFICE USE ONLY
Office

Surrey
File Number Project Number

Disposition ID Client Number

284

jmweymer
Typewritten Text
2412049

jmweymer
Typewritten Text
296417

jmweymer
Typewritten Text
933108

jmweymer
Typewritten Text
293823



MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 

1.0  Background 
1.1 Project Overview – Describe project for which authorization is requested, including 

construction and/or phased development details: 

 

Floating dock to be built for lake access only property.   To replace previous dock that was 

destroyed in winter storms.   To provide a place to tie boat up and ability to load/unload 

supplies and provide access to property.  Please note that in the included pictures and 

google earth attachments the dock that is showing is no longer there, it was destroyed in 

winter storm.  Thus the reason for a permit for a new dock. 

 

1.2 Investigative Work – If any preliminary investigative work has been carried out, with or 

without an investigative authorization, provide details on work completed, incomplete or 

on-going from previous term. 

 

N/A 

 

1.3 First Nations Consultation – Describe any contact you may have had, including the name of 

the First Nations(s) and representatives contacted: 

 

No Contact 

 

 

2.0  Location 
 

2.1 Description – Provide a general description of the location of the project: 

 

Directly in front of stairs and dry dock, leading up to cabin yard from beach area. 

 

2.2 Location Justification – provide your reasons/justification of the need for this type at this 

location: 

 

Boat access only property.  Require a place to tie the boat used for transport of supplies, 

people, and access to property 

 

2.3 Seasonal Expectations of Use – When will the Project require use of the land?  Include 

information on key works during construction phases as well ass operations phase.  

 

Project phase:  construction of dock is being built off site. 

Brief Description of activity:  Will be floated across the lake into position 

Season:  Summer/Fall 2018 

285



 

3.0  Infrastructure and Improvements 
 

3.1 – Facilities and Infrastructure:  Detail any new and existing facilities, infrastructure or 

processes proposed and any ancillary uses.  Provide details of planned construction 

methods and materials, and construction scheduling: 

 

Facility/Infrastructure/Process: 

 

Existing dry dock approximately 6’ x 30’.  Made with cedar, 2 inch planks sitting on 8 x 8 

beams and rock bed. 

 

Proposed floating dock:  Dock sections will be 8’x16’ and will be floated by 6-24”x48”x16” 

Molded foam filled plastic dock floats.  1 dock section will be 8’x20’ and will be floated by 8-

24”x48”x16” molded foam filled plastic dock floats. Dock will be constructed out of 3”x8” fir 

timbers with all galvanized steel hardware and brackets.   All decking will be 5/4x6 western 

red cedar decking with a minimum of ¼” space between each piece to allow for light  

passage.  The top of the dock height will be approximately 20” above the water will all 

lumber being approximately 12” above the waterline.  Docks will be anchored with concrete 

dock anchors that will be placed on the bottom in four spots and connected with 2/8” 

galvanized chain crossing under the platform in order to keep dock in place. 

 

Construction will take place off site once permit is received.  Being built by Dave Raber – Sun 

“N” Fun Cedar Docks. 

 

 

3.2 Access – Identify existing and proposed roads used for access and their use by season.  

Include any proposed connections to public or Forest Service Roads; traffic information 

including volume of traffic during construction/operation and phase or season that the 

traffic is expected. 

 

There is no road access to this property.  Dock will be trailered to public boat launch and 

then floated across the lake to position. 

 

Access to proposed floating dock is by our own private property with stairs leading down 

from yard onto existing dry dock to the floating dock.   

 

Boat access is by public boat launch to private property. 

 

3.3 Utility Requirements and Sources – Describe utility requirements and sources, include 

agreements in place or underway allowing access to utilities. 

 

N/A 

 

286



3.4 Water Supply – Identify water requirements for construction and operation phases, 

including sources, location, volume and a general description of infrastructure planned to 

meet water supply requirements.  Include an agreements outside of Water Act 

Authorizations identified above. 

 

N/A 

 

3.5 Waste Collection Treatment and Disposal – Identify water requirements for construction 

and operation phases 

 

N/A 

 

4.0 Enviromental 
4.1 Land Impacts 

4.1.1 Vegetation Removal –No timber removal.  No vegetation removal 

4.1.2 Soil Disturbance –  

Soil disturbance, No disturbance 

Is the area to be excavated – No excavation 

Disturbance of archaeological, paleontological fossils, or artifacts – No 

4.1.3 Riparian Encroachment – No 

4.1.4 Pesticides and Herbicides – Nothing to be used 

4.1.5 Visual Impacts – No 

4.1.6 Archaeological Sites 

Potential archaeological sites – No 

AIA or archaeologist to assist with investigations – No 

4.1.7 Constuction Methods and Materials -   

 

Existing dry dock approximately 6’ x 30’.  Made with cedar, 2 inch planks sitting on 8x8 

beams and rock bed. 

Proposed floating dock:  Dock sections will be 8’x16’ and will be floated by 6-24”x48”x16” 

Molded foam filled plastic dock floats.  1 dock section will be 8’x20’ and will be floated by 8-

24”x48”x16” molded foam filled plastic dock floats. Dock will be constructed out of 3”x8” fir 

timbers with all galvanized steel hardware and brackets.   All decking will be 5/4x6 western 

red cedar decking with a minimum of ¼” space between each piece to allow for light  

passage.  The top of the dock height will be approximately 20” above the water will all 

lumber being approximately 12” above the waterline.  Docks will be anchored with concrete 

dock anchors that will be placed on the bottom in four spots and connected with 2/8” 

galvanized chain crossing under the platform in order to keep dock in place. 

 

Construction will take place off site once permit is received.  Being built by Dave Raber – Sun 

“N” Fun Cedar Docks. 

 

4.2 Atmospheric Impacts 

287



4.2.1 Sound, Odor, Gas or Fuel Emissions – for construction none, it is being built off 

site.  Once in place there will be an inboard 17” boat.  No out of the ordinary 

sounds, no odors. 

4.3 Water or Land Covered by Water Impacts 

4.3.1 Drainage Effects – No 

4.3.2 Public Access – there will be no changes to public access 

4.3.3 Flood Potential – No flooding 

4.3.4  

4.4   Fish and Wildlife Habitat Impacts 

4.4.1 Disturbance to Wildlife and Wildlife Habitat 

There will be no adverse effects to wildlife or wildlife habitat 

The construction will not take place in or around lakes/streams, however once  

in place it will be floating in fresh water lake. 

The project construction phase will not increase erosion or sedimentation, no will 

it require water diversion. 

There is no threat or endangerment to species in the area. 

 

5.0  Socio Community 
5.1 Land Use – Describe the current community setting on or near the project area. 

Seasonal private property, boat access only.  There are no surrounding communities. 

 

5.1.1 Land Management Plans and Regional Growth Strategies -  Are there any land 

and resource management plans, coastal plans, provincial, regional growth 

strategies or local government plans with zoning, or management policies or use 

restrictions in place that could limit or preclude your proposed use of the land? 

 

See Attached letter from Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resources 

Operations and Rural Development – James Davies, dated January 17, 2018 

 

5.2 Socio-Community Conditions 

5.2.1 Adjacent Users or Communities – Is the project likely to restrict public access, 

or the ability, or the ability of adjacent land owners or tenure holder to access 

their property or tenures? 

No 

5.2.2 Existing Services – Provide a description any increased demand of fire 

protection and other health facilities and emergency services arising from your 

Project. 

 

None 

 

 

 

288



Application

New Westminister Land District
Block C, District Lot 5398, Group 1

PID: 015-843-459

Area

B
D

E

GENERAL SITE MAP
180°

0°

90°270°

289

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ambrose Lake

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ruby Lake

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sunshine Coast Highway

AutoCAD SHX Text
Earls Cove

AutoCAD SHX Text
Agamemmon Bay

AutoCAD SHX Text
Nelson Island

AutoCAD SHX Text
Agamemmon Channel

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE 1:20000

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000 m



21m at 315°

23m at 135°

10
m at

 45
°

Witness Pin

PofC

Ruby Lake

Area = 0.022 ha

Existing Dock

Existing Ramp

Proposed Floating Dock

Anchor

Anchor

Anchor

Anchor

4.88m

2.4
4m

2.44m

6.1
0m

4.88m
22

m at
 45

.5°

SPECIFIC SITE MAP

New Westminister Land District
Block C, District Lot 5398, Group 1

PID: 015-843-459

Metes and Bounds
Begin at the witness pin on the south westerly boundary of Block C, District Lot 5398, Group 1, New Westminister Land District
then go 22 meters at 45.5° to the Point of Commencement (PofC) then go
23 meters at 135°
10 meters at 45°
21 meters at 315° then along shoreline returning to the point of commencement (PofC)

180°

0°

90°270°

SCALE 1:500
0 25 m

Blk D, DL 5398

290



6.
10

m

Existing Dock

Existing Ramp

4.88m by 2.44m 4.88m by 2.44m 6.10m by 2.44m

Anchor Line 2.5m

High Water Mark
1.

22
m

Anchor

Anchor Line 8.5m

Anchor

Low  Water Mark

Anchor

Anchor Lines

Anchor

6.10m by 2.44m

6.
10

m

High Water
Mark

SIDE VIEW

END VIEW

291

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 dock sections will be 2.44m x 4.88m and will be floated by 6-24"x48"x16" Molded Foam Filled Plastic Dock Floats.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 Dock section will be 2.44m x 6.10m and will be floated by 8-24"x48"x16" Molded Foam Filled Plastic Dock Floats.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Dock will be constructed out of 3"x8" fir timbers with all galvanized steel hardware and brackets.

AutoCAD SHX Text
All decking will be 5/4x6 western red cedar decking with a minimum of 1/4" space between each piece to allow for light passage.

AutoCAD SHX Text
The top of the dock height will be approximately 0.5m above the water with all lumber being approximately 0.3m above the waterline

AutoCAD SHX Text
Dock sections will be sanded and stained with Penofin Marine Stain.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Docks will be anchored with concrete dock anchors that will be placed on the bottom in four spots and connected with

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/8" galvanized chain crossing under the platform in order to keep dock in place.

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE 1:100

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 m



292



293



294



295



296



297



ADDITIONAL PHOTOS PROVIDED BY APPLICANT 

  

Figure 1 - Exisitng pier and fill. Dock in lower right damaged in storm.        Figure 2 - Existing pier located on rock fill. 

298

sven.koberwitz
Text Box
Attachment B



 

Figure 3 - Existing pier located on rock fill with damaged dock in foreground. 

299



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Planning and Community Development Committee – September 6, 2018 

AUTHOR: Sven Koberwitz, Planning Technician 

SUBJECT: FRONTAGE WAIVER FOR SUBDIVISION SD000028 (HAMMOND) – ELECTORAL AREA F 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

THAT the report titled Frontage Waiver for Subdivision SD000028 (Hammond) – Electoral 
Area F be received;  

AND THAT the requirement for 10% lot frontage onto a road for Lot 5 and Lot 6 in the 
proposed subdivision of Lot 1 of Lot 2 District Lot 694 Plan 17208 be waived.  

BACKGROUND 

The Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure issued Preliminary Layout Approval for the 
subdivision of 293 Owen Road into two parcels. Each of the proposed parcels have a 
panhandle in order to provide legal access to Owen Road.  

Figure 1 – Location of Subject Property. 

ANNEX J

300



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Frontage Waiver for Subdivision SD000028 (Hammond) – Electoral Area F  Page 2 of 3 
 

 

SD000028 2017-06312 Frontage Waiver PCDC Report 

Section 512 of the Local Government Act requires that all new parcels have a minimum of 10% 
parcel frontage onto a highway unless a local government waives the requirement.  

Consideration by SCRD Board of Directors to waive the frontage requirement is needed for the 
subdivision to proceed as proposed.  

DISCUSSION 

Analysis 

The application involves a two lot subdivision of the subject property fronting Owen Road in 
Area F (Attachment A). The subject property is located within the Subdivision District C and 
each new lot is above the minimum parcel size requirement of 2,000 sq. m.  

Each parcel, as proposed, will have less than 10% frontage due to the panhandle access. In 
order to accommodate existing homes and areas for sewage disposal fields, a panhandle layout 
is the recommended option for this specific subdivision proposal.  

The Preliminary Layout Approval has been issued by the Ministry of Transportation and 
Infrastructure.  Given that the access has been approved as part of the subdivision and has no 
negative impacts for SCRD services or for the community the Planning and Development 
Division recommends support for the frontage waiver request.  

The West Howe Sound Advisory Planning Commission recommended support for the 
subdivision application on November 28, 2017.  

Options 

Possible options to consider: 

Option 1: Issue the waiver. 

The proposed 2 lot subdivision will be approved provided all other conditions of 
the Preliminary Layout Approval are met.  

Planning Staff recommend this option.   

Option 2: Deny the waiver.  

The subdivision could not proceed as proposed.  

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

N/A 

  

301



Staff Report to Planning and Community Development Committee - September 6, 2018 
Frontage Waiver for Subdivision SD000028 (Hammond) – Electoral Area F  Page 3 of 3 
 

 

SD000028 2017-06312 Frontage Waiver PCDC Report 

CONCLUSION 

A waiver for the 10% frontage requirement is required by the SCRD Board for the subdivision 
application to proceed. Preliminary Layout Approval has been granted by the Ministry of 
Transportation and Infrastructure. The proposal layout does not pose any negative implications 
for SCRD planning or services and therefore Planning Staff support the frontage waiver request. 

Attachments 

Attachment A – Proposed Subdivision Plan 

 

Reviewed by: 
Manager X - A. Allen Finance  
GM X - I. Hall Legislative  
CAO X - J. Loveys Other  

 

302



303

sven.koberwitz
Text Box
Attachment A



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 
POLICING COMMITTEE 

July 19, 2018 

MINUTES OF THE SUNSHINE COAST POLICING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD IN THE 
CEDAR ROOM OF THE SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 1975 FIELD ROAD, 
SECHELT, BC. 

PRESENT: 
(Voting Members) Director, Electoral Area E, Chair Lorne Lewis 

Director, Electoral Area A Frank Mauro 
Director, Electoral Area D Mark Lebbell 
Director, Electoral Area B, Garry Nohr 
Director, Electoral Area F Ian Winn 
Councillor, District of Sechelt Alice Lutes 
Councillor, District of Sechelt Doug Wright 
Councillor, Town of Gibsons Silas White 
School District #46 Trustee Greg Russell 

ALSO PRESENT: 
(Non-Voting) SCRD Chief Administrative Officer Janette Loveys 

Administrative Assistant / Recorder Tara Crosby 
Media 2 

CALL TO ORDER 1:30 p.m. 

AGENDA The agenda was adopted as presented. 

PETITIONS AND DELEGATION 

MINUTES 

Recommendation No. 1 Minutes 

The Sunshine Coast Policing Committee recommended that the minutes of April 19, 2018 
be received as presented. 

COMMUNICATIONS 

Recommendation No. 2 Commissioner’s Mandate Letter – Royal Canadian Mounted Police 

The Sunshine Coast Policing Committee recommended that the email correspondence from 
Royal Canadian Mounted Police dated May 9, 2018 regarding the Commissioner’s Mandate 
Letter be received. 

ANNEX K

304



Sunshine Coast Policing Committee – July 19, 2018  Page 2 of 3 
 
 
REPORTS 

Recommendation No. 3 Monthly Crime Statistics – April 2018 

The Sunshine Coast Policing Committee recommended that the RCMP Monthly Crime Statistics 
for April 2018 be received.  

Recommendation No. 4 Monthly Crime Statistics – May 2018 

The Sunshine Coast Policing Committee recommended that the RCMP Monthly Crime Statistics 
for May 2018 be received.  

Recommendation No. 5 Monthly Crime Statistics – June 2018 

The Sunshine Coast Policing Committee recommended that the RCMP Monthly Crime Statistics 
for June 2018 be received.  

Recommendation No. 6 RCMP Summary Report 

The Sunshine Coast Policing Committee recommended that RCMP Summary Report for the 
period 2018-01-01 to 2018-03-31 be received. 

Recommendation No. 7 RCMP Summary Report 

The Sunshine Coast Policing Committee recommended that RCMP Summary Report for the 
period 2018-04-01 to 2018-06-30 be received. 

Sergeant Hacker gave a verbal report on crime on the Sunshine Coast. 

Highlights of Reporting Period: 

• Staffing 
o Currently at full complement; 
o Two transfers occurred this year – replaced with two recruits for general duty; 
o New recruits field trained by end of January 2019; 
o Staff Sergeant selected – Michelle (Poppy) Hallum from Fort St. James will be 

starting September 2018. 
• January to April 2018 – busy 1st quarter with several repeat offenders and long term 

remands in the cell block. 
• Sea Cavalcade – no changes expected from previous years – Friday and Saturday and 

mid-point Sunday – officers on duty. 
• Fire ban in place July 18, 2018 – RCMP will be checking beaches and rural areas. 

Public to contact local fire departments with questions and report fires to RCMP. 
• Noise complaints on Gambier Island have required enforcement action. 
• Boat deployment started July 2018. 
• Working with Transport Canada regarding derelict boats. 
• Property offences, fraud and identity theft. 
• Cops for Cancer - Constable Ben Stewart fundraising since April 2018. 
• Seniors Fraud sessions to be held in the Fall 2018. 

305



Sunshine Coast Policing Committee – July 19, 2018  Page 3 of 3 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS / ROUNDTABLE 

• Cannabis Act – rolling out in October 2018 – policies drafted and regulatory framework 
with municipalities – issuing operating licences to dispensaries.  Compliance and 
enforcement still to be determined.  Legal framework compliance may cause further 
concerns to residents or businesses.  Odours, electrical issues, traffic, etc.   

• Speed – contacting RCMP (call non-emergency numbers, with location, time of day, 
infraction, plate number and description of vehicle). Timing will determine whether 
RCMP will be able to enforce violation.   

• Traffic counters – provide RCMP ability to deploy appropriate resources. 
• Frequently Asked Questions at District of Sechelt – regarding traffic offences information 

required to assist the RCMP – draft to be forwarded to Sergeant Hacker for approval. 
• Hopkins Landing – requests increased patrols and more enforcement – parking and road 

use, signage blocked, etc. 
• Property offenders – surveilling properties.   
• Phone scams increasing by marketing companies releasing phone numbers and emails.  

Education is important, enforcement is difficult. 

ADJOURNMENT 2:34 p.m. 

 
 
  __________________________________________ 
  Committee Chair 

 

306



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT  
NATURAL RESOURCE ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

July 18, 2018 

MINUTES FROM THE NATURAL RESOURCE ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETING HELD IN 
THE CEDAR ROOM AT THE SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT OFFICES, 1975 FIELD 
ROAD, SECHELT, B.C. 

PRESENT:  Members  Gordon Cassidy 
 Gordon Littlejohn (part) 
Bill Henwood 
Gerald Shaffer 
Andre Sobolewski 
Anayansi Cohen- Fernandez (part) 
Gordon White 

ALSO PRESENT: Electoral Area A Director  Frank Mauro 
Senior Planner  David Rafael 
Senior Planner  Yuli Siao (part) 
Applicant  Ken Sneddon 
Applicant  Paul Tosczak 
Planning Office Assistant/Recorder  Genevieve Dixon 
Public  2 

REGRETS: Member  Burt Myers 
 David Rush 
 Shawna Van Poppelen 

ABSENT: Member  Mariel Yglesias 

CALL TO ORDER 3:31 p.m. 

INTRODUCTIONS Director Mauro in attendance on behalf of the SCRD Board. 

AGENDA The agenda was adopted as presented.  

ELECTION OF THE CHAIR 

Gerald Shaffer was elected Chair of the Natural Resource Advisory Committee by acclamation. 

Andre Sobolewski was elected Vice Chair of the Natural Resource Advisory Committee by 
acclamation. 

ANNEX L

307



Natural Resource Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes – July 18, 2018  Page 2 
 

MINUTES  
 
Recommendation No. 1  NRAC Meeting Minutes of May 16, 2018  
 
The Natural Resource Advisory Committee recommended that the meeting minutes of May 16, 
2018 be received and approved as presented.  

REPORTS 

Provincial Referral 102679829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures 

Key points of discussion: 

• The applicant gave a detailed introduction on the project. 
• September 14, 2018 is the staff deadline to submit comments to the Province. 
• Applicant is against short term drop off and pickups. 
• Option for drop off and pick up in Vancouver, B.C, under review. 
• Environmental Management Plan, one thing that is not mentioned should be no fishing 

or hunting allowed.  
• Applicant indicates no hunters allowed in helicopters in B.C., fishing trips may be by 

helicopter, neither activity is included under this application. 
• Is there an intention for building huts, overnight structures? 
• Applicant confirmed that they have made application for temporary structures (helipads) 

which can also be used for tenting. 
• Removable helipads would be demobilized after the season. 
• Environmental damage from introducing mountain bikes into the alpine or sub alpine, no 

issue for hiking.  
• Designated trails only. 
• ATV’s entering into the proposed trails, a physical barrier to be in place for access into 

the higher alpine. 
• Structured program preferred for mountain biking. 
• Some control as the proposed referral is for guided trips. 
• Have the Tetrahedron Outdoor Club or any other clubs been approached for 

consultation? 
• The applicant noted a Species at Risk Act (SARA) inspection would be done, best 

practices around wildlife would evolve around Canadian National Park Rocky Mountain 
handbook. 

• There are planes and helicopter flying in and out of the area since the mid 1990’s. 
• There may be a fixed wing tenure on Phantom Lake. 
• Recreational users (ATV /motorized users) are concerned that the suggested trail 

system will impede their right for recreational access. 
• Trails in the area are already used now. 
• Would prefer a controlled approach for the trails. 
• Is the company going to be responsible for damages outside of their trail systems? 
• Monitoring needs to happen daily up in the trails. How will it be controlled? 
• The SARA report will identify species at risk and areas to avoid. 
• Applicant noted there are existing trails, little trail systems will be made. 
• Revenue base from this tenure, less than $100,000 per season. 
• Overall this application is a good thing, it is very light use and little disturbance involved.  
• 80 people a year, but being optimistic. Approximately 200 users a year in the future. 

308



Natural Resource Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes – July 18, 2018  Page 3 
 

• More concern over impact to the sub alpine and alpine areas expressed by NRAC 
members. 

• Regarding the Madrone report, NRAC member is concerned that the report uses the 
wording of others under their name with no citation noted. 

 

Recommendation No. 2   Provincial Referral 102679829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain 
Adventures 

The Natural Resource Advisory Committee recommended that the proponent add a statement 
in their Tenure Management Plan that explicitly prohibits bringing in clients for fishing and 
hunting. 
 
Recommendation No. 3   Provincial Referral 102679829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain 

Adventures 

The Natural Resource Advisory Committee recommended that the Sunshine Coast Mountain 
Adventure conduct an assessment of the impact of mountain biking on the alpine and sub-
alpine areas after 1 year operation and carry out remedial measures if required. 
 

Recommendation No. 4   Provincial Referral 102679829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain 
Adventures 

The Natural Resource Advisory Committee recommended that access to the trails of this project 
be separated from other existing trails and forest service roads in lower elevations to prevent 
mechanized vehicles from accessing tenure areas of this project.  

Recommendation No. 5   Provincial Referral 102679829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain 
Adventures 

The Natural Resource Advisory Committee recommended that more information be provided in 
the tenure management plan on baseline data and parameters for monitoring changes in the 
alpine and sub-alpine areas.   

Recommendation No. 6   Provincial Referral 102679829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain 
Adventures 

Regarding Provincial Referral 102679829-002 Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures, the 
Natural Resource Advisory Committee supports the SCRD recommendations, subject to the 
noted conditions. 

 
Provincial Referral CRN00059 for a Private Moorage (AJB Investments) 
 

Key points of discussion: 
 
• Concerns regarding the Howe Sound Pulp Mill, that the applicant recognizes the Pulp 

Mill. 
• Current zoning is industrial for the pulp mill. 
• The pulp mill is a major employer in the area, it should not be impacted economically.  
• Industrial noises could lead to issues to the enjoyment for the proposed application up 

the road. 

309



Natural Resource Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes – July 18, 2018  Page 4 
 

Recommendation No. 7   Provincial Referral CRN00059 for a Private Moorage (AJB 
Investments) 

Regarding Provincial Referral CRN00059, the Natural Resource Advisory Committee accepts 
the SCRD recommendations with the following amendment: 

AND THAT The Natural Resource Advisory Committee recommends that the land owner 
and the applicant be made aware that they are next to an active industrial operation.   

 
 
Provincial Referral 103014586-001 TMK / DM Roads (Johnson) - Electoral Area A 
 

Key point of discussion: 
 

• David Rafael, Senior Planner presented information regarding the report.  
• The road may be put in place for a future road access, applicant may plan to subdivide 

in the future.  
• Shared driveway with no legal agreement. 

Recommendation No. 8   Provincial Referral 103014586-001 TMK / DM Roads (Johnson) – 
Electoral Area A 

Regarding Provincial Referral 1036014586-001 TMK / DM Roads (Johnson) – Electoral Area A, 
the Natural Resource Advisory Committee supports the SCRD recommendations.  
 
NEW BUSINESS 

NRAC Member, David Rush informed staff of his resignation from the Committee.  

NEXT MEETING Wednesday, September 19, 2018 

ADJOURNMENT 5:42 p.m. 

310



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 

AREA A - EGMONT/PENDER HARBOUR 
 ADVISORY PLANNING COMMISSION 

July 25, 2018 

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE AREA ‘A’ ADVISORY PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
HELD AT THE PENDER HARBOUR SATELLITE OFFICE, 12828 LAGOON ROAD, MADEIRA 
PARK, B.C. 

PRESENT: Vice Chair Janet Dickin  
Members Alex Thomson 

Sean McAllister  
Gordon Littlejohn 
Gordon Politeski 
Peter Robson 

ALSO PRESENT: Area A Director Frank Mauro   
Recording Secretary Kelly Kammerle 

REGRETS: Members Jane McOuat 
Catherine McEachern 
Tom Silvey 
Yovhan Burega 
Alan Skelley 
Dennis Burnham 

CALL TO ORDER  7:00 p.m. 

AGENDA   The agenda was adopted as presented. 

MINUTES  

Area A Minutes  

The Area A APC minutes of June 27, 2018 were approved as circulated. 

The following minutes were received for information: 

• Halfmoon Bay (Area B) APC Minutes of June 26, 2018
• Roberts Creek (Area D) APC Minutes of June 18, 2018
• Elphinstone (Area E) APC Minutes of June 27, 2018
• West Howe Sound (Area F) APC Minutes of June 26, 2018
• Planning and Community Development Committee Minutes of June 14, 2018

ANNEX M

311



Egmont/Pender Harbour (Area A) Advisory Planning Commission Minutes – July 25, 2018 
  Page 2 

BUSINESS ARISING FROM MINUTES AND UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
The APC recommends further wording changes to the OCP regarding the section dealing with 
the shíshálh Nation Strategic Land Use Plan as recommended in previous Area A APC 
meetings. 
 
REPORTS 
 
Recommendation No. 1  Provincial Referral 103014586-001 TMK / DM (Johnson) 
  
The APC agrees with the SCRD that there is not enough information and would like to see the 
SCRD recommendations addressed before it is brought back to the APC for further comments.  
 
The APC would also like to see: 
 

• Road up to MoTI standards 
• Has there been any easement requests made for these properties? 

 
DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 
The Director’s Report was received. 
 
NEXT MEETING September 26, 2018.   

ADJOURNMENT 8:45 p.m.  

 

312



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT  

ROBERTS CREEK (AREA D) ADVISORY PLANNING COMMISSION 

July 16, 2018 

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE ROBERTS CREEK (AREA D) ADVISORY PLANNING 
COMMISSION MEETING HELD IN THE ROBERTS CREEK LIBRARY READING ROOM 
LOCATED AT 1044 ROBERTS CREEK ROAD, ROBERTS CREEK, B.C. 

PRESENT: Chair Dana Gregory 

Members Gerald Rainville  
Marion Jolicoeur  
Danise Lofstrom, 
Nichola Kozakiewicz 
Heather Conn 

ALSO PRESENT: Electoral Area D Director Mark Lebbell 
Vicki Dobbyn  Recording Secretary 
Applicant Ken Sneddon 
Applicant Paul Tosczak 

REGRETS: Members Bill Page 
Mike Allegretti 

CALL TO ORDER  7:10 p.m. 

AGENDA  The agenda was adopted as presented.  

MINUTES 

Area D Minutes 

Roberts Creek (Area D) APC minutes of June 18, 2018 were approved as circulated. 

Minutes 

The following minutes were received for information: 

• Egmont / Pender Harbour (Area A) APC Minutes of June 27, 2018
• Halfmoon Bay (Area B) APC Minutes of June 26, 2018
• Elphinstone (Area E) APC Minutes of June 27, 2018
• West Howe Sound (Area F) APC Minutes of June 26, 2018
• Planning and Community Development Committee Minutes of June 14, 2018

DELEGATIONS 

Paul Tosczak and Ken Sneddon, Applicants for Provincial Referral 10249829-002 – Sunshine 
Coast Mountain Adventures. 

ANNEX N

313



Roberts Creek (Area D) Advisory Planning Commission Minutes – July 16, 2018  
  Page 2 
 
 
REPORT 
 
Provincial Referral 102649829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain Adventures 
 
The following concerns/points/issues were noted: 
 

• Paul Tosczak introduced the project and he and Ken Sneddon provided the following 
information in response to members’ questions: 

• They have been to all APC’s except Area E and may not do a public meeting.   
• They require a tenure from the Province to operate the tourism business. They can land  
 on Crown land but not in parks without permission.  
• Helicopter or plane operators are responsible for people they drop off. From a safety  

and liability perspective they want to work on establishing trails and providing guides in 
every case. Properly sanctioned means having established trails and guides. 

• They would have a complete rescue program for any situations that require rescue 
situations, including fire. A lot of safety issues are covered by having a guide. Airspan 
operates seven helicopters and can be at the Sechelt Hospital emergency room within 
an hour from any proposed site. All routes have satellite phone reception.   

• The business would be similar to heli-skiing. There are interesting sites such as an old 
mine. It will appeal to people who don’t want to plan a camping and hiking trip.   

• Locations are reachable by hiking but are very long hikes 
• Groups would be comprised of four people plus one guide. Numbers in proposal are 

high because they based on established areas in BC with this business. They estimate 
that there will be five groups in the first year.  

• Applied for lease for 10 to 15 years and can apply to renew.  
• Trips will cost about $1500 per day per person. Would be about 2% of annual revenue of 

Airspan.  
• Vancouver clients are targeted by having Coal Harbour pick up. Would Vancouver 

pickup mean less business for coast? Economic development would still be in the form 
of employment of one guide and purchase of supplies. 

• What is projection of use? It is expected business would grow slowly as has been the 
case with Westcoast Wilderness Lodge business and Whistler services, which are not at 
capacity. 

• There is not a maximum use in tenure. They are not planning to actively market. They 
will have a presence at a bike shop in Sechelt and a Facebook page. Access to certified 
guides is the pinch point and will limit number of excursions. Guides are certified by 
Canadian Mountain Guides Association 

• Mountain biking is similar to heli-skiing in that a guide sets out trail and gives riders 
parameters. They are planning to do a SARA (Species at Risk Assessment) proactively. 

• Will have provisions to assess fitness of prospective participants. 
• A number of sites already have heli-pads.  
• Wildlife protection – they will probably use the management plan of Yoho Park which 

identifies areas and times where there will be no interaction. 
• How does helicopter noise affect wildlife – the general rule of thumb is 1000 ft over 

population, 500 ft. in other areas. Environmental consultants will conduct studies and lay 
out areas for the best flight paths. Airspan currently does wildlife counts with government 
biologists.  

• Types of helicopters – With A-Star the noise print is significantly quieter than medivac or 
helicopters used for fire fighters.  They currently take off from Sechelt airport 8 to 10 
times a day. Usual time of drop off and pick up would be between 10:00 a.m. and 2:00 

314



Roberts Creek (Area D) Advisory Planning Commission Minutes – July 16, 2018  
  Page 3 
 

p.m. 
• How many unsanctioned visitors can they capture by offering this service – this is 

unknown. 
• Advantages would be quicker reporting for landslide or fire because more eyes will be on 

the back country.   
• Monitoring – plan to do this on a biannual basis to evaluate.  
• What if someone wanted to buy the business – they would hope to maintain the original 

intentions.  
• The applicants stated electric bikes would be used as they have an easier footprint.  
• There are pressures on the back country so it would be beneficial for the Province to 

develop a general land resource management plan. 
 

  
Recommendation No. 1  Provincial Referral 10249829-002 – Sunshine Coast Mountain 

Adventures 
 
The APC recommends that the application be supported subject to the recommendations in the 
staff report to the Planning and Community Development Committee dated June 14, 2018, and 
that there be another public meeting if the tenure is sold and changes owners.  
 
DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 
The Director’s Report was received.   
 
NEXT MEETING September 17, 2018  
 
ADJOURNMENT 8:45 p.m. 

315



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 

AREA F – WEST HOWE SOUND 
ADVISORY PLANNING COMMISSION 

July 24, 2018 

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE WEST HOWE SOUND (AREA F) ADVISORY PLANNING 
COMMISSION MEETING HELD AT ERIC CARDINALL HALL, 930 CHAMBERLIN ROAD, WEST 
HOWE SOUND, B.C. 

PRESENT: Chair Fred Gazeley 
Members Maura Laverty 

Bob Small 

ALSO PRESENT: Director, Electoral Area F Ian Winn 
Recording Secretary Diane Corbett 
Applicant (AJB Investments Ltd.) Hugh O’Dwyer 
Public 2 

REGRETS: Members Doug MacLennan 
Susan Fitchett 
Laura Houle 

CALL TO ORDER 7:01 p.m. 

AGENDA The agenda was adopted as amended: 

• Dates of all listed minutes should read “June” not “July”.

MINUTES 

West Howe Sound (Area F) Minutes 

The West Howe Sound (Area F) APC minutes of June 26, 2018 were approved as 
circulated/amended as follows. 

Minutes 

The following minutes were received for information: 

• Egmont/Pender Harbour (Area A) APC Minutes of June 27, 2018
• Halfmoon Bay (Area B) APC Minutes of June 26, 2018
• Roberts Creek (Area D) APC Minutes of June 18, 2018
• Elphinstone (Area E) APC Minutes of June 27, 2018
• Planning and Community Development Committee Minutes of June 14, 2018

ANNEX O

316



West Howe Sound (Area F) Advisory Planning Commission Minutes July 24, 2018 Page 2 
 
REPORTS 

Provincial Referral CRN00059 for a Private Moorage (AJB Investments)  

The APC discussed the staff report regarding Provincial Referral CRN00059 for a private 
moorage (AJB Investments).  

Hugh O’Dwyer from AJB Investments Ltd. commented on the application and responded to 
inquiries.  

Director Winn discussed the review of the application at a recent Planning and Community 
Development Committee, where an eighth condition, that polystyrene not be used for the dock, 
had been added to a list of recommended conditions for the project to proceed. 

Recommendation No. 1 Provincial Referral CRN00059 for Private Moorage (AJB 
Investments) 

 
The West Howe Sound APC recommended that the APC has no objection to approval of 
Provincial Referral CRN00059 for a private moorage (AJB Investments) subject to conditions 
noted in the staff report, and including the condition that polystyrene not be used for the dock, 
and that the APC agrees with all eight conditions. 

DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

The Director’s report was received. 

NEXT MEETING September 25, 2018 

ADJOURNMENT 8:05 p.m. 

317



ANNEX P

318



319



320



321



322



323


	PART 1 - 2018-SEP-6 PCD Agenda Package - Annex A - D
	PART 2 - 2018-SEP-6 PCD Agenda Package - Annex E - F
	PART 3a - 2018-SEP-6 PCD Agenda Package - Annex Ga
	PART 3b - 2018-SEP-6 PCD Agenda Package - Annex Gb
	PART 4 - 2018-SEP-6 PCD Agenda Package - Annex H - P



